# Defining, predicting and delivering 'fresh' in the context of leafy salads

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Food and Nutritional Sciences

School of Chemistry Food and Pharmacy, Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences

Jake Louis Jasper

August 2021

## Contents

At	ostrac	et and the second se	X
Ac	know	vledgements	xiv
De	clara	tion	XV
Li	st of l	Figures	xvi
Li	st of [	Tables x	viii
Li	st of A	Abbreviations	xix
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Online grocery shopping	3
	1.2	The environmental emissions associated with leafy salad waste	5
	1.3	Structure of the thesis	9
	1.4	Aims of the thesis	12
	1.5	Objectives of the thesis	14
	1.6	References	15
2	Dete	ermining the quality of leafy salads: Past, present and future	18
	2.1	Contribution to the project	19

2.2	Abstract		
2.3	Introd	uction	
	2.3.1	The fresh produce industry	
	2.3.2	Challenges facing the fresh produce industry	
2.4	Shelf-	life: brief history and definitions	
	2.4.1	A history of shelf-life legislation	
	2.4.2	Legal definitions relating to shelf-life	
	2.4.3	The supply chain of RTE leafy salads	
2.5	Microl	biology and shelf-life	
	2.5.1	Causitive agents of microbial problems	
	2.5.2	Evaluation of microbial load	
	2.5.3	Preventing microbial derived quality loss	
		2.5.3.1 Physical methods of preserving fresh produce 47	
		2.5.3.2 Chemical methods of preserving fresh produce . 50	
		2.5.3.3 Nanotechnology and its role in food packaging . 53	
	2.5.4	The influence of seasonal and agronomic factors on mi-	
		crobial quality	
	2.5.5	Modeling and predicting microbial growth	
2.6	Huma	n perception of quality 60	
	2.6.1	Visual disorders associated with leafy salads 61	
2.7	Instru	nental assessment of quality	
	2.7.1	Image analysis for assessing leafy salads 67	
	2.7.2	Colorimetry for assessing leafy quality	
	2.7.3	Quality assessment using hyper-spectral imaging 70	

		2.7.4	Detecting and identifying volatile compounds emitted from	
			leafy salad crops	73
		2.7.5	Electronic noses for automated odour sensing	76
		2.7.6	Quality sensors within "intelligent packaging"	78
		2.7.7	Time Temperature Indicators	80
	2.8	Conclu	uding remarks	83
	2.9	Refere	ences	85
3	Gro	wth ter	nnerature influences nostharvest glucosinolate concen-	
U	trat	ions an	d hydrolysis product formation in first and second cuts	
	of re	ocket sa	lad	111
	3.1	Backg	round	111
		3.1.1	limitations	113
		3.1.2	References	113
	3.2	Contri	bution to the project	114
	3.3	Abstra	ict	115
	3.4	Introd	uction	116
	3.5	Mater	ials and methods	122
		3.5.1	Plant material	122
		3.5.2	Growing conditions, simulated processing, and shelf life	
			storage sampling	122
		3.5.3	Leaf material preparation, and extraction	125
		3.5.4	LC–MS and GC–MS analyses	126
		3.5.5	Statistical analysis	132
	3.6	Result	s and discussion	133

	dom	nestic en	wironmen	ıt	169
4	Post	tharvest	t changes	that occur in ready-to-eat wild rocket in the	
	3.8	Refere	ences		160
	3.7	Conclu	usions		157
		3.6.3	Principal	component analysis	153
				centrations	152
			3.6.2.8	Effects of growth temperature on postharvest con-	
				ture treatments	150
			3.6.2.7	Cultivar differences between growth tempera-	
			3.6.2.6	Second cut at 40 °C	149
			3.6.2.5	First cut at 40 °C	148
			3.6.2.4	Second cut at 30 °C	145
			3.6.2.3	First cut at 30 °C	145
			3.6.2.2	Second cut at 20 °C	143
			3.6.2.1	First cut at $20 ^{\circ}$ C	138
			life stora	ge	137
		51012	centratio	ns and hydrolysis product formation during shelf	
		3.6.2	The effe	cts of growth temperature on glucosinolate con-	150
			3614	Time from first to second cut	135
			3613	Time to second cut	134
			3612	Time to first cut	133
			3611	Germination	133
			to first ar	nd second cuts	133
		3.6.1	The effect	cts of growth temperature on germination and time	

4.1	Backgr	round				
4.2	Contril	pution to the project				
4.3	Abstract					
4.4	Introdu	uction				
4.5	Materia	als and Methods				
	4.5.1	Plant material				
	4.5.2	Imaging and colour analysis				
		4.5.2.1 Image capture				
		4.5.2.2 Image processing and colour statistics 180				
	4.5.3	Extraction and quantification of ammonia				
	4.5.4	Enumeration of aerobic bacteria				
	4.5.5	Extraction and quantification of chlorophyll A, B and total				
		carotenoids				
	4.5.6	Determination of Glucose, Fructose and Sucrose 183				
	4.5.7	Determination of Nitrite and Nitrate				
	4.5.8	Determination of Glucosinolates and Isothiocyanates 185				
	4.5.9	Visual Quality				
	4.5.10	Statistical analysis				
4.6	Results	and Discussion				
	4.6.1	Visual quality by analysis of images				
	4.6.2	Chlorophyll				
	4.6.3	Aerobic Colony Count and shelf life				
	4.6.4	Nitrates				
	4.6.5	Sugars				
	4.6.6	Ammonia				

		4.6.7	Glucosinolates (GSLs) and Glucosinolate hydroly	sis prod-	
			ucts (GHPs)		203
	4.7	Conclu	sion		209
	4.8	Appen	lix		211
	4.9	Refere	nces		217
5	Post	harvest	changes that occur in ready-to-eat iceherg lettu	ce in the	
J	1050				226
	aom	lestic en	vironment		220
	5.1	Backg	ound		226
	5.2	Contri	pution to the project		229
	5.3	Abstra	xt		230
	5.4	Introdu	ction		231
	5.5	Materi	lls and Methods		234
		5.5.1	Plant materials		234
		5.5.2	Imaging and colour analysis		237
			5.5.2.1 Image capture		237
			5.5.2.2 Image processing and colour statistics		238
			5.5.2.3 Visual Quality		239
		5.5.3	Extraction and quantification of ammonia		240
		5.5.4	Enumeration of aerobic bacteria		241
		5.5.5	Extraction and quantification of chlorophyll A, B	and total	
			carotenoids		241
		5.5.6	Determination of Glucose, Fructose and Sucrose		242
		5.5.7	Determination of Nitrite and Nitrate		243
		5.5.8	Statistical analysis		244

	5.6	5.6 Results and Discussion				
		5.6.1	Visual quality	5		
		5.6.2	Visual quality and analysis of images	5		
		5.6.3	Chlorophyll	L		
		5.6.4	Aerobic Colony Count (ACC) and shelf life	3		
		5.6.5	Sugars	7		
		5.6.6	Nitrates	3		
		5.6.7	Ammonia	L		
	5.7	Conclu	usion $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $26^2$	1		
	5.8	Appen	dix	5		
	5.9	Refere	nces	)		
	•	ssing o	onsumer attitudes towards leafy salads using time lanse			
6	Asse	ssing c	sinsumer attitudes towards leary salads using time tapse			
6	vide	o and d	ata mining of supermarket online comments.278	3		
6	vide	o and d Backg	ata mining of supermarket online comments.       278         round	3		
6	<b>vide</b> 6.1 6.2	o and d Backg Contri	ata mining of supermarket online comments.       278         round	3		
6	<ul> <li>Asse</li> <li>vide</li> <li>6.1</li> <li>6.2</li> <li>6.3</li> </ul>	o and d Backg Contril Abstra	ata mining of supermarket online comments.       278         round	3 1 2		
6	<ul> <li>Asse</li> <li>vide</li> <li>6.1</li> <li>6.2</li> <li>6.3</li> <li>6.4</li> </ul>	o and d Backg Contri Abstra Introdu	ata mining of supermarket online comments.       278         round       278         bution to the project       281         ct       282         action       282	3 3 1 2 1		
6	<ul> <li>Asse</li> <li>vide</li> <li>6.1</li> <li>6.2</li> <li>6.3</li> <li>6.4</li> <li>6.5</li> </ul>	o and d Backg Contril Abstra Introdu Metho	ata mining of supermarket online comments.278roundbution to the projectctata mining of supermarket online comments278bution to the project281ct282action284ds290	3 3 1 2 1 )		
6	<b>Asse</b> vide 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5	o and d Backg Contril Abstra Introdu Metho 6.5.1	ata mining of supermarket online comments.       278         round       278         bution to the project       281         ct       282         action       284         ds       290         Consumer comments of bagged lettuce and rocket from	<b>3</b> 3 1 2 1		
6	<pre>Asse vide 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5</pre>	o and d Backg Contril Abstra Introdu Metho 6.5.1	ata mining of supermarket online comments.       278         round       278         bution to the project       281         ct       282         uction       284         ds       290         Consumer comments of bagged lettuce and rocket from       290         UK retail websites       290	3 3 1 2 1 1 )		
6	<b>Asse</b> vide 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5	o and d Backg Contril Abstra Introdu Metho 6.5.1	ata mining of supermarket online comments.278round278oution to the project281ct282action282ds290Consumer comments of bagged lettuce and rocket fromUK retail websites290Analysis consumer comments collected from UK super-	8 3 1 2 1 1 )		
6	<b>Asse</b> vide 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5	o and d Backg Contril Abstra Introdu Metho 6.5.1	ata mining of supermarket online comments.278round	<b>3</b> 3 1 2 <b>1</b> <b>1</b> <b>0</b>		
6	<b>Asse</b> vide 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5	o and d Backg Contril Abstra Introdu Metho 6.5.1 6.5.2	ata mining of supermarket online comments.278round278bution to the project281ct282ation282ation284ds290Consumer comments of bagged lettuce and rocket fromUK retail websites290Analysis consumer comments collected from UK super-market websites291Plant material and the production and analysis of images	3 3 1 2 1 3 0		

	6.5.4	Recruitme	nt of participants	)4
	6.5.5	Consumer	survey	)5
		6.5.5.1	Background questions	)5
		6.5.5.2	Evaluation of colour modified lettuce images 29	)7
		6.5.5.3	Evaluation of the time-lapse videos	)8
		6.5.5.4	Image analysis from time-lapse videos 29	)9
	6.5.6	Statistical	analysis of survey data	)0
6.6	Results	s and discus	sion	)0
	6.6.1	Consumer	comments from online food shoppers 30	)0
		6.6.1.1	Lettuce	)1
		6.6.1.2	Rocket	)3
	6.6.2	Demograp	hics, shopping and consumption habits for con-	
		sumers that	at took part in the survey	)5
		6.6.2.1	Purchasing online versus in-store	)7
		6.6.2.2	Consumption habits	)8
		6.6.2.3	Reasons for discard and purchase	)9
	6.6.3	Consumer	acceptance responses to colour altered images	
		of pre-cut	lettuce	.2
	6.6.4	Discoloura	ation and consumer rejection of lettuce and rocket	
		over storag	ge time; presented by time-lapse video 31	.3
		6.6.4.1	Lettuce	.3
		6.6.4.2	Rocket	.6
6.7	Conclu	isions - wha	at do consumers want from their salads? 32	21
6.8	Appen	dix		23
	6.8.1	Video Lin	ks	23

	6.9	References				
7	Gen	eral Dis	scussion	330		
	7.1	Future	work	346		
		7.1.1	Large scale data acquisition and further development of			
			computer vision and analysis system	346		
		7.1.2	Develop an accurate understanding of current shelf life			
			dating via microbial testing to understand how variable			
			current use-by dates are	349		
		7.1.3	Conduct further research to develop a causal model of the			
			increase in tissue ammonia over the postharvest life of ice-			
			berg lettuce.	350		
		7.1.4	Further develop the work into online consumer reviews			
			and extending it to include all food products	351		
	7.2	Conclu	usion	352		
	7.3	Refere	nces	355		
8	Pub	lished p	papers	360		
	8.1	Paper	1: Determining the quality of leafy salads: Past, present and			
		future		360		
	8.2	Paper	2: Growth temperature influences postharvest glucosinolate			
		concer	ntrations and hydrolysis product formation in first and sec-			
		ond cu	Its of rocket salad	374		

#### Abstract

Fresh is a general term used to encapsulate the qualities of a leafysalad product, but the term does not have any well-defined meaning that can be empirically measured. Currently, the information provided to the consumer about the condition of a leafy salad product is provided by either a "best-before" or "use-by" date, dependent on if the product is sold as ready-to-eat or not. The current dating system evolved from a stock management system developed in the 1980's when supermarkets and their increasing volume of products necessitated the inclusion of sell-by dates on packaging to aid store workers. From sell-by dates, "best-before" and "use-by" were developed to inform the consumer about the condition of the product. However, using set chronological dates for indicating biological change is inherently inaccurate and requires a wide margin of

error to ensure that consumer safety is not compromised. One issue with having a wide margin of error is that there is a larger potential for waste from the consumer where a product is discarded that may have still been acceptable to consume. Due to climate change, a growing global population and a general under-consumption of fruits and vegetables, there has been renewed interest in the value of on-pack dates. This thesis presented data that focused on the variation of shelf life caused by crop growth environment and storage conditions. To understand better how the visual and physiological properties of leafy salads change over time and how the changes can be predicted, three areas of the agri-food system were investigated. Firstly, the preharvest factors of temperature and cultivar were varied for rocket leaves, and then the impact of the different growth factors on the key nutritional phytochemicals were analysed over a typical shelf life period. Secondly, a more in-depth analysis of the postharvest changes that occur in commercial rocket and lettuce were evaluated as well as the development of non-destructive methods for the postharvest monitoring of leafy salad crops. Variables measured for potential postharvest indicators included aerobic colony count, ammonia, chlorophyll, nitrates, visual quality (by imaging and visual

assessment), glucosinolates and glucosinolate hydrolysis products. Finally, the consumer's attitude towards leafy salads was evaluated in order to be able to relate potential biological markers with consumer rejection. The results show that, as with all biological organisms, growth, development and degredation of leafy salads crops is highly variable as there are many different factors by which they are influenced. In order to provide more accurate, up-to-date information to the consumer about the status of any given product, a dynamic non-destructive method of analysing a product is required. Of all the variables analysed in this thesis, tissue ammonia concentration is the most consistent potential indicator of postharvest status for iceberg lettuce. Furthermore, detectors capable of dynamically monitoring ammonia concentration are able to be incorporated into flexible packaging have been used for high-value products such as red meat but are yet to be tried for leafy salads. For rocket salads, there was no single variable that was consistent in its variation of the postharvest period as to be a useful indicator on its own. However, when considering the initial concentrations of soluble sugars, ammonia and nitrate, the combination may be useful in assessing the postharvest potential of the crop. Implementing this analysis

at the point of intake to the packhouse would enable on-pack dates to be flexed in accordance with crop quality and thereby to reduce food waste. It was found that consumers were quite variable in how they view leafy salads, but it was found that age and experience were important when trying to understand the reasons as to why consumers discard products. Older adults tended to rely less on on-pack dates and more on their visual perception of a product when deciding whether to consume the product. Ultimately, to reduce food waste from the consumer, large-scale data acquisition would be required along with dynamic monitoring to develop real time post-retail indicators on pack that would inform the consumer of the quality and safety of the product within.

#### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank Carol Wagstaff, as without out her, none of this would exist. Carol contributed and inspired much of this work but, more importantly, for me, provided an environment to pursue my interests and develop in all aspects of life. I would also like to thank all the staff I have encountered at Reading University who have been very helpful throughout my time as a researcher. Special thanks go to Stephen Elmore, Luke Bell and Martin Chadwick for thier time, support and guidance. I'd like to thank my sponsors BBSRC, and Waitrose, for all their help and resources. And thanks to Eloise, without whom I would have never considered going to university (as she often likes to remind me) and for her continued support.

The right place at the right time.

## Declaration

I confirm that this is my own work and the use of all material from other sources has been properly and fully acknowledged.

Jake Louis Jasper

# **List of Figures**

2.1	The UK trade balance of leafy vegetables	22
2.2	A timeline of key milestones in the formation of on-pack date labeling .	29
2.3	Example visual disorders of leafy salads	62
3.1	The number of days taken for germination, first and second cut maturity	
	and the time from first to second cut $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	134
3.2	Glucosinolate concentrations in first and second cut	140
3.3	Glucosinolate hydrolysis products	142
3.4	PCA biplot of glucosinolates and glucosinolate hydrolysis products	155
4.1	The hue histogram comparisons of images of rocket leaves over the	
	postharvest period	191
4.2	Postharvest changes in total chlorophyll, R1-3	194
4.3	Postharvest changes in Aerobic Colony Count, R1-3	196
4.4	Postharvest changes in nitrate, R1-3	198
4.5	Postharvest changes in total sugars, R1-3	199
4.6	Postharvest changes in ammonia, R1-3	201
4.7	Postharvest changes in total glucosinolates, R1-3	204
4.8	Postharvest changes of total isothiocyanates, R1-3	205
4.9	The relationship between total soluble sugars and ammonia, R1-3 $\ldots$	211
4.10	Quality guide used to visually assess rocket leaves	212
4.11	Heatmap of correlations for rocket data	215
4.12	Hue comparisons of rocket leaves	216
4.13	Example of image capture	217
5.1	Hue range comparisons for lettuce leaves	248
5.2	Postharvest changes in total chlorophyll, IL1-3	252

5.3	Postharvest changes in Aerobic Colony Count, Il1-3
5.4	Postharvest changes in total sugars, IL1-3
5.5	Postharvest changes in nitrate, IL1-3
5.6	Postharvest changes in ammonia, IL1-3
5.7	The relationship between changes in ammonia and ACC
5.8	The decision making criteria for visual quality for Iceberg lettuce $\ . \ . \ . \ 268$
5.9	Comparisons of images of RTE lettuce over the postharvest period $\therefore 269$
6.1	Test image shown to participants
6.2	Twenty most common words - lettuce reviews
6.3	Twenty most common words - rocket reviews $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 304$
6.4	Survey population demographics
6.5	Salad purchasing habits
6.6	Weekly salad consumption
6.7	Weekly salad consumption and reason for rejection
6.8	Time lapse video of iceberg lettuce and consumer rejection $\ldots \ldots 315$
6.9	Time lapse video of rocket leaves and consumer rejection $\ldots \ldots 318$
6.10	Hue histogram comparison - time lapse
7.1	Consumer rejection and changes in postharvest variables - rocket $\ldots 340$
7.2	Consumer rejection and changes in postharvest variables - lettuce $\ldots 342$

# **List of Tables**

2.1	Microbial limits of safety and quality
3.1	Numbers of biological replicates
3.2	Glucosinolates and glucosinolate hydrolysis products
3.3	Significance values from ANOVA output
4.1	Environmental Variables for rocket trial
4.2	Camera settings, R1-3
4.3	The visual quality of rocket samples $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
4.4	Correlation and p-value for sugars (R1) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 213$
4.5	Correlation and p-value for sugars (R2)
4.6	Correlation and p-value for sugars (R3)
5.1	Environmental variables for iceberg lettuce grown in the United King-
	dom (UK) and Spain (ES)
5.2	Camera settings, IL1-3
5.3	The visual quality of lettuce samples
5.4	Summary statistics from the imaging data, IL1-3

#### **List of Abbreviations**

- 4MOB 4-methoxy-3-indolylmethyl
- **ABA** Abscisic Acid
- ACC Aerobic Colony Count
- **ANOVA** Analysis of Variance
- **BBSRC** Biotechnology & Biological Sciences Research Council
- BITC Benzyl Isothiocyanate
- **CNN** Convolutional Neural Network
- **D0** Day 0 of shelf life
- D4 Day 4 of shelf life
- **D7** Day 7 of shelf life
- **DAD** Diode Array Detector
- **DCM** Dichloromethane
- DEFRA Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs
- **DGBT** 4-( $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyldisulfanyl)
- **DGTB** Diglucothiobeinin
- **DMB** Dimeric 4-mercaptobutyl

- EC European Commission
- **EEC** European Economic Community
- **EM** Electromagnetic Spectrum
- **EU** European Union
- **EUFIC** European Union Food Information Council
- FAO Food and Agriculture Organization
- FDA Food and Drug Administration
- FSA Food Standards Agency
- GER Glucoerucin
- **GHP** Glucosinolate Hydrolysis Product
- **GNAS** Gluconasturtiin
- **GRA** Glucoraphanin
- **GRAS** Generally Regarded as Safe
- **GRM** Glucorucolamine
- **GRP** Glucoraphanin
- **GSL** Glucosionlate
- **GSV** Glucosativin
- HI Hyperspectral Imaging
- HPLC High Performance Liquid Chromatography
- **HSD** Honest Significant Difference
- HSV Hue Saturation Value
- IA Image Analysis

- **IL1** Iceberg Lettuce Trial 1
- **IL2** Iceberg Lettuce Trial 2
- **IL3** Iceberg Lettuce Trial 3
- ILA Iceberg Lettuce video A
- **ILB** Iceberg Lettuce video B
- **IPCC** Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
- **ISO** International Organization for Standardization
- **ITC** Isothiocyanate
- LAB CIELAB color space Lightness, a-axis, b-axis
- LC Liquid Chromotography
- LM Listeria Monocytogenes
- LOD Limits of Detection
- LOQ Limits of Quantification
- MAP Modified Atmosphere Packaging
- MNLR Multiple Non-Linear Regression
- **NDVI** Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
- NGB Neoglucobrassicin
- NIR Near-Infrared
- **PC** Principal Components
- **PCA** Principal Component Analysis
- **PRO** Progoitrin
- **QC** Quality Control

#### **QDA** Quantitative Descriptive Analysis

- **R1** Rocket trial 1
- R2 Rocket trial 2
- R3 Rocket trial 3
- RA Rocket Video A
- **RB** Rocket Video B
- **RFID** Radio-Frequency Identification
- RGB Red Green Blue color space
- RTE Ready To Eat
- SF Sulforaphane
- SI Statutory Instrument
- SL Shelf Life
- SPME Solid Phase Micro Extraction
- **TD-GC-TOF-MS** Thermal Desorption with Gas Chromatography-Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry
- **TTI** Time Temperature Indicator
- **UV** Ultraviolet
- VOC Volatile Organic Compound

#### Chapter 1

#### Introduction

In the context of leafy salads, the word "fresh" is generally used as a quality attribute by the consumer, almost certainly because of how products are marketed (Loades, 2017). With "fresh" being a synonym for "recent", freshness is exclusively controlled by time. Although freshness does degrade, in the mind of the consumer, it is an abstract binary concept whereby something is either fresh or it isn't. Regarding leafy salads, there is not a set definition of what qualifies of "fresh". Becker, T. (2000) said the following when referring to meat: "Freshness is the only salient intrinsic credence quality attribute cue used by consumers". This definition is applicable to leafy salads where "fresh" is a general catch-all term that encapsulates many different quality attributes such as visual appearance, aroma, and texture (Freidberg, 2010). From the perspective of the retailer and the consumer, the idea of "fresh", quality and safety all change over time, and a product at time  $t_0$  would be considered optimal, and at  $t_{+1}$ , the product would be lower value, and at  $t_{+2}$  lower value still. Currently, for many leafy salads, the condition of the product is communicated to the consumer in the form of on-pack dates such as the "use-by" and "best-before". The best-before date can be considered a guarantee whereby before the date on the pack, the product is as advertised. After this point, the seller does not assume liability, although it is never acceptable to sell a product that is unsafe.

Fresh-cut, which is also referred to as minimally processed, in the context of leafy salads, refers to products that have some form of added value over the raw product – typically washing and cutting. With the desire by supermarkets to add add value and increase the profit margin of products, and with increased demand from consumers for convenience, ready-to-eat minimally processed leafy salads have risen in popularity over the last decade. One of the impli-

cations of this is that lettuce, depending on the processing or lack thereof, could be sold without a date label, with a best-before date or a use-by date. For spinach, which is often used in cooking, and therefore processed by the consumer, but also consumed raw with other salad leaves, it is not uncommon to see identical products in both the chilled and ambient section of supermarkets with useby and best-before dates respectively. Ultimately when considering leafy salads, if there is an indication on the packaging that it is ready to eat, it has to have a use-by date and be stored in refrigerated condtions.

#### **1.1 Online grocery shopping**

Online grocery shopping has become more prominent over the last couple of decades as access to the internet has become a utility. As the food supply chain has evolved, so too has the way in which information is provided to the consumer. Grocery shopping moved from many small shops, where employees would serve one customer and personally relate information about the attributes of a product to the construction of large quasi-warehouses with complex stock arrangements requiring product information to be included with the product. Online grocery shopping has provided further change in the way information about a product is given to the consumer as the quantity of information that is able to be provided is theoretically limitless. Currently (July 2021) several supermarkets give an indication of shelf life in the form of a "guarantee", typically it is stated as "Product life guaranteed for 2 days excluding delivery day". Given that consumers are often confused about the differences between "use-by" and "best-before" (Wilson et al., 2017; Alongi et al., 2019) it remains to be seen if a guarantee will improve this confusion or add to it. The meaning of "guarantee" has legal implications which can vary significantly and are generally explained within the terms and conditions for each website. The guarantee is typically related to the given on-pack-date, either "use-by" or "best-before". When purchasing products online, currently the consumer cannot see the product, and often in reference to the guarantee, the terms and conditions will state that if the product does not meet the "guaranteed" standards the consumer can reject the product upon delivery. This is not a functionality that is necessary for fresh produce when purchased in-store as presumably if a consumer does not accept the quality of the product they will not purchase it. On-pack dating for indication of the product condition and its change over time, is relatively controversial (Neff et al., 2019) and remains to be seen how it will evolve going forward. As there is the possibility for increased information relating to a leafy salad product to accompany basic descriptions online, it may be the case that environmental information may be added in future to give consumers and indication as to the environmental impact of the product.

# **1.2** The environmental emissions associated with leafy salad waste

As well as the economic issues and the potential health implications of food waste, whereby consumers may be failing to consume their recommended five fruit and vegetables per day, the carbon emissions associated with waste are also worth considering. As with quality, carbon emissions are hard to state precisely as much depends on the season and production method, but approximate  $CO_2$  equivalents ( $CO_2e$ ) for 1 kg of lettuce account for 1.4 kg  $CO_2e$  / kg (Theurl et al., 2017; Martinez-Mate et al., 2018). This can be highly variable as the largest proportion of this is from production and transport, which changes depending on the time of year. In the winter months, when lettuces are imported from Spain, the CO<sub>2</sub>e can double due to the cost of refrigerated transport or the cost of heating in the UK (Hospido et al., 2009). From the value of 1.4 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e / kg: production to the processor has a value of 0.45; processing 0.13; transport to retail 0.02; in-store 0.02; retail to home 0.1; domestic storage 0.13; landfill 0.5 and composting 0.045 (Poore and Nemecek, 2018).

After production, landfill is the biggest contributor to carbon emissions (Poore and Nemecek, 2018). Approximately 80 % of all food waste in the UK ends up in landfill, of which about half is derived from households (Facchini et al., 2018). To reduce the environmental impacts from food waste, reducing the amount of food that the consumer does not eat would have a relatively large impact in reducing carbon emissions from the food supply chain and increased the use of valorisation initiatives such as composting (Moult et al., 2018). Of the 10 - 20 % of leafy salads that end up as waste, processed products generally have less waste than fresh salads as some of the leaves that the consumer would remove had been removed by the processor (Quested and Murphy, 2014). It is clear that, after production, the largest gains to be made in reducing carbon emissions associated with leafy salads are from reducing the food that is wasted and better handling the food that is wasted. There are many reasons why environmental information is often not displayed on the packaging, space and design being just one factor. However, with increased awareness by the consumer of environmental concerns, showing the environmental impact represents an opportunity for suppliers to differentiate their products and allow them to make ethical decisions. Foundation-Earth (https://www.foundationearth.org/) are currently trialling an eco-label for food packaging in the form of a red-amber-green scale to indicate impact. The ecolabel considers four parts of the food production chain of farming, processing, packaging and transport. Although it is not at the forefront of the consumers decision making when purchasing a leafy salad at the moment, as very few packs have this information, the environmental impact may soon be an important factor when purchasing.

Consumer safety must be the priority of the entire food supply chain, but this leads to a conservative approach to dating produce, particularly for anything subject to a "use-by" date. Without an ability to record quality and safety attributes in real time, the risk to the consumer will remain that they may be exposed to a pathogen if the supply chain conditions have been sub-optimal. Equally, many items or packs of fresh produce end up becoming food loss and waste because they are discarded when they would in actual fact be both safe and pleasant to consume. A date based system is inevitably based on chronology, but biology of leaves is determined by environmental and developmental cues. The same biological processes associated with senescence, degradation and death of leaves happen to each leaf that is harvested, but they happen over variable lengths of time, depending on what conditions the leaf is exposed to both pre and post harvest. This results in management of a food supply chain that is at odds with the processes happening to the food within it, and which is unable to be resilient or agile enough to deal with the seasonal and supply chain variability that fresh produce routinely experiences.

#### **1.3** Structure of the thesis

To achieve the aims and objectives, various experiments primarily involving commercial ready to eat iceberg lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*) and wild rocket (*Diplotaxis tenufolia*) were carried out. In this thesis, the reports of the study are divided into seven chapters.

**Chapter 1:** This is a concise introductory chapter. The chapter outlined the background information for leafy salads and discussed how freshness and quality are defined and communicated. The aims and objectives of this thesis are also outlined in this chapter.

**Chapter 2:** This chapter is a published literature review that discusses shelf life with respect to leafy salads. The leafy salad industry is mapped out and put in context with land use and economics in the review. The historical development of the legislation for shelf life is investigated and discussed to understand the strengths and limitations of the current system. The three primary factors influencing product quality are reviewed, which are microbiology, visual appearance and aroma. Finally, the technological advances allowing for the continuous monitoring of products using imaging is dis-

cussed. Imaging enables up-to-date information about the condition of a given product to be conveyed to the consumer. I researched, wrote and managed the publication process for this review paper.

**Chapter 3:** This chapter is a published research paper. This chapter investigates how preharvest factors affect the biochemical properties of rocket leaves over shelf life. Two different cultivars for both *Eruca sativa* and *Diplotaxis tenufolia* were grown in growth chambers at three different temperatures 20, 30 and 40 °C and harvested twice. The characteristic compounds of rocket, glucosinolates and their subsequent breakdown products were assessed over a seven day shelf life period under optimal storage conditions. I conducted the experiments, collected and analysed the data, and co-wrote the paper with Luke Bell.

**Chapter 4:** Is a research article assessing the physiological, biological and microbiological quality of ready to eat iceberg lettuce leaves over a three week storage period at 4 °C. The purpose of this is to evaluate several established and potential markers of quality in order to predict shelf life more accurately. Three different trials were carried out across three different seasons and suppliers. I conducted

the experiments, performed the analysis, led the writing of the paper and it is now submitted to Postharvest Biology & Technology.

**Chapter 5:** Similar to Chapter 5, a research article assessing the physiological, biological and microbiological quality of ready to eat wild rocket leaves over a three week storage period at 4 °C. The purpose of this is to evaluate several established and potential markers of quality with in order to more accurately predict shelf life. Three different trials were carried out across three different seasons and suppliers. I conducted the experiments, performed the analysis, led the writing of the paper and it is now submitted to Postharvest Biology & Technology.

**Chapter 6:** This chapter is a research article that amalgamates consumer data from primary and secondary sources to assess how the consumer views leafy salads. The primary data consisted of timelapse video captured of both rocket and lettuce stored in a domestic refrigerator and then shown to consumers as part of an online survey where they were asked to indicate when they would no longer consumer the product. From the responses to the time lapse video, the colour profile of rocket and lettuce that the majority of consumers would not consume was then calculated. Furthermore, a novel data source of consumer comments left on supermarket websites was analysed using sentiment analysis to uncover how consumers view leafy salads. I conducted the experiments, performed the analysis, led the writing of the paper and it is now submitted to Food Quality and Preference.

**Chapter 7:** This is the General discussion and concluding chapter. This chapter discusses the conclusions derived from this thesis and also outlines suggestions for future work.

#### **1.4** Aims of the thesis

(A) To understand how shelf life is defined, both in terms of legislation and by quality attributes, and therefore uncover the limitations and potential improvements that can be made to reduce food waste from the consumer. In addition, to ascertain methods that could be used to monitor a product dynamically and therefore give real-time feedback as the condition of the produce, reducing the reliance on estimation (Chapter 2).

- (B) To understand how the modulation of the preharvest factors of temperature and cultivar affect the post-harvest life of rocket leaves by measuring the principal quality component for taste and aroma – glucosinolates and their subsequent breakdown products. (Chapter 3).
- (C) To monitor and evaluate potential physiological, biological and microbiological markers of shelf life, from leafy salads that are stored under optimal conditions, that could be used to more accurately represent the condition of a leafy salad product (Chapters 4-5).
- (D) To understand from a consumer perspective how the current shelf life dating system aligns with consumer expectation and to what extent the system is valued by the consumer. Furthermore, we aim to evaluate how the consumers define quality from a visual perspective and relate the findings to the previous shelf life testing (Chapters 4-6).
## **1.5** Objectives of the thesis

- $(A_1)$  Map out the legal progression of current laws for shelf life and establish how legislation is applied to different leafy salad products.
- $(A_2)$  To assess the primary factors (microbiology, visual appearance and aroma) that are used by suppliers and retailers to determine the quality and safety of a product.
- (A<sub>3</sub>) Suggest how the current system can be improved and quantify the improvement in terms of economic savings.
- $(B_1)$  To determine the effects of varying growth temperature, cut and species on the abundance of characteristic compounds of rocket leaves.
- $(B_2)$  To determine the effects of varying growth temperature, cut and species on the abundance of characteristic compounds of rocket leaves over shelf life.
- $(C_1)$  To evaluate how potential markers of shelf life change over

time for both ready-to-eat lettuce and rocket stored under optimal domestic conditions.

- $(C_2)$  To determine the feasibility of image analysis techniques to reliably measure changes in quality that are not apparent by visual perception.
- $(D_1)$  To evaluate the motivations of UK consumers for purchasing and discarding leafy salad products.
- $(D_2)$  To evaluate the rate of rejection of both iceberg lettuce and rocket leaves over shelf life by consumers and quantify the colour profile of the leaves at the point of rejection.
- $(D_3)$  Model the rate of rejection for the colour profile of iceberg lettuce and rocket leaves.

## **1.6 References**

Alongi, M., Sillani, S., Lagazio, C., Manzocco, L., 2019. 'Effect of expiry date communication on acceptability and waste of fresh-cut lettuce during storage at different temperatures', *Food Research International*, 116, 1121–1125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.09.056

Becker, T., 2000. 'Consumer perception of fresh meat quality: a framework for analysis'. *British Food Journal*, 102, 158–176. ht tps://doi.org/10.1108/00070700010371707

Facchini, E., Iacovidou, E., Gronow, J., Voulvoulis, N., 2018. 'Food flows in the United Kingdom: The potential of surplus food redistribution to reduce waste'. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association*, 68, 887–899. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10962247.2017.1405854

Freidberg, S., 2010. *Fresh: a perishable history*, First Harvard University Press paperback edition. ed. The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass. London.

Hospido, A., Milà i Canals, L., McLaren, S., Truninger, M., Edwards-Jones, G., Clift, R., 2009. 'The role of seasonality in lettuce consumption: a case study of environmental and social aspects'. *International Journal Life Cycle Assess* 14, 381–391. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11367-009-0091-7

Loades, M., 2017. Food Claims: What does fresh mean in food? URL: https://www.froghop.co.uk/food-claims-wh at-does-fresh-mean-in-food. (Accessed: 13/11/2021)

Martinez-Mate, M.A., Martin-Gorriz, B., Martínez-Alvarez, V., Soto-García, M., Maestre-Valero, J.F., 2018. 'Hydroponic system and desalinated seawater as an alternative farm-productive proposal in water scarcity areas: Energy and greenhouse gas emissions analysis of lettuce production in southeast Spain'. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 172, 1298–1310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.10.275

Moult, J.A., Allan, S.R., Hewitt, C.N., Berners-Lee, M., 2018. 'Greenhouse gas emissions of food waste disposal options for UK retailers'. Food Policy, 77, 50-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fo odpol.2018.04.003

Neff, R.A., Spiker, M., Rice, C., Schklair, A., Greenberg, S., Leib, E.B., 2019. 'Misunderstood food date labels and reported food discards: A survey of U.S. consumer attitudes and behaviors'. *Waste Management*, 86, 123–132. https://doi.org/0.1016/j.wasman.2019.01.023

Poore, J., Nemecek, T., 2018. 'Reducing food's environmental impacts through producers and consumers'. *Science*, 360, 987–992. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaq0216

Quested, T.E., Murphy, L., 2014. *Household food and drink waste:* A product focus. URL: https://wrap.org.uk/resource s/report/household-food-drink-waste-productfocus (Accessed: 09/08/2018)

Theurl, M.C., Hörtenhuber, S.J., Lindenthal, T., Palme, W., 2017. 'Unheated soil-grown winter vegetables in Austria: Greenhouse gas emissions and socio-economic factors of diffusion potential'. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 151, 134–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.016

Wilson, N.L.W., Rickard, B.J., Saputo, R., Ho, S.-T., 2017. 'Food waste: The role of date labels, package size, and product category'. *Food Quality and Preference*, 55, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.08.004

## Chapter 2

# Determining the quality of leafy salads: Past, present and future

The following section was originally published as follows:

Jasper, J., Elmore, J.S., Wagstaff, C., 2021. Determining the quality of leafy salads: Past, present and future. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* **180**, 111630. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. postharvbio.2021.111630

## 2.1 Contribution to the project

The majority of the research and writing was done by myself with review and editing by C. Wagstaff and S Elmore. The final manuscript was the result of a team effort between C. Wagstaff, S. Elmore and myself. Contribution breakdown percentage by each author respectively [20, 10, 70].

### 2.2 Abstract

The relatively high proportion of avoidable waste from leafy salads and the under-consumption of fruits and vegetables generally is contributing toward renewed interest in the value of on-pack dates, particularly those that indicate quality. Current methods of predicting shelf-life in fresh vegetables and salad are relatively conservative due to the high variability of the product and few reliable markers that can be used to predict shelf-life. This is evidenced by the proportion of wastage in this category where fresh vegetables and salad account for almost a quarter of all avoidable food waste by weight. We have looked at the historical context in which date markings have been derived, how they function currently and look at how the current system could be improved. We review the three primary factors that influence the quality of a product – microbiology, visual quality, aroma – and suggest that if more accurate predictions of shelf-life are to be obtained non-destructive methods of testing need to be developed in order to provide the consumer with accurate information about the current condition of the product.

## 2.3 Introduction

#### 2.3.1 The fresh produce industry

Fresh produce is a category that encompasses farmed horticultural products, most commonly fruits and vegetables. Globally the yield and value of this sector has been increasing steadily over the last decade, and this trend is set to continue. From 2008 to 2018 global vegetable production increased from  $4.4 \times 10^8$  to  $6.4 \times 10^8$  tonnes and was forecast to maintain this growth (Euromonitor International, 2019). In Europe, 2.2 million hectares of land were used to produce fresh vegetables with nearly half coming from just three countries:

Italy, Spain and Poland. Within that, approximately 17.8 % of the land is used for leafy and stalked vegetable production (De Cicco, 2016). The United Kingdom (UK) dedicates 78,000 hectares to vegetable and salad production (DEFRA, 2018a).

In the UK, which historically has one of the highest consumptions of fruit and vegetables in Europe (Eurostat, 2018), 46 grams of leafy salads were purchased per person per week (DEFRA, 2018b). In the last decade, the number of prepared leafy salad items purchased has doubled in the UK from a spend of 519 to 1100 million pounds showing an increase in the desire to consume more conveniently prepared leafy vegetables as part of a balanced diet (Kantar World Panel, 2018). The desire for more leafy vegetables, along with increases in population, has resulted in a significant increase in importing leafy vegetables to the UK over the last couple of decades (Figure 2.1).



**Figure 2.1:** The UK trade balance of leafy vegetables from the Comtrade database comprised of lettuce, spinach and chicory (https://comtrade.un.org/).

#### 2.3.2 Challenges facing the fresh produce industry

There is a mounting pressure on the entire global food system to increase sustainable food production, to cope with the growth in population numbers and the dietary changes that occur as populations become more affluent (Gerbens-Leenes et al., 2010). It is estimated that food production will have to increase by 70 % by the year 2050; not only will it have to increase in volume, but also in safety and nutrition (SEC(2010)379).

Alongside pressure from an increasing population, there are guide-

lines from governments and health organisations to increase consumption of fruits and vegetables. The World Health Organisation (WHO) recommends that people consume 400 g of fruits and vegetables per day to improve overall health. However, this goal is not commonly achieved (EUFIC, 2012). Increased production of fruits and vegetables is one part of the solution, another is increasing the consumption of those which have been grown, harvested and purchased. The majority of food waste in countries with highly developed food chains, occurs with consumers, and the longer the consumer keeps the food after purchase the less likely they are to consume it (Porat et al., 2018). As the produce ages the consumer views it as less valuable, due to its perceived decline in quality and safety. Often food that is acceptable to eat is wasted; depending on the classification method, waste estimates for leafy salads tend to be around 20 % (Quested and Murphy, 2014).

Food waste is a multifactorial problem and losses are not always avoidable. However, there are many aspects to improve on and these are covered by Sustainable Development Goal 12.3 (FAO, 2019). Food waste starts with losses in the field due to abiot and biotic factors as well as systematically overproducing crops in order to meet certain quality levels set by retailers. Then there are losses due to improper transportation and processing, follwed by waste arising from overstocking in supermarkets. One particularly important area is onpack dates. In the majority of cases, where a date is present on the pack (best-before or use-by) it is indicating either safety or quality of the pack contents. With respect to safety there are robust scientific methods (Table 2.1) that are used to define the date, although a margin of error is usually applied, which itself may increase waste. With quality the consequences of errors are less serious for consumer health and, as such, the ways in which the dates are derived are often quite rudimentary. This leaves larger margins for error and can potentially mislead the consumer, causing them to discard the salad when it is still safe to consume. Approximately 70 % of the time consumers use on-pack dates to decide whether or not a salad is 'okay' to consume. Similarly, the appearance is also cited as a deciding factor 70 % of the time; in contrast, less than 10 % of respondents said that smell was used (Lyndhurst, 2008). This highlights the importance of providing accurate information to the consumer and that consumers often rely on visual cues when evaluating a product.

The situation is further complicated by the fact that consumers often open the bag and consume some of the product immediately afterwards, but then often keep the remainder for another day (Blanke, 2015). The combination of changing the gaseous atmosphere inside the bag and manual handling of the leaves often renders the 'useby' date aspirational, to the extent that some suppliers advise that bags are guaranteed until the 'use-by' date or 24 hours after opening the bag, whichever is soonest. Educating sustainability-minded consumers, which is estimated to be 40 % of consumers (Sustainable, 2021), about what constitutes real deterioration may help to alleviate some of the waste that occurs when consumers throw away product prior to the end date on the pack. Equally, encouraging disposal of waste salad into compost rather than landfill may have benefits for sustainability in the home. Retail waste can be on a much larger scale, for example when shelves are stacked with salad products in anticipation of good weather, only to find that unseasonable rain and cold weather (a common feature of a UK summer) drives consumers away from salad purchase. In these cases developing better systems for collection and valorization of wasted leaves and packaging are needed to improve sustainability goals.

One of the biggest barriers the industry has to being able to provide accurate information to the consumer is the lack of reliable tests for markers of quality (Spadafora et al., 2016; Tsironi et al., 2017), and those that do exist measure the current status of the product rather than providing any predictive information relating to shelflife (SL). As a consequence, the quality indication given by use-by is often tenuous; furthermore, when it is suspected that quality will be diminished and a shorter SL is required, there is little evidence to back this up and the date on pack often stays the same regardless of what quality assessments were made at harvest or at factory intake.

This review will explore the options available to suppliers and retailers that would help reduce the volume of food loss and waste that occurs in the ready-to-eat salad industry. This will include an evaluation of the technologies available for predicting shelf life of the leaves before they are packed, ways of dynamically assessing quality loss during shelf life, and advice that may be given to consumers that would help prevent food waste from bagged salads in the home.

## **2.4** Shelf-life: brief history and definitions

#### 2.4.1 A history of shelf-life legislation

As long as there has been trade there have been rules and customs. Early food law was primarily concerned with food adulteration (Sophia, 2014). With the rise of centralised distribution in the food supply network starting in the 1970's more advanced methods of stock control were required (Moore, 1991). Marks and Spencer introduced sell-by dates in the UK in 1973 to keep track of stock (Marks and Spencer, 2020), but that was not intended to convey information to the consumer. It was not until 1980 that there was a statute requiring dates to be included on packaging informing consumers of quality. A date of 'minimum durability', now commonly known as 'best-before', was introduced in the UK (SI1980/1849) soon after similar legislation (79/112/EEC, 1978) was introduced to the European Economic Community (EEC). Use-before dates were introduced in the same document, and later revised to the wording 'useby' (89/395/EEC, 1989). A year later the UK introduced use-by dates into its own legislation in an amendment to the Food Labelling

Regulations (SI 1984/1305, 1984). The introduction of a date of minimum durability was first discussed by Codex Alimentarius in 1965, where the committee agreed with a statement from the UK delegates (ALINORM 65/22, 1965):

"Much depends on the quality and freshness of ingredients and on distribution and storage conditions."

The next mention of a date of minimum durability was in 1972 when a standard list of date markings was discussed, to consolidate the markings being used (ALINORM 72/22, 1972). The first appearance of the definition in a similar form as it is today was presented by the Federal Republic of Germany:

"If the minimum durability date was applied in such a manner so that foods exceeding the date and which are still in good condition were not removed from the market, then both the producer and the consumer would benefit, the latter in terms of possibly lower priced foods."(ALINORM 74/22, 1974). They also stated that: *"without such an application of this type of date marking provision, the risk existed of restrict-ing distribution to the larger, higher volume retailers."* 

However, in the UK the attitude was still of the view that the date of minimum durability was unnecessary other than for stock control purposes, and that minimum durability was 'open to interpretation', and argued that the SL would be variable depending on the storage conditions used by the consumer (Sawyer et al., 1980). The bestbefore date remains controversial (Neff et al., 2019) and the definition is still being discussed (REP18/FL, 2018).



**Figure 2.2:** A timeline showing key milestones in the formation of on-pack date labeling that we see today in the UK and EU.

#### 2.4.2 Legal definitions relating to shelf-life

The European Union set out two different formats for on-pack date labels; the first, 'use-by', is for products that are likely to be injurious to health at a certain point in time. The second date label is the 'date of minimum durability', or 'best-before' which is the 'date until which the food retains its specific properties when properly stored' (1169/2011). These static dates on the packs of fresh produce can be considered the SL of the produce within. However, 'shelf-life' is not specifically used in EU labelling legislation, but it does appear in (2073/2005) related to the microbiological criteria of food (Article 2,f):

"Shelf-life means either the period corresponding to the period preceding the 'use-by' or the minimum durability date, as defined respectively in Articles 9 and 10 of Directive 2000/13/EC."

The words 'Shelf-life' do appear in a statuary instrument in the UK, but the definition refers to 'use-by' and 'best-before' definitions in EU legislation (SI 2014/1855). One of the problems with on-pack dates is the conservative nature of the dates when applied in practice. Suppliers of fresh produce will choose a date that is a set number of days after the produce is packed. This date has a margin of error, perhaps two days, and this interval will stay static throughout the year, with the occasional adjustment downwards if the crop is known to have a significant reduction in quality. Therefore, the date on the pack is set to cover the worst-case scenario, which is good for ensuring public health, but sub-optimal for minimising waste (Lee et al., 2015).

Unlike other categories in the food industry, the fresh produce industry has limited options when it comes to food processing and preservation. Because of this, the life of fresh produce is particularly short postharvest. This is certainly true of leafy salads, where products are not expected to last longer than two-weeks postharvest (Araneda et al., 2008; Bell et al., 2017). The most significant reason for accurate communication of SL by a use-by date is ensuring microbiological safety. Any product designated as ready-to-eat (RTE) must carry a use-by date (EC 2073/2005) and, since bagged salad leaves are usually in this category, the suppliers do not have a choice but to impose a use-by date rather than a best-before date. It is a criminal offence to sell food that has passed its use-by, but this is not true for food that is past its best-before date (178/200, 2002) although retailers often do not sell food past its best-before date.

Although leafy salads tend to have use-by dates, some products carry a best-before date where it is assumed further processing, e.g., cooking will occur in the home – for example with products such as sliced kale or spinach. This leads to some anomalies in the current retail system: spinach sold as a single line bagged salad is classed as RTE and is subject to a 'use-by' date. The same type of leaf is sold as a different line with other leafy green vegetables that are marketed for cooking and therefore has a 'best-before' date on pack. Since there is nothing to stop a consumer using a vegetable spinach in a salad, or blending sliced kale into a smoothie, it is clear that the distinction between use-by and best-before is a somewhat artificial construction that doesn't necessarily protect consumers who are consuming them raw from microbiological safety breaches. Best before dates are set to give the consumer an indication of the decline in the quality of the product. As the decline in quality is a result of decay and

senescence, which are biological processes, there are many different inputs and pressures that influence the decline (Wagstaff et al., 2007). Variance in salad crops are attributed to differences in growing conditions such as light intensity (Fu et al., 2012), and irrigation strategy (Luna et al., 2012; Allende and Monaghan, 2015). As well as the agronomic inputs, the genetic factors such as species and cultivar, influence the variability in the postharvest longevity of the product (Ntsoane et al., 2016; Bell et al., 2017; Jasper et al., 2020). Furthermore, as the leaves of the plant mature at different rates, there will be significant differences in the quality of leaves from the same plant. Because of this, the quality of the leaves within the individual bags may be highly variable. All of the pre and postharvest factors make accurately assessing a product's SL difficult, and interplant variability is one of the biggest challenges.

Commercially, all produce within a particular plot of land is planted and harvested at the same time. Within the plot there will inevitably be some variation in rates of growth and development, plus there will be leaves of different developmental stages within the same plant. Therefore, leaves of different maturities are harvested together, meaning that the physiology and chemical composition will be different between leaves in the same bag. Whenever a RTE salad bag is assessed the SL will be based on the average for all the leaves within the pack. This variation increases the difficulty in defining SL, and as to why the date on packs is set conservatively.

Food waste associated with leafy salad products could be mitigated by retail and domestic purchasers with better planning and logistical tools (for retailers) to improve the relationship between supply and demand. However, with current supply chains requiring several days between harvest and point of sale, and with rapidly fluctuating weather conditions driving very short-term fluctuations in what consumers choose to eat with a crop that takes several weeks to develop from sowing to harvest, managing supply to consumption patterns is challenging. Alternative supply chains are discussed in the section below that may enable shortened crop cycles and more localised supply chains that may both improve quality and reduce waste.

There is a vast amount of literature, assessing different facets of fresh-produce physiology and biochemistry over SL (e.g. Wagstaff et al., 2007; De Corato, 2020). However, there is a disconnect be-

tween the information gathered in academia, and the dates that are placed on the packs of consumer goods. This is often because the advanced methods used in academia, do not translate to industry, due to practical, economic and technological constraints.

There are many ways of quantitatively assessing quality attributes that are linked to SL. The challenge for those wishing to implement such measures is that the underpinning biology that regulates leaf degradation and quality loss is highly variable depending on factors linked to plant development, agronomy and postharvest handling. The following sections explore quality attributes linked to SL, providing information on the biological factors underpinning the measurable symptoms, methods for quantitatively analysing each factor or its symptom, and a review of available technologies that can currently predict the development of a quality marker.

#### 2.4.3 The supply chain of RTE leafy salads

The food supply chain for ready to eat or ready to cook cut fresh vegetables can be rather long, given the delicate nature and cellular vulnerability of these plant products. For example, if a product is

grown in southern Spain for consumption in the UK it can be 24h between harvest and starting its journey, during which time it is imperative to remove the field heat from the crop as rapidly as possible (Bell et al., 2017) and to thereafter keep it at optimal storage temperature so that metabolic processes are arrested without causing chill damage. It can take three days to transport the crop by road to the UK, with temperatures often highly variable between different parts of the lorry (Jedermann et al., 2009). On arrival in the UK the crop may spend another 24-48 hours being washed, processed and packed before it is distributed to a retail outlet (Table 5.1). Typically a bestbefore date on pack can be five to seven days after packing, meaning that the product has to meet quality threshold criteria relating to appearance, safety and organoleptic characteristics for at least ten days after harvest. Therefore the care with which the project is handled and the integrity of the cold chain through which the product moves after harvest is absolutely critical to its ability to meet quality and safety requirements.

Sub-optimal storage conditions can lead to increased quality and safety issues because the storage temperature will influence the rate

of respiration and the rate of microbial growth (Løkke et al., 2012; Alongi et al., 2019). With a longer supply chain, there is a greater potential for temperature abuse which can be detrimental to the product and increase the rate of deterioration. The longer the product takes to get to the retail shelf after packing, the less time the consumer has to enjoy the project before it reaches the end of shelf-life. Whilst there is encouragement to reduce the length of supply chains and grow more of the crop in the country where it is going to be consumed, e.g. through indoor farming, it will be many years before these initiatives can account for a significant portion of the ready to eat/ready to cook vegetables that are currently produced in Europe for consumption elsewhere. It is therefore valuable to continue to apply effort to improving cold chain management and to innovations in packaging that lead to increased quality of the product at the point of consumption.

## 2.5 Microbiology and shelf-life

With respect to SL, safety is the most important factor. The 'useby' date, which is defined in relation to microbiological safety, is in place to protect the consumer. It is an offence to sell any product past its stated 'use-by' date (SI 2014/1855, 2014). For leafy salads, the control of micro-organisms is one of the primary concerns; this is because of the relatively limited processing options available. Traditionally, salad vegetables do not carry any form of date as they are often unpackaged. However, with rising demand for convenience, leafy salads are increasingly being sold as RTE. Any product designated as RTE must carry a use-by date (EC 2073/2005). Often, a product that will be sold as RTE is further processed for added value - cut into portions, for example. Opposed to non-RTE products, RTE products are assumed not to be further processed by the consumer, therefore, they must be safe to eat within a stated time frame. There are very severe consequences, both financially and reputationally, for a business if there is a food poisoning outbreak from their product (Koukkidis and Freestone, 2018). As a consequence of having relatively few tools to ensure safety and severe consequences of injuring the consumer, the date on the pack is often a conservative estimate.

#### 2.5.1 Causitive agents of microbial problems

At every stage in the supply chain, there is an opportunity for microorganisms to contaminate food. Often the environment in which the food is produced, be it open-field or hydroponic for example, or the properties of the foodstuff itself are determinants of which microorganisms will develop (Söderqvist, 2017). There are three microorganisms that have specific regulations pertaining to the safety of leafy salads; these are Escherichia coli (E. coli) 0157:H7, Listeria monocytogenes (LM), and Salmonella (Table 2.1). Salmonella and LM have regulations that are in place while the product is on the shelves. In contrast, the law for *E. coli* is only applied during the manufacturing stage, as although it can be injurious to health, it is not known to grow on leafy salads under RTE conditions (Abdul-Raouf et al., 1993). Although there is evidence that LM and Salmonella can grow at chilled temperatures, these organisms are not generally considered to contribute to the spoilage of the salad product (Horev et al., 2012). These organisms are important with respect to SL. However, we are primarily focused on quality changes and therefore, they shall not be discussed in detail in this review.

Micro-organisms are part of the many factors that contribute to the spoilage of food. However, as with many processes in biology, no single factor is entirely responsible as physical, chemical and microbiological factors all contribute. Bacterial spoilage is often associated with slime and a watery appearance (Tournas, 2005) caused by the formation of biofilms and/or by breakdown of the underlying leaf material. In addition to producing mycelium and spores, fungi have also been associated with a watery appearance, therefore the causal organism of similar symptoms is not always straightforward to identify by appearance alone. Unsurprisingly, the species or micro-organisms that are able to survive and even replicate at refrigeration temperatures are most commonly associated with foodspoilage such as those belonging to the *Erwinia* species (Tournas, 2005).

Routine testing for food spoilage organisms is not standard practice. This may be due to the economics of administering these tests, the lack of guidance on testing the less frequently occurring organisms, lack of knowledge about the relationship between organism load and the prevalence of symptoms, or lack of knowledge about the underpinning colonisation and disease development to provide informative predictive or actionable data.

#### 2.5.2 Evaluation of microbial load

There are legally defined microbiological sampling and testing methodologies for establishing SL (EC 2073/2005, 2006). Because of this, microbiology is unique as a measure of quality in that the same criteria that establish the date on the pack are the same for every product that is sold within a particular jurisdiction. The standard methodology for assessing the microbiology of a product is defined in Commission Regulation 2073/2005 (2006), where the specific ISO method for testing is referred to. Aerobic Colony Count (ACC) is often used; thresholds vary for what is classed as unacceptable, but are usually in the range  $10^5 – 10^7$  colony forming units per gram (cfu/g) (Health Protection Agency, 2009; Calonica et al., 2019). Values in excess of this figure suggest the microbial flora is considered to have developed into one predominant organism (Health Protection Agency, 2009).

When measuring the microbiology over SL in RTE products, sam-

ples are taken at the start of production and at set points throughout the SL period. Organisms that are relevant to the safety of RTE salads are highlighted in (Table 2.1). Often the product is on the shelves before the results of the tests are known as the current testing methods usually require 48 hours of incubation time. So, if the results come back positive for pathogenic micro-organisms, products have to be removed or recalled depending on how far they have made it through the supply chain. A lot of research has been undertaken to try and develop novel non-destructive methods of quantifying micro-organims and the majority of these methods are based around imaging techniques (Pan et al., 2018; Herrero-Langreo, Scannell and Gowen, 2020).

For a method to be truly useful at assessing microbial accumulation during SL it has to enable measurements to occur while the product is still in its packaging, and for organisms related to spoilage there has to be some knowledge of what level of abundance should indicate a cause for concern (Fuertes et al., 2016). To the best of the authors' knowledge, there are no implementations of such a system. There are commercialised methods for the detection of various aflatoxins in nuts and dried fruits, but there are yet to be similar methods in the fresh salad industry (Yanniotis et al., 2011; Wu, Xie and Xu, 2018). It is usual to see higher aerobic colony counts in products that have not been stored adequately. Due to the logistics of the supply chain, the retail environment, and the minimal processing options, leafy salads often have unsatisfactory numbers. Calonica et al. (2019) found that only 8.3 % of samples of salads taken from retailers were satisfactory (<  $10^5$  cfu/g) and by the end of shelf-life 80 % of samples were unsatisfactory (>  $10^7$  cfu/g). ACC gives an indication of the overall microbial status of the product and is not suitable as an indicator of specific organisms. As the microbial status of a leafy salad is often unsatisfactory, and that there are relatively limited options for controlling and monitoring micro-organisms, there is a large amount of work in research and development for discovering methods that can reduce microbial load and still deliver the quality of product that the consumer demands (Calonica et al., 2019).

**Table 2.1:** Microbial limits of safety and quality for precut fruit and vegetables (ready-to-eat).

Micro-organisms	Absolute limit	Testing method	Stage at which the legislation applies
		reference	
$E.coli^1$	1000 cfu/g	ISO 16649-1 or 2	Manafacturing process
Listeria monocytogenes <sup>1</sup>	Absence in 25 g	EN/ISO 11290-1	Before the food has left the food busi-
			ness operator
Listeria monocytogenes <sup>1</sup>	100 cfu/g	EN/ISO 11290-2	Products on the market during its shelf-
			life
Salmonella <sup>1</sup>	Absence in 25 g	EN/ISO 6579	Products on the market during its shelf-
			life
Pertaining to Quality			

## Pertaining to safety

44

Micro-organisms	Class A Satisfac-	Class B accpetable	Class C Unsatisfactory
	tory		
Aerobic Colony Count <sup>2</sup>	<b>&lt;</b> 10 <sup>4</sup>	$10^4$ - <10 <sup>5</sup> cfu/g	$\geq 10^5~{ m cfu/g}$
Aerobic Colony			$\geq 10^5~{ m cfu/g}$
Count <sup>3,4</sup>			
$E.coli^2$	<20 cfu/g	20 - <100 cfu/g	$\geq 10^5~{ m cfu/g}$
1. (EC 2073/2005, 2006)	2. (Food and Environmental Hygiene Depart- ment, 2001)	3. (Calonica et al., 2019)	4. (Health Protection Agency., 2009)

#### 2.5.3 Preventing microbial derived quality loss

Controlling micro-organisms on leafy salads affords far fewer technologies than most other food categories, since thermal treatments, which are well developed, are not feasible on salad leaves due to the perishability of the crop. There are numerous ways in which growth of micro-organisms can be controlled, and it is a highly active area of research, reflecting the economic importance of this problem (Costa et al., 2011; Mogren et al., 2018). There are broadly two different approaches to controlling micro-organisms, physical and chemical.

#### 2.5.3.1 Physical methods of preserving fresh produce

Physical methods of controlling micro-organisms, apart from heat treatment, include treatments such as modified atmosphere packaging (MAP) and radiation-based techniques. Ultraviolet (UV) light has been studied in its application at reducing the microbial load on leafy salads, and has been found to be effective (Ignat et al., 2015); however, there is the possibility of damaging the leaves with high levels of exposure. The UV radiation disrupts DNA replication and transcription in its germicidal action, but its action can also cause quality defects such as increased respiration, which is unfavourable as far as storage life is concerned, and in strong enough doses can physically degrade the leaves (Martínez-Hernández et al., 2015). Irradiation techniques using gamma radiation have been approved for use on lettuce and spinach in the USA by the FDA (Goodburn and Wallace, 2013), and have been shown to be effective in many studies (Chun et al., 2010; Olanya et al., 2015). However, there is conflicting evidence from RTE salads whether these types of treatment persist through shelf-life or just exert their effect as a one-time decontamination (Goodburn and Wallace, 2013). There does not seem to be a large take-up of this technology in the fresh produce industry, partly due to economic factors, but also due to consumer concerns over irradiated produce (Bearth and Siegrist, 2019).

Modifying or regulating the atmosphere inside the packaging of a product has been used extensively within the fresh produce industry, and there are many reviews on the topic (Caleb et al., 2013; Hussein et al., 2015). Typically, in MAP varying combinations of nitrogen, oxygen and carbon dioxide are used depending on the prod-

uct. Noble gases, which have low reactivity and no odour, have also been investigated in combination with 'traditional' gases and found to be effective in maintaining the quality of rocket (Char et al., 2012). However, in the same paper it was also reported that argonenriched atmospheres increase respiration around 15%, which may reduce SL. The modified atmosphere is achieved either by gas flushing to displace the air inside the bag with a desirable composition of nitrogen (or other noble gas), oxygen and carbon dioxide (active MAP) or by using microperforations in the packaging to balance the respiration rate of the product with gas exchange between the internal headspace and the external environment (passive MAP). Passive MAP can take several days for equilibrium to be reached and, in both cases, the evolution of the internal atmosphere is dependent on factors controlling the respiration of the fresh product, e.g. temperature. If the permeability or environmental conditions are not optimised then the quality of the product will be severely compromised (Ares et al, 2008). There are many studies that show the attenuation of micro-organisms using modified atmospheres (Ioannidis et al., 2018; Kapetanakou et al., 2019). However, once the pack is opened the benefits of the MAP are lost. There are several packaging parameters that affect the atmosphere within the bag, including film thickness, number of perforations, orientation of polymer chains and polymer type. For packaging of leafy salads polypropylene is the most common polymer, but the packaging parameters will vary depending on the product. The atmospheric conditions in MAP, which are usually low O<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> and high nitrogen compared to atmospheric composition (Campbell-Platt, 2017), can give rise to negative quality aspects such as discolouration and off-odours (Nielsen et al., 2008; Tudela et al., 2013). However, in addition there are concerns over the sustainability of some of the materials used to package RTE salads, with recycling options severely limited. There is pressure to develop biodegradable, compostable or more easily recyclable packaging options that still retain the ability to control quality of the plant material within (Roohi et al., 2018).

#### 2.5.3.2 Chemical methods of preserving fresh produce

Chemical methods of controlling micro-organisms are far more numerous, which may reflect the commercial viability of these methods for controlling micro-organisms (Goodburn and Wallace, 2013).
As vegetables tend to be washed to remove soil and debris, it makes practical and economic sense to use this stage to sanitise the produce for micro-organisms. Simply washing the produce in chlorinated water remains one of the most common practices when it comes to controlling micro-organisms on fresh produce. However, questions have been raised as to whether or not the results from chlorine washing are significantly different to washing with water alone (Luo et al., 2011) and there has been increasing pressure from regulatory authorities to reduce or remove chlorination from RTE products (Uhlig et al., 2017). There are many alternatives to chlorine, many of which are based on weak organic acids such as citric, malic and tartaric acid. The use of weak organic acids is based around overwhelming the ability of bacteria to remove protons from their cell interior and therefore not being able to effectively reproduce as they have to expend energy pumping out protons from their interior (Akbas and Ölmez, 2007). There are many examples of different chemical combinations in the literature, with different modes of action such as thymol or carvacrol, which are both thought to increase the membrane permeability of bacteria through interactions of the phenol group and its destabilised electrons with the cell membrane (Zhou et al., 2007). Peroxyacetic acid produces reactive oxygen species which can damage DNA and lipids of bacteria; furthermore, it can denature proteins and enzymes by oxidising disulphide bonds which also increases membrane permeability (Vandekinderen et al., 2009). Cuggino et al., (2020) found that benzyl isothiocyanate (BITC) was synergistic when combined with chlorine to increase the effectiveness of decontamination over chlorine alone. Although they did state that the results may have been due to the change in the pH rather than the antimicrobial properties of the BITC.

Other plant-derived solutions such as aqueous *Origanum vulgare*, which is derived from oregano, has been shown to be effective in reducing *E. coli* O157:H7 in packed spinach and lettuce when combined with traditional sanitisers such as sodium hypochlorite (Poimenidou et al., 2016). Novel plant-derived compounds such as benzyl isothiocyanate BITC, oregano extract and organic acids are desirable not only for their effectiveness at decontaminating salad leaves, but also because they are not required to be stated on the label as they are generally regarded as safe (GRAS) and or classified as processing aids. GRAS products are an United States Food and Drug Adminstration designation and pertains to the safety of the substance that is used in a food product (Frestedt, 2018). This is an advantage as consumers are wary of decontaminants (Aoki et al., 2010). Ultimately it comes down to price and, if not already approved, getting the product approved by governing bodies; many of the alternatives to chlorine are not economically competitive (Calonica et al., 2019).

#### 2.5.3.3 Nanotechnology and its role in food packaging

The incorporation of nanomaterials into food packaging is an area of research that is in the ascendency. Antimicrobial elements such as silver are being incorporated into packaging with success (Costa et al., 2011). However, as the technologies surrounding the use of nanomaterials is developing, the regulatory authorities have yet to form a consensus as to the efficacy and safety of many of the technologies and, therefore, few examples exist within the food industry (Eleftheriadou et al., 2017). This is particularly true of the use of heavy metals, such as silver, which can have detrimental effects on human health and the environment (Tóth et al., 2016). One of the concerns with incorporating sensors or nanomaterials into packaging is the effect on the recyclability of the packaging; reducing food waste at the cost of increasing packaging waste is not a desirable trade-off.

## 2.5.4 The influence of seasonal and agronomic factors on microbial quality

One of the many reasons why it is hard to predict the SL of a product is due to the fluctuating environment in which the product is produced. The majority of leafy salads are grown in open-field; therefore, weather and seasonality play a role in determining the microbiological safety and the quality of the product. Caponigro et al., (2010) looked at six different RTE salad products from Italian supermarkets over two years and found that microbial loads peaked in the autumn months. It has been suggested that during periods of higher rainfall bacteria are better able to spread and be carried to different locations, which may be more of a factor than temperatures in accounting for the differences between seasons. However, the variability in bacterial loads is not consistently higher in the autumn/winter months. Rastogi et al., (2012) found that there was a one-log decrease in culturable bacteria of lettuce grown in the winter season compared to the summer season. It is more likely that high rainfall leads to more soil splash onto the leaves and contamination through that more immediate route, rather than transfer in moisture-dense air between fields. Often it is atypical weather events such as high rainfall and flooding that are positively correlated with increased microbial contamination (Medina-Martínez et al., 2015), supporting the hypothesis that bacteria are transferred from the soil to the leaves. This is a particular concern when considering climate change and its potential for increased variability in weather conditions and the frequency of which extreme weather events occur (Liu et al., 2013).

Leafy salad crops that are field-grown have many more avenues for contamination than those that are grown in soil-less systems. Fieldgrown crops may also be exposed to contamination from livestock in surrounding fields, wild animals, standing water or manure fertiliser. In contrast, produce that is grown under-protected and/or soil-less systems, such as hydroponics, is able to be more tightly controlled. Manzocco et al., (2011) found that hydroponically grown lamb's lettuce did indeed result in a lower microbial count (Total Coliform and *Pseudomonas*) when compared with a soil-grown crop. However, there was no difference in Enterobacteriaceae, which hydroponically grown crops are also susceptible to as these organisms are typically found in contaminated water supply and can enter the plants via the roots (Lenzi et al., 2021).

As well as the variation from seasonal influences, and that of the growing environment, the plant maturity also has an impact on the SL of the product. A consistent finding is that immature leaves tend to have higher respiration rates than mature leaves. Higher respiration rates potentially reduce SL as the leaves may degrade quicker than those with lower respiration rates (Martínez-Sánchez et al., 2012; Hunter et al., 2017). It has also been observed that immature leaves have higher microbial counts than those that are at harvest maturity, which is a particular concern for baby leaf salads (Rastogi et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2013; Dees et al., 2015). It is has been suggested that as the plant matures, selective pressure on micro-organisms occurs which accounts for the decrease in micro-organisms present on mature leaves, but this has not been

proven, and often the seasonality effects are a confounding factor (Martínez-Sánchez et al., 2012). The many different factors that can influence the microbiology of salad leaves make forecasting how the safety and quality of a product will change throughout the year challenging. As it is difficult to predict how micro-organisms develop on salad crops from the growing stage, processing the leaves and storage in the consumers home, SL dates are often conservative to minimise the chance of 'injuring the consumer' at the expense of increasing waste.

#### 2.5.5 Modeling and predicting microbial growth

The importance of keeping the consumer safe and meeting the quality standards that they expect are top priorities, because of this, predicting the growth of micro-organisms is a well-studied area (Tsironi et al., 2017). Typically, there are three classes of predictive modelling: primary modelling, where a few kinetic parameters are measured such as lag time or growth, and a growth rate with respect to time is calculated; secondary modelling, which incorporates environmental variables such as temperature (McKellar et al., 2012 ;Tsironi et al., 2017) and their effect on the parameters from the primary model; tertiary modelling, which are consumer friendly packages designed for food business operators to be able to produce models of microbial growth, evaluate the safety of their products, and inform SL estimation (Koseki and Isobe, 2005). ComBase (https://www.combase.cc) provides links to many of these software packages. These models allow food businesses to estimate levels of micro-organisms at the time of consumption and factor in many different variables such as temperature, pH and preservatives (Psomas et al., 2011).

Often there are many different variables in the food supply chain that can affect the growth of micro-organisms, which are not captured within these models. The consequence of this is that companies will apply a conservative margin of error on the use-by date, of at least two days, which may reflect the lack of confidence in the underlying model. The length of time it takes for the product to reach the shelves after packaging is not always predictable and therefore providing for this also contributes to conservative labelling. There are always going to be errors in predictive modelling as it is not feasible to take all possible scenarios into account. The margin of error is applied to avoid human disease, but as a consequence there may be more wastage (Wilson et al., 2017). With an increasing focus on waste and sustainability, and as more data are collected and models are further developed, margins of error may be reduced and potential wastage avoided. With growing research into dynamic methods of assessing micro-organisms and particularly the use of imaging methods, models will be produced that incorporate these measurements to provide more accurate predictions, or real-time measurements. Siripatrawan et al., (2011) found that they could detect *E.coli* using hyperspectral imaging (HI) on inoculated spinach leaves, and were able to predict the number of organisms from the imaging data using a neural network based model. Kang et al. (2011) were able to detect faecal contamination, which is a common route for pathogens to enter the food chain, using HI with romaine lettuce samples. However, there has yet to be any application of these methods and models in the retail environment.

When considering spoilage and quality, the underlying models which are used to implement a best-before date are far less developed, than those that predict use-by dates, if they are used at all. There is a lack of research into markers that can be used to reliably predict quality, creating a barrier in negotiating an extension or reduction of the date on the pack as the supplier does not have sufficient evidence to back-up their perceived notion of quality. The consequence of this is that the date on the pack often does not change when the quality, and therefore shelf-life, does.

### 2.6 Human perception of quality

Often, the first and most significant parameter a consumer uses to decide if they will purchase or throw away a salad product is their visual perception (Paakki et al., 2019). The appearance is the first stimulus the consumer is faced with and is often used as a metric for acceptance or rejection of the product (Mielby et al., 2012). Therefore, having a good understanding and testing methodology for visual aspects of a product is important.

#### 2.6.1 Visual disorders associated with leafy salads

With leafy salads, there is a plethora of different visual disorders that can occur (Figure 2.3). These include russet spotting, which is induced in iceberg lettuce by exposure to ethylene in the ppm range (López-Gálvez et al., 2015), or the yellowing of leaves due to chlorophyll degradation (Koukounaras et al., 2009). There are some disorders that are associated with discolouration in leafy salads that are typically induced by mechanical damage where internal cell structures are disrupted e.g. cutting. Pinking of iceberg lettuce is one such example where cell structures are disrupted allowing the interaction of compounds and enzymes that result in colour change that would not ordinarily occur if cells remained intact. Pinking is induced by the conversion of diphenols to quinones, and then melanin precipitates which produces pink and brown hues depending on subsequent reactions that are not yet fully understood (Saltveit, 2018).



**Figure 2.3:** Example of visual disorders of salad leaves. Russet spotting on Iceberg lettuce (A), Pinking of cut tissue of Iceberg lettuce (B), and senescence of Rocket leaves (C) . Image (A) was taken from (Cantwell and Suslow, 2002)

As visual quality defects are instrumental in guiding the consumer's decision process, a lot of effort has been put into measuring and quantifying these disorders, both in academia and industry (Quested and Murphy, 2014; Manzocco et al., 2017). In contrast to microbiological assessment, which will often be outsourced, visual appearance will be determined within the business. Typically, visual appearance is assessed by a sensory panel or by a more objective approach involving the analysis of the emission spectra of the product. Depending on the equipment being used, this will typically be within the visible spectrum ( $\sim$ 380 to 740 nm). Specification standards for each product will be defined and agreed upon by the supplier and retailer, and any product failing to meet the required standard will not be sold. Visual assessment by human assessors is perhaps the most common method utilised when considering the quality of a salad product over a shelf-life period due to its relative simplicity and low cost. The advantage of this approach, other than low cost, is that it is relatively quick and, when done with larger numbers of assessors, may align with the consumer perception of the product (Lee and Chandra, 2018; Nguyen et al., 2019; Sikora et al., 2020).

#### 2.7 Instrumental assessment of quality

Objective assessment of visual quality has long been the goal of laboratory scientists studying postharvest changes. Only recently are these technologies being adapted for supply chain applications and the primary point at which they are implemented are in the packhouse. Often the use of image analysis, hyperspectral imaging or colorimetry (see sections 5.1-5.3 below) are used for automating sorting materials of very different visual qualities e.g. removing senescent spinach cotyledons from consignments of dark green baby leaf spinach leaves. Only recently has the possibility emerged of using such technologies to detect color/reflectance changes at an early stage that enable the prospect of some better prediction of shelf life.

Several technologies rely on the real-time detection of volatile aroma compounds that are produced as a consequence of senescence, tissue damage, degradation or microbiological proliferation on the leaves (Luca et al., 2017). Generally, the aroma is a tertiary consideration when consumers are assessing RTE salad leaves, since they cannot smell the product without damaging the packaging, although this may be a consideration for unpackaged leafy salads. Furthermore, unless the salad leaves are particularly pungent or have a distinctive odour, such as rocket leaves, there is not much of an aroma to detect. From a food safety perspective, the aroma is not necessarily diagnostic of pathogens but off-odours are often associated with the presence of microorganisms (Goodburn and Wallace, 2013).

Identification of suitable volatile marker compounds has come from extensive work based on assessment by the human nose in the form of trained sensory panels or preference testing using untrained consumer panels. The human nose is, compared to current levels of technology, more sensitive than the equipment that is available for automated volatile sensing. As with visual appearance, there are several quantitative and qualitative methods for assessing aroma. Most often, a sensory panel is used to assess the aroma of a product; depending on the question being asked, a trained panel or untrained consumer panel will be used. Assessing a product using a panel can give both quantitative and subjective feedback in a real-world setting. Using a trained sensory panel to determine the descriptive characteristics of a product is common. Descriptive analysis can also be used for quality control, and often it is used to determine consumer preference (Goularte et al., 2004; Murphy et al., 2011; Wieczyńska and Cavoski, 2018). There are many different methods for profiling a product with a sensory panel, such as quantitative descriptive analysis (QDA), and free-choice profiling (Murray et al., 2001). Typically, there are 8-16 trained panel members who produce an agreed vocabulary for attributes of the product. Descriptive characteristics, with rocket as an example, may pick up on aromas such as: peppery, green, mustard, sweet (Bell et al., 2016). The attributes of the product are then scored using an interval scale. However, without also identifying and quantifying the volatile organic compounds (VOCs), it is not possible to ascertain which compounds are responsible for which aromas, but research in this space has given rise to the identification of compounds which may be used to diagnose deteriorating quality (Dryahina et al., 2020), the potential of which is discussed in 5.4 and 5.5.

Different technologies have started to impact on the fresh produce market that give a real-time indication of freshness, or historical reporting of cold chain breaches. These typically rely on detection of respiratory gases and/or use chemistry to report changes in physical parameters such as temperature or humidity (Chen et al., 2013). These are covered in sections 5.6 and 5.7, together with a discussion of their potential and limitations.

#### 2.7.1 Image analysis for assessing leafy salads

Image analysis (IA) is a more objective approach to assessing visual appearance and is becoming the predominant phenotyping method (Herrero-Langreo et al., 2020). Phenotyping refers to the observed characteristics of an organism, such as morphology, colour and biochemical properties. With IA, typically an RGB image is captured using anything from relatively inexpensive consumer devices such as mobile phone cameras (Tsaftaris and Noutsos, 2009); to more advanced dedicated equipment where spectral data in single nm bandwidths can be collected for each pixel (Lara et al., 2013). Once the images have been captured, features such as colour and size of the subject can be extracted using one of the many software packages dedicated to IA.

One website alone, www.quantitative-plant.org, has links to over 170 different tools for plant phenotyping and 28 open data sets that

can be used to train models (Lobet et al., 2013). With the use of machine learning algorithms for advanced feature extraction, the technology is progressing very quickly (Jiménez-Carvelo et al., 2019). IA is also much more applicable to industrial applications, as it can be automated, and is used in many different industries. Mo et al., (2017) developed a method for detecting foreign bodies on fresh-cut lettuce where a hyper-spectral scanner was placed above a moving conveyor belt. The analysis of the images captured by the camera was able to distinguish between lettuce and foreign bodies based on their absorbance in the range of (400-1000 nm), and reject samples accordingly.

The development of machine learning algorithms, that can enable leaf material to be imaged whilst still inside packaging, has been demonstrated, which is important if postharvest monitoring is to be achieved. In the paper of Cavallo et al. (2018), a convolutional neural network (CNN) was used to segment the images into three classes: plant, packaging and other. Currently, deep learning and CNNs are the go-to method for working with image data, as once the models are trained they can be very fast in their decision making, allowing the possibility of live processing (Patrício and Rieder, 2018). There is no reason why this approach could not be applied to other leafy salads, and even be incorporated into consumer technology, such as smart phones.

#### 2.7.2 Colorimetry for assessing leafy quality

Another method of classifying colour is with the use of chromameters (Mampholo et al., 2016). Chroma-meters are analytical instruments for measuring colour, which is typically presented in the LAB colour space. The advantage of this method is that it can be carried out with only one assessor, and objective data are obtained. The device measures a small area on the target ( $\sim 1 \text{ cm}^2$ ) and therefore, depending on the target size and variability of colour, many measurements may need to be taken to accurately capture the colour of the target. One issue with this approach, particularly when it comes to salad leaves, is that there are sometimes large differences within individual leaves and between different leaves in the same pack. As the technique measures the leaf at different points, only average values are obtained, which makes it difficult to discriminate between different manifestations of discolouration (Peiser et al., 1998). Prior to IA, this was the predominant method used; in recent years, the advantages that IA brings has meant that it has largely eclipsed the use of chroma-meters. Overall, considering the relative importance that the consumer places on the appearance of the product, there are few examples of methodologies for predicting colour change.

#### 2.7.3 Quality assessment using hyper-spectral imaging

Looking outside the visible spectrum with hyperspectral imaging (HI), or reflectance data not detected by human vision, is currently providing more information about the state of the product (Mo et al., 2017). HI is much more expensive, both in the cost of equipment and the software and time needed for analysis. In comparison to spatial imaging where two-dimensional data is acquired, three-dimensional data are collected and each pixel has its own associated spectrum; the spectrum data ( $\lambda$ ) in combination with spatial data (x, y) creates voxels in the form (x, y,  $\lambda$ ). As different materials interact uniquely with different bands of the electromagnetic spectrum (EM), it is possible to gather data about the chemical composition of the material,

which is one of the major advantages of HI (Chaudhry et al., 2018). HI has been used to differentiate between rocket leaves stored at varying temperatures, and from this to infer quality. A random forest classifier was able to classify the reflectance data obtained from the imaging and correctly identify unseen samples 79 % of the time (Platias et al., 2018). Specific regions of the spectrum have been shown to be more informative than others. Diezma et al., (2013) found that 710 to 900 nm was particularly important for the degradation of spinach leaves. Simko, Jimenez-Berni and Furbank, (2015) found similar results with lettuce, with 744 nm being the most informative wavelength for determining the quality difference between fresh and decayed lettuce. This is not particularly surprising as this portion of the electromagnetic (EM) spectrum is used for the basis of the normalised difference vegetation index (NDVI). NDVI distinguishes between 'healthy' and 'stressed' plants by the difference in reflection of the near-infrared (NIR) region of the EM spectrum, and has been used for a relatively long time for this purpose (Gitelson and Merzlyak, 1996).

Typically, when one method such as HI, is used alone with no further

analysis, the results tend to heavily weight chlorophyll senescence, as with NDVI, as the primary factor with respect to change (Beghi et al., 2016). The measured values for colour change in packaged salad leaves are not always linear; often there is an initial change over the first few days and then a reversal (Løkke et al., 2013). The colour change and then reversal, has been theorised to be related to the accumulation of liquid inside the pack, causing some areas to degrade to a greater extent and making the leaf appear darker (Løkke et al., 2013; Volpe et al., 2018). The change of colour and subsequent reversal makes classifying quality based on colour alone difficult, and the technology is not suitable for implementation in the retail or consumer part of the supply chain (Jedermann et al., 2009). The image/colour/spectral analysis described in these preceding sections does have potential for automating shelf life quality assessment that is performed by packers and consequently to provide a more consistent objective analysis than currently occurs between different assessors. However, the pack houses are assessing shelf life quality in the same time frame as the consumer, so the real gains in this area would be for methods to be developed that could predict quality loss in a particular consignment ahead of when the consumer becomes

aware of it.

# 2.7.4 Detecting and identifying volatile compounds emitted from leafy salad crops

Challenges remain to identify compounds which are reliably associated with quality and depending on how detection is implemented, specific to the salad leaves in question (Spadafora et al., 2016; Ioannidis et al., 2018). Typically, gas chromatography with mass spectrometry is the analytical method of choice, preferably using the same samples for chemical and sensory panel analysis to provide comparable results. The media used to capture the VOCs before measurement on a GC system are selected based on the compounds that are expected to be in the subject material. Solid-phase micro extraction (SPME) is a method often used for capturing volatile compounds that are emitted in the headspace of a leafy salad (Spietelun et al., 2010). A fibre coated in an adsorbent material is placed inside the headspace until an equilibrium has been reached between the fibre, the sample and the headspace. After the equilibrium has been reached the fibre is then placed in the GC system where the VOCs are desorbed and detected.

Recently, a number of researchers have focused their studies on VOCs emitted from rocket leaves. Spadafora et al. (2016) found that sulphur-containing VOCs tended to increase over shelf-life; it was noted that the increase was correlated with an increase in numbers of micro-organisms isolated from the leaves. In this case, the volatiles were extracted from the headspace of the pack and captured on Tenax traps then measured using GC-MS. Similar results have also been obtained by Bell et al., (2016) using thermal desorption with gas chromatography-time-of-flight mass spectrometry (TD-GC-TOF-MS) with a comparable extraction protocol. Typically, GC-MS methods cannot quantify the abundance of VOCs over time. This is because VOC compounds are often unknown or uncommon, meaning generating standards to quantify the absolute abundance of them are cost-prohibitive. Because of this, the appearance or disappearance of specific VOCs is often used as a marker of shelf-life (Lonchamp et al., 2009; Luca et al., 2017; Ioannidis et al., 2018). For leafy salads, it is only rocket that has had more than a couple of papers identifying compounds associated with quality. The lack of informative VOCs from other salad leaves may be due to rocket being particularly pungent or conversely the lack of VOCs emitted from other leafy salad crops. The appearance of compounds such as pentane, 2-ethylfuran and dimethyl sulphide, have been identified as markers of microbial activity (Luca et al., 2017), and have been associated with degradation of quality during storage in rocket salads (Dryahina et al., 2020). VOCs arising from cellular senescence or degradation induced by the presence of microorganisms are hard to distinguish from each other. Therefore, it is challenging to ascribe particular compounds to microbial or cellular origin.

There are many research examples (Lonchamp et al., 2009; Spadafora et al., 2016; Raffo et al., 2018) illustrating the value of detecting volatile compounds in packaged salad that claim to be diagnostic of SL. However, it is a huge leap to move from volatile detection on sophisticated laboratory equipment to a technology that is commercially viable and implemented within industry. The challenges for this technology are currently threefold: Firstly the appropriate volatile markers need to be identified for each crop; this is perhaps the most difficult step as there are many variables, e.g., cultivar, growing environment, that influence plant metabolism and therefore the volatiles released from a plant (Bell et al., 2017). The detected volatiles also need to be reliably associated with quality degradation that would be predictive of consumer rejection of the product. Furthermore, technologies for detecting the identified VOCs need to be developed that are cost-effective commercially and can work in real-time to monitor quality.

#### 2.7.5 Electronic noses for automated odour sensing

Gas sensor devices or 'e-noses' can be tuned to specific VOCs, therefore once the critical compounds concerning quality are established, devices for their detection can be built at relatively low cost. Enoses are non-specific detectors and are calibrated to detect a group of compounds rather than specific ones (Cortellino et al., 2018). 'Enoses' are relatively new, and the technology is developing rapidly. One of the issues with e-nose devices is that they are quite variable, both in manufacturing consistency and that they can degrade in their performance over time, depending on their environment, which has adverse effects on the quality of the data they generate. There has been much effort to develop algorithms that correct any variance relative to a master device (Yan and Zhang, 2016). The issue of consistency between devices could be a significant barrier to incorporating sensors into a retail or domestic setting. For a method to be non-destructive, the sensor must either be incorporated into the packaging, which provides many challenges such as increased price, increased difficulty of recycling and specificity of compounds detected. Still, it may be successful at diagnosing quality deterioration by measuring generic markers of degradation such as dimethyl sulphide. Alternatively, there needs to be an external sensor that is placed within the vicinity of the subject. However, the external sensor may detect aroma from a variety of origins, and therefore, needs to monitor specific compounds and is unlikely to work for bagged leafy salads or vegetables since volatiles will be contained within the package (Cortellino et al., 2018).

#### 2.7.6 Quality sensors within "intelligent packaging"

Sensors have been developed that can be incorporated into the packaging of a product, and therefore allow real-time feedback about the condition of the product within (Torri et al., 2008; Fuertes et al., 2016). A recent review by Beshai et al (2020) categorised intelligent packaging sensors into four types: optical, biosensors, gas, and humidity sensors. Optical sensors rely on the techniques discussed in the sub-sections above and it remains difficult to see how these can easily be incorporated into packaging in a format that can inform the consumer, although the potential for screening at an earlier stage in the supply chain is possible by linking sensors to radio frequency identification (RFID) tags to collate information and ensure data transmission throughout a supply chain.

Attention has inevitably turned towards technologies that have potential to detect foodborne pathogens, given the seriousness of the consequences if these proliferate on food destined for human consumption. Zhang et al. (2017) have made the best progress towards developing a system with a low detection threshold, through using a Janus emulsion assay which they demonstrated would sensitively

and selectively bind to E. coli at  $10^4$  cfu/mL and which could be read via a smartphone app. However, this still relies on a liquid medium and, crucially, that the bacteria come into direct contact with the sensor. These are substantial assumptions and therefore there is an attraction towards sensor technologies that monitor gaseous compounds. López-Carballo et al. (2019) developed a sensor that can be incorporated within flexible packaging, of samples containing infant milk formula, utilising the redox reaction of methylene blue to signify changes in quality. As the sensor was monitoring  $O_2$ , it would only be suitable for MAP as the bag is hermetically sealed. Carbon dioxide may be a better target for gas sensors incorporated into packaging, since its atmospheric concentration is only 0.04 % whereas in MAP it tends to be in the 4-10 % range. Borchert (2013) described an optochemical  $CO_2$  sensor which uses a phosphorescent reporter dye and a colourimetric pH indicator incorporated in plastic matrix. The sensor retained its sensitivity to CO<sub>2</sub> for 21 days at 4 °C and could detect concentrations accurately within a minute of exposure, reporting them using a colour change requiring simple instrumentation, with a four minute recovery time. Despite the potential offered by VOCs that are specific to particular crops or that are produced as a result of microbiological contamination, to date no monitoring or detection systems have been developed that could be incorporated into packaging. Beshai et al. (2020) review current monitors for respiratory gases and humidity, but the only 'freshness' monitors that use non-respiratory gases depend on the sensor being in direct contact with the food which is not the case for packed vegetables and salads or wrapped wholehead lettuce.

#### 2.7.7 Time Temperature Indicators

Maintaining an unbroken cold chain is key to preserving quality and safety of fresh produce (Cantwell and Suslow, 2002) with short breaks in cold temperature less severe than prolonged periods above the optimal temperature. Even within a single cold chain variability exists, for example, depending on the proximity of a pallet to the cooling system in the lorry or the location of a crate within a pallet. Two classes of Time Temperature Indicators (TTI) exist: those that are data driven and those that display a colour change based on a physio-chemical reaction (Taoukis and Labuza, 1989; Maciel et al., 2012). Data loggers or labels such as Radio-frequency identification (RFID) tags that report temperature, humidity etc have been used commercially for some time, but often as stand-alone units that have to be incorporated within the packs in a crate which then need manual recovery and interpretation. There is considerable commercial attraction to the development of time-temperature indicators that can be incorporated into packaging or crate labelling systems, especially those which offer instant visual means of interpretation rather than plugging into a computer (Costa et al., 2013). RFID tags do offer this possibility, but they are limited by battery life, the need to be in close proximity to the reader, and their own lifespan. Torres-Sánchez et al. (2020) report the development of a multiple nonlinear regression (MNLR) model that relates the temperature to the maximum shelf life in a predictive manner, but at present this relies on the integration of sensory and physico-chemical quality attributes. The best data-driven solutions therefore remain RFID tags that can integrate multiple signals from temperature, humidity and ammonia and which are sufficiently sophisticated to interpret the relationship between these parameters (Quintero et al., 2016).

Visual indicators have a great deal of appeal commercially, particularly if they report the full history that the product has experienced through the supply chain and if they can be incorporated into the packaging. At present, chemical colour change is usually reliant on the speed of an enzymic reaction linked to a pH change, polymer state changes linked to colour change, or the growth rate of bioindicator microorganisms (Lee and Rahman, 2014). They tend to only be able to report sub-optimally high temperatures, since they all work on the principal that raised temperatures lead to a faster response of the target reaction. They are therefore unsuitable for detecting when temperatures have been lower than optimal, for example, if basil has been chilled below 12 °C. An additional practical problem is that the indicators have to be stored at low temperature before they are deployed to prevent the colour change happening before the tag has been attached to the package. However, a number of TTI products are used very successfully in a commercial setting, particularly for frozen or chilled food products. Considering that leafy salads have a relatively short SL, incorporating sensors into the packing of RTE products may not offer a reasonable return on investment, especially when considering implications the sensor may have

on recyclability of the product. It remains to be seen if detection and monitoring of VOCs can provide data to the consumer that allows for real-time monitoring of the health and remaining longevity of a product that they purchase.

#### 2.8 Concluding remarks

Previous technological advances within the food ecosystem, particularly with respect to imaging, have been implemented at the processing stage where cameras detect out-of-specification leaves and reject them. However, as was remarked when date labels were being introduced: distribution and storage conditions are important to the longevity of a product. There is currently no way for the retailer or consumer to update their expectations of shelf-life once the date on the pack has been set. The dates placed on the packaging, if any, are the only guide the consumer has as to the quality or safety of the product. Although some methods for non-destructively measuring quality postharvest have been explored, none have yet to be implemented in a consumer study to measure the impact such technologies could provide with regards to reducing waste. High-end consumer refrigerators are now being produced with integrated computers and cameras that are able to monitor the contents, and give real-time feedback to the consumer by network-connected devices. However, there are currently no devices on the market offering product specific monitoring or giving real-time feedback to the consumer regarding quality or safety.

The economic benefit of increasing the accuracy of SL estimations has been estimated at  $55 \pm 15$  million pounds per day of savings, per day of increased SL from UK households for leafy salads (Lee et al., 2015). Furthermore, it is estimated that retailers would save 2720 tonnes of leafy salads from waste per day of increased SL. There is a clear case for providing the consumer with more accurate information about the state of the product. However, although the technology for sensing quality and safety is progressing, there is still a long way to go in order to be able to reduce the amount of waste, whilst maintaining safety and quality.

#### 2.9 References

Abdul-Raouf, U.M., Beuchat, L.R., Ammar, M.S., 1993. 'Survival and growth of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on salad vegetables'. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*, 59, 1999–2006. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.59.7.1999-2006.1993

Akbas, M.Y., Ölmez, H., 2007. 'Inactivation of *Escherichia coli* and *Listeria monocytogenes* on iceberg lettuce by dip wash treatments with organic acids'. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 44, 619–624. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X .2007.02127.x

Alongi, M., Sillani, S., Lagazio, C., Manzocco, L., 2019. 'Effect of expiry date communication on acceptability and waste of fresh-cut lettuce during storage at different temperatures'. *Food Research International*, 116, 1121–1125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.09.056

Aoki, K., Shen, J., Saijo, T., 2010. 'Consumer reaction to information on food additives: Evidence from an eating experiment and a field survey'. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 73, 433–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2009. 11.007

Ares, G., Lareo, C., Lema, P., 2008. 'Sensory shelf life of butterhead lettuce leaves in active and passive modified atmosphere packages'. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 43, 1671-1677. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2011.05.037

Bearth, A., Siegrist, M., 2019. "'As long as it is not irradiated"

- Influencing factors of US consumers' acceptance of food irradiation'. *Food Quality and Preference*, 71, 141–148. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2018.06.015

Beghi, R., Giovenzana, V., Civelli, R., Guidetti, R., 2016. 'Influence of packaging in the analysis of fresh-cut *Valerianella locusta L*. and Golden Delicious apple slices by visible-near infrared and near infrared spectroscopy'. *Journal of Food Engineering* 171, 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2015.10. 021

Bell, L., Spadafora, N.D., Müller, C.T., Wagstaff, C., Rogers, H.J., 2016. 'Use of TD-GC–TOF-MS to assess volatile composition during postharvest storage in seven accessions of rocket salad (*Eruca sativa*)'. *Food Chemistry*, 194, 626–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.08.043

Bell, L., Wagstaff, C., 2014. 'Glucosinolates, myrosinase hydrolysis products, and flavonols found in rocket (*Eruca sativa* and *Diplotaxis tenuifolia*)'. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 62, 4481–4492. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf501096x

Bell, L., Yahya, H.N., Oloyede, O.O., Methven, L., Wagstaff, C., 2017. 'Changes in rocket salad phytochemicals within the commercial supply chain: Glucosinolates, isothiocyanates, amino acids and bacterial load increase significantly after processing'. *Food Chemistry*, 221, 521–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.food chem.2016.11.154

Borchert, N. B., Kerry, J. P., Papkovsky, D. B., 2013. 'A CO<sub>2</sub> sensor based on Pt-porphyrin dye and FRET scheme for food packaging applications'. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 176, 157–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2012.09.043
Blanke, M., 2015. 'Challenges of reducing fresh produce waste in Europe—From farm to fork'. *Agriculture 5*, 389–399. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture5030389

Caleb, O.J., Mahajan, P.V., Al-Said, F.A.-J., Opara, U.L., 2013. 'Modified atmosphere packaging technology of fresh and fresh-cut produce and the microbial consequences—A review'. *Food Bioprocessing and Technology*, 6, 303–329. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11947-012-0932-4

Calonica, C., Delfino, V., Pesavento, G., Mundo, M., Antonella Lo Nostro, 2019. 'Microbiological quality of ready-to-eat salads from processing plant to the consumers'. *Journal of Food and Nutrition Research*, 7, 427–434. https://doi.org/10.12691/jfnr -7-6-3

Campbell-Platt, G., 2017, *Food science and technology*. Second edition: Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, USA.

Cantwell, M., Suslow, T., 2002. Lettuce, Crisphead: Recommendations for maintaining postharvest quality. URL: http://post harvest.ucdavis.edu/Commodity/Resources/Fact \_Sheets/Datastores/Vegetables\_English (Accessed: 17/4/2020)

Caponigro, V., Ventura, M., Chiancone, I., Amato, L., Parente, E., Piro, F., 2010. 'Variation of microbial load and visual quality of ready-to-eat salads by vegetable type, season, processor and retailer'. *Food Microbiology*, 27, 1071–1077. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.fm.2010.07.011

Cavallo, D.P., Cefola, M., Pace, B., Logrieco, A.F., Attolico, G., 2018. 'Non-destructive automatic quality evaluation of fresh-cut iceberg lettuce through packaging material'. *Journal of Food En-*

gineering, 223, 46-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jf oodeng.2017.11.042

Char, C., Silveira, A.C., Inestroza-Lizardo, C., Hinojosa, A., Machuca, A., Escalona, V.H., 2012. 'Effect of noble gas-enriched atmospheres on the overall quality of ready-to-eat arugula salads'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 73, 50–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2012.05.010

Chaudhry, M.M.A., Amodio, M.L., Babellahi, F., de Chiara, M.L.V., Amigo Rubio, J.M., Colelli, G., 2018. 'Hyperspectral imaging and multivariate accelerated shelf-life testing (MASLT) approach for determining shelf-life of rocket leaves'. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 238, 122–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng .2018.06.017

Chun, H.-H., Kim, J.-Y., Song, K.B., 2010. 'Inactivation of foodborne pathogens in ready-to-eat salad using UV-C irradiation'. *Food Science and Biotechnology*, 19, 547–551. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10068-010-0076-0

ComBase, 2020. *Combase Tools* URL: https://www.combas e.cc (Accessed: 23/01/2020)

Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament An EU policy framework to assist developing countries in addressing food security challenges, SEC(2010)379, 2010. URL: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A52010DC0127. (Accessed: 13/9/2019)

Cortellino, G., Gobbi, S., Rizzolo, A., 2018. 'Shelf-life of fresh-cut lamb's lettuce (*Valerianella locusta L.*) monitored by electronic nose and relationship with chlorophyll a fluorescence and mechanical-

acoustic test'. Postharvest Biology and Technology, 136, 178-186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2017. 11.002

Costa, C., Conte, A., Buonocore, G.G., Del Nobile, M.A., 2011. 'Antimicrobial silver-montmorillonite nanoparticles to prolong the shelf-life of fresh fruit salad'. *Journal of Food Microbiology*, 148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2011. 05.018

Costa, C., Antonucci, F., Pallottino, F., Aguzzi, J., Sarriá, D., Menesatti, P., 2013. 'A review on agri-food supply chain traceability by means of RFID technology'. *Food Bioprocessing and Technology* 6, 353–366. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-012-0958-7

Council Directive 79/112/EEC of 18 December 1978 on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to the labelling, presentation and advertising of foodstuffs for sale to the ultimate consumer, 31979L0112. http://data.europa.eu/eli/d ir/1979/112/oj (Accessed: 18/06/2019)

Council Directive 89/395/EEC of 14 June 1989 amending Directive 79/112/EEC on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to labelling, presentation and advertising of foodstuffs for sale to the ultimate consumer, 114958. http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/1989/395/oj (Accessed: 18/06/2019)

Cuggino, S.G., Bascón-Villegas, I., Rincón, F., Pérez, M.A., Posada-Izquierdo, G., Marugán, J., Pablos Carro, C., Pérez-Rodríguez, F., 2020. 'Modelling the combined effect of chlorine, benzyl isothiocyanate, exposure time and cut size on the reduction of Salmonella in fresh-cut lettuce during washing process'. *Food Microbiology*, 86, 103346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2019.

#### 103346

De Cicco, A., 2016. The fruit and vegetable sector in the EU - a statistical overview - Statistics Explained URL: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php (Accessed: 6/12/2019).

De Corato, U., 2020. 'Improving the shelf-life and quality of fresh and minimally-processed fruits and vegetables for a modern food industry: A comprehensive critical review from the traditional technologies into the most promising advancements'. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 60, 940–975. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2018.1553025

Dees, M.W., Lysøe, E., Nordskog, B., Brurberg, M.B., 2015. 'Bacterial communities associated with surfaces of leafy greens: Shift in composition and decrease in richness over time'. *Applied Environmetal Microbiology*, 81, 1530–1539. https://doi.org/10. 1128/AEM.03470–14

DEFRA, 2018a. Average purchase per person per week of fresh vegetables in the United Kingdom (UK) in 2016/17, by type (in grams) Statista. URL https://www.statista.com/statist ics/284411/weekly-uk-household-consumptio n-of-vegetables-excluding-potatoes/ (Accessed: 6/12/2019).

DEFRA, 2018b. Farming Statistics Provisional crop areas, yields and livestock populations At June 2018 - United Kingdom. URL https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/far ming-statistics-provisional-crop-areas-yield s-and-livestock-populations-at-1-june-2018united-kingdom Dryahina, K., Som, S., Smith, D., Španěl, P., 2020. 'Characterization of spoilage-related volatile organic compounds in packaged leaf salads'. *Flavour Fragrance Journal*, 35, 24–33. https: //doi.org/10.1002/ffj.3535

EC 2073/2005, 2006. Commision Regulation (EC) No 2073/2005 of 15 November 2005 on microbiological criteria for foodstuffs, 32005R2073. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX%3A32005R2073

Eleftheriadou, M., Pyrgiotakis, G., Demokritou, P., 2017. Nanotechnology to the rescue: using nano-enabled approaches in microbiological food safety and quality. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 44, 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio .2016.11.012

EUFIC, 2012. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption in Europe URL: https://www.eufic.org/en/healthy-living/arti cle/fruit-and-vegetable-consumption-in-europ e-do-europeans-get-enough (Accessed: 14/3/2020)

Euromonitor International, 2019. *Historical market sizes: Vegetables.* URL: http://www.portal.euromonitor.com. (Accessed: 12/6/2019).

Eurostat, 2018. Fruit and vegetable consumption statistics. URL: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-exp lained/index.php (Accessed: 12/6/2019)

FAO. 2019. The State of Food and Agriculture 2019. Moving forward on food loss and waste reduction. URL: http://www.fa o.org/3/ca6030en/ca6030en.pdf (Accessed: 12/6/19)

Food and Environmental Hygiene Department, 2001. Microbiolog-

ical Guidelines for Ready-to-eat Food. URL: https://www.cf s.gov.hk/english/food\_leg/files/food\_leg\_M icrobiological\_Guidelines\_for\_Food\_e.pdf (Accessed: 3/8/2019)

Fu, W., Li, P., Wu, Y., 2012. 'Effects of different light intensities on chlorophyll fluorescence characteristics and yield in lettuce'. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 135, 45–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2011.12.004

Frestedt, J.L., 2018. 'Foods, food additives, and Generally Regarded as Safe (GRAS) food assessments, in: Food Control and Biosecurity'. 543–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811445-2.00016-7

Fuertes, G., Soto, I., Carrasco, R., Vargas, M., Sabattin, J., Lagos, C., 2016. 'Intelligent packaging systems: sensors and nanosensors to monitor food quality and safety', *Journal of Sensors*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4046061

Gerbens-Leenes, P.W., Nonhebel, S., Krol, M.S., 2010. 'Food consumption patterns and economic growth. Increasing affluence and the use of natural resources'. *Appetite* 55, 597–608. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2010.09.013

Gitelson, A.A., Merzlyak, M.N., 1996. 'Signature analysis of leaf reflectance spectra: Algorithm development for remote sensing of chlorophyll'. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 148, 494–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0176-1617(96)80284-7

Goodburn, C., Wallace, C.A., 2013. 'The microbiological efficacy of decontamination methodologies for fresh produce: A review'. *Food Control*, 32, 418–427. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.foodcont.2012.12.012 Goularte, L., Martins, C.G., Morales-Aizpurúa, I.C., Destro, M.T., Franco, B.D.G.M., Vizeu, D.M., Hutzler, B.W., Landgraf, M., 2004. 'Combination of minimal processing and irradiation to improve the microbiological safety of lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*, *L*.)'. *Radiation Physics and Chemistry*, 71, 157–161. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.radphyschem.2004.03.076

Health Protection Agency., 2009. *Guidelines for sssessing the microbiological safety of ready-to-eat foods*. URL: https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk(Accessed: 02/10/2019)

Herrero-Langreo, A., Scannell, A.G.M. and Gowen, A. (2020) 'Hyperspectral imaging for food-related microbiology applications', in *Data Handling in Science and Technology*'. pp. 493–522. Available at: 10.1016/B978-0-444-63977-6.00020-1 (Accessed: 19/11/2020).

Horev, B., Sela, S., Vinokur, Y., Gorbatsevich, E., Pinto, R. and Rodov, V. (2012) 'The effects of active and passive modified atmosphere packaging on the survival of *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium on washed romaine lettuce leaves', *Food Research International*, 45, pp. 1129–1132. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.foodres.2011.05.037

Hunter, P.J., Atkinson, L.D., Vickers, L., Lignou, S., Oruna-Concha, M.J., Pink, D., Hand, P., Barker, G., Wagstaff, C., Monaghan, J.M., 2017. 'Oxidative discolouration in whole-head and cut lettuce: biochemical and environmental influences on a complex phenotype and potential breeding strategies to improve shelf-life'. *Euphytica*, 213, 180. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-017-1964-7

Hussein, Z., Caleb, O.J., Opara, U.L., 2015. 'Perforation-mediated modified atmosphere packaging of fresh and minimally processed produce—A review'. *Food Packaging and shelf-life*, 6, 7–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fpsl.2015.08.003

Ignat, A., Manzocco, L., Bartolomeoli, I., Maifreni, M., Nicoli, M.C., 2015. 'Minimization of water consumption in fresh-cut salad washing by UV-C light'. *Food Control*, 50, 491–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.09.036

Ioannidis, A.-G., Kerckhof, F.-M., Riahi Drif, Y., Vanderroost, M., Boon, N., Ragaert, P., De Meulenaer, B., Devlieghere, F., 2018. 'Characterization of spoilage markers in modified atmosphere packaged iceberg lettuce'. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 279, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicr 0.2018.04.034

Jasper, J., Wagstaff, C., Bell, L., 2020. 'Growth temperature influences postharvest glucosinolate concentrations and hydrolysis product formation in first and second cuts of rocket salad'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 163, 111157. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.postharvbio.2020.111157

Jedermann, R., Ruiz-Garcia, L., Lang, W., 2009. 'Spatial temperature profiling by semi-passive RFID loggers for perishable food transportation'. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 65, 145–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2008.08.006

Jiménez-Carvelo, A.M., González-Casado, A., Bagur-González, M.G., Cuadros-Rodríguez, L., 2019. 'Alternative data mining/machine learning methods for the analytical evaluation of food quality and authenticity – A review'. *Food Research International*, 122, 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2019.03.063

Jirovetz, L., Smith, D., Buchbauer, G., 2002. 'Aroma compound analysis of *Eruca sativa* (Brassicaceae) SPME headspace leaf samples using GC, GC-MS, and olfactometry'. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 50, 4643-4646. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf020129n

Joint FAO/WHO Codex Alimentarius Commission Codex Committee ON food labelling, ALINORM 65/22, 1965. https://www.fao. org/fao-who-codexalimentarius (Accessed: 30/3/2020)

Joint FAO/WHO food standards programme Codex Alimentarius Commission ninth session, Rome, ALINORM 72/22, 1972. https: //www.fao.org/fao-who-codexalimentarius, (Accessed: 30/3/2020)

Joint FAO/WHO food standards programme Codex Alimentarius Commission tenth session, Geneva, July 1974. ALINORM 74/22, 1974. https://www.fao.org/fao-who-codexalimentarius (Accessed: 30/3/2020)

Kang, S., Lee, K., Son, J., Kim, M.S., 2011. 'Detection of fecal contamination on leafy greens by hyperspectral imaging'.*Procedia Food Science 1*, 953–959. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profoo.2011.09.143

Kantar World Panel, 2018. Spending on chilled prepared leafy salads and vegetables in the United Kingdom from December 2007 to December 2017. URL: https://www.statista.com/sta tistics/281670/value-of-chilled-prepared-le afy-salads-and-vegetables-in-the-uk/, (Accessed: 6/12/2019).

Kapetanakou, A.E., Taoukis, P., Skandamis, P.N., 2019. 'Model development for microbial spoilage of packaged fresh-cut salad products using temperature and in-package CO2 levels as predictor variables'. *LWT 113*, 108285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2019.108285

Koseki, S., Isobe, S., 2005. 'Prediction of pathogen growth on iceberg lettuce under real temperature history during distribution from farm to table'. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 104, 239-248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro. 2005.02.012

Koukkidis, Giannis; Freestone, Primrose (2018): Salmonella contamination of fresh salad produce: Prevalence, impact and reduction strategies. University of Leicester. Journal contribution. https: //hdl.handle.net/2381/43542

Koukounaras, A., Siomos, A.S., Sfakiotakis, E., 2009. 'Impact of heat treatment on ethylene production and yellowing of modified atmosphere packaged rocket leaves'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 54, 172–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.post harvbio.2009.07.002

Lara, M.A., Lleó, L., Diezma-Iglesias, B., Roger, J.M., Ruiz-Altisent, M., 2013. 'Monitoring spinach shelf-life with hyperspectral image through packaging films'. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 119, 353–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2013.06.005

Lee, J.-S., Chandra, D., 2018. 'Effects of different packaging materials and methods on the physical, biochemical and sensory qualities of lettuce'. *Journal Food Science and Technology*, 55, 1685–1694. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-018-3081-6

Lee, P., Osborn, S., Whitehead, P., 2015. *Final Report: Reducing food waste by extending product life (No. MAR103-101)*. URL: https://www.wrap.org.uk/sites/files/wrap/Pro duct/Life/Report/Final\_0.pdf (Accessed: 16/4/2020)

Lee, S.J., Rahman, A.T.M.M. 2014. *Intelligent packaging for food products*. In Innovation in Food Packaging, 2nd ed.; Academic Press: London, UK, pp. 171–203.

Lenzi, A., Marvasi, M., Baldi, A., 2021. 'Agronomic practices to limit pre- and postharvest contamination and proliferation of human pathogenic *Enterobacteriaceae* in vegetable produce'. *Food Control*, 119, 107486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodco nt.2020.107486

Liu, C., Hofstra, N., Franz, E., 2013. 'Impacts of climate change on the microbial safety of pre-harvest leafy green vegetables as indicated by *Escherichia coli* O157 and Salmonella spp'. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 163, 119–128. https://doi.or g/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2013.02.026

Lobet, G., Draye, X., Périlleux, C., 2013. 'An online database for plant image analysis software tools'. *Plant Methods*, 9, 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-4811-9-38

Løkke, M.M., Seefeldt, H.F., Edelenbos, M., 2012. 'Freshness and sensory quality of packaged wild rocket'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 73, 99–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2012.06.004

Løkke, M.M., Seefeldt, H.F., Skov, T., Edelenbos, M., 2013. 'Color and textural quality of packaged wild rocket measured by multispectral imaging'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 75, 86–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2012. 06.018

Lonchamp, J., Barry-Ryan, C., Devereux, M., 2009. 'Identification of volatile quality markers of ready-to-use lettuce and cabbage'. *Food Research International*, 42, 1077–1086. https://doi.or g/10.1016/j.foodres.2009.05.002

López-Carballo, Muriel-Galet, Hernández-Muñoz, Gavara, 2019. 'Chromatic sensor to determine oxygen presence for applications in intelligent packaging'. Sensors, 19, 4684. https://doi.org/10. 3390/s19214684

López-Gálvez, F., Ragaert, P., Haque, Md.A., Eriksson, M., van Labeke, M.C., Devlieghere, F., 2015. 'High oxygen atmospheres can induce russet spotting development in minimally processed iceberg lettuce'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 100, 168–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2014. 10.001

Luca, A., Kjær, A., Edelenbos, M., 2017. 'Volatile organic compounds as markers of quality changes during the storage of wild rocket'. *Food Chemistry*, 232, 579–586. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.04.035

Luca, A., Mahajan, P.V., Edelenbos, M., 2016. 'Changes in volatile organic compounds from wild rocket (*Diplotaxis tenuifolia L.*) during modified atmosphere storage'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 114, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2015.11.018

Lucera, A., Costa, C., Mastromatteo, M., Conte, A., Del Nobile, M.A., 2011. 'Fresh-cut broccoli florets shelf-life as affected by packaging film mass transport properties'. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 102, 122–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jf oodeng.2010.08.004

Luna, M.C., Tudela, J.A., Martínez-Sánchez, A., Allende, A., Marín, A., Gil, M.I., 2012. 'Long-term deficit and excess of irrigation influences quality and browning related enzymes and phenolic metabolism of fresh-cut iceberg lettuce (*Lactuca sativa L.*)'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 73, 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2012.05.011

Luo, Y., Nou, X., Yang, Y., Alegre, I., Turner, E., Feng, H., Abadias, M., Conway, W., 2011. 'Determination of free chlorine concentrations needed to prevent *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 cross-contamination during fresh-cut produce wash'. *Journal of Food Protection*, 74, 352–358. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362–028X.JFP –10–429

Maciel, V.B.V., Yoshida, C.M.P., Franco, T.T., 2012. 'Development of a prototype of a colourimetric temperature indicator for monitoring food quality'. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 111, 21–27. http s://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2012.01.037

Lyndhurst, B., 2008. Research into consumer behaviour in relation to food dates and portion sizes. URL: https://wrap.org.u k/resources/report/research-consumer-behav iour-relation-food-dates-and-portion-sizes, (Accessed: 13/6/2019)

Manzocco, L., Foschia, M., Tomasi, N., Maifreni, M., Dalla Costa, L., Marino, M., Cortella, G., Cesco, S., 2011. 'Influence of hydroponic and soil cultivation on quality and shelf-life of ready-to-eat lamb's lettuce (*Valerianella locusta L. Laterr*): Effects of hydroponics and soil cultivation on lamb's lettuce'. *Journal of Science Food and Agriculture*, 91, 1373–1380. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.4313

Manzocco, L., Alongi, M., Lagazio, C., Sillani, S., Nicoli, M.C., 2017. 'Effect of temperature in domestic refrigerators on freshcut Iceberg salad quality and waste'. *Food Research International*, 102, 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres. 2017.09.091

Mampholo, B.M., Maboko, M.M., Soundy, P., Sivakumar, D., 2016. 'Phytochemicals and overall quality of leafy lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*  L.) varieties grown in closed hydroponic system'. *Journal of Food Quality*, 39, 805–815. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfq. 12234

Marks and Spencer, 2020. *Marks in time*. URL https://mark sintime.marksandspencer.com/ms-history/timel ine/art1277 (Accessed: 7/3/2020)

Martínez-Sánchez, A., Allende, A., Bennett, R.N., Ferreres, F., Gil, M.I., 2006. 'Microbial, nutritional and sensory quality of rocket leaves as affected by different sanitizers'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 42, 86–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.po stharvbio.2006.05.010

Martínez-Sánchez, A., Luna, M.C., Selma, M.V., Tudela, J.A., Abad, J., Gil, M.I., 2012. 'Baby-leaf and multi-leaf of green and red lettuces are suitable raw materials for the fresh-cut industry'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 63, 1–10. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.postharvbio.2011.07.010

Medina-Martínez, M.S., Allende, A., Barberá, G.G., Gil, M.I., 2015. 'Climatic variations influence the dynamic of epiphyte bacteria of baby lettuce'. *Food Research International*, 68, 54–61. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2014.06.009

Mielby, L.H., Kildegaard, H., Gabrielsen, G., Edelenbos, M., Thybo, A.K., 2012. 'Adolescent and adult visual preferences for pictures of fruit and vegetable mixes – Effect of complexity'. *Food Quality and Preference*, 26, 188–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2012.04.014

Mills, C.E., Govoni, V., Faconti, L., Casagrande, M., Morant, S.V., Crickmore, H., Iqbal, F., Maskell, P., Masani, A., Nanino, E., Webb, A.J., Cruickshank, J.K., 2020. 'A randomised, factorial trial to reduce arterial stiffness independently of blood pressure: Proof of concept? The VaSera trial testing dietary nitrate and spironolactone'. *British Journal Clinical Pharmacology*, 86. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.14194

Mogren, L., Windstam, S., Boqvist, S., Vågsholm, I., Söderqvist, K., Rosberg, A.K., Lindén, J., Mulaosmanovic, E., Karlsson, M., Uhlig, E., Håkansson, Å. and Alsanius, B. (2018) 'The hurdle approach – A holistic concept for controlling food safety risks associated with pathogenic bacterial contamination of leafy green vegetables. A review'. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9, p. 1965. https: //doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01965

Mo, C., Kim, G., Kim, M.S., Lim, J., Lee, K., Lee, W.-H., Cho, B.-K., 2017. 'On-line fresh-cut lettuce quality measurement system using hyperspectral imaging'. *Biosystems Engineering*, 156, 38–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2017.01.005

Moore, E.J., 1991. 'Grocery distribution in the uk: recent changes and future prospects'. *International Journal of Retail and Distribution Management* 19. https://doi.org/10.1108/EU M000000002957

Murphy, M.T., Zhang, F., Nakamura, Y.K., Omaye, S.T., 2011. 'Comparison between Hydroponically and Conventionally and Organically Grown Lettuces for Taste, Odor, Visual Quality and Texture: A Pilot Study'. *Food and nutrition sciences*, 02, 124–127. https: //doi.org/10.4236/fns.2011.22017

Murray, J.M., Delahunty, C.M., Baxter, I.A., 2001. 'Descriptive sensory analysis: past, present and future'. *Food Research International*, 34, 461–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0963-9969(01)00070-9

Neff, R.A., Spiker, M., Rice, C., Schklair, A., Greenberg, S., Leib, E.B., 2019. 'Misunderstood food date labels and reported food discards: A survey of U.S. consumer attitudes and behaviors'. *Waste Management*, 86, 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2019.01.023

Nguyen, T.-V., Ross, T., Van Chuyen, H., 2019. 'Evaluating the efficacy of three sanitizing agents for extending the shelf-life of freshcut baby spinach: food safety and quality aspects'. *AIMS Agriculture and Food* 4, 320–339. https://doi.org/10.3934/ag rfood.2019.2.320

Nielsen, T., Bergström, B., Borch, E., 2008. 'The origin of offodours in packaged rucola (*Eruca sativa*)'. *Food Chemistry*, 110, 96–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2008. 01.063

Olanya, O.M., Niemira, B.A., Phillips, J.G., 2015. 'Effects of gamma irradiation on the survival of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* inoculated on romaine lettuce and baby spinach'. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 62, 55–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2014.12.031

Paakki, M., Sandell, M., Hopia, A., 2019. 'Visual attractiveness depends on colorfulness and color contrasts in mixed salads'. *Food Quality and Preference*, 76, 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2019.04.004

Pan, Y., Sun, D.-W., Cheng, J.-H., Han, Z., 2018. 'Non-destructive detection and screening of non-uniformity in microwave sterilization using hyperspectral imaging analysis'. *Food Analysis Methods*, 11, 1568–1580. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-017-1134-5

Patrício, D.I., Rieder, R., 2018. 'Computer vision and artificial intelligence in precision agriculture for grain crops: A systematic review'. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 153, 69–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2018.08.001

Platias, C., Kandylakis, Z., Panagou, E.Z., Nychas, G.-J.E., Karantzalos, K., 2018. 'Snapshot multispectral and hyperspectral data processing for estimating food quality parameters, in: 2018 9th workshop on hyperspectral image and signal processing: Evolution in remote sensing (WHISPERS)'. *IEEE*, 1–4. https://doi.org/ 10.1109/WHISPERS.2018.8747009

Porat, R., Lichter, A., Terry, L.A., Harker, R., Buzby, J., 2018. 'Postharvest losses of fruit and vegetables during retail and in consumers' homes: Quantifications, causes, and means of prevention'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 139, 135–149. https://do i.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2017.11.019

Proietti, S., Moscatello, S., Colla, G., Battistelli, Y., 2004. 'The effect of growing spinach (*Spinacia oleracea L.*) at two light intensities on the amounts of oxalate, ascorbate and nitrate in their leaves'. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, **79**, **606–609**. https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316. 2004.11511814

Psomas, A.N., Nychas, G.-J., Haroutounian, S.A., Skandamis, P.N., 2011. 'Development and validation of a tertiary simulation model for predicting the growth of the food micro-organisms under dynamic and static temperature conditions'. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 76, 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2011.01.013

Quested, T.E., Murphy, L., 2014. *Household Food and Drink Waste:* a Product Focus. Final Report. URL: https://www.wrap.o

rg.uk/sites/files/wrap/Product-focusedreport v5\_3.pdf (Accessed: 2/19/2018)

Quintero, A.V., Molina-Lopez, F., Smits, E.C.P., Danesh, E.; Brand, J.V.D., Persaud, K., Oprea, A., Barsan, N., Weimar, U., de Rooij, N.F., Briand, D. 2016. 'Smart RFID label with a printed multisensor platform for environmental monitoring'. *Flexible Printed Electronics*, 1, https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10. 1088/2058-8585/1/2/025003/meta.

Rastogi, G., Sbodio, A., Tech, J.J., Suslow, T.V., Coaker, G.L., Leveau, J.H.J., 2012. 'Leaf microbiota in an agroecosystem: spatiotemporal variation in bacterial community composition on field-grown lettuce'. *The ISME Journal*, 6, 1812–1822. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ismej.2012.32

Raffo, A., Masci, M., Moneta, E., Nicoli, S., Sánchez del Pulgar, J., Paoletti, F., 2018. 'Characterization of volatiles and identification of odor-active compounds of rocket leaves'. *Food Chemistry*, 240, 1161–1170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem .2017.08.009

Report of the forty-fourth session of the Codex committee on food labelling, REP18/FL, 2018. URL: https://codexindones ia.bsn.go.id/uploads/download/CCFL\_44.pdf (Accessed: 30/3/2020).

Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 January 2002 laying down the general principles and requirements of food law, establishing the European Food Safety Authority and laying down procedures in matters of food safety, 32002R0178. http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2002/ 178/oj (Accessed: 14/01/2021) Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council, 32011R1169. http://data.europa.eu/eli/r eg/2011/1169/oj (Accessed: 3/08/2020)

Roohi, Srivastava, P., Bano, K., Zaheer, M.R., Kuddus, M., 2018. Biodegradable smart biopolymers for food packaging: sustainable approach toward green environment, in: Ahmed, S. (Ed.), Bio-Based Materials for Food Packaging. Springer Singapore, Singapore, pp. 197–216. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1909-9\_9

Saltveit, M., 2018. 'Pinking of lettuce'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 145, 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.po stharvbio.2018.06.001

Sawyer, R., Best, G.A., Carpenter, P.M., Ghersini, G., Ghiri, M., Salghetti, F., 1980. 'EEC legislation—is there a need for quality control?'. *Analytical Proceedings*, 17, 186–200. https://doi.org/10.1039/AP9801700186

Sikora, M., Złotek, U., Kordowska-Wiater, M., Świeca, M., 2020. 'Effect of basil leaves and wheat bran water extracts on antioxidant capacity, sensory properties and microbiological quality of shredded iceberg lettuce during storage'. *Antioxidants*, 9, 355. https:// doi.org/10.3390/antiox9040355

Siripatrawan, U., Makino, Y., Kawagoe, Y., Oshita, S., 2011. 'Rapid detection of Escherichia coli contamination in packaged fresh spinach using hyperspectral imaging'. *Talanta*, 85, 276–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2011.03.061

Small, D.M., Prescott, J., 2005. 'Odor/taste integration and the perception of flavor'. *Experimental Brain Research*, 166, 345–357. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-005-2376-9 Söderqvist, K. (2017) 'Is your lunch salad safe to eat? Occurrence of bacterial pathogens and potential for pathogen growth in pre-packed ready-to-eat mixed-ingredient salads', *Infection Ecology and Epidemiology*, 7, p. 1407216. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 20008686.2017.1407216

Sophia, G., 2014. *History of UK food law*. URL: https://fs tjournal.org\/features/history-uk-food-law. (Accessed: 6/18/2019).

Spadafora, N.D., Amaro, A.L., Pereira, M.J., Müller, C.T., Pintado, M., Rogers, H.J., 2016. 'Multi-trait analysis of postharvest storage in rocket salad (*Diplotaxis tenuifolia*) links sensorial, volatile and nutritional data'. *Food Chemistry*, 211, 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.04.107

Spadafora, N.D., Cammarisano, L., Rogers, H.J., Müller, C.T., 2018. 'Using volatile organic compounds to monitor shelf-life in rocket salad'. *Acta Hortic*. 1299–1306. https://doi.org/10. 17660/ActaHortic.2018.1194.183

Todd, E.C.D., 1985. 'Economic loss from foodborne disease and non-illness related recalls because of mishandling by food processors'. *Journal of Food Protection*, 48, 621–633. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-48.7.621

Torri, L., Piergiovanni, L., Caldiroli, E., 2008. 'Odour investigation of granular polyolefins for flexible food packaging using a sensory panel and an electronic nose'. *Food Additives and Contaminants: Part A* 25, 490–502. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02652030701513776

Torres-Sánchez R, Martínez-Zafra MT, Castillejo N, Guillamón-Frutos A, Artés-Hernández F. 2020. 'Real-Time monitoring system for

shelf life estimation of fruit and vegetables'. Sensors. 20, 1860. https://doi.org/10.3390/s20071860

Tóth, G., Hermann, T., Da Silva, M.R., Montanarella, L., 2016. 'Heavy metals in agricultural soils of the European Union with implications for food safety'. *Environment International*, 88, 299–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.12.017

Taoukis, P.S., Labuza, T.P., 1989. 'Applicability of time-temperature indicators as shelf life monitors of food products'. *Journal of Food Science*, 54, 783–788. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1989.tb07882.x

The Food Labelling Regulations, SI 1984/1305, 1984. URL: http s://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1984/1305/ma de. (Accessed: 18/6/2019)

The Food Information Regulations 2014, SI 2014/1855, 2014. URL: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/1855/contents/made. (Accessed: 18/6/2019)

The Food Labelling Regulations 1980, SI 1980/1849, 1981. URL: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1980/1849/made.(Accessed: 18/6/2019)

Tournas, V.H., 2005. 'Spoilage of vegetable crops by bacteria and fungi and related health hazards'. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology*, 31, 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408410590886024

Tsaftaris, S.A., Noutsos, C., 2009. *Plant phenotyping with low cost digital cameras and image analytics*, Information Technologies in Environmental Engineering. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 238–251. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-88351-7\_18

Tsironi, T., Dermesonlouoglou, E., Giannoglou, M., Gogou, E., Katsaros, G., Taoukis, P., 2017. 'Shelf-life prediction models for readyto-eat fresh cut salads: Testing in real cold chain'. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 240, 131–140. https://doi.or g/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2016.09.032

Tudela, J.A., Marín, A., Garrido, Y., Cantwell, M., Medina-Martínez, M.S., Gil, M.I., 2013. 'Off-odour development in modified atmosphere packaged baby spinach is an unresolved problem'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 75, 75–85. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.postharvbio.2012.08.006

Uhlig, E., Olsson, C., He, J., Stark, T., Sadowska, Z., Molin, G., Ahrné, S., Alsanius, B., Håkansson, Å., 2017. 'Effects of household washing on bacterial load and removal of *Escherichia coli* from lettuce and "ready-to-eat" salads'. *Food Science & Nutrition*, 5, 1215–1220. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.514

United Nations, 2020. UN Comtrade Database. URL: https://comtrade.un.org. (Accessed: 14/8/2020).

Vandekinderen, I., Devlieghere, F., De Meulenaer, B., Ragaert, P., Van Camp, J., 2009. 'Optimization and evaluation of a decontamination step with peroxyacetic acid for fresh-cut produce'. *Food Microbiology*, 26, 882–888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm .2009.06.004

Wagstaff, C., Clarkson, G.J.J., Rothwell, S.D., Page, A., Taylor, G., Dixon, M.S., 2007. 'Characterisation of cell death in bagged baby salad leaves'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 46, 150–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2007.04.013

Wieczyńska, J., Cavoski, I., 2018. 'Antimicrobial, antioxidant and

sensory features of eugenol, carvacrol and trans-anethole in active packaging for organic ready-to-eat iceberg lettuce'. *Food Chemistry*, 259, 251–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem .2018.03.137

Williams, T.R., Moyne, A.-L., Harris, L.J., Marco, M.L., 2013. 'Season, irrigation, leaf age, and *Escherichia coli* inoculation influence the bacterial diversity in the lettuce phyllosphere'. *PLOS ONE 8*, e68642. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0068642

Wilson, N.L.W., Rickard, B.J., Saputo, R., Ho, S.-T., 2017. 'Food waste: The role of date labels, package size, and product category'. *Food Quality and Preference*, 55, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.08.004

Wu, Q., Xie, L., Xu, H., 2018. 'Determination of toxigenic fungi and aflatoxins in nuts and dried fruits using imaging and spectroscopic techniques'. *Food Chemistry*, 252, 228–242. https://do i.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.01.076

Yamauchi, N., Watada, A.E., 1991. 'Regulated chlorophyll degradation in spinach leaves during storage'. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 116, 58–62. https://doi.or g/10.21273/JASHS.116.1.58

Yan, K., Zhang, D., 2016. 'Calibration transfer and drift compensation of e-noses via coupled task learning. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 225, 288–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. snb.2015.11.058

Yanniotis, S., Proshlyakov, A., Revithi, A., Georgiadou, M., Blahovec, J., 2011. 'X-ray imaging for fungal necrotic spot detection in pistachio nuts'. *Procedia Food Science* 1, 379–384. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.profoo.2011.09.058

Zhang, Q., Savagatrup, S., Kaplonek, P., Seeberger, P. H., Swager, T. M., 2017. 'Janus emulsions for the detection of bacteria'. *ACS Central Science 3*, 309–313 https://doi.org/10.1021/ac scentsci.7b00021

Zhou, F., Ji, B., Zhang, H., Jiang, H., Yang, Z., Li, Jingjing, Li, Jihai, Ren, Y., Yan, W., 2007. 'Synergistic effect of thymol and carvacrol combined with chelators and organic acids against *Salmonella Typhimurium*'. *Journal of Food Protection*, 70, 1704–1709. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-70.7.1704

**Chapter 3** 

Growth temperature influences postharvest glucosinolate concentrations and hydrolysis product formation in first and second cuts of rocket salad

## 3.1 Background

It is clear that conditions under which a product is stored will affect its decline over shelf life. The pre-harvest factors will shape the potential of the product's shelf life. There is a wealth of knowledge mapping the relationships between agronomic factors and subsequent nutrient content or shelf life quality (Proietti et al., 2004; Luna et al., 2012; Ntsoane et al., 2016). However, there is little information combining genetic and environmental data to understand the impact of nature versus nurture on subsequent post harvest life. This chapter investigates how the environmental variable of growth temperature affects the growth and subsequent shelf life of different cultivars and species of rocket salad.

Rocket leaves have a distinctive taste and aroma that is characterised by glucosinolates and subsequent glucosinolate hydrolysis products. As well as this, there have been health benefits associated with this class of compounds (Hayes et al., 2008) and particularly sulforaphane (Mazarakis et al., 2020). Therefore, understanding how these compounds change over shelf life would explain how the quality, from a nutritional and flavour context, change over shelf life and to what extent the growing environment may be predictive of this change.

#### 3.1.1 limitations

Due to the lower number of plants that were successfully grown (RW2, Table 3.1), and re-grown (RW2/3) after the second cut, the conclusions drawn from the statistical analysis involving these plants could potentially be overinterpreted. Although there is no technical reason why an ANOVA cannot be run with low sample numbers, the underlying assumptions (robustness of the equal variance assumption) can be difficult to verify (Wilcox, 1995). In theory, the low sample numbers should reduce the power of the model. As a result, significant differences between samples with low numbers would not arise unless the differences between the mean were very large (Lantz, 2013). As a result, when evaluating the results shown in this chapter with respect to RW2/3 the low sample size should be considered as the results may be returned based on a general linear model rather than ANOVA (Shaw and Mitchell-Olds, 1993).

#### 3.1.2 References

Lantz, B., 2013. 'The impact of sample non-normality on ANOVA and alternative methods: The impact of sample non-normality'. *British* 

*Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology*, 66, 224–244. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8317.2012.02047. x

Shaw, R.G., Mitchell-Olds, T., 1993. 'Anova for Unbalanced Data: An Overview'. *Ecology*, 74, 1638–1645. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/1939922

Wilcox, R.R., 1995. 'ANOVA: A Paradigm for Low Power and Misleading Measures of Effect Size?'. *Review of Educational Research*, 65, 51–77. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543065001051

## **3.2** Contribution to the project

The original idea for the project was proposed by Luke Bell and following a meeting with Luke and myself we came up with a project idea that would be mutually beneficial. *CRediT authorship contribution statement as appeared in the original article* 

Jake Jasper: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - original draft, Writing - review and editing. Carol Wagstaff: Funding acquisition, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing - original draft, Writing - review and editing. Luke Bell: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review and editing.Contribution breakdown percentage by each author respectively [45, 10, 45]

The following section was originally published as follows:

Jasper, J., Wagstaff, C., Bell, L., 2020. Growth temperature influences postharvest glucosinolate concentrations and hydrolysis product formation in first and second cuts of rocket salad. Postharvest Biology and Technology 163, 111157. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.postharvbio.2020.111157

#### 3.3 Abstract

Rocket salad species (*Diplotaxis tenuifolia* and *Eruca sativa*; also known as *E. vesicaria*) are known for their high concentrations of health-related isothiocyanates, which are derived from secondary metabolites called glucosinolates. Increases in temperature due to climate change and extreme weather event frequency over the coming decades are likely to influence not only the growth of leafy vegetables, but also their nutritional density. It is therefore essential to

determine the impacts of these in order to mitigate crop losses and nutritional decline in future. Our data show there is a strong influence of pre-harvest growth temperatures on glucosinolate biosynthesis and formation of glucosinolate hydrolysis products postharvest, and that this is genotype dependent. High growth temperature (40 °C) severely retarded germination, growth, regrowth, and survival of rocket plants. Highest glucosinolate concentrations were observed in first and second cuts at 40 °C, but did not correspond to highest isothiocyanate concentrations (observed at 30 °C, second cut). These data indicate that high growth temperatures increase glucosinolate accumulation, but growth and productivity is significantly reduced. Much greater emphasis is needed for breeding cultivars tolerant to high growth temperatures in order to maximise nutritional benefits imparted by temperature stress.

## 3.4 Introduction

Rocket salads are a popular group of leafy vegetables belonging to the Brassicaceae family. *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* and *Eruca sativa* comprise the majority of global rocket production, and are well known for pungent aromas and flavours. Each species has distinct morphological characteristics, though *E. sativa* is much more varied in this regard (Bennett et al., 2006). Over the last 20 years there has been a surge in interest in the crops for their phytochemical content, particularly for glucosinolates (GSLs) and their hydrolysis products (GHPs; Bell and Wagstaff, 2019). Foremost of these are isothiocyanates (ITCs), and specifically sulforaphane (SF); consumption of which has been linked with a reduced risk of developing some cancers (Fimognari and Hrelia, 2007).

GSL profiles are notoriously variable across growth environments in many Brassicaceae species, and the formation of GHPs even more so (Bell and Wagstaff, 2019). GSL biosynthesis is inherently tied to the stress responses of all Brassicales plants (Mostafa et al., 2016), and as such, concentrations within tissues can vary markedly according to growth temperature (Kask et al., 2016), light quality (Schreiner et al., 2009), and salinity (Cocetta et al., 2018); as well as biotic factors from pests and disease (Schlaeppi et al., 2010). Climate change is leading to more extreme temperatures in places used to cultivate horticultural crops, and consumer demand is leading to the adoption of more land and more protected cultivation practices to meet the yield and quality expectations.

A large amount of work has been done to determine the glucosinolate (GSL) profiles of rocket within first harvest (or cut) leaves (Cataldi et al., 2007; Chun et al., 2015; Force et al., 2007; Toledo-Martín et al., 2017), and only one study has assessed second cut composition (Nitz and Schnitzler, 2002), but only looked at three compounds. Second cuts are primarily favoured by growers and processors for their perceived increased pungency and overall quality (Bell and Wagstaff, 2019), yet the scientific literature has thus far failed to consider this common horticultural practice in experimental designs. It is speculated that multiple cuts increase the abundance of glucosinolates and isothiocyanates in rocket species. The increase of secondary metabolites in response to mechanical wounding is well known in other horticultural species (Jahangir et al., 2009). This has clear implications for taste, flavour, safety, and health-related properties of leaves.

The impact of different growing environments, such as temperature variation, on crop nutritional composition is also poorly studied in rocket; adding an additional influencing factor on these traits. It is therefore possible that variable growing temperatures will also affect (positively or negatively) the consumer eating experience. The exact genetic mechanisms that regulate GSL biosynthesis under high or low temperatures are unknown, partly due to interacting and cooccurring stresses, such as drought. It is likely however that the imposition of high/low temperature stress promotes activity of transcription factors such as MYC2 and MYB28, which promote GSL biosynthesis (Gigolashvili et al., 2009).

Temperature effects upon GSL synthesis and GHP formation are poorly understood in rocket species, and have important implications for the synthesis of specific health-associated compounds. Rocket crops are grown on every inhabited continent, and are exposed to a huge range of cultivation temperatures (Bell et al., 2015). They can be grown under mild, temperate conditions, such as in southern England, (summer maximum temperatures averaging 20.4 °C; Met Office 1981-2010 data), to hot Mediterranean temperatures (such as the Bay of Naples, Italy, summer maximum temperatures averaging 29.5 °C; World Meteorological Organization). In addition, crops are commonly cultivated under glass or polytunnel in summer months, where internal daytime temperatures can rise to over 35 °C (Di Gioia et al., 2018). In growing regions such as Lazio (Italy) and New South Wales (Australia), outdoor summer daytime temperatures can regularly exceed 40 °C, and therefore have significant impacts on the growth of leafy vegetables. Crops under protection are therefore doubly affected, as internal temperatures may exceed 50 °C without adequate ventilation. By the end of the 21st century, atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations are projected to rise to between 730 and 1000 ppm. This will lead to average global temperature increases of between 1-3.7 °C (Gray and Brady, 2016). Combined with an increased likelihood of extreme weather events (such as heat waves and drought), protected leafy crops such as rocket are especially vulnerable to losses and or changes in growth rate (Kron et al., 2019).

The effects of such growing extremes are presently unknown, and it is likewise unstudied how growth temperature affects regrowth, phytochemical content, or shelf life retention of health-associated compounds. Postharvest work has already demonstrated that these compounds are subject to fluctuation (Bell et al., 2017c; Yahya et al., 2019), but it is unknown to what degree growth temperature and cut influence this process. In light of climate change and global warming effects in future, it is also likely that extremes in temperature will become more common, and therefore it is important to understand how crop growth and quality may be affected.

This study presents phytochemical data relating to the growth of two *D. tenuifolia* and two *E. sativa* rocket cultivars under different growth temperatures. This study is the first to examine the impact of cultivation temperatures on secondary metabolite formation that has consequences for nutrition and flavour qualities of rocket crops. We hypothesised that each species would see increases in GSL concentrations at the higher cultivation temperatures, but that each cultivar would produce differing relative concentrations according to genotype, as has been highlighted in a previous study (Bell et al., 2015). We speculated that the initial concentrations of GSLs postharvest would influence the degree of biosynthesis and retention during the cold storage period, and in turn impact the abundance of GHPs formed.

### 3.5 Materials and methods

#### **3.5.1** Plant material

Two *D. tenuifolia* and two *E. sativa* pre-commercial cultivars were supplied by Elsoms Seeds Ltd. (Spalding, UK). For reasons of commercial sensitivity specific details regarding the genetic origin of these will not be given. *E. sativa* cultivars were designated RS4 and RS8, and *D. tenuifolia* cultivars RW2 and RW3.

# 3.5.2 Growing conditions, simulated processing, and shelf life storage sampling

Forty seeds of each cultivar were sown into module trays containing peat-based seedling compost, and germinated under three temperature conditions in Saxcil growth cabinets. The three temperature conditions were as follows: 20 °C (daytime; 15 °C night), 30 °C (daytime; 25 °C night), and 40 °C (daytime; 30 °C night). Lighting conditions were consistent between each chamber and set to a longday cycle (16 h light, 8 h dark). Light intensity was set to 380 µmol
Cultivar	Temperature and condition											
		20 °C		30 °C	<b>40</b> °C							
	$1^{st}$	$2^{nd}$	$1^{st}$	$2^{nd}$	$1^{st}$	$2^{nd}$						
RS4	12	12	12	7	16	dns						
RS8	11	11	15	8	13	dns						
RW2	5	3	9	3	dns	dns						
RW3	10	7	10	7	2	dns						

**Table 3.1:** Numbers of biological replicates under each temperature condition and cut per temperature treatment.

Abbreviations: RS = salad rocket; RW = wild rocket; dns = did not survive

 $m^{-2}$  s<sup>-1</sup>. Humidity was ambient. Healthy seedlings were transplanted into 1 l pots (containing peat-based compost) on an individual basis, upon the development and expansion of two true leaves. Pots were watered daily, as required, to field capacity.

Plants were harvested on an individual basis, and were considered of commercial maturity once 10–15 leaves were developed. See Table 3.1 for numbers of biological replicates harvested for each cultivar under each respective condition. Upon reaching this point, plants were harvested as close to the soil as practical by hand using sterile scissors and left to regrow. It should be noted that not all plants survived the first cut, and that the 40 °C treatment severely impaired growth and survival.

All plants were harvested between 10 a.m. and 12 p.m to minimise

the effects of diurnal fluctuations in secondary metabolites (Huseby et al., 2013). The harvested leaves were initially placed in Ziploc bags and then transferred to the laboratory. Upon arrival, plants were hand processed individually by turbulent washing in mildly chlorinated water (30 ppm, sodium hypochlorite; Suslow, 2000) for one minute, followed by gentle rinsing in non-chlorinated water for one minute. Finally leaves were placed in a hand operated salad spinner and dried for another minute to simulate factory processing conditions. Leaves were divided into equal amounts and designated D0, D4, and D7 according to the beginning of shelf life storage in order to replicate the industry shelf life dating procedure. D0 samples were placed immediately into a -80 °C freezer. D4 and D7 samples were placed in laser perforated bags and closed with an electric heat-sealer, then stored in the dark at 4 °C (Bell et al., 2016). On respective sampling days, each of the bagged leaves were frozen at -80 °C. All sampling took place between 10 a.m. and 12 p.m, as per the initial time of harvest. This entire process was repeated for the second cut of regrown leaves until all plants were either harvested or had died.

#### **3.5.3** Leaf material preparation, and extraction

Frozen leaf material was lyophilized in batches for three days. Leaves were ground into a fine powder using a Wiley Mini Mill (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ, USA) and stored in tubes until extraction and analysis.

GSL extraction was performed as per the protocol presented by (Bell et al., 2015) with modifications. Briefly, 40 mg of dried leaf powder was placed into Eppendorf tubes and put into a heat block (80 °C for ten minutes). Afterwards, 1 ml of preheated methanol water (70 % v/v) was added to dried powder, vortexed vigorously, and placed in a water bath (75 °C) for 20 min. Samples were cooled to halt the extraction and then centrifuged for five minutes (16,050 x g, ambient temperature), the supernatant collected, and filtered (0.22 µm PVDF Acrodisc syringe filters; VWR, Lutterworth, UK). Crude extracts were stored at -80 °C before dilution (5x) and analysis conducted by LC–MS.

GHPs were extracted by GC-MS according to the protocol published by Ku et al. (2016) with modifications. The extraction duration was optimized for maximum yields of GHPs by comparison of extractions for three hours incubation at 30 °C with immediate dichloromethane (DCM) extraction, and three, nine, and 21 h post incubation with DCM.

50 mg of sample was hydrolysed in 1 ml of distilled  $H_2O$  for three hours at 30 °C, before subsequent extraction in DCM overnight (21 h). The DCM layer was then collected and transferred to glass vials and stored at -80 °C until analysis by GC–MS.

#### 3.5.4 LC–MS and GC–MS analyses

For LC–MS, samples were analyzed in a random sequence with standards and QC samples. External standards of progoitrin (PRO; 99.07 %, HPLC), glucoraphanin (GRA; 99.86 %, HPLC), glucoerucin (GER; 99.68 %, HPLC), glucobrassicin (GBR; 99.38 %, HPLC), and gluconasturtiin (GNAS; 98.38 %, HPLC) were prepared for quantification of GSL compounds according to the method presented by Jin et al. (2009). GER was used to quantify glucorucolamine (GRM), diglucothiobeinin (DGTB), glucosativin (GSV), and DMB, as no standards are presently available for these compounds. GBR

was used to quantify the indole GSLs 4-methoxyglucobrassicin (4MOB) and neoglucobrassicin (NGB; Table 3.2). All standards were purchased from PhytoPlan (Heidelberg, Germany). Recovery of extracted GSLs was calculated by spiking six random samples with sinigrin upon the addition of pre-heated methanol (Merck, Gillingham, UK). The average recovery of sinigrin was 104.8 %. Limits of detection (LOD) and quantification (LOQ) were established for the method by running serial dilutions of sinigrin (LOD = 5.38 µmol  $L^{-1}$ ; LOQ = 16.3 µmol  $L^{-1}$ ).

**Table 3.2:** Glucosinolates and glucosinolate hydrolysis products identified in *Eruca sativa* and *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* cultivars. a = Quantified using authentic standards, b = Quantified using glucoerucin standard. c = Quantified using glucobrassicin standard. d = Quantified using sulforaphane standard.

Glucosinolates										
Trivial name Abbreviat		R-group name	Retention	Identifying						
			time	<i>m/z</i> [M-H] <sup>-</sup>						
1 Glucorucolamine <sup>b</sup>	GRM	4-(cysteine-S-yl)butyl	4.7	4.93						
2 Progoitrin <sup>a</sup>	PRO	(2R)-2-hydroxybut-3-enyl	5.9	388						
3 Glucoraphanin <sup>a</sup>	GRA	4-methyl-sulfinyl-butyl	6.0	436						
4 Diglucothiobeinin <sup>b</sup>	DGTB	4-(-d-gluco-pyranosyl-disulfanyl)	12.7	600						
5 Glucosativin <sup>b</sup>	GSV	4-mercap-tobutyl	16.4	406						
6 Glucoerucin <sup>a</sup>	GER	4-methylthio-butyl	22.7	420						
7 -	DMB	Dimeric 4-mercap-tobutyl	23.0	405 (811, 731)						
8 Glucobrassicin <sup>a</sup>	GBR	Indol-3-ylmethyl	23.5	447						
9 Gluconasturtiin <sup>a</sup>	GNAS	2-phenethyl	24.0	422						
104-methoxy- glucobrassicin <sup>c</sup>	4MOB	4-methoxy-3-indolylmethyl	24.2	477						
11Neogluco-brassicin	NGB	1-methoxy-3-indolylmethyl	25.6	477						

Glucosinolate hydrolysis products							
Trivial name	Hydrolysis product of	MS spectra m/z					
1 Sativin <sup>d</sup>	Glucosativin	147, 114, 87, 72, 60					
2 Erucin <sup><math>d</math></sup>	Glucoerucin	161, 115, 72, 61					
3 Sulforaphane <sup><i>a</i></sup>	Glucoraphanin	177, 160, 114, 72, 55					
4 Bis-(4-	DMB	292, 146, 114, 87, 72, 55					
isothiocyanatobutyl)-							
disulfide <sup>a</sup>							

LC-MS analysis was performed in the negative ion mode on an Agilent 1260 Infinity Series LC system (Agilent, Stockport, UK) equipped with a binary pump, degasser, auto-sampler, column heater and diode array detector; coupled to an Agilent 6120 Series single quadrupole mass spectrometer. Separation of samples was achieved on a Gemini  $3 \mu m$  C18 110 Å ( $150 \times 4.6 mm$ ) column (with Security Guard column, C18; 4 mm x 3 mm; Phenomenex, Macclesfield, UK). GSLs were separated during a 40 min chromatographic run, with a 5 min post-run sequence. Mobile phases consisted of ammonium formate (0.1 %; A) and acetonitrile (B) with the following gradient timetable: (i) 0 min (A-B, 95:5, v/v); (ii) 0-13 min s (A-B, 95:5, v/v); (iii)  $13-22 \min s$  (A-B, 40:60, v/v); (iv)  $22-30 \min s$ (A–B, 40:60, v/v); 30–35 mins (A–B, 95:5, v/v); (v) 35–40 mins (A–B, 95:5, v/v). The flow rate was optimized for the system at  $0.4 \text{ ml min}^{-1}$ , with a column temperature of  $30 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ ;  $20 \,\mu\text{l}$  of sample was injected into the system. Quantification was conducted at a wavelength of 229 nm.

MS analysis settings were as follows: Atmospheric pressure electrospray ionization was carried out in negative ion mode (scan range m/z 100–1000 Da. Nebulizer pressure was set at 50 psi, gas-drying temperature at 350 °C, and capillary voltage at 2000 V. Compounds were identified using their primary ion mass [M-H]- (Cataldi et al., 2007) and by comparing relative retention times with those of Lelario et a. (2012; Table 3.2). Data were analyzed using Agilent OpenLAB CDS ChemStation Edition for LC–MS (vA.02.10). GSL concentrations from each time point were averaged; see Table 3.2 for all n per treatment. This approach was also conducted for GHP analysis.

GHPs were identified and analysed according to the method presented by Bell et al. (2017) with the following modification. Extracts were separated on a Zebron ZB-AAA (10 m, 0.25 mm i.d.; Phenomenex) capillary during a seven minute run. GC conditions were as follows: split 1:20 at 250 °C, with a 2.5  $\mu$ l injection. Helium was used as the carrier gas at a flow rate of 1.5 mL.min<sup>-1</sup>. The oven program was: 30 °C min from 110 °C to 320 °C, with a one minute hold at 320 °C. Concentrations of all GHPs were calculated as equivalents of SF standard (Sigma).

All concentrations quoted within the text are on a dry weight basis for both GSLs and GHPs.

#### **3.5.5** Statistical analysis

ANOVA analyses of all data were performed using XL Stat (Addinsoft, Paris, France). Each respective analysis was conducted with a protected post hoc Tukey's Honest Significance Difference (HSD) test (P < 0.05). In some cases, due to the unbalanced sample numbers the underlying assumptions of the model are difficult to assess. Therefore, comparisons between involving RW2 and the 2nd cut for RW3 should be interpreted with extra caution.

Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was performed using XL Stat with Pearson correlation analysis (n-1), Varimax rotation, and the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure of sampling adequacy. The KMO value for the analysis was 0.71, indicating a satisfactory level of sampling. The analysis produced four informative Principal Components (PCs) with Eigenvalues >1.0. The cumulative explained variability within these components totalled 78.1 %. After Varimax rotation, PCs 1, 2, and 8 produced the highest degree of explanatory spatial separation.

## 3.6 Results and discussion

# **3.6.1** The effects of growth temperature on germination and time to first and second cuts

#### 3.6.1.1 Germination

Germination time was shortest under the 30 °C condition, and *E. sativa* cultivars showed a clear trend for earlier establishment than *D. tenuifolia* (Figure 3.1 a), although it was not statistically significant. RW2 and RW3 had slow germination and growth at both 20 °C and 40 °C, with RW2 not germinating at all under the latter condition. As rocket species have a Mediterranean origin, it is not entirely surprising that germination is optimal at 30 °C, however our data do suggest that *E. sativa* is better adapted to temperature extremes. This could be of particular relevance to growers cultivating rocket under glass or polytunnel where temperatures may regularly exceed 35 °C in the summer. Conversely, growers in cool or temperate regions, cultivating rocket in open field, may find *E. sativa* quicker to establish.



**Figure 3.1:** The number of days taken for *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* (RW) and *Eruca sativa* (RS) cultivars to germinate (a), reach first cut maturity (10 - 15 true leaves; b), reach second cut maturity (10 - 15 regrowth leaves; c), and from first to second cut (d). Error bars represent standard error of the mean. The legend on each subplot refers to the temperature in degrees Celsius. Becuase of the low sample size for the second cut (Table 3.1), there were no significant difference between samples in subplot d, and therefore no letters are shown.

#### 3.6.1.2 Time to first cut

Harvest age of rocket is highly variable between growth environments (Hall et al., 2015), and as such we selected a physiological growth phase as a benchmark for harvest between each temperature condition (development of 10-15 leaves). At 40 °C all plant growth was severely retarded (Figure 3.1 b) although not always statistically significant, and no plants were ready for first harvest before 40 days. This suggests that adverse high temperature conditions may have a large impact on the productivity of rocket crops, regardless of species. However, for RW, particularly RW2 the sample size was small and as a result the effect of temperature is less reliable.

Exposure to temperatures  $> 37 \,^{\circ}$ C for prolonged periods of time can be lethal in many plants without acclimatisation. This is due to the inactivation or denaturation of proteins (Schöffl and Panikulangara, 2018). Without adequate time to adjust to heat shock (such as through expression of heat shock proteins) growth is slowed or even halted; ultimately leading to plant death. It is therefore remarkable that the rocket plants (particularly RS8) tested in this experiment were able to tolerate these conditions.

#### 3.6.1.3 Time to second cut

The differences between temperature conditions for the second harvest were less pronounced (Figure 3.1. c). At 40 °C however there was no regrowth for RS4, RW2, or RW3. Plants of these cultivars typically senesced a few days after first cut and died. As mentioned previously, given that the 40 °C temperature was extreme (Schöffl and Panikulangara, 2018), *E. sativa* in particular displayed a high tolerance.

Such conditions are not unheard of in protected environments, and may become more common under protected conditions in future due to global warming. It is interesting therefore that RS8 showed little adverse effects to the extreme temperature condition, and regrew within approximately 15 days. While rocket is not bred for temperature tolerance at this time, it does suggest that if climatic conditions become more challenging in future there are cultivars capable of withstanding such high temperature extremes. As will be discussed in subsequent sections, this may also have important implications for biosynthesis of health-related compounds in rocket.

#### 3.6.1.4 Time from first to second cut

Regrowth of RW2 was extremely fast, taking only seven days to regrow > 10 leaves after the first cut at 30 °C (Figure 3.1. d). These data suggest that *D. tenuifolia* second cuts may be much more productive than *E. sativa* under 20–30 °C conditions, although due to low sample sizes this was not statistically significant. While initial establishment and growth rate is slow in the first cut, this is offset by a much quicker subsequent regrowth rate.

# 3.6.2 The effects of growth temperature on glucosinolate concentrations and hydrolysis product formation during shelf life storage

#### 3.6.2.1 First cut at 20 $^{\circ}$ C

There was a clear trend in first cut *E. sativa* cultivars for higher GSL accumulation compared with *D. tenuifolia* (Figure 3.2). At D0, ANOVA pairwise comparisons of these samples were non-significant between cultivars, with the exception of 4-methoxy-glucobrassicin (4MOB) (P<0.0001; Table 3.3). At 20 °C, RS4 and RS8 both showed a clear trend for increased GSL concentrations over the seven day shelf life period, peaking at the final time point (D7). This is in agreement with observations made by Bell et al. (2017) in a field grown UK *E. sativa* crop. RW2 and RW3 by comparison peaked on D4, but contained almost half the concentrations of RS4 and RS8. These trends were only followed by RS8 and RW2 for hydrolysis

product formation, and concentrations were generally low across all time points (Figure 3.3). This has implications for consumers, and suggests that health-related benefits are cultivar and time-dependent postharvest. The variability of isothiocyanates and other GHPs in rocket postharvest is documented (Bell and Wagstaff, 2019). The timing of consumption is therefore a critical consideration for determining the efficacy of rocket cultivars against disease and chronic illness, and should be included as a more prominent factor for consideration in clinical investigations.



**Figure 3.2:** Glucosinolate concentrations in first and second cut *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* (RW) and *Eruca sativa* (*RS*) grown at four different temperatures. See inset for glucosinolate colour coding. Abbreviations: D0, start of shelf life; D4, fourth day of shelf life; D7, seventh day and end of commercial shelf life. Error bars represent standard error of the mean for each respective compound. Note that sample RW3 at 40 °C consists of <3 biological replicates due to plant death.

138

		Glucosinolates									Hydrolysis products							
Factors & interactions	Time point / cultivar	s lucor uco la mine	G lucora pha nin	Progotrin	Dięlucothiobe inin	5 lucosa tivin	Slucce rucin	Dimeric 4-mercaptobutyl	3 lucobrass kin	Gluconasturtiin	4- methoxyglucobrass ici n	Neog lucobrass ici n	Total Glucos inola tes	Satiuin	Erucin	S uffora pha ne	Bis (4- isothiocya na tobuty I)-d is ulfilde	Total glucosinolate hydrolysis products
	DO	•••	•	ns	***	***	ns	***	ns	•••	***	ns	•••	***	ns	•••	ns	***
Cultivar	D4 D7		ns •••	ns •••	•••		•••		•••• ns	•••	•••	ns ns	••••	•••	•••		ns ns	•••
	DO	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	•	ns	ns	ns	**	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	•
Growth temperature	D4	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	•••	ns	••	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	D/	ns	ns		ns		ns	ns	ns	ns		ns	ns	ns	ns		ns	ns
Out evenher	DO		ns	•	ns	ns	ns	ns		ns	ns	•	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
cut number	D4 D7	ns ns	ns	ns ++	ns ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns ns	ns ns		ns ns	ns ns	ns •••	
	DO	**	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	•	ns	**	ns	ns	ns	ns	**	ns	ns
Cultivar x temperature	D4	ns	ns	••	ns	ns	ns	ns	•••	٠	٠	ns	ns	ns	ns	••	ns	ns
	D7	•••••	ns	•••	•••	••••	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Cultivar x cut number	D0 D4	ns ns	ns	ns ns	ns ns	ns ns	ns	ns ns	ns +++	ns ns	ns	ns ns	ns ns	ns	ns ns		ns ns	:
	D7	ns	ns	•••	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	DO	•	ns	•	ns	ns	**	ns	•	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Cultivar x temperature x cut number	D4	ns	ns	•••	ns	ns	ns	ns	•••	••	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	D7	ns	ns		ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	P58		ns				ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns		ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Temperature x cut number	RW2	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns •••	ns ++	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	RW3	ns	••	•	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	R54	ns	ns	ns	ns	•••	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Temperature, y time point	R58	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	•
remperature x time point	RW2	ns	ns	:	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	•••	••	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	DE4	ns	ns		ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	R54	ns	ns	ns	ns	••	•	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Cut number x time point	KSB PM/2	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	RVV2	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns			ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	DE4	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	R34 D58	ns	ns	ns	ns	•	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns		ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Temperature x cut number x time point	R30	ns	ns	ns	ns	•	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	RW3		•	**			115	115	115	115			115	15	115		115	115
		115			112	113	10	r D	115	113	10	113	r D	10	113	112	115	115

**Table 3.3:** Results of Analysis of Variance type 3 sums of squares significance values for four rocket cultivars grown under three environmental temperature conditions, at three postharvest time points

Abbreviations: D0 = day 0 shelf life; D4 = day 4 shelf life; D7 = day 7 self life; RS = salad rocket, Eruca sativa; RW = wild rocket, Diplotaxis tenuifolia.

Significance values: \*\*\* = P<0.01; \*\* = P<0.01; \* = P<0.05; ns = not significant. See Supplementary Data File S1 for detailed P-values and Tukey's Honest Significant Difference pairwise comparisons.



**Figure 3.3:** Glucosinolate hydrolysis products concentrations produced by first and second cut *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* (RW) and *Eruca sativa* (RS) grown at four different temperatures. See inset for hydrolysis product colour coding. Abbreviations: D0, start of shelf life; D4, fourth day of shelf life; D7, seventh day and end of commercial shelf life. Error bars represent standard error of the mean for each respective compound. Note that sample RW3 at 40 °C consists of <3 biological replicates due to plant death.

140

#### 3.6.2.2 Second cut at 20 °C

In the second cut at 20 °C the trend between species was reversed: RS4 and RS8 peaked on D4, and RW2 and RW3 peaked on D7 for GSLs (Figure 3.2). Again, indolic GSL concentrations were significantly different at D0. RW2 contained significantly higher abundance of GBR than RS4 and RS8 (P=0.003), and conversely, RS4 had higher amounts of 4MOB compared with each of the *D. tenuifolia* cultivars ( $12.7 \pm 0.9 \mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>; P < 0.0001). These differences were repeated in D4 samples (GBR and 4MOB, P < 0.0001, Table 3.3) and suggest a distinct difference in indolic GSL metabolism between the two species; something that has not been previously observed. Indolics are linked with chemopreventative properties, such as promoting cancer cell cycle arrest (Hayes et al., 2008) and selection for improved indolic profiles of rocket could lead to increased health benefits.

Temporal changes in 4MOB were most pronounced in RW2, with a large and significant increase in abundance at D7 (15.6  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>) compared to D0 (2.5 ± 0.7  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>) and D4 (3.3  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>). Indolic GSLs are involved with abscisic acid (ABA) metabolism and synthesis (Malka and Cheng, 2017), and therefore such large increases over the course of shelf life may be indicative of increased senescence induced by plant hormone activity. This may be of significance when selecting rocket cultivars for improved shelf life traits; especially in second cut *D. tenuifolia*, which is the most common rocket product on global supermarket shelves.

Second cuts of each cultivar produced large average increases in GHP formation (Figure 3.3). The patterns of change over shelf life did not match those of GSLs, suggesting that GSL content is not an accurate proxy for the abundance and ratios of GHPs that are formed. Importantly SF, which has been linked with anticarcinogenic effects in vivo (Liang et al., 2008) saw large increases in the *E. sativa* cultivars, but not in *D. tenuifolia*; concentrations were significantly higher in RS8 ( P < 0.0001). This was also repeated at D4 (RS8,  $2.6 \pm 0.6 \mu mol g^{-1}$ ; P < 0.0001, Table 3.3) and indicates that second cut *E. sativa* may be better suited for formation of health related SF at lower growth temperatures than *D. tenuifolia*.

#### **3.6.2.3** First cut at 30 °C

In RS4 the decrease from D0 to D7 (Figure 3.2) was predominantly due to a significant reduction in GSV (from  $20.4 \pm 3.0 \,\mu\text{mol g}^{-1}$  to  $0.9 \pm 0.2 \,\mu\text{mol g}^{-1}$ ; P < 0.0001, Table 3.3). This trend was not reflected in the GHP profile of RS4 however, where concentrations were highest at D7 ( $3.7 \pm 0.6 \,\mu\text{mol g}^{-1}$ ). Although no significant differences were found between cultivars or growth temperatures, these trends again suggest that GSL content is not an accurate predictor of GHPs.

#### 3.6.2.4 Second cut at 30 °C

Second cuts showed no significant differences from the first at 30 °C for GSL content, indicating more consistent biosynthesis. This is a desirable characteristic for growers and processors as it in turn may contribute to improved consistency in taste and flavour between cuts.

In terms of individual GSL differences between cultivars, RS8 again contained significantly higher concentrations of 4MOB ( $8.9 \pm 1.2 \mu$ mol  $g^{-1}$ ) than RW3 at D0 ( $1.2 \pm 0.2 \mu$ mol  $g_{-1}$ ; P < 0.0001). On D4 of shelf life, RW3 by contrast contained significantly more PRO than the other cultivars ( $2.0 \pm 0.5 \mu mol g^{-1}$ ; P < 0.0001; Table 3.3). This compound is known to impart extreme bitterness and is a target for reduction through breeding (Ishida et al., 2014). While concentrations may not be high at the point of harvest, breeding selections should also take into account such possible increases in synthesis postharvest to reduce consumer rejection. PRO is also associated with anti-nutritional properties (Mithen et al., 2000) and efforts should be made to reduce concentrations in rocket cultivars through breeding.

In terms of temporal changes for each cultivar over the shelf life duration, one significant difference was of note: compared to the D0 sample point, D4 and D7 samples of RS4 contained significantly greater concentrations of GRA ( $5.7 \pm 1.1 \mu mol g_{-1}$ ,  $10.6 \pm 0.2 \mu mol g_{-1}$ , and  $11.7 \pm 1.3 \mu mol g_{-1}$ , respectively; P < 0.0001, Table 3.3). This matches observations made by Bell et al. (2017) where shelf life increases in this GSL were also observed for some cultivars.

Despite negligible changes in GSL content between cuts, GHPs saw large and significant increases compared to the first cut. The exact regulatory mechanisms for GHP formation in rocket are largely unknown, but evidence is mounting that it is not purely a spontaneous process of 1:1 conversion of GSLs. It may be that although GSL concentrations may be lower, myrosinase activity can remain higher, and/or actively promote the formation of GHPs; such as through the action of epithiospecifier modifier 1 (ESM1) genes. Myrosinase(s), are a family of enzymes that are responsible for the hydrolysis of glucosinolates to many different compounds such as isothiocyanates, thiocyanates and nitriles. The resulting product from myrosinase activity is dependent on the composition and activity of associated proteins (Kliebenstein et al., 2005). After seeds, myrosinase and glucosinolates concentrations are highest in the leaf tissue, in the "defence theory" having high concentrations in these locations is indicative of the relative importance in defending these areas of the plant (Martin and Müller, 2007). ESM1 has a role in isothiocyanate formation (Angelino and Jeffery, 2014). Although it is not currently clear as to the exact functioning (Zhang et al., 2006), it does seem to suppress nitrile formation by myrosinase in favour of isothiocyanates. It is important to understand how this is controlled under abiotic stress conditions, as it will likely influence the nutritional benefits obtained from leaves.

With the exception of RS8, all cultivar concentrations peaked on D7 further supporting previous reports of this (Bell et al., 2017c). At D0, RS8 produced significantly more SAT ( $8.5 \pm 1.4 \mu mol g_{-1}$ ; P < 0.0001) than the *D. tenuifolia* cultivars; and the highest concentrations overall of any tested sample ( $10.2 \pm 2.0 \mu mol g_{-1}$ ; P < 0.0001, Table 3.3). It is possible that such high concentrations of this compound would greatly increase the pungency of a cultivar, and support the anecdotal observations often made by growers.

#### **3.6.2.5** First cut at 40 °C

RW3 contained significantly less GRM (3.5 µmol g<sup>-1</sup>; P<0.0001), GRA (5 µmol g<sup>-1</sup>; P<0.0001), DGTB (not detected; P<0.0001), and DMB (1.3 µmol g<sup>-1</sup>; P<0.0001) than the *E. sativa* cultivars at D0. In D4 samples, concentrations increased in RW3, however this was significantly lower than RS4 and RS8 for accumulation of GSV ( $1.3 \pm 0.3 \mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>; P<0.0001). At D7, concentrations in RW3 declined, with RS4 and RS8 containing significantly more GRM, DGTB, and GSV (all P<0.0001, Table 3.3). Relative concentrations of GHPs were higher in RW3, particularly at D7, than the relative amounts of GSLs. The trend for the two *E. sativa* cultivars to contain higher abundances was however similar (Figure 3.2). At D4 these contained significantly greater concentrations of SF than both RW2/RW3 (P < 0.0001, Table 3.3), but by D7 there were no significant differences. The retention of SF throughout the shelf life period is an important finding that suggests that potent health-related effects (Sivapalan et al., 2018) may be present in rocket leaves up to a week postharvest, even after the imposition of severe abiotic stress.

#### **3.6.2.6** Second cut at 40 °C

RS8 was the only cultivar tested that survived and regrew under the  $40 \,^{\circ}$ C treatment, and it also contained the highest observed GSL concentrations of any condition or cut (Figure 3.2). While no significant differences between each time point were observed, there is a clear trend for concentrations to increase at D7. This is one of the highest concentrations reported to-date for *E. sativa*, and it is clear that temperature response combined with cut in this cultivar

results in extremely high GSL concentrations postharvest. GHPs however were relatively low (Figure 3.3) with highest abundance at D4 ( $8.0 \pm 1.1 \mu mol g^{-1}$ ). This disparity between GSL and GHP abundances may be suggestive of myrosinase impairment or reduced activity.

#### **3.6.2.7** Cultivar differences between growth temperature treatments

The disparity between rocket species GSL accumulations and GHPs is also evidenced when comparing broadly between growth temperature conditions. Table 3.3 contains the Type III Sum of Squares analysis results and reveals there are fewer significances between growth temperature and cut treatments for *D. tenuifolia* than *E. sativa* cultivars. This suggests that the former species is much less variable in terms of GSLs and GHPs, however (based on the two cultivars tested) is unable to achieve significant changes in health and flavour-related compounds between growth temperatures. This attribute is important however, and better for (potentially) maintaining uniformity of taste and flavour traits between temperature extremes. If the goal is to make rocket species more nutritionally dense, *E. sativa* 

possesses a degree of environmental plasticity in response to different growth temperatures that lends itself well to synthesis of GSLs such as GRA and GER. RS4 and RS8 also produced greater concentrations of SF under each condition and cut, therefore making cultivars more efficacious against chronic diseases than the more commonly consumed *D. tenuifolia*.

Considering the factors contributing to differences in concentrations, *E. sativa* is significantly influenced by temperature, with relatively few compounds affected by the respective interactions between temperature, harvest (cut) and sample point. For RW2 indolic GSL concentrations (4MOB and NGB) were most significantly affected by each factor and their interactions. RW2 by contrast had the most variability for GRA and PRO concentrations. GHPs by contrast (regardless of species) were most significantly influenced by the cut number. This indicates that while total GSLs may not be significantly changed after second cut, GHPs are. This may reflect a change in the expression of respective genes and enzymes regulating hydrolysis rather than those involved in GSL biosynthesis per se, and may give rise to improvements in nutritional quality.

#### **3.6.2.8** Effects of growth temperature on postharvest concentrations

Irrespective of cultivar or species, several significant associations between growth temperature and shelf life concentrations of GSL compounds were found. At D0 GER concentrations were significantly affected by growth temperature (P=0.012), as well as total GHPs (P = 0.027). At D4, two significances were observed for the indolic GSLs GBR (P = 0.001) and 4MOB (P = 0.002). By D7 there were several GSLs and one ITC significantly associated with growth temperature; these were PRO (P < 0.0001), GSV (P = 0.000), 4MOB (P=0.000), and SF (P=0.034), Table 3.3). These data are of particular interest for two reasons: the first is that PRO and GSV are thought to contribute significantly to the taste and flavour profile of rocket leaves (Pasini et al., 2011; Raffo et al., 2018). Their relative increases/decreases over the course of shelf life may therefore alter sensory properties, and conceivably consumer preference (Bell et al., 2017b). The second is that SF is associated with health-related benefits, and therefore cultivars could be improved by selecting for plants able to form greater concentrations later into shelf life (e.g. RS8; Bell, Yahya, et al., 2017).

As presented in (Table 3.3), there were numerous significant interactions between cultivar, cut, and growth temperature, making exact predictions of postharvest concentrations and profiles difficult. It is clear however that growth temperature influences the potential nutritional and sensory status of cultivars, and goes some way to explain the inconsistencies observed by growers and processors between growing regions and cuts of the same cultivar.

### 3.6.3 Principal component analysis

Figure 3.4 shows PCs 1 and 2 of the PCA analysis and explain 40.87 % of the observed variation within the data. PC1 separates predominantly for total GSL content, as well as DGBT, GSV and DMB. PC2 by comparison separates strongly for SAT and total GHP formation. This is of note because it indicates that a high GSL concentration does not necessarily correlate with high GHP formation. To give two examples; first cut D0 RS4 plants grown at 30 °C contained relatively reduced concentrations of GHPs compared to the observed GSLs. Conversely, second cut plants of the same cultivar and temperature saw marked increases in GHP formation relative to GSL

concentration, which was largely unchanged between cuts at this temperature.



**Figure 3.4:** Principal Component Analysis biplot of glucosinolate and hydrolysis product concentrations or rocket cultivars grown at four different growth temperatures. Components PC1 and PC2 are presented and represent 40.87 % of total variation. Blue data points = sample loadings; red data points = glucosinolate and hydrolysis product scores; black diamonds = cultivar, cut, shelf life time point, and temperature centroids. The dotted green ellipse emphasises the clustering of RW2/3 from the salad leaves RS4/8.

PC1 also separates for species (Figure 3.4), as it is clear that the *D*. *tenuifolia* cultivars tested are generally low accumulators of GSLs, and form relatively few GHPs compared to RS4 and RS8. As a proportion of the overall GSL profile, RW2 and RW3 contained greater concentrations of indolic GSLs (such as GBR) as well as PRO (Table 3.2).

As highlighted in previous studies however, concentrations of GSLs/GHPs are not in and of themselves indicators of perceived sensory traits such as pungency; so it may be that the stark differences in the species' profiles may not be reflected in their taste and flavour attributes (Bell et al., 2017a). Other modulating influences such as sugar concentrations may also affect this, so it is therefore important to note that pungency is not indicative of health-related benefits and vice versa. A salad rocket may, for example, be very mild tasting but still potentially contain many fold-higher amounts of GHPs which are masked by other compounds.

# 3.7 Conclusions

This paper has demonstrated the effects of cultivation temperature and multiple harvests on postharvest GSL and GHP concentrations in rocket species. While it has been anecdotally accepted by growers that pungency increases according to the number of cuts a crop receives, very few previous studies have accounted for this common horticultural practice.

Temperate grown crops ( $\sim 20$  °C average outdoor summer temperatures) are often noted for their less pungent aroma and flavour than those from hotter countries (such as Italy, Portugal, and Morocco). Our data show that total GSL concentrations between growth temperatures are not significantly affected, but that it is the abundance of GHPs produced which differs (Figure 3.1). It is clear and unsurprising that growth at 40 °C is detrimental to plant development and regrowth, however it is also apparent that there is a significant increase in GSL biosynthesis, and also SF formation postharvest. Our data also highlight that some *E. sativa* cultivars may be better adapted to growth under extreme temperatures, as RS8 showed remarkable tolerance to the 40 °C treatment, and a propensity for increased SF productions under these conditions. More research will be required to determine if this tolerance is indicative of the species more widely when compared with *D. tenuifolia*.

Rocket crop growth under protected conditions can routinely reach or even exceed 40 °C, especially in summer months in countries such as Italy. With such extremes in temperature likely to increase in future due to climate change, it is important to determine the effects on nutritionally dense crops such as rocket. It is likely under such conditions that yields and production will be reduced, but that the nutritional density of crops may actually increase.

The GSL data presented are in agreement with previous studies of other Brassicaceae species (see Bell and Wagstaff, 2017 for a summary) however few other studies have also analysed GHPs in tandem. Our data suggest that it is incorrect to assume that GHP profiles and abundances are affected in a similar fashion to GSLs under different growth temperatures. Fluctuations in GHP abundance and conversion from GSLs is related to both environment and genotype. This is consistent with observations found in Brassica vegetables, where the concentrations of hydrolysis products is typically much less than the total concentration of the GSL precursors (Hanschen and Schreiner, 2017). GRA conversion to SF varied from 0.9 % (RW2, second cut, D7, 20 °C) to 25.1 % (RS8, second cut, D4, 40 °C); and GSV/DMB conversion to SAT (Fechner et al., 2018) from 1.7 % (RS4, first cut, D7, 20 °C) to 100 % (RW3, first cut, D7, 40 °C) (Table 3.2).

The relative changes in the formation of these compounds between growth temperatures indicates that there is an environmental effect upon myrosinase. This may be in terms of total plant content and/or activity, but the differences observed here between genotypes suggests that this is also as a result of genetic variation. The focus of breeding should therefore shift from selecting cultivars with high GSL concentrations, and more towards those that convert them to GHPs most efficiently. This may involve selection for different myrosinase genotypes, but could also feasibly extend to epithiospecifier modifier proteins, such as ESM1, which promote ITC formation (Angelino and Jeffery, 2014).

There are many factors regulating and inhibiting hydrolysis of GSLs other than nascent myrosinase abundance and activity; such as pH,
temperature, ascorbic acid concentration, and enzyme co-factor presence/absence. While the kinetics of isolated compounds and myrosinase are well understood, it is still unclear how regulatory mechanisms within plant matrices control GHP formation and abundance. It is important to better understand the postharvest hydrolysis of GSLs since any health-related impacts of consuming Brassicaceae foods (such as rocket) will depend greatly upon pre-harvest environment, rather than postharvest storage conditions alone.

### **3.8 References**

Angelino, D., Jeffery, E., 2014. 'Glucosinolate hydrolysis and bioavailability of resulting isothiocyanates: focus on glucoraphanin'. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 7, 67–76. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jff.2013.09.029

Bell, L., Wagstaff, C., 2017. 'Enhancement of glucosinolate and isothiocyanate profiles in Brassicaceae crops: addressing challenges in breeding for cultivation, storage, and consumer related traits'. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 65, 9379–9403. ht tps://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b03628

Bell, L., Wagstaff, C., 2019. 'Rocket science: a review of phytochemical and health-related research in *Eruca* and *Diplotaxis* species'. *Food Chemistry X*, 1, 100002. https://doi.org/10.1016/

#### j.fochx.2018.100002

Bell, L., Oruna-Concha, M.J., Wagstaff, C., 2015. 'Identification and quantification of glucosinolate and flavonol compounds in rocket salad (*Eruca sativa*, *Eruca vesicaria* and *Diplotaxis tenuifolia*) by LC-MS: highlighting the potential for improving nutritional value of rocket crops'. *Food Chemistry*, 172, 852–861. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.09.116

Bell, L., Spadafora, N.D., Müller, C.T., Wagstaff, C., Rogers, H.J., 2016. 'Use of TD-GC–TOF-MS to assess volatile composition during postharvest storage in seven accessions of rocket salad (*Eruca sativa*)'. *Food Chemistry*, 194, 626–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.08.043

Bell, L., Methven, L., Signore, A., Jose Oruna-Concha, M., Wagstaff, C., 2017a. 'Analysis of seven salad rocket (*Eruca sativa*) accessions: the relationships between sensory attributes and volatile and non-volatile compounds'. *Food Chemistry*, 218, 181–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.09.076

Bell, L., Methven, L., Wagstaff, C., 2017b. 'The influence of phytochemical composition and resulting sensory attributes on preference for salad rocket (*Eruca sativa*) accessions by consumers of varying TAS2R38 diplotype'. *Food Chemistry*, 222, 6–17. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.11.153

Bell, L., Yahya, H.N., Oloyede, O.O., Methven, L., Wagstaff, C., 2017c. 'Changes in rocket salad phytochemicals within the commercial supply chain: Glucosinolates, isothiocyanates, amino acids and bacterial load increase significantly after processing'. *Food Chemistry*, 221, 521–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.food chem.2016.11.154

Bennett, R.N., Rosa, E.A.S., Mellon, F.A., Kroon, P.A., 2006. 'Ontogenic profiling of glucosinolates, flavonoids, and other secondary metabolites in *Eruca sativa* (Salad Rocket), *Diplotaxis erucoides* (Wall Rocket), *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* (*Wild Rocket*), and *Bunias orientalis* (Turkish Rocket)'. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54, 4005–4015. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf052756t

Cataldi, T.R.I., Rubino, A., Lelario, F., Bufo, S.A., 2007. 'Naturally occuring glucosinolates in plant extracts of rocket salad (*Eruca sativa L.*) identified by liquid chromatography coupled with negative ion electrospray ionization and quadrupole ion-trap mass spectrometry'. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, 21, 2374–2388. https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm.3101

Chun, J.-H., Kim, S., Arasu, M.V., Al-Dhabi, N.A., Chung, D.Y., Kim, S.-J., 2015. 'Combined effect of Nitrogen, Phosphorus and Potassium fertilizers on the contents of glucosinolates in rocket salad (*Eruca sativa Mill*)'. *Saudi Journal of Biolical Sciences*, 24, 436–443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2015.08.012

Cocetta, G., Mishra, S., Raffaelli, A., Ferrante, A., 2018. 'Effect of heat root stress and high salinity on glucosinolates metabolism in wild rocket'. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 231, 261–270. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2018.10.003

Di Gioia, F., Avato, P., Serio, F., Argentieri, M.P., 2018. 'Glucosinolate profile of *Eruca sativa*, *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* and *Diplotaxis erucoides* grown in soil and soilless systems'. *Journal of Food Analysis*, 69, 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfca .2018.01.022

Fechner, J., Kaufmann, M., Herz, C., Eisenschmidt, D., Lamy, E., Kroh, L.W., Hanschen, F.S., 2018. 'The major glucosinolate hydrolysis product in rocket (*Eruca sativa L.*), sativin, is 1,3-thiazepane-2thione: elucidation of structure, bioactivity, and stability compared to other rocket isothiocyanates'. *Food Chemistry*, 261, 57–65. ht tps://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.04.023

Fimognari, C., Hrelia, P., 2007. 'Sulforaphane as a promising molecule for fighting cancer'. *Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research*, 635, 90–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2006.10.004

Force, L.E., O'Hare, T.J., Wong, L.S., Irving, D.E., 2007. 'Impact of cold storage on glucosinolate levels in seed-sprouts of broccoli, rocket, white radish and kohl-rabi'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 44, 175–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.post harvbio.2006.11.014

Gigolashvili, T., Berger, B., Flügge, U.-I., 2009. 'Specific and coordinated control of indolic and aliphatic glucosinolate biosynthesis by R2R3-MYB transcription factors in *Arabidopsis thaliana*'. *Phytochemical Review*, 8, 3-13, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11101-008-9112-6

Gray, S.B., Brady, S.M., 2016. 'Plant developmental responses to climate change'. *Developmental Biology*, 419, 64–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2016.07.023

Hall, M., Jobling, J.J., Rogers, G.S., 2015. 'Fundamental differences between perennial wall rocket and annual garden rocket influence the commercial year-round supply of these crops'. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 7, 1–7. http://dx.doi.org/10. 5539/jas.v7n3p1

Hanschen, F.S., Schreiner, M., 2017. 'Isothiocyanates, nitriles, and epithionitriles from glucosinolates are affected by genotype and developmental stage in *Brassica oleracea* varieties'. *Frontiers in Plant* 

Science, 8, 1095. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01095

Hayes, J.D., Kelleher, M.O., Eggleston, I.M., 2008. 'The cancer chemopreventive actions of phytochemicals derived from glucosinolates'. *European Journal of Nutrition*, 47, 73–88. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s00394-008-2009-8

Huseby, S., Koprivova, A., Lee, B.-R., Saha, S., Mithen, R., Wold, A.-B., 'Bengtsson, G.B., Kopriva, S., 2013. Diurnal and light regulation of sulphur assimilation and glucosinolate biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis*'. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 64, 1039–1048. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ers378

Ishida, M., Hara, M., Fukino, N., Kakizaki, T., Morimitsu, Y., 2014. 'Glucosinolate metabolism, functionality and breeding for the improvement of *Brassicaceae* vegetables'. *Breeding Science*, 64, 48–59. https://doi.org/10.1270/jsbbs.64.48

Jahangir, M., Abdel-Farid, I.B., Kim, H.K., Choi, Y.H., Verpoorte, R., 2009. 'Healthy and unhealthy plants: the effect of stress on the metabolism of *Brassicaceae*'. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 67, 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexp bot.2009.06.007

Jin, J., Koroleva, O.A., Gibson, T., Swanston, J., Magan, J., Zhang, Y., Rowland, I.R., Wagstaff, C., 2009. 'Analysis of phytochemical composition and chemoprotective capacity of rocket (*Eruca sativa* and *Diplotaxis tenuifolia*) leafy salad following cultivation in different environments'. *Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry*, 57, 5227–5234. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf9002973

Kask, K., Kännaste, A., Talts, E., Copolovici, L., Niinemets, Ü., 2016. 'How specialized volatiles respond to chronic and short-term

physiological and shock heat stress in *Brassica nigra*'. Plant Cell Environ. 39, 2027–2042. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce. 12775

Ku, K.-M., Kim, M.J., Jeffery, E.H., Kang, Y.-H., Juvik, J.A., 2016. 'Profiles of glucosinolates, their hydrolysis products, and quinone reductase inducing activity from 39 arugula (*Eruca sativa mill.*) accessions'. *Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry*, 64, 6524–6532. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.6b02750

Lelario, F., Bianco, G., Bufo, S.A., Cataldi, T.R.I., 2012. 'Establishing the occurrence of major and minor glucosinolates in *Brassicaceae* by LC-ESI-hybrid linear ion-trap and Fourier-transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry'. *Phytochemistry*, 73,74–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2011.09. 010

Liang, H., Lai, B., Yuan, Q., 2008. 'Sulforaphane induces cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis in cultured human lung adenocarcinoma LTEP-A2 cells and retards growth of LTEP-A2 xenografts in vivo'. *Journal of Natural Products*, 71, 1911–1914. https://doi.org/10.1021/np800233q

Luna, M.C., Tudela, J.A., Martínez-Sánchez, A., Allende, A., Marín, A., Gil, M.I., 2012. 'Long-term deficit and excess of irrigation influences quality and browning related enzymes and phenolic metabolism of fresh-cut iceberg lettuce (*Lactuca sativa L.*)'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 73, 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2012.05.011

Malka, S.K., Cheng, Y., 2017. 'Possible interactions between the biosynthetic pathways of indole glucosinolate and auxin'. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8, 2131. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.02131

Martin, N., Müller, C., 2007. 'Induction of plant responses by a sequestering insect: Relationship of glucosinolate concentration and myrosinase activity'. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 8, 13–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2006.02.001

Mithen, R.F., Dekker, M., Verkerk, R., Rabot, S., Johnson, I.T., 2000. 'The nutritional significance, biosynthesis and bioavailability of glucosinolates in human foods'. *Journal of Science Food and Agriculture*, 80, 967–984. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SI CI)1097–0010(20000515)80:7<967::AID-JSFA597> 3.0.CO;2-V

Mostafa, I., Zhu, N., Yoo, M.-J., Balmant, K.M., Misra, B.B., Dufresne, C., Abou-Hashem, M., Chen, S., El-Domiaty, M., 2016. 'New nodes and edges in the glucosinolate molecular network revealed by proteomics and metabolomics of Arabidopsis myb28/29 and cyp79B2/B3 glucosinolate mutants'. *Journal of Proteomics*, 138, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2016.02.012

Mazarakis, N., Snibson, K., Licciardi, P.V., Karagiannis, T.C., 2020. 'The potential use of 1-sulforaphane for the treatment of chronic inflammatory diseases: A review of the clinical evidence'. *Clinical Nutrition*, 39, 664–675. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cl nu.2019.03.022

Nitz, G.M., Schnitzler, W.H., 1995. 'Variation der Glucosinolatgehalte bei den Rucolaarten *Eruca sativa* und *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* in Abhangigkeit des Ernteschnittes'. *Journal of applied botany*, 76, 82–86.

Ntsoane, L.L.M., Soundy, P., Jifon, J., Sivakumar, D., 2016. 'Variety-specific responses of lettuce grown under the different-coloured shade nets on phytochemical quality after postharvest storage'. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, 91, 520–528. ht

tps://doi.org/10.1080/14620316.2016.1178080

Pasini, F., Verardo, V., Cerretani, L., Caboni, M.F., D'Antuono, L.F., 2011. 'Rocket salad (*Diplotaxis* and *Eruca spp.*) sensory analysis and relation with glucosinolate and phenolic content'. *Journal of Science Food and Agriculture*, 91, 2858–2864. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.4535

Proietti, S., Moscatello, S., Colla, G., Battistelli, Y., 2004. 'The effect of growing spinach (*Spinacia oleracea L.*) at two light intensities on the amounts of oxalate, ascorbate and nitrate in their leaves'. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, **79**, **606–609**. https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316.2004.11511814

Raffo, A., Masci, M., Moneta, E., Nicoli, S., Sánchez del Pulgar, J., Paoletti, F., 2018. 'Characterization of volatiles and identification of odor-active compounds of rocket leaves'. *Food Chemistry*, 240, 1161–1170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem .2017.08.009

Schlaeppi, K., Abou-Mansour, E., Buchala, A., Mauch, F., 2010. 'Disease resistance of Arabidopsis to *Phytophthora brassicae* is established by the sequential action of indole glucosinolates and camalexin'. *Plant J*, 62, 840–851. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1365-313X.2010.04197.x

Schöffl, F., Panikulangara, T.J., 2018. *Temperature-regulated Gene* expression. Annual Plant Reviews Online. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, UK, pp. 285–308. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9781119312994.apr0307

Schreiner, M., Krumbein, A., Mewis, I., Ulrichs, C., Huyskens-Keil, S., 2009. 'Short-term and moderate UV-B radiation effects on sec-

ondary plant metabolism in different organs of nasturtium (*Tropae*olum majus L.)'. Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies, 10, 93–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset. 2008.10.001

Sivapalan, T., Melchini, A., Saha, S., Needs, P.W., Traka, M.H., Tapp, H., Dainty, J.R., Mithen, R.F., 2018. 'Bioavailability of glucoraphanin and sulforaphane from High Glucoraphanin Broccoli'. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 1700911. https://do i.org/10.1002/mnfr.201700911

Suslow, T., 2000. *Chlorination in the production and postharvest handling of fresh fruits and vegetables*. In: McLaren, D. (Ed.), Fruit and Vegetable Processing. Food Processing Center at the University of Nebraska, Lincoln, NE, pp. 2–15.

Toledo-Martín, E., Font, R., Obregón-Cano, S., De Haro-Bailón, A., Villatoro-Pulido, M., Del Río-Celestino, M., 2017. 'Rapid and costeffective quantification of glucosinolates and total phenolic content in rocket leaves by Visible/Near-Infrared spectroscopy.' *Molecules*, 22, 851. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22050851

Yahya, H.N., Lignou, S., Wagstaff, C., Bell, L., 2019. 'Changes in bacterial loads, gas composition, volatile organic compounds, and glucosinolates of fresh bagged Ready-To-Eat rocket under different shelf life treatment scenarios'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 148, 107–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharv bio.2018.10.021

Zhang, Z., Ober, J.A., Kliebenstein, D.J., 2006. 'The gene controlling the quantitative trait locus Epithiospecifier Modifier1 alters glucosinolate hydrolysis and insect resistance in Arabidopsis'. *The Plant Cell*, 18, 1524–1536. https://doi.org/10.1105/tp c.105.039602

# **Chapter 4**

# Postharvest changes that occur in ready-to-eat wild rocket in the domestic environment

## 4.1 Background

This paper aims to expand on the work carried out in chapter 3, which examined the preharvest environmental factors of species/cultivar and temperature on the subsequent growth and GSL/GHP content over a typical postharvest storage period. The GSL/GHP content of rocket is an important quality factor as these compounds are critical to the characteristic flavour and aroma of rocket (Bell et al., 2017). Therefore, understanding how these compounds change over time is an primary factor in understanding how rocket quality changes postharvest. By examining several different potential markers of postharvest longevity, a greater understanding of the postharvest changes within rocket leaves was obtained. An intention of this research paper was to develop a method for the automated analysis of visual quality of rocket leaves. Unlike iceberg lettuce, rocket leaves do not have a distinctive postharvest visual disorder that is easily quantifiable, such as enzymatic browning/pinking. There are common disorders such as senescence due to loss of chlorophyll, but this is typically manifested during the growing stage (Koukounaras et al., 2007). However, compared to other crops such as wholehead lettuce or kale, where the leaves are mechanically stronger, baby leaf salads often have textural issues (Saini et al., 2017). Baby leaves, such as rocket, have a relatively high respiration rate that can manifest as excess moisture build-up in the packaging. The "sogginess" is a common complaint from consumers regarding rocket leaves (Chapter 6, Figure 6.3). The result of excess moisture does contribute to the degradation of visual quality but does not necessarily manifest

in a form that is quantifiable in terms of colour, e.g. darkening of leaf tissue.

The method developed to try and overcome these issues involves taking the probability distributions of hue angles for two images that were to be compared (e.g. an image of fresh leaves versus an image on day 20 postharvest) and calculates the distance between these distributions to assess similarity, with the greater the deviation from the score for the fresh image the lower the visual quality. Compared with many older methods of assessing visual appearance by using mean values of point measurements, this method more closely represents how a human assessor views an image as all information is taken into account. One of the key aims of this paper was to evaluate the variation of various postharvest indicators over multiple seasons, as this is often lacking from papers studying markers of shelf life. As food production changes location throughout the year to maintain a steady supply, there are many different changes in how the crop is produced. Furthermore, growing conditions throughout and between seasons can be highly variable. Therefore, for any given marker to be reliable as an indicator or postharvest longevity, it must not be unique to any given growing environment or method.

## 4.2 Contribution to the project

**Jake Jasper**: Data curation, Method Development, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - original draft, Writing review & editing.

**Carol Wagstaff**: Funding acquisition, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing.

Martin Chadwick Writing - original draft.

Stephen Elmore Supervision, Writing - original draft.

Contribution breakdown percentage by each author respectively [70, 20, 5, 5]

The following sections in this chapter have been submitted to Post Harvest Biology and Technology

#### 4.3 Abstract

On-pack dates for RTE rocket salads are by law given as "use-by" in order to protect the consumer from pathogenic microorganisms that may otherwise cause harm to health. These dates are chronologically consistent, usually seven days from the date of packing, and do not reflect any information about the biology of the crop in the pack. A consequence of the current date-labelling approach is that food waste is increased because consumers discard food that is either out of date, or which degrades in appearance before the on-pack date is reached. Discovering markers that can dynamically monitor the in-pack condition of fresh produce such as rocket is, therefore, desirable to reduce food waste, as would be a means of more accurately assessing the potential shelf life of the crop at the point of intake to the packing factory. We assessed quality markers based on imaging, microbiology, sugars, ammonia, nitrates, glucosinolates and their breakdown products throughout an extended shelf life of three independent trials of bagged rocket salad. The trials illustrated the considerable variability that exists between different consignments of the same crop, with the second trial lasting half as long as the other two. Our results demonstrate the potential of absolute concentration of sugars, nitrates and ammonia at intake as potential predictors of shelf life and the potential of ammonia concentration changes to provide real-time dynamic information on the quality of leaf inside the pack. Both approaches will help suppliers, retailers and consumers to accurately assess and predict shelf life, thereby potentially reducing food waste.

## 4.4 Introduction

In the UK, rocket salads are generally consumed as a ready-to-eat (RTE) product and typically have a post-pack life of seven days. The given shelf life (SL) of a product is set to avoid type II errors (false negative) where food is sold that is "injurious to health," or that does not meet the quality expected but is indicated to be otherwise. The date set is a compromise between giving the consumer enough time to eat the product, not exposing the consumer to any microbiological harm, and providing the quality they expect. Type I (false positive) and type II errors are inversely related, as type II errors are minimised, there is a higher chance of food that is accept-

able to be consumed being discarded.

As with all biology, the organism is the product of its genetics and environment, and therefore, many different factors can affect the SL of a product (Chapter 3 3; Siomos and Koukounaras, 2007). It might therefore be expected that the SL would change accordingly, but in spite of the inherent variability of SL the on-pack dates are remarkably consistent and are rarely adjusted irrespective of quality assessment at intake to the packhouse. One of the issues is that processors do not currently have the data required to more accurately predict the "quality" of the crop and, therefore, must be relatively conservative. One of the primary challenges with defining more accurate models of SL is to find robust markers that can be used to measure and predict what the SL for any given consignment should be. With the advance in agricultural sensing technologies, packaging sensors and Internet-of-things devices, far more data are being collected in all parts of the supply chain (Jasper et al., 2021). It is becoming possible for data to inform real-time feedback to, and from, the consumer about the condition of any individual product (Wang et al., 2015). Furthermore, these methods may be useful to retailers who could implement dynamic pricing, which can also reduce food waste (Buisman et al., 2019). When referring to food waste, we are particularly concerned with food available to the consumer that is fit for consumption and does not consider losses in production or typically unconsumed elements such as peel.

Specific data for leafy salads is hard to come by as it is usually incorporated into a larger category when statistics are published – usually fruit and vegetables. However, in 2012, it was estimated that around 20 % of leafy salad purchases ended up as avoidable waste (Quested and Murphy, 2014). Overall, food waste from retailers is estimated to be around 5 % (Welch et al., 2018).

The objective of this study was to identify potential biological markers that could be used to define SL of rocket salad more accurately, to study the variation in markers between seasons and between individual bags, and to use the non-destructive method of RGB imaging to analyse quality. This may enable us to find markers of quality which allow for the continuous monitoring of product throughout SL, providing real time feedback to the consumer which in turn may help to reduce food waste.

## 4.5 Materials and Methods

#### 4.5.1 Plant material

Growing information for each trial is shown in Table 4.1. All plant material (*Eruca Sativa*) were obtained from the central distribution centre within 24 hours of arrival and transported in ambient conditions to The University of Reading. Upon arrival the samples were immediately stored in a walk-in refrigerator at 4 °C in the dark, until analysis. Sixteen replicates were analysed at each timepoint. After sampling the leaves were transferred immediately into a -20 °C freezer.

Frozen leaves were lyophilized in batches for four days. Leaves were then ground into a fine powder using a Wiley Mini Mill (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ, USA) and sieved.

ID	Product	Season	Location	Growing conditions	Time of harvest to packing date (days)	Pack to use-by date on pack (days)	Average temperature in month to harvest (°C)
R1	"Wild Rocket"	Nov 18	Battipaglia - IT	Tunnel	6	7	21
R2	"Wild Rocket"	May 19	Chioggoa, Battipaglia,	Tunnel	6	7	25
R3	"Wild Rocket" 90g	Sep 19	Warwickshire - UK	Tunnel	3	6	18

 Table 4.1: Environmental Variables for rocket leaves grown in Italy (IT) and the United Kingdom (UK)

#### 4.5.2 Imaging and colour analysis

#### 4.5.2.1 Image capture

Images were captured from an RGB camera (Table 4.2) mounted on a tripod inside a custom built light-box. The light-box contained four tube-lights (Phillips TL-D 58W/835). An Xrite Color Passport was placed in shot to allow for colour correction. Images were captured in the raw format. Leaves were placed on the background with two centimetres around of space between leaves to aid with background extraction, and the leaves were arranged so they filled the camera's field of view which was typically around 20 leaves (Appendix Figure 4.13).

Variable	Value	
Camera	Canon G9x mk2	
Shooting mode	Manual	
ISO	200	
Picture mode	Neutral	
Aperture size	5.6	
Exposure time	1/80	
Focus range	Macro	
White balance	Custom	

 Table 4.2: Camera settings

#### 4.5.2.2 Image processing and colour statistics

Raw images were processed in RawTherapee (v5.7). Each image contained an x-rite ColorChecker Passport Photo 2 (Michigan, USA), which was used to adjust the colour of the images with reference to a master image to ensure colour constancy between images. Adjusted images were then exported with no compression as png file type.

Colour statistics were calculated from individual leaves within each

image by a custom Python (v3.6) script utilising the packages PlantCV (v3.0) and scikit-image (v0.16.2).

#### 4.5.3 Extraction and quantification of ammonia

Fifty milligrams of milled lyophilized plant material was added to 1 mL of deionised water. The mixture was then sonicated at ambient temperature (22 °C) for 30 minutes prior to centrifugation for 15 minutes (16,050 x g, ambient temperature). The supernatant was then filtered through a 0.45  $\mu$ m syringe filter (Cole-Parmer) before ammonia analysis. The same extract was used for nitrate and nitrite determination (section 4.5.7).

Ammonia was quantified by enzymatic determination through reaction with  $\alpha$ -ketoglutaric acid (KGA) and reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) in the presence of L-glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH) (Merck). GDH reacts specifically with ammonia to form L-glutamate and oxidized nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP+) products. The oxidation of NADPH, which is proportional to the ammonia concentration was measured by absorbance in triplicate at 340 nm using a Jenway 6315 spectrometer (Stone, UK).

#### 4.5.4 Enumeration of aerobic bacteria

Samples for microbial analysis were taken and analysed immediately after imaging. Enumeration of aerobic bacteria was carried out using 3M's Petrifilm Aerobic count plates (3M, St Paul, MN, USA). Ten grams of leaves were added to 90 mL of sterile 0.85% w/w Maximum Recovery Diluent (Merck) and then homogenized in a Stomacher 400 (Seaward, UK) for 1 minute at 260 rpm as presented by Wood et al., (2015). Ten-fold serial dilutions of the homogenate were plated onto Petrifilm plates then allowed to incubate for 48 hours at 30 °C before the colonies were counted.

## 4.5.5 Extraction and quantification of chlorophyll A, B and total carotenoids

Fifty milligrams of milled lyophilized material was added to 1 mL of Dimethylformamide (DMF) anhydrous (Merck) and stored in the dark at 4 °C for 48 hours before filtering through a syringe filter

(0.45  $\mu$ m) into fresh Eppendorf tubes. Samples were diluted by combining 4 mL of DMF with 1 mL of sample and pipetted into BRAND UV semi-micro cuvettes (Merck) prior to measurement. Each samples absorbance were measured at wavelengths: 480, 647, 664 nm using a Jenway 6315 spectrometer, each sample was measured in triplicate. Quantification was carried out using formula presented by Wellburn (1994).

#### 4.5.6 Determination of Glucose, Fructose and Sucrose

Free monosaccharides were extracted according to the method presented by Bell et al. (2017), with the exception that 20 mg of lyophilized leaf powder was extracted. Extracts were analysed on an Agilent 1100 series HPLC system equipped with a binary pump, degasser, and auto-sampler, with an external column heater (30 °C). A Bio-Rad Aminex HPX-87H (300 × 7.8 mm, 9  $\mu$ m particle size) column with a Micro-Guard Cation H guard column (Bio-Rad, Watford, United Kingdom) was used to achieve separation with an isocratic gradient of 5 mM sulfuric acid, and a flow rate of 0.3 mL per min. A Polymer Laboratories ERC-7515 refractive index detector (Church Stretton, United Kingdom) was used to detect monosaccharides. Compounds were quantified using authentic standards and analyzed with Agilent ChemStation software (Santa Clara, CA, United States).

#### 4.5.7 Determination of Nitrite and Nitrate

Extractions were prepared as described in section 4.5.3 above. Samples were diluted 1/100 prior to analysis for nitrate and nitrite concentration. The analysis of samples was carried out as described in Kramkowski et al. (2017). Briefly, the method uses HPLC to separate nitrate and nitrite from the sample on a NO-PAK column (Eicom). Nitrate is then reduced to nitrite on a NO-RED column (Eicom), after which the nitrite reacts with a Greiss reagent to form a light absorbing compound which is then detected at 540 nm using a DAD detector. The HPLC system used Eicom's ENO-30. The flow rate of the carrier solution was 0.33 mL.min<sup>-1</sup> and 0.1 mL.min<sup>-1</sup> for the reactor solution. The column temp was set to 35 °C and the run time was 8 minutes. Compounds were quantified using authentic standards.

#### 4.5.8 Determination of Glucosinolates and Isothiocyanates

The extraction and analysis was identical to that of Jasper et al., (2020). Only compounds for which external standards were obtained are reported.

#### 4.5.9 Visual Quality

Visual quality was determined by visually assessing each image and categorising each image as good, marginal or poor quality based on the interpretation of the researcher (Appendix Figure 4.10), where good quality exhibited no yellowing and less than 5 % damage. Discoloured tissue was determined visually with reference to the HSV (hue, saturation, value) colour space, damaged tissue values around [90,0:100,20]. The visual assessment did not take place on the same day as sampling, rather the images were assessed during the analysis. Marginal quality exhibited minimal yellowing, less than 10 % leaves damaged and minimal moisture build-up on leaves. Unsatisfactory quality was anything in excess of marginal quality in terms of yellowing and moisture accumulation.

#### 4.5.10 Statistical analysis

Ordinary least Squares analyses of all data were performed using statsmodels v0.12.2 (Seabold and Perktold, 2010). Each respective analysis was conducted with a post hoc Tukey's Honest Significance Difference (HSD) test (p < 0.05). To compare the differences between the hue distributions of each image, the Hellinger distance was used, which compares probability distributions. The formula used is shown in equation 4.1

$$h(image1, image2) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \cdot ||\sqrt{image1} - \sqrt{image2}||_2 \qquad (4.1)$$

Where *image*1 and *image*2 are the hue distributions of the respective images

## 4.6 Results and Discussion

Three independent trials were conducted R1 (Italy), R2 (Italy) and R3 (UK), all using protected tunnels (Table 4.1). For both R1 and R3, the trials continued to the end of the planned three weeks. However, R2 deteriorated very quickly after the first week and at 14 days the leaves had severely degraded and became impractical to image and therefore the trial was stopped.

**Table 4.3:** The proportion of samples designated as good, marginal or poor for all rocket leaves assessed visually. R1, R2 and R3 are three seperate batches of commercial RTE ricket grown in Italy (Nov 18), Italy (May 19) and the UK (Sep 19). For each batch there were 96 samples in total with 16 randomlly selected samples for analysis at each time point.

Trial	Day post-pack	Visual Quality (Good:Marginal:Poor)%
R1	2	100:0:0
	6	100:0:0
	9	100:0:0
	13	100:0:0
	16	94:6:0
	23	25:56:19
R2	2	100:0:0
	5	87:13:0
	9	87:13:0
	12	0:0:100
R3	1	94:6:0
	4	94:6:0
	8	100:0:0
	11	81:19:0
	15	63:37:0
	21	13:25:62

From visual inspection (Table 4.3), the first trial R1 did not reach the point where the majority of the samples were classified as unsatisfactory. Both R2 and R3 had the majority of samples classified as unsatisfactory at the final time-point. Within the time-period that is typical for a RTE rocket salad ( $\sim$  7 days) there were no samples that were classified as poor. However, it is known many consumers (Lyndhurst, 2008) do not rely solely on use-by dates in their decision making process for consuming or discarding a product. It is known that many consumers use visual appearance as their primary consideration when considering the quality of leafy salad (van der Laan et al., 2011) and therefore will potentially consume a product after the manufactures use-by date.



4.6.1 Visual quality by analysis of images

(a) R1



**(b)** R2





**Figure 4.1:** Histogram comparisons of normalised spectral data using Hellinger distance. Plots a, b and c are three independent trials grown in Italy (November 2018), Italy (May 2019) and the UK (September 2019). On the primary axis each boxplot represents the analysis of images at different time points. The average of each image taken throughout each trial was compared with the average image taken at intake to calculate the difference between the extracted hue histograms. The greater the distance, the bigger the difference in colour between two images. The coloured point markers within each plot indicate a significant difference in the mean distance of the hue histograms measured at each time point where p <0.05. The secondary plots for each a,b,c are examples of the hue histograms at the indicated timepoints. For example, in R1, from day nine onwards all the point markers are red which means there are no significant difference between these timepoints, but they are all different from day two which has black point markers. For each time point in each plot n = 16. The leaves above the primary axis are representative images from each time point with the visual quality score represented by the dark-blue (good), light-blue (marginal), red (poor) bars next to the image.

There were no significant changes in the mean hue values for any trial (R1-R3) at any time point. When measuring every pixel in each leaf, the overwhelming majority of hues were the same value, as can be seen by the relatively narrow range of the histograms in (Figure 4.1). Given that there was also no difference over SL for chlorophyll measurements (Figure 4.2) it followed that there would not be a significant change in the mean colour of the leaves. Areas where there was clear deterioration only represented a small number of pixels, and therefore, have a small or no impact on the mean (Appendix Figure 4.12). Upon visual inspection (Table 4.3) it is clear that degradation did occur, but this was not captured by the mean or median values.

Comparing the histograms of hue values allows for smaller differences in colour to be accounted for. Histogram comparisons have been used in plant imaging for the detection of disease (Ali et al., 2017), water stress (Kim et al., 2015) and general leaf recognition (Munisami et al., 2015), but not for quality comparison in SL studies. The results show that over the postharvest period the colour of the leaves does change significantly from intake as distance between the hue histograms increase, this is most notable in (Figure 4.3, b) which had the most severe degradation.

These results demonstrate that given a reference image for comparison, the change in quality can be monitored non-destructively. Given enough data regarding the pre-harvest conditions and consumer preferences this method may be used to model the rate of deterioration and predict when the consumer will reject the product.

#### 4.6.2 Chlorophyll

It is chlorophyll or the degradation of, that is primarily responsible for the colour of rocket leaves. Therefore, if there were to be any significant changes in the visual appearance, it may be expected that there would be a change in the concentration of chlorophyll over postharvest storage, which could be quantified by measuring green pixels with image analysis.



**Figure 4.2:** The changes in total chlorophyll over time for rocket leaves stored at 4 °C. There were no significant differences between any time points for any trial (p < 0.05) represented by no differences in the colour of point markers within each box plot. For each time point n=16.

There was no difference between the chlorophyll concentration of samples at any point for any trial. These results show that the visible differences were not due to the degradation of chlorophyll which is often cited as a reason for colour change (Yamauchi and Watada, 1991; Koukounaras et al., 2009). Although the concentration of chlorophyll within leaves did not change throughout SL, it can be observed that samples with the highest concentration (R3) also had the highest mean hue value (Figure 4.1, c). There are many factors that can influence chlorophyll concentration including genetics, growing and storage conditions. However, from these data the chlorophyll content measured in each trial was relatively similar with R3 having a slightly higher concentration than R1 which was also reflected in the mean hue angle (Figure 4.1, a). It is notable that

the chlorophyll concentration is much less variable in R1 than both R2 and R3. There were no changes in the abundance of chlorophyll over the post harvest period from these trials, but the variance of chlorophyll between samples may be a proxy indicator of the growing conditions and subsequent postharvest longevity. The trial with the least variation in chlorophyll (R1) also had the least change in visual quality, and the inverse was true for R2.

#### 4.6.3 Aerobic Colony Count and shelf life

Aerobic Colony Count (ACC) is a relatively general microbial test and, as such, is carried out for many different food items. Although it is not a measure of product safety, it is helpful to give an indication of the overall contamination of the product. It is often used as an indicator of quality, whereby an unsatisfactory result ( $10^6 - 10^7$  cfu.g<sup>-1</sup>) may indicate that there are sub-optimal conditions in the supply chain (Health Protection Agency., 2009). Given that microorganisms can be responsible for the spoilage of leafy salads and affect visual quality, ACC may be a useful early predictor. Without a measure of microbial status, it is not possible to fully appreciate
the extent of any given indicator of postharvest life.



**Figure 4.3:** The changes in Aerobic Colony Count measured in rocket leaves throughout shelf life stored at 4 °C. Differences in colour for points represent statistical significance for the mean at each time point where p <0.05. The dotted horizontal lines represents  $10^7$  cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> which is typically the upper threshold when referring to satisfactory and unsatisfactory quality. For all time points n=16.

Upon intake, all samples were in a range that would be considered satisfactory for ACC (Figure 4.3), which depending on the product and specification, is typically less than 10<sup>7</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> (Health Protection Agency, 2009; Calonica et al., 2019). From visual inspection, samples did not become visually poor until the ACC was greater than 10<sup>13</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup>, which is far higher than is recommended as a quality standard. With the exception of R2, it was typically one week after the products given use-by date that leaves became visually poor (Table 4.3). However, with R2, which arrived with a similar mean ACC as R3, the deterioration was much faster leading to the trial being stopped earlier than planned. These data show that the initial

bacterial load is not sufficient to predict subsequent growth, and the preharvest, along with supply chain conditions need to be taken into consideration for predicting microbial load.

#### 4.6.4 Nitrates

Rocket is well known as a hyper-accumulator of nitrate, and there are legally defined limits for the concentration of nitrates in EU legislation (1258/2011, 2011). Along with glucosinolates, nitrates are a primary consideration when considering the nutritional quality of rocket leaves (Cavaiuolo and Ferrante, 2014). Furthermore, it has been reported that under high nitrogen availability, cell wall stability declines and cell nitrate content increases (Darlison et al., 2019). Therefore cell nitrate content may give an indication of the postharvest robustness of rocket leaves. Although there are many studies evaluating nitrates from a pre-harvest perspective (Kim et al., 2015; Signore et al., 2020) there are very few that look at the changes postharvest.



**Figure 4.4:** The changes in nitrate over time for rocket leaves stored at 4 °C. Differences in colour for points represent statistical significance for the mean at each time point where p < 0.05. For all time points n=16.

Nitrate concentrations were highly variable between trials, but were stable over storage. These results are in agreement with (Kyriacou et al., 2019) where samples that were grown in the winter (R1) and Autumn (R3) had higher levels of nitrate than those grown in the summer (R2) and they also found that nitrate did not significantly change over SL. The data from this study and Kyriacou et al. (2019) suggest that preharvest conditions are the primary concern when determining the nitrate content of rocket leaves. As R2 had the lowest overall nitrate content, it is less likely that the cause of the severe degredation is due to cell wall degredation as a result of high osmotic pressure, if this was the case, R1 may be expected to exhibit the most degredation. However, the relatively low nitrate concentration may be an indicator of sub-optimal growing conditions. Although,

as the chlorophyll levels were not affected by the relatively low nitrate, which is a commonly attributed defect with low nitrate crops (Miras-Moreno et al., 2020), the mechanism as to why a low nitrate crop would degrade quicker is difficult to identify without further research.





**Figure 4.5:** The changes in total sugars (Glucose, Fructose and Sucrose) over time for rocket leaves stored at 4 °C. Differences in colour for points represent statistical significance for the mean at each time point where p < 0.05. For all time points n=16.

Glucose, Fructose, and Sucrose were very highly correlated (Appendix Tables: 4.4, 4.5, 4.6), and therefore the sum (Total sugars) will only be addressed (Figure 4.5). R1 was the only trial with a significant change over SL, where there was a loss of  $1.7 \pm 0.53$  mg per day of storage. The further trials (R2 and R3) were stable over the storage period. The data suggest that monitoring the change in con-

centration of sugars or total sugars is not a good indicator of quality, since a change in sugar concentration does not always correlate with a change in leaf quality on the basis of appearance. However, the absolute concentration of total sugars at intake may well be indicative of future postharvest performance. In our experiments, R2, which had the lowest concentrations at the start of the experiment, deteriorated far quicker than R1 and R3, which had comparable sugar concentrations approximately three fold higher than R2 at the start of the experiment. Even at the final timepoint R1 sugar concentration was two times higher than the first R2 timepoint and R3 remained three times higher throughout. The relatively low total sugar concentrations in R2 may be diagnostic of poor storage conditions in the prior supply chain, whereby the crop has been held at sub-optimal temperatures, increasing respiration (Koukounaras et al., 2007). These data indicate that the leaves may have a minimum threshold of total sugars required to maintain postharvest quality throughout shelf life. Although dynamic changes in total sugars concentrations may not a useful marker of quality, it may be that sugars give an indication of pre harvest nutrition which, in turn, may be useful in assessing the SL potential of the crop.

#### 4.6.6 Ammonia



**Figure 4.6:** The changes in ammonia over time for rocket leaves stored at 4 °C. Differences in colour for points represent statistical significance for the mean at each time point where p < 0.05. For all time points n=16.

Ammonia levels in R1 significantly increased over the first two weeks of SL, and then plateaued, whereas in both subsequent trials concentrations were constant throughout SL. Ammonia, has been associated with changes in colour (Mastrandrea et al., 2016), although the results were more compelling at temperatures greater than 5 °C. The data here do not show any relationship between any measure of visual quality and ammonia. There was a significant (p <0.0001) negative correlation (R = -0.58) between total sugars (Figure 4.5) and ammonia (Appendix Figure 4.9). It has been reported that an increase in ammonia in rocket leaves is due to a decrease in activity of glutamine synthetase, an enzyme which assimilates ammonia in protein metabolism (Mastrandrea, Amodio and Cantwell, 2016). Precursors for glutamine come from the Citric Acid Cycle (Sanderson et al., 2010), so it follows that an increase in sugar metabolism may have a subsequent increase in ammonia when the regulatory pathways for its removal have been disrupted by harvest (Commichau, Forchhammer and Stülke, 2006). However, no previous studies have considered a link between ammonia and sugar content with respect to postharvest disorders. Of the three trials R2 had the highest concentration of ammonia, the lowest concentration of nitrate, and was the fastest to deteriorate. These data add further evidence that ammonia may be a viable marker for quality when considering the overall concentration.

## 4.6.7 Glucosinolates (GSLs) and Glucosinolate hydrolysis products (GHPs)

Between all three trials, there was a high level of variance between GSLs, with a fortyfold difference between R1 and R2. However, similar results have been found in previous studies (Bennett et al., 2007; Hall et al., 2015). Many different variables are known to influence GSL concentrations, including environmental conditions, agro-

nomic practice, cut and stress (Villarreal-García et al., 2016). As the GSLs and subsequent breakdown products are desirable from a nutritional perspective, there has been a great deal of effort to increase these compounds (Del Carmen Martínez-Ballesta et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2015) and inducing a stress effect is often effective, although it does seem to depend on which GSL is measured as to whether the stress increases or decreases the GSL (Cocetta et al., 2018). The relatively large difference between R2 and R1/R3 may be influenced by increased stress, consistent with the severely reduced postharvest life compared with the other trials and may further indicate suboptimal supply chain conditions.



**Figure 4.7:** The changes in total glucosinolates over time for rocket leaves stored at 4 °C. Differences in colour for points represent statistical significance for the mean at each time point where p <0.05. For R1 and R3 at all time points n=16, For R2 n=[16,4,4].



**Figure 4.8:** The changes in total Isothiocyanates over time for rocket leaves stored at 4  $^{\circ}$ C. Differences in colour for points represent statistical significance for the mean at each time point where p <0.05. For R1 and R3 at all time points n=16, For R2 n=[6,3,1].

Between all three trials, there was a high level of variance between GSLs, with a fortyfold difference between R1 and R2. However, similar results have been found in previous studies (Bennett et al., 2007; Hall et al., 2015). Many different variables are known to influence GSL concentrations, including environmental conditions, agronomic practice, cut and stress (Villarreal-García et al., 2016). As the GSLs and subsequent breakdown products are desirable from a nutritional perspective, there has been a great deal of effort to increase these compounds (Del Carmen Martínez-Ballesta et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2015) and inducing a stress effect is often effective, although it does seem to depend on which GSL is measured as to whether the stress increases or decreases the GSL (Cocetta et al., 2018). The relatively large difference between R2 and R1/R3 may

be influenced by increased stress, consistent with the severely reduced postharvest life compared with the other trials and may further indicate sub-optimal supply chain conditions. Although there were large differences in GSL concentrations between trials, there was no clear correlation with the subsequent breakdown products. It may be expected that there would be a high correlation between the concentration of precursor (GSL) and subsequent breakdown product (GHP), although with a time delay and the degree of conversion dependent on myrosinase. However, R2 had 40x more GSL than R1 but had comparable concentrations of GHP. The disparity between GSL and GHP concentration was also found by (Jasper et al., 2020), where crops grown at a higher temperature accumulated a higher concentration of GSLs but had a relatively low GHP concentration compared to crops grown at lower temperatures. The discrepancy between GSLs and GHP may be indicative of impairment to myrosinase, particularly when considering R2. The ratio of GSL to GHP may add further evidence that the crop had sustained damage, possible elevated temperatures prior to arrival at the retailer.

In all three trials, of the GSLs detected, glucoraphanin (GRP) was

predominant and represented 65-97 % of the total GSLs by weight. Sulforaphane was the only glucosinolate breakdown product to be detected in all samples. This was not particularly suprising considering that GRP was the most abundant GSL, accounting for 70-100 % of total GHPs detected. GRP is the direct precursor to sulforphane and is produced by the enzyme myrosinase upon disruption of the cellular structure (Gu, Guo and Gu, 2012). Sativin was also detected in trials R2 and R3, as with sulforphane, there were only significant differences in R3 where there was a decline over the first three time points (p <0.001) whereafter there was no significant change until the final time point.

The composition of compounds within salad leaves are highly variable, and GSLs in brassicas are no exception, depending on many different factors such as, cultivar (Bell et al., 2017) and preharvest conditions (Hall et al., 2015; Jasper et al., 2020). The overall trend of the data is that glucosinolates decrease over SL (Figure 4.8), these findings are in contrast to those observed by (Bell et al., 2017; Hall et al., 2015). However, we did observe instances of GSLs increasing over SL such as progoitrin, epiprogoitrin, 4-hydroxyglucobrassicin and glucotropaeolin (data not included), but as they are in relatively low abundances they had little impact on the overall trend.

Although, there were large differences between the abundance of [GSLs/GRA] between trials, this was not reflected in the corresponding sulforaphane concentrations which were relatively consistent with a decline over the postharvest period. The implication of this is that sulforophane may be a reliable marker of SL and quality. GSLs, and their subsequent breakdown products, are of often remarked for their health benefits (Traka and Mithen, 2009). The data presented here show that these health promoting compounds are reduced over SL. However, as the data also show, the change over SL is much lower than the variance between trials, and as such the preharvest factors are more important in determining the abundances of potential health promoting compounds.

### 4.7 Conclusion

Many different compounds, have been tested for potential markers of quality, but as we have demonstrated, almost all of these markers are more variable between trials than over SL within a trial. Of all the variables measured, ACC had the highest correlation with visual quality (Appendix Figure 4.11) which has been determined previously (Martínez-Sánchez et al., 2006; Wieczynska et al., 2016). It was clear that R2 provided a better growth environment for aerobic microorganisms, evidenced by the growth rate. However, for R2, there were no significant changes in any other variables than ACC over the postharvest period providing no evidence that microorganisms influenced any of the variables for this trial. It is well known that micro-organisms are related to the spoilage of leafy vegetables and contribute to a slimy/watery appearance (Jasper et al., 2021). However, from these results, it is unclear as to the direct impact of microorganisms on any of the biochemicals assessed.

In the trial that had the most severe degradation (R2), there were relatively low sugars and relatively high ammonia concentrations, when compared with other trials , which may be indicative of a crop with a low SL potential. It is known that a more stressed plant will produce less chlorophyll (Helena et al., 2017) which may explain help to explain some of the findings for R2, where it is suspected the growing conditions may have been sub-optimal. Whilst it is not clear if any single marker, or combination of markers will reliably be able to predict the time a product will take to degrade. There are measurements that may have given a clue as to the longevity of the product. R2, which had a relatively low abundance of sugars and nitrate and a high concentration of ammonia, may have given a predictive indication that the crop would degrade quicker than average, which would allow retailers and suppliers to adjust their SL accordingly providing there were no safety implications. However, further repetitions and data collection are required to confirm these findings and once reliable predictions can be made, with respect to SL of product under static conditions. To understand how the dynamic conditions of the supply chain and consumer handling of the product affects SL data need to be obtained dynamically which will allow the assumptions of models to be updated and more accurate SL predictions to be given and waste caused by on-pack dates to be reduced.

## 4.8 Appendix



**Figure 4.9:** A scatterplot showing the relationship between Total soluble sugars and ammonia in ready-to-eat rocket leaves stored at 4  $^{\circ}$ C. The shaded area represents the 95 % confidence interval. These data were taken R3 and n=96.



No sign of yellowing, and < 5% leaves damaged.

Minimal yellowing, and < 10% leaves damaged. Minimal moisture on leaves

Clearly unnaceptable. Lot's of decay;moisture on the leaves. Greater than 10% leaves damaged

Figure 4.10: Quality guide used to visually assess rocket leaves for trials R1, R2 and R3.

209

Trial 1 (R1)	Glucose	Fructose	Sucrose	Total
Glucose		0.63, <0.001	0.5, <0.001	0.87, <0.001
Fructose	0.63, <0.001		0.6, <0.001	0.87, <0.001
Sucrose	0.5, <0.001	0.6, <0.001		0.76, <0.001

 Table 4.4: Pearson correlation and p-value for sugars extracted from rocket leaves (R1).

Table 4.5: Pearson correlation and p-value for sugars extracted from rocket leaves (R2).

Trial 2 (R2)	Glucose	Fructose	Sucrose	Total
Glucose		0.68, <0.001	0.76, <0.001	0.93, <0.001
Fructose	0.68, <0.001		0.41, <0.02	0.87, <0.001
Sucrose	0.76, <0.001	0.41, <0.02		0.76, <0.001

Trial 3 (R3)	Glucose	Fructose	Sucrose	Total
Glucose		0.78, <0.001	0.3, <0.003	0.85, <0.001
Fructose	0.78, <0.001		0.3, <0.003	0.89, <0.001
Sucrose	0.3, <0.003	0.3, <0.003		0.61, <0.001

 Table 4.6: Pearson correlation and p-value for sugars extracted from rocket leaves (R3).



**Figure 4.11:** A heatmap showing the correlation of pooled data across the three trials - R1, R2, and R3



**Figure 4.12:** A comparison of the top 20 colours (by percentage) of two representative leaves from R3 taken at different time points. The mean hue for each is 77.7 and 75.5 for days 1 and 20 respectively



Figure 4.13: [

An example of the image capture of rocket leaves.]An example of the image capture of rocket leaves.

## 4.9 References

Ali, H., Lali, M.I., Nawaz, M.Z., Sharif, M., Saleem, B.A., 2017. 'Symptom based automated detection of citrus diseases using color histogram and textural descriptors'. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 138, 92–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. compag.2017.04.008

Amending Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 as regards maximum levels for nitrates in foodstuffs, 1258/2011, 2011. URL: https: //eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ. do?uri=OJ:L:2011:320:0015:0017:EN:PDF (Accessed: 14/4/2021) Bell, L., Methven, L., Signore, A., Jose Oruna-Concha, M., Wagstaff, C., 2017. 'Analysis of seven salad rocket (*Eruca sativa*) accessions: the relationships between sensory attributes and volatile and non-volatile compounds'. *Food Chemistry*, 218, 181–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.09.076

Bennett, R.N., Carvalho, R., Mellon, F.A., Eagles, J., Rosa, E.A.S., 2007. 'Identification and quantification of glucosinolates in sprouts derived from seeds of wild *Eruca sativa L*. (Salad Rocket) and *Diplotaxis tenuifolia L*. (Wild Rocket) from diverse geographical locations'. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemisty*, 55, 67–74. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf061997d

Buisman, M.E., Haijema, R., Bloemhof-Ruwaard, J.M., 2019. 'Discounting and dynamic shelf life to reduce fresh food waste at retailers'. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 209, 274–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.07.016

Calonica, C., Delfino, V., Pesavento, G., Mundo, M., Antonella Lo Nostro, 2019. 'Microbiological quality of ready-to-eat salads from processing plant to the consumers'. *Journal of Food and Nutrition Research*, 7, 427–434. https://doi.org/10.12691/jfnr -7-6-3

Cavaiuolo, M., Ferrante, A., 2014. 'Nitrates and glucosinolates as strong determinants of the nutritional quality in rocket leafy salads'. *Nutrients*, 6, 1519–1538. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu 6041519

Cocetta, G., Mishra, S., Raffaelli, A., Ferrante, A., 2018. 'Effect of heat root stress and high salinity on glucosinolates metabolism in wild rocket'. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 231, 261–270. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2018.10.003 Commichau, F.M., Forchhammer, K., Stülke, J., 2006. 'Regulatory links between carbon and nitrogen metabolism'. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 9, 167–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mib.2006.01.001

Darlison, J., Mogren, L., Rosberg, A.K., Grudén, M., Minet, A., Liné, C., Mieli, M., Bengtsson, T., Håkansson, Å., Uhlig, E., Becher, P.G., Karlsson, M., Alsanius, B.W., 2019. 'Leaf mineral content govern microbial community structure in the phyllosphere of spinach (*Spinacia oleracea*) and rocket (*Diplotaxis tenuifolia*)'. *Science of The Total Environment*, 675, 501–512. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2019.04.254

Del Carmen Martínez-Ballesta, M., Moreno, D.A., Carvajal, M., 2013. 'The physiological importance of glucosinolates on plant response to abiotic stress in brassica'. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 14, 11607–11625. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms140611607

Gu, Z., Guo, Q., Gu, Y., 2012. 'Factors influencing glucoraphanin and sulforaphane formation in brassica plants: A review'. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 11, 1804–1816.https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(12)60185-3

Hall, M.K.D., Jobling, J.J., Rogers, G.S., 2015. 'Variations in the most abundant types of glucosinolates found in the leaves of baby leaf rocket under typical commercial conditions'. *Journal of Science Food and Agriculture*. 95, 552–559. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.6774

Health Protection Agency., 2009. *Guidelines for assessing the microbiological safety of ready-to-eat foods*. URL: https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk(Accessed: 02/10/2019)

Helena, H., František, H., Jaroslava, M., Kamil, K., 2017. 'Effects of salt stress on water status, photosynthesis and chlorophyll fluorescence of rocket'. *Plant Soil and Environment*, 63, 362–367. https://doi.org/10.17221/398/2017-PSE

Jasper, J., Elmore, J.S., Wagstaff, C., 2021. 'Determining the quality of leafy salads: Past, present and future'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 180, 111630. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2021.111630

Jasper, J., Wagstaff, C., Bell, L., 2020. 'Growth temperature influences postharvest glucosinolate concentrations and hydrolysis product formation in first and second cuts of rocket salad'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 163, 111157. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.postharvbio.2020.111157

Kim, D.M., Zhang, H., Zhou, H., Du, T., Wu, Q., Mockler, T.C., Berezin, M.Y., 2015. 'Highly sensitive image-derived indices of water-stressed plants using hyperspectral imaging in SWIR and histogram analysis'. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 15919. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep15919

Koukounaras, A., Siomos, A.S., Sfakiotakis, E., 2007. 'Postharvest CO<sub>2</sub> and ethylene production and quality of rocket (*Eruca sativa Mill.*) leaves as affected by leaf age and storage temperature'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 46, 167–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2007.04.007

Kramkowski, K., Leszczynska, A., Przyborowski, K., Proniewski, B., Marcinczyk, N., Rykaczewska, U., Jarmoc, D., Chabielska, E., Chlopicki, S., 2017. 'Short-term treatment with nitrate is not sufficient to induce in vivo antithrombotic effects in rats and mice'. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 390, 85–94. ht tps://doi.org/10.1007/s00210-016-1308-5

Kyriacou, M.C., Soteriou, G.A., Colla, G., Rouphael, Y., 2019. 'The occurrence of nitrate and nitrite in Mediterranean fresh salad vegetables and its modulation by preharvest practices and postharvest conditions'. *Food Chemistry*, 285, 468–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.02.001

Lyndhurst, B., 2008. Research into consumer behaviour in relation to food dates and portion sizes. URL: https://wrap.org.u k/resources/report/research-consumer-behav iour-relation-food-dates-and-portion-sizes, (Accessed: 13/6/2019)

Martínez-Sánchez, A., Marín, A., Llorach, R., Ferreres, F., Gil, M.I., 2006. 'Controlled atmosphere preserves quality and phytonutrients in wild rocket (*Diplotaxis tenuifolia*)'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 40, 26–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. postharvbio.2005.12.015

Mastrandrea, L., Amodio, M.L., Cantwell, M.I., 2016. 'Modeling ammonia accumulation and color changes of arugula (*Diplotaxis tenuifolia*) leaves in relation to temperature, storage time and cultivar'. *Acta Horticulture* 275–282. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2016.1141.34

McKellar, R.C., LeBlanc, D.I., Lu, J., Delaquis, P., 2012. 'Simulation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 behavior in fresh-cut lettuce under dynamic temperature conditions during distribution from processing to retail'. *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, 9, 239–244. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2011.1025

Mills, C.E., Govoni, V., Faconti, L., Casagrande, M., Morant, S.V., Crickmore, H., Iqbal, F., Maskell, P., Masani, A., Nanino, E., Webb, A.J., Cruickshank, J.K., 2020. 'A randomised, factorial trial to reduce arterial stiffness independently of blood pressure: Proof of concept? The VaSera trial testing dietary nitrate and spironolactone'. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 86, 891-902. https: //doi.org/10.1111/bcp.14194

Miras-Moreno, B., Corrado, G., Zhang, L., Senizza, B., Righetti, L., Bruni, R., El-Nakhel, C., Sifola, M.I., Pannico, A., Pascale, S.D., Rouphael, Y., Lucini, L., 2020. 'The metabolic reprogramming induced by sub-optimal nutritional and light inputs in soilless cultivated green and red butterhead lettuce'. *IJMS 21*, 6381. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21176381

Munisami, T., Ramsurn, M., Kishnah, S., Pudaruth, S., 2015. 'Plant leaf recognition using shape features and colour histogram with Knearest neighbour classifiers'. *Procedia Computer Science*, 58, 740–747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2015.08.095

Proietti, S., Moscatello, S., Colla, G., Battistelli, Y., 2004. 'The effect of growing spinach (*Spinacia oleracea L.*) at two light intensities on the amounts of oxalate, ascorbate and nitrate in their leaves'. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, **79**, **606–609**. https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316. 2004.11511814

Quested, T.E., Murphy, L., 2014. *Household food and drink waste:* A product focus. Final Report. URL: https://www.wrap.o rg.uk/sites/files/wrap/Product-focusedreport v5\_3.pdf (Accessed: 2/19/2018)

Rux, G., Caleb, O.J., Geyer, M., Mahajan, P.V., 2017. 'Impact of water rinsing and perforation-mediated MAP on the quality and offodour development for rucola'. *Food Packaging and Shelf Life*, 11, 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fpsl.2016.11. 003 Saini, R.K., Ko, E.Y., Keum, Y.-S., 2017. 'Minimally processed ready-to-eat baby-leaf vegetables: Production, processing, storage, microbial safety, and nutritional potential'. *Food Reviews International*, 33, 644–663. https://doi.org/10.1080/87559129.2016.1204614

Sanderson, L.A., Wright, P.A., Robinson, J.W., Ballantyne, J.S., Bernier, N.J., 2010. 'Inhibition of glutamine synthetase during ammonia exposure in rainbow trout indicates a high reserve capacity to prevent brain ammonia toxicity'. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 213, 2343–2353. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb. 039156

Seabold, S., Perktold, J., 2010. *statsmodels: Econometric and statistical modeling with python*. Proceeding of the 9th Python in Science Conference. URL: https://doi.org/10.25080/MA JORA-92BF1922-011 (Accessed: 18/5/2020)

Signore, A., Bell, L., Santamaria, P., Wagstaff, C., Van Labeke, M.-C., 2020. 'Red light is effective in reducing nitrate concentration in rocket by increasing nitrate reductase activity, and contributes to increased total glucosinolates content'. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 0, https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.00604

Siomos, A.S., Koukounaras, A., 2007. 'Quality and postharvest physiology of rocket leaves'. *Fresh Produce*, 1, 59–65. http://ikee.lib.auth.gr/record/257767/files/quality.pdf

Small, D.M., Prescott, J., 2005. 'Odor/taste integration and the perception of flavor'. *Experimental Brain Research*, 166, 345–357. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-005-2376-9

Sorin, C., Mariette, F., Musse, M., 2019. 'NMR study of fresh cut

salads: Influence of temperature and storage time on leaf structure and water distribution in escarole'. *Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry*, 57, 626–637. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrc.4865

Traka, M., Mithen, R., 2009. 'Glucosinolates, isothiocyanates and human health'. *Phytochemical Reviews*, 8, 269–282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-008-9103-7

van der Laan, L.N., de Ridder, D.T.D., Viergever, M.A., Smeets, P.A.M., 2011. 'The first taste is always with the eyes: A metaanalysis on the neural correlates of processing visual food cues'. *NeuroImage*, 55, 296–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2010.11.055

Villarreal-García, D., Nair, V., Cisneros-Zevallos, L., Jacobo-Velázquez, D.A., 2016. 'Plants as biofactories: Postharvest stress-induced accumulation of phenolic compounds and glucosinolates in broccoli subjected to wounding stress and exogenous phytohormones'. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 0. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls .2016.00045

Welch, D., Swaffield, J., Evans, D., 2018. 'Who's responsible for food waste? Consumers, retailers and the food waste discourse coalition in the United Kingdom'. *Journal of Consumer Culture*, 21. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540518773801

Wellburn, A.R., 1994. 'The spectral determination of chlorophylls a and b, as well as total carotenoids, ssing various solvents with spectrophotometers of different resolution'. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 144, 307–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0176– 1617(11)81192–2

Wieczyńska, J., Luca, A., Kidmose, U., Cavoski, I., Edelenbos, M., 2016. 'The use of antimicrobial sachets in the packaging of

organic wild rocket: Impact on microorganisms and sensory quality'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 121, 126–134. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2016.07.011

Yamauchi, N., Watada, A.E., 1991. 'Regulated chlorophyll degradation in spinach leaves during storage'. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 116, 58–62. https://doi.or g/10.21273/JASHS.116.1.58

Yang, R., Guo, L., Jin, X., Shen, C., Zhou, Y., Gu, Z., 2015. 'Enhancement of glucosinolate and sulforaphane formation of broccoli sprouts by zinc sulphate via its stress effect'. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 13, 345–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff. 2015.01.007

# Chapter 5

# Postharvest changes that occur in ready-to-eat iceberg lettuce in the domestic environment

## 5.1 Background

The estimation of shelf life dates is inherently a stochastic process, given the variable nature of growing conditions and the handling of the product by the consumer. Where there is high variability around an estimation, to avoid overestimating the "true" use-by date and potentially harming the consumer, a conservative estimate is implemented to avoid injury by consuming harmful products (De Corato, 2020). One of the reasons why date estimation has to be conservative is the lack of markers of the biological condition of the produce within the pack that could aid in the accurate setting of on-pack dates. Furthermore, once the consumer has purchased the product, unless the consumer follows the directions on the pack exactly, any shelf life estimate would become less accurate depending on the consumer's actions. Iceberg lettuce is a relatively robust crop and does not suffer as much as other leafy salads with textural defects such as wilting. However, fresh cut iceberg lettuce does have a particularly prominent visual disorder known as enzymatic browning, which manifests as brown/pink discolouration on the rib section of the leaves (Saltveit, 2018) and which often appears before the stated pack use-by date is reached. Given the relative importance of discolouration and its influence on rejection by the consumer, lettuce is a prime candidate for non-destructive testing using imaging equipment and subsequent image analysis. Developing a robust methodology for evaluating the rate of discolouration that could provide up to date information to the consumer may provide more reliable estimates of shelf life (Jasper et al., 2021). A positive unintended

consequence of developing a method to analyse the colour of images for this paper was that a function was developed that was later incorporated into the software package PlantCV, a software package that now encompasses many aspects of plant phenotyping. The functions extract all colour data from an image in the HSV colour space and calculate several different statistics such as circular mean, median and range (Fahlgren et al., 2019).

In Chapter 3, the differences in postharvest life as a consequence of variable growing conditions were highlighted. Whilst the crops were grown in homogenous conditions within each growth cabinet, variability in each condition was due to the inherent inter-plant variability. Due to the economics of commercial horticulture, many leafy vegetables are grown in open fields (Koukounaras et al., 2020). As opposed to controlled environments, growing crops in open fields introduces many environmental variables that influence the final product, including weather and pests. This chapter investigates the physiological, biological and microbiological changes in commercially grown lettuce across three independent field trials to identify key markers that can be used to predict shelf life more accurately.

## 5.2 Contribution to the project

**Jake Jasper**: Conception of study, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing.

**Carol Wagstaff**: Conception of study, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing.

Martin Chadwick Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing

**Stephen Elmore** Supervision, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing

Contribution breakdown percentage by each author respectively [70, 20, 5, 5]

The remaining sections have been submitted to Post Harvest Biology and Technology.

### 5.3 Abstract

Lettuce is one of the most common leafy vegetables sold at supermarkets in the UK. Over the past couple of decades, ready-to-eat (RTE) pre-cut lettuce products have become more popular, and other than the physical nature of the RTE products, there is also a legislative difference. Any product sold as RTE has to be stored <8 °C and must have a use-by date to protect the consumer from potentially pathogenic microorganisms. On-pack dates intend to reflect the status of the product to the consumer, and in theory, should change with seasonal variation as the growing environment impacts the quality of the crop. However, the implementation of on-pack dates are often static (seven days after packaging) as there is a general lack of empirical measurements that can be used to predict how a product will change with a reasonable degree of accuracy. One of the downstream effects of biologically inaccurate date labelling is that they contribute to food waste, where leafy salads are a product category that has a relatively high level of avoidable food waste from the consumer compared to other food product categories. Discovering markers that can be used to predict more accurately or dynamically

monitor a product's condition, and/or to dynamically monitor it in real time is desirable as a method to reduce food waste.

## 5.4 Introduction

In the United Kingdom (UK), iceberg lettuce is a commonly consumed leafy salad, it is sold both in wholehead form and as a RTE with a typical post-pack life of around seven days. The post-pack life for any ready-to-eat product is denoted by a use-by date. The use-by date, reasonably, is a conservative estimate to account for the variability the product may incur during its life. The primary concern when setting a shelf life is avoiding type II errors (false negative) where food is sold that may be "injurious to health" or that may not meet the quality expected by the consumer. Therefore, the on-pack date is a balance of providing the consumer with enough time to consume the product, protecting the consumer from harm, and providing the quality of product the consumer expects. As type I (false positive) and type II errors are inversely related; as the potential harm to the consumer is reduced, the potential for waste is increased.

With waste reduction becoming a more considerable concern in light of environmental and economic pressure, the usefulness of on-pack dates has come into question (Quested and Murphy, 2014; Lee et al., 2015; Eriksson et al., 2016). Previously, it has been estimated that  $\sim 20 \%$  of leafy salads purchased by the consumer end up as "avoidable waste" (Quested and Murphy, 2014). In comparison, the total figure from retailers is around five percent (Welch et al., 2018). The usefulness of on-pack dates especially the best-before is not a new concern, back in the 1960's when they were first being considered there were objections:

"Much depends on the quality and freshness of ingredients and on distribution and storage conditions." (ALINORM 65/22, 1965).

Due to the innumerable variables that are contributing to the development of any given leafy salad, it is difficult to produce accurate estimates as to how the physiology of the product will change over time given the inconsistency of production methods and variability of plant genotypes, environmental conditions and postharvest handling. In turn, this leads to more conservative estimates of shelf life, and therefore, type II errors are minimised at the expense of type I
leading to waste among consumers who consider such dates. The only way to avoid having to make estimates of shelf life is to introduce a dynamic approach of monitoring or predicting the status of the product.

For the supplier, a marker that is consistent with a particular measure of quality/safety would allow them to reduce the margin of error that is applied to a product. From the point at which the consumer has the product, the uncertainty of shelf life is increased since differences in storage habits will affect the product in multiple ways. To account for this, a dynamic approach in the consumer environment may provide a significant reduction in waste. With the increasing harvesting of consumer data, internet-of-things devices and advances in machine learning, it is becoming possible for real-time monitoring of products to give feedback about the condition of the product directly to the consumer.

The objective of this study was to investigate biological and physiological markers that could be used to more accurately implement on pack dates. We investigated the variance in markers over an elongated SL period and between seasons with the use of the nondestructive method of imaging to analyse quality. This may enable us to find reliable markers of quality and markers that can be continuously monitored to provide up-to-date information about the condition of a product.

# 5.5 Materials and Methods

# 5.5.1 Plant materials

Growing information for each trial is shown in Table 5.1. All plant materials were obtained from the central distribution centre within 24 hours of arrival and transported in ambient conditions to The University of Reading. Upon arrival the samples were immediately stored in a walk-in refrigerator at 4 °C in the dark, until analysis. Sixteen replicates were analysed at each time-point. The length of each trial was 23 days post-pack to evaluate the crop for an extended shelf life period of approximately three times the length of the commerical pack date to use-by date. After sampling the leaves were transferred immediately into a -20 °C freezer. Frozen leaves were lyophilized in batches for four days. Leaves were then ground into a fine powder using a Wiley MiniMill (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ, USA) and sieved.

ID Product Season	Location	Growing conditions	Time of harvest to packaging date (days)	Pack to use-by date on pack (days)	Average tempera- ture in month to harvest (°C)	Average rainfall in month to harvest (mm)
IL1 "Iceberg Feb 19 Let- tuce" 300g	ES	open field	6	9	13	1
IL2 "Iceberg Jul 19 Let- tuce" 300g	UK	open field	3	8	18	221
IL3 "Iceberg Nov 20 Let- tuce" 300g	UK	open field	3	6	6	24.5

**Table 5.1:** Environmental variables for iceberg lettuce grown in the United Kingdom (UK) and Spain (ES)

# 5.5.2 Imaging and colour analysis

#### 5.5.2.1 Image capture

Images were captured from an RGB camera (Table 5.2) mounted on a tripod inside a custom built light-box. The light-box contained four tube-lights (Philips TL-D 58W/835). Images were captured in the raw format. Leaves were placed on the background with two centimetres around of space between leaves to aid with background extraction, and the leaves were arranged so they filled the camera's field of view.

Variable	Value		
Camera	Canon G9x mk2		
Shooting mode	Manual		
ISO	200		
Picture mode	Neutral		
Aperture size	5.6		
Exposure time	1/80		
Focus range	Macro		
White balance	Custom		

 Table 5.2: Camera settings

#### 5.5.2.2 Image processing and colour statistics

Raw images were processed in RawTherapee (v5.7). Each image contained an x-rite ColorChecker Passport Photo 2 (Michigan, USA), which was used to adjust the colour of the images with reference to a master image to ensure colour constancy between images. Adjusted images were then exported with no compression as png file type.

Colour statistics were calculated from individual leaves within each

image by a custom Python (v3.6) script utilising the packages PlantCV (v3.0) and scikit-image (v0.16.2). Firstly, the images were converted to HSV format and then the leaves were masked using a threshold on the saturation chanel so the background could be removed. Then the hue channel was extracted and from this the range of hues and mean hue were calculated as well as the percentage of discolouration.

#### 5.5.2.3 Visual Quality

Visual quality was determined by visually assessing each image and categorising each image as if good, marginal or poor quality based on the interpretation of the researcher where good quality exhibited minimal perceptible damage or discolouration. Marginal quality exhibited less than 2% overall discolouration for which the hue values were anything outside of the HSV values [34-148,0-100,0-100] and had less than 5% tissue damage. The analysis of discolouration was not done at intake, but of the images during the analysis, so that the discolouration could be empirically measured. Poor quality was any deterioration in excess of marginal quality. An example of the images in each classification is shown in (Appendix Figure 5.8).

### 5.5.3 Extraction and quantification of ammonia

Fifty milligrams of milled lyophilized plant material was added to 1 mL of deionised water. The mixture was then sonicated at ambient temperature (22 °C) for 30 minutes prior to centrifugation for 15 minutes (16,050 x g, ambient temperature). The supernatant was then filtered through a 0.45  $\mu$ m syringe filter (Cole-Parmer) before ammonia analysis. The same extract was used for nitrate and nitrite determination (section 5.5.7 below). Ammonia was quantified by enzymatic determination through reaction with  $\alpha$ -ketoglutaric acid (KGA) and reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) in the presence of L-glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH) (Merck). GDH reacts specifically with ammonia to form L-glutamate and oxidized nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP+) products. The oxidation of NADPH, which is proportional to the ammonia concentration was measured by absorbance in triplicate at 340 nm using a Jenway 6315 spectrometer (Stone, UK).

#### 5.5.4 Enumeration of aerobic bacteria

Samples for microbial analysis were taken and analysed immediately after imaging. Enumeration of aerobic bacteria was carried out using 3M's Petrifilm Aerobic count plates (3M, St Paul, MN, USA). Ten grams of leaves were added to 90 mL of sterile 0.85% w/w Maximum Recovery Diluent (Merck) and then homogenized in a Stomacher 400 (Seaward, UK) for 1 minute at 260 rpm as presented by (Wood et al., 2015). Ten-fold serial dilutions of the homogenate were plated onto Petrifilm plates then allowed to incubate for 48 hours at 30 °C before the colonies were counted.

# 5.5.5 Extraction and quantification of chlorophyll A, B and total carotenoids

Fifty milligrams of milled lyophilized material was added to 1 mL of Dimethylformamide (DMF) anhydrous (Merck) and stored in the dark at 4 °C for 48 hours before filtering through a syringe filter (0.45  $\mu$ m) into fresh Eppendorf tubes. Samples were diluted by combining 4 mL of DMF with 1 mL of sample and pipetted into

BRAND UV semi-micro cuvettes (Merck) prior to measurement. Each samples absorbance were measured at wavelengths: 480, 647, 664 nm using a Jenyway 6315 spectrometer, each sample was measured in triplicate. Quantification was carried out using formula presented by Wellburn (1994).

#### 5.5.6 Determination of Glucose, Fructose and Sucrose

Free monosaccharides were extracted according to the method presented by Bell et al. (2017), with the exception that 0.02 g of lyophilized leaf powder was extracted. Extracts were analyzed on an Agilent 1100 series HPLC system equipped with a binary pump, degasser, and auto-sampler, with an external column heater (30 °C). A Bio-Rad Aminex HPX-87H (300 × 7.8 mm, 9  $\mu$ m particle size) column with a Micro-Guard Cation H guard column (Bio-Rad, Watford, United Kingdom) was used to achieve separation with an isocratic gradient of 5 mM sulfuric acid, and a flow rate of 0.3 mL.min<sup>-1</sup>. A Polymer Laboratories ERC-7515 refractive index detector (Church Stretton, United Kingdom) was used to detect monosaccharides. Compounds were quantified using authentic standards and analyzed with Agilent ChemStation software (Santa Clara, CA, United States).

#### 5.5.7 Determination of Nitrite and Nitrate

Extractions were prepared as described in section 5.5.3 above. Samples were diluted 1/100 prior to analysis for nitrate and nitrite concentration. The analysis of samples were carried out as described in Kramkowski et al. (2017). Briefly, the method uses HPLC to separate nitrate and nitrite from the sample on a NO-PAK column (Eicom). Nitrate is then reduced to nitrite on a NO-RED column (Eicom), after which the nitrite reacts with a Greiss reagent to form a light absorbing compound which is then detected at 540 nm using a DAD detector. The HPLC system used Eicom's ENO-30. The flow rate of the carrier solution was 0.33 mL.min<sup>-1</sup> and 0.1 mL.min<sup>-1</sup> for the reactor solution. The column temperature was set to 35 °C and the run time was 8 minutes. Compounds were quantified using authentic standards.

# 5.5.8 Statistical analysis

Ordinary least Squares analyses of all data were performed using statsmodels (Seabold and Perktold, 2010). Each respective analysis was conducted with a post hoc Tukey's Honest Significance Difference (HSD) test (p < 0.05).

# 5.6 Results and Discussion

Three independent trials were conducted IL1 (Spain), IL2 (UK) and IL3 (UK), all grown in open field (Table 5.1).

# 5.6.1 Visual quality

**Table 5.3:** The proportion of samples designated as good marginal or poor for all iceberg lettuce samples assessed visually. IL1, IL2 and IL3 are three seperate batches of commercial RTE iceberg lettuce grown in Spain (Feb 19), UK (Jul 19), UK (Nov 20) respectively. For each batch there were 96 samples, with 16 randomlly selected samples assessed at each time point.

Trial	Day post-pack	Visual Quality (Good:Marginal:Poor)%
IL1	4	100:0:0
	7	100:0:0
	11	92:8:0
	14	100:0:0
	18	92:8:0
	25	86:8:8
IL2	4	100:0:0
	7	100:0:0
	11	94:0:6
	14	100:0:0
	18	81:19:0
	25	44:56:0
IL3	2	100:0:0
	6	100:0:0
	9	100:0:0
	13	100:0:0
	19	81:19:0
	23	75:25:0

From visual inspection (Table 5.3), there were only two time points (Day 25, IL1) and (Day 11, IL2) which had samples which were classified as poor. Within the time-period that is typical of a ready-

to-eat lettuce product ( $\sim$  7 days post pack) there were no samples that were classified as poor. From visual inspection, it was clear that in all cases that the crops were of high quality and exhibited none of the common visual disorders such as enzymatic browning or russet spotting that are known to be unfavoured by consumers (Saltveit, 2018). While the use-by date is an indication of safety, many consumers do not solely rely on these dates in their decision making to reject a product. It is known that many consumers use visual appearance as their primary consideration when considering the quality of leafy salad (van der Laan et al., 2011) and therefore will consume a product after the manufactures use-by date. For the samples in this study, given the lack of visual degradation, it may be expected that consumers may consume the product after the use-by date.

### 5.6.2 Visual quality and analysis of images

With the exception of the first trial (IL1), where there was a significant difference (p < 0.001) in the mean hue value between intake and the end of shelf life (Appendix table 5.4), the mean hue values

remained stable throughout testing. These results are not particularly surprising given that there were no changes in chlorophyll at any time point in any trial (Figure 5.2). If there were any changes in chlorophyll measurements, it may be expected that there would be a hue shift away from green (Agüero et al., 2008). Furthermore, from visual inspection (Table 5.3), there was minimal discolouration, such as pinking (Saltveit, 2018), throughout all trials.



(**b**) IL2





**Figure 5.1:** The range of hues extracted from images of iceberg lettuce leaves stored at 4 °C. Plots a, b and c are three independent trials grown in Spain (February 2019), UK (July 2019) and the UK (November 2020). Differences in colour within a plot for point markers (e.g. black on day 1 versus Red on day 4 of IL3 (c)) represent significant differences between shelf life days, where p <0.05. For each time point in each plot n=16. The leaves above the primary axis are representative images from each time point with the visual quality score represented by the red, amber, green bars next to the image.

Where visual defects were observed, and there was an evident change in the colour of the tissue, subsequent analysis of the corresponding image showed no significant change in the mean hue value when compared with the values obtained from images at intake. This is because the visual defects often represented a tiny portion of the leaf, and although visible by eye, only represented a small portion of the image (Appendix Figure 5.9). Therefore, using the mean hue is not a particulalrly useful measure of visual quality in RTE iceberg lettuce. However, when analysing the range of hues, there is a significant positive correlation ( $R^2$ = 0.75, p <0.0001) with shelf life. Therefore, in comparison to mean hue values, the range better represents the quality of the lettuce and may be used to model deterioration.

As the leaves senesce and degrade, defects such as dark necrotic tissue or a glassy appearance due to mechanical damage increase the number of unique hues. In all three trials, there were significant differences in the range of hues over the first two week period (Figure 5.1). Given that the typical SL of a salad product is usually no more than 7-10 days (Bell et al., 2017; Koukounaras et al., 2020), monitoring the change in the hue profile may be a valuable indicator for quality. However, as with any analytical system there needs to be a reference for comparison which has its own issues, such as which image to use as the base "fresh" image. Over a long time period, individual consumer preferences could be stored and used for reference, where comparisons could be made to previous stages when a product is discarded.

Typically, when evaluating iceberg lettuce over SL, a browning index is used as this is a well-recognised phenomenon that consumers reject (Alongi et al., 2019). However, browning or other forms of discolouration are not a guaranteed outcome, as was the case in these three trials, whereby there were no significant changes in hues associated with discolouration (Appendix Table 5.4). Therefore, other measures of visual quality are required if the consumer is to be informed. Furthermore, there are other lettuce varieties such as lamb's lettuce (Ferrante et al., 2009) and romaine (López-Gálvez et al., 1996) that are less affected by browning, that a more generalisable method would be suited.

There were no significant associations between the change in colour and any other variables measured in this study. However, others have found that changes in colour are associated with increases in ammonia (Pace et al., 2014; Mastrandrea et al., 2016). The results of these trials do not corroborate the findings of others, finding no relationship between colour and ammonia concentrations. The results from these trials demonstrate that, given a reference image, the change in quality may be monitored non-destructively in the absence of apparent discolouration. With a large dataset, that would be possible to collect by a grower or retailer, and knowledge of consumer preferences, this method may be used to model the rate of deterioration and predict when the consumer will dismiss the product.

### 5.6.3 Chlorophyll

Chlorophyll is responsible for the majority of the colour of iceberg lettuce, but it is less prominent than in other leafy salads such as rocket or spinach due to the "rib" section, which is typically white. Furthermore, due to how lettuce grows with the more mature outer leaves having greater chlorophyll content than the younger inner leaves (Henriques and Park, 1976), depending on how the lettuce is processed, the number of outer more mature leaves may vary, and as a consequence, the colour. As it is highly unlikely that a product would reach the shelves without any green leaf material, and as such, the green hue resulting from chlorophyll is likely to dominate other hues. Therefore, if there were any changes in colour over the postharvest period, it may be expected that chlorophyll plays a role in the change, which makes it a candidate marker for quality.



**Figure 5.2:** The changes in total chlorophyll over time for ready to eat lettuce leaves stored at 4 °C. Differences in colour for points represent statistical significance for the mean at each time point where p < 0.05. For each time point n=16.

Chlorophyll had the least variation of all the measurements taken and exhibited no significant change over SL or between trials. The data show that chlorophyll is stable over a typical SL period and is therefore not a marker that can be used to differentiate product over SL. Although chlorophyll degradation has previously been cited (Yamauchi and Watada, 1991; Koukounaras et al., 2009) as factor in the colour change of a salad product, neither these measurements or the colour measurements provided any evidence that chlorophyll content is a postharvest marker of quality. However, this discrepancy may be due to pre-prepared salads, which could have had the outer leaves discarded. It has been reported that the outer leaves are more susceptible to degradation (Agüero et al., 2008), which may account for the difference between these results and the literature. Although there was no significant change in chlorophyll levels in these trials, IL3 was less variable overall, suggesting that the leaves were less variable due to fewer rib sections in the sample. One of the issues with using chlorophyll as a marker of quality for RTE iceberg lettuce is that there is a processing step that, depending on the processor and the product specification, certain leaves that do not meet specification may be removed and therefore, the remaining leaves may not accurately represent the postharvest potential of the product.

#### 5.6.4 Aerobic Colony Count (ACC) and shelf life

ACC is a general microbial test with no legal precedence in leafy salads but is often used to give an indication of the hygiene of a product. It is often used as an indicator of quality, whereby an unsatisfactory result  $(10^6 - 10^7 \text{ cfu/g})$  may indicate that there are sub-optimal conditions in the supply chain (Health Protection Agency., 2009). Under domestic storage conditions typically recommended for leafy salads (4 °C), microbial growth is not attenuated but slowed significantly. Therefore, it can be expected that there will be an increase in ACC over the postharvest period. As microorganisms are known to be associated with product spoilage (Calonica et al., 2019), the omission of a measure of microbial status would potentially diminish the confidence of any given postharvest indicator if not included in the analysis.



**Figure 5.3:** The changes in Aerobic Colony Count in measured in lettuce leaves throughout shelf life stored at 4 °C. Differences in colour for points represent statistical significance for the mean at each time point where p <0.05. The horizontal dashed lines reperesent  $10^7$  cfu.g <sup>-1</sup> which is typically the upper threshold when referring to satisfactory and unsatisfactory quality. At each timepoint n=16.

At intake, all samples were well within the range that would typi-

cally be classed as satisfactory for aerobic colony count (Figure 5.3). The figure varies slightly depending on the product and specification but is usually less than  $10^7$  cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> (Health Protection Agency., 2009; Calonica et al., 2019). From visual inspection, it was not until the ACC count was greater than  $10^{10}$  cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> that a change in visual quality was discernible. The visual changes did not start to manifest until around two weeks into the trial, which is ~ ten days after the use-by date; even at this point, the visual changes were relatively minor. Although ACC is not diagnostic of pathogens, relying on visual heuristics is potentially dangerous given that visual defects appear after a time period in which pathogens could reach a harmfull level.

The change in ACC was fairly similar in all trials (Figure 5.3); however, the trial that started with the lowest ACC also had the lowest overall final ACC (Figure 5.3, IL1) as well as the least decline in visual quality. The initial ACC may be a useful indicator of quality in the first instance, with a relatively high count may indicate that the decontamination of the produce may not have been sufficient. Under optimal storage conditions (4 °C) and over a time scale that is likely longer (>7 days) than the consumer would normally keep a salad, there was no indication that microorganisms affected the appearance of the salad. While many consumers often use visual appearance to decide when to discard a product (van der Laan et al., 2011), it is clear that with ready-to-eat iceberg lettuce, using visual appearance alone may lead to harm for the consumer, assuming the use-by date is accurate.

There was a weak positive correlation ( $\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.34$ ) between the number of rainy days in the growing period and the ACC with IL1 the lowest (1 day), and IL3 the highest with (26 days in which more than 1 mm of rain fell). The inverse was true for temperature, with IL1 having the lowest average growing temperature (13 °C) and IL3 having the highest with 18 °C. Therefore, the combination of a moist environment and a hospitable growing temperature for microorganisms may be the reason that IL3 had the highest ACC. However, the data were not conclusive and to confirm these findings, more repetitions would be required. Furthermore, these data show that the initial bacterial load is not sufficient to predict subsequent growth, and the preharvest, along with the supply chain conditions need to be taken into consideration for predicting microbial load.





**Figure 5.4:** The changes in total sugars (Glucose, Fructose and Sucrose) over time for ready to eat leattuce leaves stored at 4 °C. Differences in colour for points represent statistical significance for the mean at each time point where p < 0.05. At each time point n=16.

Although data were collected for sucrose, glucose and fructose, these three sugars were highly correlated ( $R^2 = 0.91$ ) and therefore only the sum of these "Total sugars" will be discussed (Figure 5.4). Overall, it can be observed that there is a slight decline in total sugars over the shelf life period for (Figure 5.4, IL1) and (Figure 5.4, IL3) the decline was 0.13 and 0.15 mg.g<sup>-1</sup>.day<sup>-1</sup> whereas (Figure 5.4, IL2) was 2.5 mg.g<sup>-1</sup>.day<sup>-1</sup>. The measurement of sugars is often used a marker of respiration, as the leaf metabolism continues postharvest its sugars are depleted (Zhan et al., 2013; Mbong et al., 2017). If it was known what the sugar concentration was at the start of the shelf life period any subsequent measurement might give an indication as to how it has been stored. With a high rate of decline showing greater respiration, but this is not something that would be considered as pragmatic marker applicable for the consumer, but may be usefull for prediciting longevity at the processing stage.

Even though the data exhibited an overall decline over the entire shelf life period, it was not until two weeks postharvest that there were any significant changes. These data suggest that sugars are not a particularly useful indicator of postharvest longevity as a measurement by themselves, but may be useful when taken into consideration with other measurements such as nitrates. Given these results, it is suspected that all three of the sample batches tested were of high quality.

## 5.6.6 Nitrates

In comparison to some other leafy vegetables such as rocket or spinach, lettuce is not known to be a particularly high accumulator of nitrates. There are legal limits for the concentration of nitrates within iceberg lettuce (1258/2011, 2011), but unlike rocket, there is no seasonal aspect to the limits whereby "iceberg type" lettuce grown in open air can contain a maximum of 2 g of  $NO_3.kg^{-1}$  fresh weight. Nitrate content is known to be related to the preharvest use of nitrogen (Liu et al., 2014), and therefore, the nitrate content may give an indication as to the preharvest nutrition and potential postharvest longevity. Furthermore, it is known that high nitrate content can increase leaf size (surface area) at the expense of decreased thickness (Hoque et al., 2010), and the relative decrease in thickness can lead to greater potential for decreased postharvest longevity as it is more susceptible to damage (Garrido et al., 2014).



**Figure 5.5:** The changes in nitrate over time for ready to eat iceberg lettuce leaves stored at 4 °C. Differences in colour for points represent statistical significance for the mean at each time point where p < 0.05. At all times points n=16.

Throughout all three trials, NO<sub>3</sub> concentrations were stable over the

shelf life period. The trial grown in Spain during the winter (Figure 5.5, IL1) had the highest concentrations which were greater than 10xof those grown in the UK. It has been reported that, lettuce grown during winter months accumulate more NO<sub>3</sub> than summer grown crops (Konstantopoulou et al., 2010), this is also reflected in EU law where crops grown in the colder months (October - March) have a higher threshold than those grown outside this period (1258/2011, 2011). Although lettuce does not currently have any seasonal variation in the legislation. However, from the two trials grown in the UK, there were no significant differences between crops grown in the summer and winter, therefore, it is clear that environmental variables such as sunlight are not the only factor in determining tissue nitrate concentrations. IL1 had a tenfold higher concentration of  $NO_3$ than both IL2 and IL3. Large variations in nitrate concentration are not uncommon (Kyriacou et al., 2019), so the values reported here are well within typical values. The tenfold higher concentration of IL1 did not indicate any difference in the other measured variables except sugars, which were also highest in IL1. The ratio of nitrate and sugars has been previously studied in butterhead lettuce by Behr and Wiebe (1992). However, it was found that they were inversely

correlated, contradicting what we have found.

As there were no changes over shelf life, which supports the findings of Konstantopoulou et al., (2010), NO<sub>3</sub> does not seem to be a valuable marker of quality during SL. However, IL1 had the highest tissue concentrations of both nitrate and total sugars and the lowest numbers of samples that were classified as poor after visual inspection. Therefore the assessment of these variables may be useful in assessing the potential postharvest longevity of the crop.



#### 5.6.7 Ammonia

**Figure 5.6:** The changes in ammonia over time for ready to eat lettuce leaves stored at 4  $^{\circ}$ C. Differences in colour for points represent statistical significance for the mean at each time point where p <0.05. At each time point n=16.

Of all the markers assessed in this study, ammonia had the most significant changes over shelf life. In all trials, there was an increase in ammonia from the "fresh" samples to the oldest (Figure 5.6). However, it was not until around day eleven, where there were significant differences (p < 0.05, for R1-R3). Pace et al., (2014) also found similar results with RTE lettuce, and they also reported a relationship between ammonia and changes in visual quality.

It has previously been reported that the accumulation of ammonia is related to senescence by way of protein catabolism (Toivonen, 1997). The relatively few studies that have measured ammonia in leafy salads over shelf life also report a correlation with a change in leaf colour (Pace et al., 2014; Mastrandrea et al., 2016). We did not find any evidence that ammonia influenced the colour of the leaves for iceberg lettuce. However, there was a significant (p = 1.9 \*  $10^{-35}$ , R<sup>2</sup> = 0.46) correlation between ammonia and ACC (Figure 5.7). There are a few potential sources for the increase in ammonia, such as ammonifying bacteria, e.g. *E. coli* metabolising nitrate or nitrite and producing ammonia (Wang et al., 2019), and as the bacteria become more numerous over shelf life, the ammonia increases (Stremińska et al., 2012). Or, as a by-product of disrupted protein metabolism where glutamine synthetase, an enzyme that assimilates ammonia in protein metabolism, is inhibited, and therefore ammonia accumulates (Chandra et al., 2006; Mastrandrea, Amodio and Cantwell, 2016).



Figure 5.7: The relationship between changes in ammonia and aerobic colony count for trials IL1, IL2, IL3,  $R^2 = 0.46$ . n=288.

These data warrant further exploration of increases in ammonia in lettuce over shelf life. Although it was not until after the manufacturer's use-by date that ammonia concentrations were significantly different from the "fresh" samples, there are potential quality and or safety implications related to ammonia depending on if it is derived from microorganisms (safety) or protein catabolism (quality). Furthermore, ammonia is volatile and, therefore, could be detected by a gas sensor allowing for non-destructive sensing. Moreover, producing a sensor that can detect ammonia is a relatively well devleoped process (Zhai et al., 2020), and can be incorporated into the packaging but is yet to be tried with a leafy salad product.

# 5.7 Conclusion

Of the traits assessed, ammonia concentration has the greatest potential as a marker for shelf life quality. Ammonia had a strong positive correlation ( $R^2 = 0.85$ ,  $p = 3.5 * 10^{-77}$ ) with shelf life (Figure 5.6) and aerobic colony count (Figure 5.7). Furthermore, significant changes in ammonia were detected within a time frame representing a typical shelf life period. From the pooled 268 replicates there was a significant ( $p = 1.97 * 10^{-35}$ ) strong correlation ( $R^2 = 0.46$ ) between ammonia and aerobic colony count, which sugests that ammonia may be an indicator of microbial quality. However, contrary to previous work (Cantwell et al., 2010; Mastrandrea et al., 2016), there was no clear relationship between ammonia concentrations and measurements of visual quality. Further research is needed to establish the cause of ammonia accumulation in iceberg lettuce and to distinguish whether ammonia is marker of microbial accumulation, metabolic disruption, or both.

Given the present situation, where there are limited markers that a producer/processor is able to use to define the on-pack date accurately, the date on the pack tends to include a relatively large margin of error. The effect of giving a relatively large margin of safety is that those people who rely on on-pack dates may be more wasteful. Developing more accurate estimates of shelf life would help to alleviate some of the food waste in this category. To be as accurate as possible dynamic monitoring is required, which can be achieved by either volatile sensing or by the use of cameras.

Ammonia was the most indicative marker of quality from all the variables analysed in this study (Figure 5.6). Furthermore, it may be possible to monitor its accumulation with imaging methods. Seeing as refrigerators with integrated cameras are coming into the market, this method may be commercially viable within the near future. It is also possible to continuously monitor ammonia with a gas sensor device, although this approach has one distinct disadvantage. Given that it is unlikely that ammonia accumulation is unique to iceberg lettuce when stored in typical domestic conditions, a gas sensor may

pick up ammonia from another source or there may be a challenge with sensing something that is inside a pack. Tissue ammonia accumulations have also been reported in spinach and kale (Cantwell et al., 2019). To give real-time information about the condition of a product and therefore more accurately represent the quality and safety of a product, imaging may be more useful than volatile sensing.

It is still unclear as to if any variable, or combinations of variables, can be used to reliably represent the status of a product and tailor that to consumers' preferences and ultimately reduce waste. These results add further evidence to suggest that tissue ammonia concentration may be an important marker for the quality of iceberg lettuce. Furthermore, when analysing the colour, rather than taking average values, which may miss small but important changes, computer vision methods that take into account all available information may be more useful when assessing quality.

# 5.8 Appendix

Trial	Day post pack			
L1	4	60.6 ± 5.2 a	29.8 a	0.2 a
	7	64.6 ± 4.8 b	30.5 a	0.1 a
	11	57.2 ± 6.0 c	35.4 b	0.7 a
	14	56.8 ± 6.2 c	38.1 bc	0.8 a
	18	56.6 ± 6.2 c	37.7 bc	0.8 a
	25	56.8 ± 6.6 c	39.8 c	1.3 b
L2	4	58.8 ± 6.0 a	37.3 ac	0.4 a
	7	58.8 ± 5.8 a	40.4 a	0.4 a
	11	57.6 ± 7.4 a	45.8 b	1.5 b
	14	57.0 ± 5.4 b	38.7 a	0.4 a
	18	58.0 ± 6.0 a	41.8 b	0.4 a
	25	56.4 ± 5.4 b	34.6 c	0.4 a
L3	2	52.6 ± 4.0 a	17.3 a	0.1 a
	6	58.0 ± 7.6 a	30.8 b	0.6 b
	9	53.0 ± 5.4 a	22.9 b	0.5 b
	13	52.6 ± 6.2 a	27.2 c	0.6 b
	19	53.0 ± 6.0 a	25.3 bc	0.5 b
	23	53.6 ± 5.8 a	24.0 b	0.4 b

**Table 5.4:** The summary statistics from the imaging data for icebrg lettuce trials L1-3. Significant differences are only within trial and column where p < 0.05.

mean hue ± std range of hues total discolouration %

Good. No discolouration, No glassy patches, No damaged tissue - dark patches



Bad, noticibale discolouration, Many glassy patches, Many damaged tissue - dark patches



Figure 5.8: The decision making criteria for visual quality for Iceberg lettuce

265


**Figure 5.9:** A comparison of the 20 most common (by %) hues for two iceberg lettuce leaf portions from trial R3 on days 2 and 23 respectively.

## 5.9 References

Agüero, M.V., Barg, M.V., Yommi, A., Camelo, A., Roura, S.I., 2008. 'Postharvest changes in water status and chlorophyll content of lettuce (*Lactuca Sativa L.*) and their relationship with overall visual quality'. *Journal of Food Science*, 73, S47–S55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2007.00604.x

Alongi, M., Sillani, S., Lagazio, C., Manzocco, L., 2019. 'Effect of expiry date communication on acceptability and waste of fresh-cut lettuce during storage at different temperatures'. *Food Research International*, 116, 1121–1125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.09.056

Amending Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 as regards maximum levels for nitrates in foodstuffs, 1258/2011, 2011. URL: https: //eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ. do?uri=OJ:L:2011:320:0015:0017:EN:PDF (Accessed: 14/4/2021)

Behr, U., Wiebe, H.-J., 1992. 'Relation between photosynthesis and nitrate content of lettuce cultivars'. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 49, 175–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4238(92)90155-6

Bell, L., Methven, L., Signore, A., Jose Oruna-Concha, M., Wagstaff, C., 2017. 'Analysis of seven salad rocket (*Eruca sativa*) accessions: the relationships between sensory attributes and volatile and non-volatile compounds'. *Food Chemistry*, 218, 181–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.09.076

Calonica, C., Delfino, V., Pesavento, G., Mundo, M., Antonella Lo

Nostro, 2019. 'Microbiological quality of ready-to-eat salads from processing plant to the consumers'. *Journal of Food and Nutrition Research*, 7, 427–434. https://doi.org/10.12691/jfnr -7-6-3

Cantwell, M., Hong, G., Nie, X., 2010. 'Using tissue ammonia and fermentative volatile concentrations as indicators of beneficial and stressful modified atmospheres for leafy and floral vegetables'. *Acta Horticulturae*, 876, 165–172. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2010.876.20

Cantwell, M.I., Albornoz, K., Hong, G., 2019. 'Ammonia accumulation is a useful indicator of the postharvest freshness and quality of spinach and kale'. *Acta Horticulturae*, 1256, 303–310. https: //doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2019.1256.42

Chandra, D., Matsui, T., Suzuki, H., Kosugi, Y., 2006. 'Postharvest changes in some physiological traits and activities of ammoniaassimilating enzymes in lettuce during storage'. *Asian Journal of Plant sciences*, 5, 378–384. https://agris.fao.org/agri s-search/search.do?recordID=DJ2012050303

Emarsys, 2020. UK: home & leisure retail online orders during Covid-19 2020. URL: https://www-statista-com.eul. proxy.openathens.net/statistics/1109425/onli ne-orders-home-retail-y-o-y-trends-during-co ronavirus-in-the-uk. (Accessed: 5/23/2021).

Eriksson, M., Strid, I., Hansson, P.-A., 2016. Food waste reduction in supermarkets – Net costs and benefits of reduced storage temperature. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 107, 73–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2015.11.022

Fahlgren, N., Gehan, M., Schuhl, H., Max, Hoyer, S., Schneider, D.,

Lizarraga, C., Scallen81, Jberry47, Pokorny, A., Platon, E., AzlinII, Jgerardhodge, Mtessman, Sax, T., Jasper, J., Dubois, F., Wu, S., Lchavez037, Douglas, 2019. *danforthcenter/plantcv: PlantCVv3.2.0. Zenodo.* https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENOD0.2587982

Ferrante, A., Martinetti, L., Maggiore, T., 2009. 'Biochemical changes in cut vs. intact lamb's lettuce (*Valerianella olitoria*) leaves during storage'. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 44, 1050–1056. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621. 2008.01891.x

Garrido, Y., Tudela, J.A., Marín, A., Mestre, T., Martínez, V., Gil, M.I., 2014. 'Physiological, phytochemical and structural changes of multi-leaf lettuce caused by salt stress: Changes in multi-leaf lettuce growth caused by salt stress'. *Journal of Science Food and Agriculture*, 94, 1592–1599. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.6462

Health Protection Agency., 2009. *Guidelines for assessing the microbiological safety of ready-to-eat foods*. URL: https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk(Accessed: 02/10/2019)

Henriques, F., Park, R.B., 1976. 'Development of the photosynthetic unit in lettuce'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 73, 4560–4564. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.73. 12.4560

Hoque, M.M., Ajwa, H., Othman, M., Smith, R., Cahn, M., 2010. 'Yield and postharvest quality of lettuce in response to nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium fertilizers'. *American Society of Horticultural Science*, 45, 1539–1544. https://doi.org/10. 21273/HORTSCI.45.10.1539

Joint FAO/WHO Codex Alimentarius Commission Codex Committee

on food labelling, ALINORM 65/22, 1965. https://www.fao. org/fao-who-codexalimentarius (Accessed: 30/3/2020)

Konstantopoulou, E., Kapotis, G., Salachas, G., Petropoulos, S.A., Karapanos, I.C., Passam, H.C., 2010. 'Nutritional quality of greenhouse lettuce at harvest and after storage in relation to N application and cultivation season'. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 125, 93.e1-93.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2010.03.003

Koukounaras, A., Bantis, F., Karatolos, N., Melissas, C., Vezyroglou, A., 2020. 'Influence of pre-harvest factors on postharvest quality of fresh-cut and baby leafy vegetables'. *Agronomy*, 10, 172. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10020172

Koukounaras, A., Siomos, A.S., Sfakiotakis, E., 2007. 'Postharvest CO<sub>2</sub> and ethylene production and quality of rocket (*Eruca sativa Mill.*) leaves as affected by leaf age and storage temperature'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 46, 167–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2007.04.007

Kramkowski, K., Leszczynska, A., Przyborowski, K., Proniewski, B., Marcinczyk, N., Rykaczewska, U., Jarmoc, D., Chabielska, E., Chlopicki, S., 2017. 'Short-term treatment with nitrate is not sufficient to induce in vivo antithrombotic effects in rats and mice'. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 390, 85–94. ht tps://doi.org/10.1007/s00210-016-1308-5

Kyriacou, M.C., Soteriou, G.A., Colla, G., Rouphael, Y., 2019. 'The occurrence of nitrate and nitrite in Mediterranean fresh salad vegetables and its modulation by preharvest practices and postharvest conditions'. *Food Chemistry*, 285, 468–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.02.001

Lee, P., Osborn, S., Whitehead, P., 2015. Final report: Reducing

food waste by extending product life (No. MAR103-101). URL: https://www.wrap.org.uk/sites/files/wrap/Pro duct/Life/Report/Final\_0.pdf (Accessed: 16/4/2020)

Liu, C.-W., Sung, Y., Chen, B.-C., Lai, H.-Y., 2014. 'Effects of nitrogen fertilizers on the growth and nitrate content of lettuce (*Lactuca sativa L.*)'. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 11, 4427–4440. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110404427

López-Gálvez, G., Saltveit, M., Cantwell, M., 1996. 'The visual quality of minimally processed lettuces stored in air or controlled atmosphere with emphasis on romaine and iceberg types'. *Posthar*-*vest Biology and Technology*, 8, 179–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/0925-5214(95)00002-X

Mastrandrea, L., Amodio, M.L., Cantwell, M.I., 2016. 'Modeling ammonia accumulation and color changes of arugula (*Diplotaxis tenuifolia*) leaves in relation to temperature, storage time and cultivar'. *Acta Horticulture* 275–282. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2016.1141.34

Mbong, V.B.M., Ampofo-Asiama, J., Hertog, M.L.A.T.M., Geeraerd, A.H., Nicolai, B.M., 2017. 'The effect of temperature on the metabolic response of lamb's lettuce (*Valerianella locusta, (L), Laterr.*) cells to sugar starvation'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 125, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbi 0.2016.10.013

Pace, B., Cefola, M., Da Pelo, P., Renna, F., Attolico, G., 2014. 'Non-destructive evaluation of quality and ammonia content in whole and fresh-cut lettuce by computer vision system'. *Food Research International*, 64, 647–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodres.2014.07.037 Quested, T.E., Murphy, L., 2014. *Household food and drink Waste:* A product focus. Final report. URL: https://www.wrap.o rg.uk/sites/files/wrap/Product-focusedreport v5\_3.pdf (Accessed: 2/19/2018)

Saltveit, M., 2018. 'Pinking of lettuce'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 145, 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.po stharvbio.2018.06.001

Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 January 2002 laying down the general principles and requirements of food law, establishing the European Food Safety Authority and laying down procedures in matters of food safety, 32002R0178. http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2002/ 178/oj (Accessed: 14/01/2021)

Seabold, S., Perktold, J., 2010. *statsmodels: Econometric and statistical modeling with python*. Proceeding of the 9th Python in Science Conference. URL: https://doi.org/10.25080/MA JORA-92BF1922-011 (Accessed: 18/5/2020)

Singh, P., Kumar, V., Agrawal, S., 2014. 'Evaluation of phytase producing bacteria for their plant growth promoting activities'. *International Journal of Microbiology*, 2014, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/426483

Stremińska, M.A., Felgate, H., Rowley, G., Richardson, D.J., Baggs, E.M., 2012. 'Nitrous oxide production in soil isolates of nitrateammonifying bacteria'. *Environmental Microbiology Reports*, 4, 66–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-2229.2011.00302.x

Toivonen, P.M.A., 1997. 'Non-ethylene, non-respiratory volatiles in harvested fruits and vegetables: their occurrence, biological activity

and control'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 12, 109–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-5214(97)00048-3

Toma, L., Costa Font, M., Thompson, B., 2020. 'Impact of consumers' understanding of date labelling on food waste behaviour'. *Operational reasearch*, 20, 543–560. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12351-017-0352-3

van der Laan, L.N., de Ridder, D.T.D., Viergever, M.A., Smeets, P.A.M., 2011. 'The first taste is always with the eyes: A metaanalysis on the neural correlates of processing visual food cues'. *NeuroImage*, 55, 296–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2010.11.055

Wang, X., Tamiev, D., Alagurajan, J., DiSpirito, A.A., Phillips, G.J., Hargrove, M.S., 2019. 'The role of the NADH-dependent nitrite reductase, Nir, from *Escherichia coli* in fermentative ammonification'. *Archives of Microbiology*, 201, 519–530. ttps://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-018-1590-3

Welch, D., Swaffield, J., Evans, D., 2018. 'Who's responsible for food waste? Consumers, retailers and the food waste discourse coalition in the United Kingdom'. *Journal of Consumer Culture*, 21. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540518773801

Wellburn, A.R., 1994. 'The spectral determination of chlorophylls a and b, as well as total carotenoids, using various solvents with spectrophotometers of different resolution'. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 144, 307–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0176– 1617 (11) 81192–2

Wood, J.L., Chen, J.C., Friesen, E., Delaquis, P., Allen, K.J., 2015. 'Microbiological survey of locally grown lettuce sold at farmers' markets in Vancouver, British Columbia'. *Journal of Food Pro-* *tection*, 78, 203–208. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-14-199

Yamauchi, N., Watada, A.E., 1991. 'Regulated chlorophyll degradation in spinach leaves during storage'. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 116, 58–62. https://doi.or g/10.21273/JASHS.116.1.58

Zhai, X., Wang, X., Zhang, J., Yang, Z., Sun, Y., Li, Z., Huang, X., Holmes, M., Gong, Y., Povey, M., Shi, J., Zou, X., 2020. Extruded low density polyethylene-curcumin film: A hydrophobic ammonia sensor for intelligent food packaging. Food Packaging and Shelf Life 26, 100595.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fpsl.2020.100595

Zhan, L., Hu, J., Ai, Z., Pang, L., Li, Y., Zhu, M., 2013. 'Light exposure during storage preserving soluble sugar and l-ascorbic acid content of minimally processed romaine lettuce (*Lactuca sativa L.var*. *longifolia*)'. *Food Chemistry*, 136, 273–278.https://doi.or g/10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.07.123

# Chapter 6

# Assessing consumer attitudes towards leafy salads using time lapse video and data mining of supermarket online comments.

# 6.1 Background

Whilst the previous Chapters (4-5) have evaluated postharvest longevity from a purely technical perspective, this chapter considers the consumers' perspective of visual appearance and general attitude toward leafy salads. Without understanding the variation in the consumers' rejection of leafy salads, it is difficult to put shelf-life dating in the context of how consumers use them. When providing information to the consumer to satisfy their demands, it serves to have a good understanding of what they desire. It is clear that many different factors contribute to the perception of a product, but the visual appearance is typically the most important (van der Laan et al., 2011). Although with respect to leafy salads, there is not a large volume of literature on the subject, it is extensively studied for food in general. This chapter investigates how the consumer assesses visual quality over an extended shelf life period and how changes in visual quality correspond with the rejection of two leafy salad products, lettuce and rocket. The author wrote an ethics application to the School of Chemistry, Food and Pharmacy at the University of Reading. Ethical approval was granted for the experiment, and participants were recruited online from Amazon's MTurk platform. A novel method, in the context of the leafy salads and visual perception, was developed whereby a camera and lighting system was incorporated into a domestic refrigerator to capture timelapse video of salad leaves during postharvest storage, which would later be shown to consumers. This

research was conducted during a Covid19 lockdown period, which helped drive the innovation in conducting research remotely.

One particularly novel aspect of this research is the use of consumer comments taken from supermarket websites to assess quality perception regarding leafy salads. Analysis of consumer reviews has been studied more extensively in business literature, but not typically for a specific product category (Pavlou and Dimoka, 2006). Online retailers see these comments similar to word-of-mouth marketing and are aware of the potential for positive influences on sales (Floyd et al., 2014). Compared to traditional consumer research, where participants are often paid to participate in a study, online comments are not biased by this incentive. Furthermore, the commenter is likely to have some investment in the product, having already purchased it. However, it may be that consumers who write online reviews, either positive or negative, may be less representative of general society (Yan and Wang, 2018) and may be biased towards leaving negative or postive comments. Furthermore, it is not particularly transparent as to how the online comments are moderated as they are not moderated by a third party and are shown on

the website of each particular retailer; unfavourable comments could be removed. The analysis of these consumer reviews could provide a unique insight into reasons for product liking or rejection that has not been previously utilised.

Developing an understanding of how the consumer assesses quality from a visual perspective and particularly what colour profile is seen as unfavourable to the consumer will help guide shelf life estimates. Furthermore, the rejection rate of a salad product may give insight into the proportion of waste that could be expected with any given shelf life date.

## 6.2 Contribution to the project

**Jake Jasper**: Conception of study, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing.

**Carol Wagstaff**: Conception of study, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. **Stephen Elmore** Supervision, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing.

**Lisa Methven** Writing - original draft, Formal analysis, Writing - review & editing.

Contribution breakdown percentage by each author respectively [70, 10, 5, 15]

The following section has been submitted to Food Quality and Preference.

## 6.3 Abstract

On average, in the United Kingdom, only 30-40 % of people consume the currently recommended intake of five portions of fruit and vegetables per day. Furthermore, there is a relatively large amount of waste from fruits and vegetables compared to other food product categories. This is particularly true of leafy salads, where approximately 20 % of edible product is thrown away. With the government targets of both increasing fruit and vegetable consumption and re-

ducing carbon emissions, leafy vegetables represent a key area for progress. Although with leafy salads there are always on pack dates in the form of a use-by or best-before date, consumers tend to rely on visual assessment when deciding if a salad is consumable. Our data show that younger consumers use on-pack dates more than older more experienced consumers, who tend to rely more on visual perception. Furthermore, this paper explores consumers rejection of the leafy salads rocket and iceberg lettuce when presented with only visual information and conclude that when there are minimal changes in the visual quality over shelf life (<2 %), most consumers ( $\sim 60$  %) reject the product long after the manufacturers use-by date . Where there are minimal quantifiable changes in visual appearance, as was the case with rocket leaves, the majority of consumers indicated that they would consume the product 1-2 weeks after the use-by date. With lettuce, which is more prone to visual disorders, the range was 2-6 days after the use-by date. With an increasing uptake in online grocery shopping we also evaluate the consumers' attitudes toward online shopping for leafy salads by analysing public-facing reviews published on the website of major retailers. This work combines primary research and data mined consumer comments from online

retailers' websites to understand the expectations of the consumer when it comes to visual quality.

### 6.4 Introduction

Visual quality is often cited as the most important parameter for the consumer when considering purchasing or discarding a food item, and is particularly true of the fresh-produce category and leafy salads (Chonpracha et al., 2020). For all pre-prepared leafy salads that are RTE, manufacturers will provide an indication of when the product is no longer fit for consumption in the form of a use-by date. However, the consumer still values their own visual perception of a product as an important factor in determining whether or not to purchase or consume a product (Lyndhurst, 2008).

In the UK, the use of online shopping has been steadily increasing since the turn of the millennium. Alongside the increase in online shopping, the importance of product images has also risen for both the consumer and the retailer. For the retailer, the images differentiate the products within their own ranges, premium versus homebrand, for example, and between competitors (Singh and Söderlund, 2020). Whereas for the consumer, the images help inform the consumer about the attributes of the product they are potentially going to purchase (Park et al., 2021). Around 13 % of people regularly get home delivery, and a further 10 % use online or "e-commerce" for their groceries occasionally (Hood et al., 2020). There are many advantages to the consumer for shopping online, convenience being the primary advantage. It is also more environmentally friendly to have one vehicle make many deliveries rather than many vehicles driving to stores to collect food (Shahmohammadi et al, 2020). During the Covid pandemic in the UK, online shopping increased by 200 % (Emarsys, 2020), and when consumers were asked if they would continue online shopping post-pandemic only 18 % of respondents said they would move back to in-store only (City Food Lecture, 2021). However, one significant disadvantage to online food shopping is the inability for the consumer to physically assess the product, which is often cited as a reason as to why consumers do not like to shop online and is particularly true of fresh produce (Hackney et al., 2006).

To help the consumer evaluate a product whilst shopping online, the retailer will provide information about the product, such as the nutritional declaration, and reviews from consumers who have previously purchased it. There will also be images of the product, and it is well known that product packaging can influence the consumers' intention to purchase a product (Simmonds and Spence, 2017). It is generally understood that images are often modified with postprocessing techniques to make the images more appealing to consumers (Lazard et al., 2018). However, outside of packaging design, there is little research as to how the colour profile of an image influences the consumers decision making (Spence and Velasco, 2018). A leafy salad product that has been manipulated to look more green may be more appealing to the consumer (Spack et al., 2012). Pre-prepared salads have become a common option for consumers who are looking for convenience, which is also cited benefit for shopping online (Mallinson et al., 2016). However, one issue with pre-prepared lettuce is enzymatic browning which can be exacerbated by wounding, which is inherent in pre-prepared or RTE lettuce (Saltveit, 2018). As consumers do not get to view their products when shopping online and therefore cannot reject a product if it does not meet their standards, RTE salads may be more susceptible to losses by a decline in visual quality for consumers shopping online. Although, the consumer does have the option of rejecting the product upon arrival, which then shifts the wastage back to the retailer, providing it does not go on to another consumer. This is clearly a situation that the retailer has an incentive to minimise as depending on the fate of the rejected product; it can represent a double loss, where the consumer does not have the product, and it is then not possible to sell on.

Many researchers have focused on measuring visual quality, mainly by assessing colour, and as a result, the visual quality is often defined by empirical colour measurements such as hue angle or red, green and blue (RGB) pixel values (MartínezSánchez et al., 2012; Alongi et al., 2019; Chapters 4 and 5). Although colour values are often used as a proxy for visual quality, it is clear that in the cases where there is little perceptible colour change over a typical sevenday shelf life period of fresh produce, consumers will use other visual cues to form their opinion of the quality of the product. In a study of rocket leaves, physical changes, such as the wilting of leaves, or a deviation in the morphology from the consumers' expectation, led to a different perception of visual quality even though the colour may have remained the same (Løkke et al., 2012). The build-up of moisture in the packaging also can also have the same effect and does not necessarily affect the colour. While it is accepted that the consumer assesses visual quality prior to any other factor (Wadhera and Capaldi-Phillips, 2014), the relative importance of the features that make up visual quality, such as colour and shape, remains unknown.

Image analysis, also known as computer vision, as a method for analysing visual appearance, has become the predominant method for quantifying visual quality, largely due to declining costs in equipment driven by consumer electronics. Refrigerators can now be purchased with integrated cameras, which could allow for the real-time monitoring of groceries in situ. Furthermore, there are many freely available tools for the analysis of images with one website alone, www.quantitative-plant.org, having links to over 170 different tools for plant phenotyping and 28 open data sets that can be used to train models (Lobet et al., 2013). The advantage of image analysis over a sensory panel is extensibility, whereby the methods can be automated and integrated into other processes, such as refrigerators (Zhang et al., 2018).

In this paper, we evaluate the visual parameters that equate to the quality of RTE iceberg lettuce and rocket leaves from the consumer perspective. Firstly, we do this by analysing online shopping reviews and subsequently evaluating consumer acceptance of product images presented as time-lapse videos. We further quantified changes in visual parameters over shelf life and related the changes to consumer acceptance. Finally, to understand how the change in the colour of images affects visual quality from the consumer's perspective, we extracted the colour from the leaf images using image analysis software and compared the colour data with the rejection of the product by the consumer. We hypothesize that the greater the deviation of the image colour from the initial image seen by the consumer, the greater the rejection will be.

### 6.5 Methods

# 6.5.1 Consumer comments of bagged lettuce and rocket from UK retail websites

Consumer comments were collected from the public facing websites of supermarkets operating in the UK: Asda, Sainsbury's, Tesco, Waitrose and Morrisons. The comments were collected by searching for bagged lettuce and rocket products within each website and all available comments were taken. For Waitrose and Morrisons the earliest comment was from 2014; Asda, Tesco and Sainsbury's the earliest comment was 2018. For analysis good reviews were those where the consumer rated the product greater than three stars and the bad reviews were those less than three stars. Neutral reviews were those that equalled three, as the scale was 1-5 in all cases, there were no instances of rounding.

# 6.5.2 Analysis consumer comments collected from UK supermarket websites

Sentiment analysis was conducted using the TfidfVectorizer from the scikit-learn package for python (Buitinck et al., 2013). The stop words were from NLTK (Bird et al., 2009) English corpus, with additional words that are related to the subject e.g. lettuce.

The sentiment analysis approach multiplies the occurrences of each word in a document (term frequency), here document refers to each individual comment, by the inverse frequency of the same word in the collection of documents (inverse document frequency). The result of this is that for words that are very common and therefore assumed to be less important, approach 0, whereas words that are less common and therefore more informative have a higher value.

For sentiment classification, comments that had greater than three stars were consider "good" and those that were lower than three were considered "bad".

# 6.5.3 Plant material and the production and analysis of images and time-lapse videos.

For each trial, samples of pre-cut bags of iceberg lettuce and wild rocket were collected from the local supermarket (Waitrose, Caversham, UK) and were then sub-sampled (30 g of material) into clear packaging which was suitable for salad leaves: Amcor P-Plus  $30\mu$ oPP with a permeability of 49300cc/O<sub>2</sub>/linear meter/day/atm (Amcor, Ledbury Flexibles, Bristol, UK) and immediately placed in the sampling refrigerator. The samples were purchased prior to the start of each trial, with the first lettuce samples purchased in January 2020 (ILA), the first rocket samples in February 2020 (RA), the second lettuce sample purchased in March 2020 (ILB) and the second rocket sample purchased in April 2020 (RB). The length of the time lapses were chosen so that there was a video of a typical post harvest life ( $\sim$ 14 days) and also a video that was taken to an extreme point ( $\sim 25$ days post harvest) where there was strong off-odours and excessive moisture build-up in the packaging.

A Raspberry Pi camera board v2.1 (The Raspberry Pi Foundation, UK) was placed inside a domestic refrigerator set to 5 °C with two

Adafruit NeoPixel (NY, USA) sticks (warm white - 4500K) in line with the sample platform, and were activated 10 seconds prior to image capture. Images were taken every five minutes over the trial period.

All camera settings that could be modified were set to manual to limit changes in colour, this included: exposure mode, automatic white balance gain, ISO (the standard used to relate digital images to brightness standards used in film images), brightness.

The captured images were made into a timelapse video using kdenlive (kdenlive.org, v20.08.1). Videos were rendered at 60 frames per second at 1080p resolution and exported in the lossless H.264 format which as the highest possible quality option, so that the minimal image quality was lost during editing. Each second in the final video was five hours in real-time.

There were two videos produced (A and B) for both salad types, iceberg lettuce (ILA and ILB), rocket (RA and RB). The videos designated as "A" were the shorter shelf life representing a realistic time frame in which a consumer may keep a leafy salad product. In comparison, those designated "B" were the longer videos taken to a point

where the product was clearly unacceptable. The thumbnail of each video was a blank black image, so it was not possible to see what the video contained until the play button was clicked.

For the test image (Figure 6.1) the distribution of the image on the left was shifted +20 degrees making the image appear more green, and on the right the hues were shifted -20 degrees to give a redder appearance. The hue shift in either direction was approximately 10 %, which was deemed significant enough to be noticeable, by the author's, but not so extreme as to be unrealistic.

#### 6.5.4 Recruitment of participants

Participants were recruited by Amazon's crowdsourcing MTurk platform. Participants could access the survey if they were living in the UK and had an historical acceptance rate on the MTurk platfrom greater than 95 % as recommended by (Keith et al., 2017) for data quality. For completing the survey, which took an average of eight minutes and thirty seconds, participants were paid £1.02. Each participant was only allowed to complete the survey once. The survey was carried out in July and August of 2020. The survey had ethics approval by the school of Chemistry, Food and Pharmacy of the University of Reading (ref: 31/2020). Prior to starting the survey, participants were informed as to reason why the research was being undertaken and how the data was going to be used. The participants had to confirm that they understood the conditions of participation before they could undertake the survey.

#### 6.5.5 Consumer survey

The survey was created with Google Forms and consisted of three sections; background questions, evaluation of the lettuce and rocket images that had been colour modified, evaluation of the time-lapse videos of lettuce over shelf-life.

#### 6.5.5.1 Background questions

Participants were also asked some background questions related to their demographic, purchasing and consumption habits. Participants were asked three demographic questions, all multiple choice (gender, age and the highest level of education achieved). They were also asked to record details about the device they were using, including screen brand and model, operating system and device model. We also embedded the short Ishihara test within the questionnaire to test for colour blindness. Three questions were asked relating to the purchase and consumption of leafy salads: How many portions of leafy salads do you consume per week? (select from: less than one, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, more than 5); Where do you normally purchase your leafy salad products? (select from: in-store or online) and how do you normally consume your salad (select from: as a standalone meal, as part of another meal, or other). Two questions regarding quality were asked: when purchasing leafy salads what is the most important factor? (Price, Date on pack, visual appearance or other) and what is your most common reason for discarding a leafy salad? (Not used in time, passed the date on the pack, became visually unappealing, smelled-off or other). Where the option was given for "other", the participants could enter a short comment. Aside from the demographic questions, the questions were presented in a random order as were the selectable answers to the questions.

#### 6.5.5.2 Evaluation of colour modified lettuce images

Participants were shown an image which comprised of the same lettuce leaves with different hue distributions (Figure 6.1) where the original image was in the center with modified images on the left and right. The participants were then asked to indicate which image they would consider for purchase in the form of tick all that apply. The participants did not see the histograms with the image only the portion of Figure 6.1 encapsulated with a black background. Each participant only saw the image once. The image was presented with the three versions of the lettuce in the same order to each participant to mimic side by side product images on a web page of similar products. As there is no legislation regarding online product images, it could be assumed that the colour of the images may be altered to influence consumer behaviour.



**Figure 6.1:** The test image shown to participants with added hue histograms of the image. A) Hue angle range 70-130, B) 25-100, C) 0-60.

#### 6.5.5.3 Evaluation of the time-lapse videos

Participants were presented fours videos in a set order: the iceberg shorter shelf life video (ILA), followed by the rocket shorter shelf life video (RA), then the longer shelf life video of the lettuce (ILB) and rocket video (RB). They were asked to record the time point at which they would no longer consume the product.

#### 6.5.5.4 Image analysis from time-lapse videos

Each individual image that made up the time-lapse video contained an x-rite ColorChecker Passport Photo 2 (Michigan, USA), which was used to adjust the colour of the images with reference to a master image to ensure colour constancy between images. The master image was taken from the first day of the first trial for each lettuce and rocket. Adjusted images were then exported with no compression as png file type. When analysing the colour of a time-lapse video at any given time-point, the images corresponding to the time-point indicated by the consumer was analysed. Colour statistics (mean hue angle, hue angle distribution, discolouration) were calculated from individual leaves within each image by a custom Python (v3.8) script utilising the packages PlantCV v3.0 (https://plantcv.readthedocs.io) and scikit-image v0.16.2 (https://scikit-image.org) v0.16.2. The discolouration was defined as any hue values outside of the HSV ranges [34-148,0-100,0-100], which are the red/brown hues.

#### 6.5.6 Statistical analysis of survey data

Contingency tables were produced from response data for demographic and consumer habit questions, and associations were tested using chi-square tests using the scikit-learn (v 0.22.1) module for Python (Pedregosa et al., 2011). Results were considered significant if  $p \le 0.05$ .

### 6.6 Results and discussion

#### 6.6.1 Consumer comments from online food shoppers

For rocket there was a large amount of variation in the number of comments left on each retailers website, with the highest having 101 comments (Waitrose), the second most having 24 (Tesco), with the lowest only with five (Sainsbury's). In comparison, RTE iceberg lettuce was much less variable, where the highest number of comments on any website was 32 (Morrisons), the second most having 18 (Asda) and the lowest seven (Sainsbury's). Furthermore, the retailer who had the majority of comments for rocket was only the

third-highest for lettuce. This difference suggests that it is not necessarily retailer-specific as to whether a consumer will leave feedback but rather the specific product. There were approximately twice as many comments for rocket than there were for iceberg-lettuce, however, this was driven by one supermarket for rocket. Otherwise, the number of reviews for each product was comparable.

#### 6.6.1.1 Lettuce

The clearest difference between the consumer comments for lettuce is that in the negative reviews, discolouration, specifically browning, is clearly an important factor (Figure 6.2). In contrast, the good reviews are more concerned with textural attributes such as "crisp", and the abstract concept of "fresh". Interestingly, the good reviews do not mention that the colour is good, and the bad reviews do not mention that the "freshness" or "crispness" is bad, rather they focus on colour aspects. A skew towards positivity is not unusual with online reviews (Engler et al., 2015). However, the opposite was true of the lettuce reviews; it may be that where there is a clear and obvious perceived defect, such as discolouration, consumers are more likely to complain. Furthermore, it is noted that in the negative reviews, the use-by date is clearly something consumers appreciate when the product is not perceived to last as long as the date on the pack suggests. Reciprocally, when there is a positive perception of the product, the idea that the product meets or exceeds the date on the pack is not a particularly high concern. In the context of shelf-life dating, consumers still reject products prior to them becoming potentially dangerous if the perceived quality is not as expected, which further highlights the visual importance of the product in the consumer's decision making.



**Figure 6.2:** The 20 most highly weighted words from the good and bad reviews for RTE iceberg lettuce. There are 29 good (> three-star) reviews, 47 bad (< three-star) reviews and six three-star (neutral) reviews.

#### 6.6.1.2 Rocket

It is evident that for rocket, colour is not something that the consumers consider to be positive or negative (Figure 6.3) evidenced by no words relating to colour appearing in the top 20. Flavour and taste are clearly important attributes that are expressed in positive reviews, whereas negative reviews tend to focus on dates, also seen in lettuce, and moisture build-up in the packaging. Even more so than with lettuce, there is a skew towards positive reviews (118 versus 30 bad). Overall, there are far more reviews of rocket salads than of RTE iceberg lettuce. This may be because rocket leaves have a higher price than lettuce and may potentially be valued more (Mastrobuoni et al., 2014).



**Figure 6.3:** The 20 most highly weighted words from the good and bad reviews for RTE rocket. There are 118 good (> three-star) reviews, 30 bad (< three-star) reviews and eight three-star (neutral) reviews.
## 6.6.2 Demographics, shopping and consumption habits for consumers that took part in the survey

There were 346 participants that took part in the survey. The age and gender distribution of the participants are shown in (Figure 6.4).



**Figure 6.4:** The age and gender distribution of participants who completed the survey. The "UK population distribution" is the sum of male and females in that age bracket divided by two and expressed as a percentage of adults. (ONS, 2019). The UK population distribution shows the number of participants expected to be in the survey if the online cohort reflected the population of the UK. N = 346.



**Figure 6.5:** The proportion of consumer responses to the questions: A) Where do you normally purchase your leafy salads? B) How do you normally consume your leafy vegetables? C) What is your most common reason for discarding a leafy salad? (Number of consumers in each age group: n = (39, 108, 79, 58, 55).

### 6.6.2.1 Purchasing online versus in-store

From the sample population it is clear that the majority ( $\sim 80 \%$ ) of people did their shopping in-store (Figure 6.5, A). This survey was coincided with the 1st COVID-19 "lockdown" which may have changed people's shopping habits, potentially over representing online shopping. Furthermore, those who were more willing to participate in an online survey may be more likely to also shop online (Hernández et al., 2011). Previously it has been estimated that the number of shoppers purchasing groceries online in the UK is 15 % (Munson, Tiropanis and Lowe, 2017). From the survey, there was no-significant difference in consumption or waste habits between participants that shopped online compared to those that shopped in store (p=0.99 and p=0.95 respectively). Typically, when asked why people choose to shop in store or online, those who prefer to shop in store often cite the ability to pick up and look at the product a reason as to why it is preferred (Hackney et al., 2006). Therefore, it may be expected that those who purchase online would be less interested in the visual quality of the product, but this is not supported by the data from this survey.

### 6.6.2.2 Consumption habits

The majority of respondents tended to consume their salad as part of another meal with 36 % typically consuming their salad as a standalone meal (Figure 6.5, B). There was no significant difference (p = 0.15) in the importance of visual quality between those who mainly consumed salad as a meal on its own and those who typically incorporate salad leaves into a larger meal.



**Figure 6.6:** The number of leafy salad portions consumed per week by respondents to the survey grouped by age. N of age groups = (39, 108, 79, 58, 55).

On average, the 25-34 age group reported consuming the most portions of leafy salads per week of  $3.2 \pm 1.4$ , with 18-24 consuming the lowest  $2.5 \pm 1.3$ , there was a significant difference between these two groups (p = 0.004). There were no significant differences between any other group with the 35-44 age group consuming on average  $2.9 \pm 1.2$ , 45-54 consuming  $2.8 \pm 1.5$  and 55+ consuming  $2.9 \pm 1.3$  portions per week. These data are consistent with historical data for the UK. The 18-24 age group does consume the fewest portions of fruits and vegetables per week, with all over age groups having similar consumption habits (ONS, 2020).

### 6.6.2.3 Reasons for discard and purchase

The majority (57.5 %) of respondents selected "Visual appearance" as the primary decision factor when purchasing a leafy salad product. After visual appearance, the date on the pack was the second most selected option (23 %) followed by price (17 %). Fewer than 5 % of participants gave another reason as to their purchase factor, and the majority of those were re-wordings of the options provided. For discarding the product, "Became visually un-appealing" was the most common reason with the exception of the 18-24 age group where it was equal to "smelled off" (Figure 6.5, C). There was a trend in the data that suggested that the older the respondent

was, the more often they would rely on a visual assessment (or less on smell and dates) of the leafy salad although this result was not significant (p = 0.35). However, it is also noted that smell sensitivity declines with age (Zhang and Wang, 2017), which may partly explain this data. There was an association between portions consumed per week and reasons for discarding the product (Figure 6.7), whereby those who consumed one or fewer portions were significantly more likely to discard when the product passed an on-pack date than those who consumed four portions (p = 0.0021) and more than five portions (p = 0.05) per week. These data suggest that those who are less familiar with a product are more likely to use the information provided by the manafacturer in the form of on-pack dates. The same result was not true for the decision to purchase the product where all groups considered the visual quality to be the most important, with date on the pack second and price third. Similar results to these were discovered by Lyndhurst (2008) who emphasized the importance of leafy salads' visual component from the consumer perspective. However, any decision to discard or purchase a product is based around a multitude of factors such as previous experience, emotional state and the composition of the meal being prepared (van

der Laan et al., 2011).



**Figure 6.7:** Relationship between portions of leafy salad consumer per week and reason for rejection. The proportion of consumers within each consumption category were n = (24, 39, 80, 76, 52, 21, 30).

## 6.6.3 Consumer acceptance responses to colour altered images of pre-cut lettuce

From the colour manipulated image that was shown of iceberg lettuce (Figure 6.1), the overwhelming majority of consumers (66 %) declared that they would only choose the lettuce depicted in the "greened" image (p <0.001). A further 30 % indicated they would only purchase lettuce depicted by the greened image or the original, whereas only two percent chose the image that had increased red hues. Given that the images were identical, with the exception of colour, it can only be the colour that influenced the consumers' decision. It has previously been shown that consumers prefer darker green leaves in comparison to paler leaves (Chonpracha et al., 2020) as we have also found.

It is unclear how influenced consumers are by image colour in their decision to purchase groceries online, but it is cited as one of the primary reasons consumers prefer to shop in store (Hackney et al., 2006). As leafy salads are influenced by seasonal and geographical growing environments, it is expected that the visual appearance will differ throughout the year. However, online images do not reflect this change and remain the same, and it is unclear as to how online images are regulated. It is conceivable that the images may be produced in a way that is more appealing to a consumer, as many facets of the consumer experience are designed to maximise consumer spending (Guthrie and Parikh, 2020).

### 6.6.4 Discolouration and consumer rejection of lettuce and rocket over storage time; presented by time-lapse video

### 6.6.4.1 Lettuce

Over the standard shelf life of lettuce, captured by video ILA, there was a relatively low level of discolouration of less than 2 % of the total leaf area over 14 days (Figure 6.8, ILA). However, over the extended shelf life (Figure 6.8, ILB), the discolouration reached 12 % in 16 days. Although greater discolouration is likely to occur over a longer shelf life period, the differences observed between ILA and ILB are most likely attributed to differences in growing conditions. Where there is a relatively low level of discolouration present, such as in (Figure 6.8, ILA) which shows a minimal linear increase in discolouration over time, the corresponding proportion of consumers rejecting the product was also linear. With relatively low discolouration, it was not until six days after the use-by that 50 % of the consumers would no longer consume the product. The packaging did not have a date label, and the point at which most of the consumers rejected the product was inferred from curve fit to (Figure 6.8, ILA). When there are minimal perceivable changes in

the product, the shelf life seems to be over-estimated by the consumer. Similar results were obtained by (Manzocco et al., 2017) with Lamb's lettuce, but instead of time-lapse videos, the participants were shown still images.



**Figure 6.8:** Consumer rejection of iceberg lettuce time lapse videos stored at 4 °C. ILA was the first video shown to consumers and ILB was the third. The use-by date was not included on the packaging or indicated to the consumers. For each video n = 346.

Where discolouration, in both rate and magnitude, was more apparent the sooner the majority of consumers rejected the product (Figure 6.8, ILB). There was a ten percent increase in discolouration and rejection by the consumer per day up to day eight, whereafter the rate of change started to reduce. As time passed, those who are less influenced by discolouration are the remaining participants, and therefore, the rate of rejection slows down. The video that contained the leaves with the most discolouration (Figure 6.8, ILB) had a 50 % rejection rate that was within two days of the use-by date of the original product where the discolouration was around 5 %. From this, it is clear that the colour was a significant factor in the consumer rejecting the product. Across both videos, there were only 25 % and 5 % of people, respectively, who would consume the product at any stage shown in the videos (Figure 6.8, ILA, ILB).

It is clear that the colour of the product is highly important when the consumer is assessing the product, particularly with lettuce, where there is often clear pink/brown discolouration (Saltveit, 2018). However, when the product does not deteriorate or discolour to a noticeable amount, consumers are less discriminatory and therefore would estimate a shelf life that is longer than the date shown on the pack (Chonpracha et al., 2020).

### 6.6.4.2 Rocket

The rocket leaves exhibited no evident colour change that could be expressed in terms of changes in aggregate pixels of that colour e.g. yellow. The phenomenon of no clear change in measurable colour, yet an observable decline in visual quality, is evident in the literature with many papers reporting no colour change when measured empirically (Gutierrez and Rodriguez, 2017; Giannoglou et al., 2020) contrasted with those that have asked consumers/sensory panels to assess colour (Amodio et al., 2015). Our work demonstrates that analysing individual colours does not describe rocket leaves' visual changes and that more complex method was required. There were clear changes in the rocket leaves videos, such as water droplet formation and wilting that were not present in the lettuce videos. Respiration and moisture build-up in packaging are known issues with leafy salads and are unappealing to the consumer (Løkke et al., 2012; Martínez-Sánchez et al., 2012) and may explain a proportion of the rejection by the consumer for the videos they were shown, given the minimal colour changes. For both of the videos shown, 50 % of the consumers rejected the products seven (Figure 6.9, RA) and fifteen (Figure 6.9, RB) days after the use-by date on the original packaging. Similar to the lettuce video (Figure 6.8, ILA) where there was minimal visual change, the majority of the consumers rejected the product far later than the on-pack date suggested - based

on visual information alone. These data suggest that when visual appearance alone is considered, the point at which the consumer is willing to consume the product is perceived to be much longer than the safety margin applied by the retailer from the consumer's perspective. In this study, the consumer could not see the manufacturer's on-pack date, undoubtedly affecting the consumer's decision to reject a product. Furthermore, other factors such as the time until the next shop is due, or the time since the last shop, as well as the potential meal planning considerations could not influence the consumer's decision which would be factors if the consumer had the product in their own home.



**Figure 6.9:** Consumer rejection of rocket leaves time lapse videos stored at 4 °C. RA was the second video shown to consumers and RB was the fourth. The use-by date was not included on the packaging or indicated to the consumers. For each video n = 346.

Although there were no differences in individual colours, there were differences in the images that made up the video. The hue channel was extracted from the images, and histograms were then constructed of the hues to compare these differences. The distance between histograms different days was calculated using the hellinger distance.



**Figure 6.10:** A comparison of the hue histograms for the first and last image of the second rocket time lapse video RB.

Figure 6.10 shows the difference between the hue histograms extracted from the first and last images of time lapse video RB. As the leaves are mostly green, the number of pixels that are green far exceed those of another hue. When there are clear visual defects they often make up only a small percentage of pixels and therfore don't affect the mean hue. Taking the entire distribution into account using a histogram comparions metric (in this case hellinger distance) allows for smaller changes in the image to be realised.

In general, the distances increased over time. Therefore, the differ-

ences in the hue distributions increased over time. Using distance metrics to compare images is a relatively common technique for computer vision tasks (Liu and Yang, 2013; Font et al., 2014); how-ever, it has not been previously used to compare images in a shelf life trial.

The primary concern with expressing changes in visual quality as a distance metric between hue distributions is that it is reliant on a reference image. Whereas, where there are clear, quantifiable colour changes, such as in lettuce, consumer rejection can be expressed in terms of specific colours. It is apparent that factors other than the colour change, such as liquid accumulation, are important for visual quality and are picked up by the consumer but may have an insignificant impact on colour.

# 6.7 Conclusions - what do consumers want from their salads?

The results from this study have shown that prior experience is important in how consumers evaluate a product. The results of this study conclude that, in the context of salad leaves, consumers with greater experience tended to rely less on on-pack dates and more on there own visual perception (Figure 6.5, C).

Where colour change can be observed, consumers will use this a proxy for quality; however, it is clear that other visual features are used when a colour change is not perceived. After purchasing a product, the consumer has an image of what a fresh salad should look like and is anchored to that image (Lieder et al., 2018). The further the product deviates from this, the less likely someone is to consume the product. However, in this study there was a proportion of the population  $\sim 20$  % for which discolouration was not a primary concern (Figures 6.8-6.9).

Over storage of lettuce there was a clear and obvious increase in discolouration (Figure 6.8, ILB) of leaf area by approximately 0.8 % /day). The point at which 50 % of the consumers rejected the product was within two days of the manufacturer's use-by date. Where there was minimal visual change (for example, 0.1 % discolouration of lettuce or overall the rocket samples where the video concluded negligible visual change), the time at which the majority of the consumer rejected the product was typically more than one week after the expiry date (Figures 6.8-6.9). It may be expected that if consumers only relied on visual quality then there may be much higher incidences of food poisoning, assuming that use-by dates are accurate and that people would report such incidences. The results from this study are in-line with a recent survey by the Food Standards Agency (FSA, 2021), where 76 % of adults had knowingly consumed food past its use-by date, and 44 % of respondents considered the use-by date as a "usefull" guide. The findings of this study do not support the basis for extending use-by dates, without accompanying verification that the microbial safety would not be compromised.

Of the tangible reasons for discarding a leafy salad product, visual appearance is the primary factor, but it is only a portion of the multiple factors that go into decision making. Prior experience is important as to what extent a consumer will take into account the visual appearance, with the less experienced tending to incorporate shelf life dates to a larger extent in their decision making (Figure 6.5, C). Considering the visual appearance, colour has a large influence on

the decision making progress, but only when the product has a significantly different colour profile than is expected. Otherwise, visual features, such as moisture build-up or wilting, will be more important.

### 6.8 Appendix

### 6.8.1 Video Links

The time-lapse videos used in this study can be accessed via the following links:

- ILA https://youtu.be/O\_2gDxuoK3Y
- ILB https://youtu.be/qc2vjYlA9bo
- RA https://youtu.be/657dCPqfO4o
- RB https://youtu.be/Gcx25aGrNE0

### 6.9 References

Amodio, M.L., Derossi, A., Mastrandrea, L., Colelli, G., 2015. 'A study of the estimated shelf life of fresh rocket using a nonlinear model'. *Journal of Food Engineering* 150, 19–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2014.10.030

Bird, S., Klein, E., Loper, E., 2009. *Natural language processing with Python, 1st ed.* O'Reilly, Beijing.

Buitinck, L., Louppe, G., Blondel, M., Pedregosa, F., Mueller, A., Grisel, O., Niculae, V., Prettenhofer, P., Gramfort, A., Grobler, J., Layton, R., Vanderplas, J., Joly, A., Holt, B., Varoquaux, G., 2013. *API design for machine learning software: experiences from the scikit-learn project.* arXiv:1309.0238 [cs].

Chonpracha, P., Ardoin, R., Gao, Y., Waimaleongora-ek, P., Tuuri, G., Prinyawiwatkul, W., 2020. 'Effects of intrinsic and extrinsic visual cues on consumer emotion and purchase intent: A case of ready-to-eat salad', *Foods*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9040396

Engler, T.H., Winter, P., Schulz, M., 2015. 'Understanding online product ratings: A customer satisfaction model'. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 27, 113–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2015.07.010

Font, D., Tresanchez, M., Pallejà, T., Teixidó, M., Martinez, D., Moreno, J., Palacín, J., 2014. 'An image processing method for inline nectarine variety verification based on the comparison of skin feature histogram vectors'. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 102, 112–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comp ag.2014.01.013

Food Standards Agency, 2021. The FSA reveals that 50% of adults do not always check the use-by date on their food putting themselves and family at risk. URL: https://www.food.gov.uk/news -alerts/news/the-fsa-reveals-that-50-of-adu lts-do-not-always-check-the-use-by-date-on-t heir-food-putting-themselves-and-family-at-r isk (Accessed 3/25/2021).

Giannoglou, M., Stergiou, P., Dimitrakellis, P., Gogolides, E., Stoforos, N.G., Katsaros, G., 2020. 'Effect of Cold Atmospheric Plasma processing on quality and shelf-life of ready-to-eat rocket leafy salad'. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 66, 102502. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2020.102502

Guthrie, B., Parikh, P.J., 2020. 'The rack orientation and curvature problem for retailers'. *IISE Transactions*, 52, 1081–1097. https://doi.org/10.1080/24725854.2020.1725253

Gutierrez, D.R., Rodriguez, S. del C., 2017. 'Combined effect of UV-C and modified atmosphere packaging for keeping antioxidant compounds and extend to shelf-life of fresh-cut rocket leaves'. *International Journal of New Technology and Research*, 3. https://media.neliti.com/media/publications/263275-combined-effect-of-uv-c-and-modified-atm-42576b8d.pdf

Hackney, R., Grant, K., Birtwistle, G., 2006. 'The UK grocery business: towards a sustainable model for virtual markets'. *International Journal of Retail and Distribution Management*, 34, 354–368. https://doi.org/10.1108/09590550610660279

Hernández, B., Jiménez, J., José Martín, M., 2011. 'Age, gender

and income: do they really moderate online shopping behaviour?'. *Online Information Review*, 35, 113–133. https://doi.org/10.1108/1468452111113614

Hood, N., Urquhart, R., Newing, A., Heppenstall, A., 2020. 'Sociodemographic and spatial disaggregation of e-commerce channel use in the grocery market in Great Britain'. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jr etconser.2020.102076

Keith, M.G., Tay, L., Harms, P.D., 2017. 'Systems perspective of Amazon Mechanical Turk for organizational research: Review and recommendations'. *Frontiers in Psychology*. 8, 1359. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01359

Lazard, A.J., Mackert, M.S., Bock, M.A., Love, B., Dudo, A., Atkinson, L., 2018. 'Visual assertions: Effects of photo manipulation and dual processing for food advertisements'. *Visual Communication Quarterly*, 25, 16–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15551393.2017.1417047

Lieder, F., Griffiths, T.L., M. Huys, Q.J., Goodman, N.D., 2018. 'The anchoring bias reflects rational use of cognitive resources'. *Psychonomuc Bulletin Review*, 25, 322–349. https://doi.or g/10.3758/s13423-017-1286-8

Liu, G.-H., Yang, J.-Y., 2013. 'Content-based image retrieval using color difference histogram'. *Pattern Recognition*, 46, 188–198. ht tps://doi.org/10.1016/j.patcog.2012.06.001

Løkke, M.M., Seefeldt, H.F., Skov, T., Edelenbos, M., 2013. 'Color and textural quality of packaged wild rocket measured by multispectral imaging'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 75, 86–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2012. 06.018

Lyndhurst, B., 2008. Research into consumer behaviour in relation to food dates and portion sizes. URL: https://wrap.org.u k/resources/report/research-consumer-behav iour-relation-food-dates-and-portion-sizes, (Accessed: 13/6/2019)

Manzocco, L., Alongi, M., Lagazio, C., Sillani, S., Nicoli, M.C., 2017. 'Effect of temperature in domestic refrigerators on freshcut Iceberg salad quality and waste'. *Food Research International*, 102, 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres. 2017.09.091

Martínez-Sánchez, A., Luna, M.C., Selma, M.V., Tudela, J.A., Abad, J., Gil, M.I., 2012. 'Baby-leaf and multi-leaf of green and red lettuces are suitable raw materials for the fresh-cut industry'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 63, 1–10. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.postharvbio.2011.07.010

Mastrobuoni, G., Peracchi, F., Tetenov, A., 2014. 'Price as a signal of product quality: some experimental evidence'. *Journal of Wine Economics*, 9, 135–152. https://doi.org/10.1017/jwe. 2014.17

Munson, J., Tiropanis, T., Lowe, M., 2017. Online Grocery Shopping: Identifying Change in Consumption Practices. Internet Science, Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 192–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70284-1\_16

Overview of the UK population - Office for National Statistics, 2019. URL: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationa ndcommunity/populationandmigration/populatio nestimates/articles/overviewoftheukpopulatio n/august2019 (Accessed: 2/17/2021).

Park, E., Luo, Y., Trouth, F., Fonseca, J., 2021. 'Charting the future of E-grocery: An evaluation of the use of digital imagery as a sensory analysis tool for fresh fruits'. *Horticulturae*, 7, 262. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae7090262

Saltveit, M., 2018. 'Pinking of lettuce'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 145, 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.po stharvbio.2018.06.001

Shahmohammadi, S., Steinmann, Z.J.N., Tambjerg, L., van Loon, P., King, J.M.H., Huijbregts, M.A.J., 2020. 'Comparative greenhouse gas footprinting of online versus traditional shopping for fast-moving consumer goods: A stochastic approach'. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 54, 3499–3509. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b06252

Singh, R., Söderlund, M., 2020. 'Extending the experience construct: an examination of online grocery shopping'. *European Journal of Marketing*, 54, 2419–2446. https://doi.org/10. 1108/EJM-06-2019-0536

Simmonds, G., Spence, C., 2017. 'Thinking inside the box: How seeing products on, or through, the packaging influences consumer perceptions and purchase behaviour'. *Food Quality and Preference*, 62, 340–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual .2016.11.010

Spack, J.A., Board, V.E., Crighton, L.M., Kostka, P.M., Ivory, J.D., 2012. 'It's easy being green: The effects of argument and imagery on consumer responses to green product packaging'. *Environmental Communication*, 6, 441–458. https://doi.org/10.1080/

### 17524032.2012.706231

Spence, C., Velasco, C., 2018. 'On the multiple effects of packaging colour on consumer behaviour and product experience in the 'food and beverage' and 'home and personal care' categories'. *Food Quality and Preference*, 68, 226–237. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.foodqual.2018.03.008

Survey for England 2019. URL: https://digital.nhs.uk /data-and-information/publications/statist ical/health-survey-for-england/2019 (Accessed 6/16/2021).

van der Laan, L.N., de Ridder, D.T.D., Viergever, M.A., Smeets, P.A.M., 2011. 'The first taste is always with the eyes: A metaanalysis on the neural correlates of processing visual food cues'. *NeuroImage*, 55, 296–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2010.11.055

Wadhera, D., Capaldi-Phillips, E.D., 2014. 'A review of visual cues associated with food on food acceptance and consumption'. *Eating Behaviors*, 15, 132–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2013.11.003

Zhang, C., Wang, X., 2017. 'Initiation of the age-related decline of odor identification in humans: A meta-analysis'. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 40, 45–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr. 2017.08.004

## Chapter 7

## **General Discussion**

This thesis has sought to understand further how freshness is defined for leafy salads, how this changes in the consumer environment and how waste from this particular resource can be reduced. Food waste has always been a secondary concern to the under-production of food (Facchini et al., 2018). However, with increasing concern over population growth and climate change, the ability to consistently increase available food supplies is not a given (Reisch et al., 2021). The sustainable use of resources is a rising priority and using water, energy and inorganic chemicals to produce food that never gets consumed contributes to the unsustainability of our food system. Reducing the amount of food that is wasted from all parts of the supply chain and, more importantly in developed countries, from the consumer is vital (Reynolds et al., 2014). With the exception of cultural change, which is notoriously hard to define and effect (e.g. consumers knowing exactly what they need to purchase and actually consuming all of it), several options can be taken to minimise food waste (Reutter et al., 2017). Preventing the overproduction of food and over-purchasing of food by the consumer is the optimal solution (Facchini et al., 2018); after this point, everything is waste management. From the consumer perspective, only purchasing the required amount of food is the easiest way to reduce food waste, although this is not always an option, and particularly with leafy salads, the pack size is predetermined. Secondary to only purchasing what is required is the optimisation of on-pack dates to more accurately reflect the condition of the product (Quested et al., 2011). In Chapter 6, it was found that on-pack dates were not the primary decision-driver as to whether a product was discarded, suggesting that consumers are not entirely confident that the dates represent the true condition of the product (Figure 6.5, C).

One by-product of the centralisation of the food supply by supermar-

kets is that stock control became more complex with large volumes of products. As a consequence, dates were placed on the packs of products to aid supermarket workers. Slowly these on-pack dates mutated to also provide information to the consumer about the condition of the product (Figure 2.2). The condition of any given product is variable, but the way in which this is communicated to the consumer is static. Knowing the condition of the product allows communication to the consumer about the safety, in the form of "use-by", or quality as a "best-before" date. Typically, when safety is concerned a conservative margin is added, at the expense of potential waste, to the date on the pack. A consumer consuming food that is harmful to them is a type I error whereas, throwing away food that is acceptable to eat whilst believing it to be harmful is a type II error. As type I and type II errors are inversely related, minimising one increases the other proportionally (Akobeng, 2016). With perfect information, it would be possible to predict the precise time point at which a product would no longer be consumable. However, this is unlikely to happen any time soon, hence the margin of error. To provide the consumer with as accurate at possible information about the condition of a product, continuous monitoring would be required (Brizio and Prentice, 2015). This is currently an aspiration for the majority of food products, rather than a reality. Those systems that do exist, such as time-temperature indicators or  $CO_2$  monitors, are limited to monitoring just one aspect of safety or freshness, whereas this thesis has demonstrated that freshness and shelf life is a complexity that depends on many interlinked biological events. As described in more detail in the following section, Chapter three evaluated several different factors that influence the postharvest phytochemical composition (Table 3.1) of rocket leaves including: growing temperature, harvest, species and cultivar (Figures 3.1 and 3.2).

Whilst it is acknowledged that the research described in this thesis is limited to the leafy vegetables iceberg lettuce, and rocket and the waste from these products are relatively minor in comparison to other food products such as red meat, it is hoped that some of the fundamental ideas which have been studied will apply to other fresh produce and aid with the reduction of waste.

The main aims of this thesis were to:

- Understand how shelf life is defined in the context of leafy salads, both in terms of legislation and by quality attributes.
- To monitor and evaluate potential physiological, biological and microbiological markers of shelf life.
- Assess the consumers perception of shelf life and how this aligns with previously identified markers.

Chapter two discussed the current system for defining how leafy salad products change over time and highlights the historical context in which the current system of shelf life dating came to exist (Figure 2.2). Furthermore, we considered the primary areas in which shelf life dates may be assessed, such as microbiology (Table 2.2), visual appearance, and aroma. This chapter suggested that while the process of shelf life dating is many decades old at this point (Shottenfeld, 1973), there is a significant degree of variation around the date given on the pack due to the the difficulty in accurately predicting the condition of any given product weeks in the future. The duality of inaccurate shelf life dates is a wasted product on one side, and food being sold that could be injurious to health or not of the quality expected by the consumer may be sold on the other. One of the main conclusions from this chapter was that to minimise food waste, a dynamic system for monitoring food and updating the estimate of shelf life would be required to reduce the margin of error that is currently applied to salads. This led to further examination of pre-harvest factors that influence the variability over subsequent shelf life in Chapter two.

Chapter three evaluated the two different species of rocket leaves (*Diplotaxis tenuifolia* and *Eruca sativa*) grown at different temperatures (Table 3.1) and the effect these different factors had on the postharvest quality, as measured by key characteristic compounds (Figures 3.1 and 3.2). One aspect that was previously missing from the body of literature is the influence of multiple cuts of the same plant on its phytochemical composition, which is common practice among farmers but has previously been absent from the literature. It was found that the glucosinolate and glucosinolate breakdown products were higher in the second cut of rocket leaves, which highlights that when assessing rocket leaves for quality the cut is a factor that should be considered. In this chapter Jasper et al., (2020) found that there was a strong influence of genotype and growth temperature

on the postharvest glucosinolate hydrolysis products. Several characteristic compounds, such as progoitrin and glucosativin (Figure 4.7) were found to increase/decrease over shelf life. Although these are not solely responsible for the taste/aroma of the product, they do contribute to it significantly (Bell et al., 2017). Recent publication of the IPCC report on Climate Change (2021) has demonstrated unequivocally that the temperature of the earth is rising due to human activity. The consequence of this is increased extreme weather events and fluctuations in the environmental conditions that we will need to produce food crops under. Jasper et al (2020) demonstrated that a variable preharvest environment will lead to less consistent postharvest duration and performance. Suppose the quality of leafy salads do become more variable due to a more unpredictable environment. In that case, it is likely that the on-pack dates will become shorter to account for this, unless a more accurate method for monitoring and predicting shelf life is implemented. Chapters three and four investigate several potential and established markers for quality in iceberg lettuce and rocket salads.

Chapters four and five extended the work undertaken in Chapter two,

focusing on the postharvest assessment of commercially available rocket salads and iceberg lettuce, respectively. From the research carried out in the previous chapters, several potential and known markers were chosen to be analysed through the extended shelf life trials. Furthermore, as it was postulated that a dynamic approach to assessing a particular product would be required to reduce the margin of error associated with on-pack dates, an imaging system and analysis method were developed. One serendipitous outcome from this research was the development and inclusion of a function for analysing the mean hue of an image, which functioned by extracting the hue histogram from an image and calculating the circular mean and standard deviation. This function has been in the open-source software "PlantCV", which was developed by the Danforth centre (https://www.danforthcenter.org), since 2018 and the package has been used by many researchers since.

Chapters four and five followed similar methodologies as each other, but with the addition of measuring glucosinolates and glucosinolate breakdown products for rocket leaves. For rocket, of all the variables measured, aerobic colony count had the highest correlation with visual quality (Figure 5.7;  $R^2 = 0.46$ ,  $p = 3.1 * 10^{-28}$ ). It was also found that using conventional metrics for quantifying visual quality (mean hue values) did not represent the degradation of the product particularly well. As a consequence, a more advanced approach had to be undertaken where rather than using aggregate statistics revolving around measuring the mean hue, it was found that using a distance function for the comparison of hue histograms in the HSV colour space was more effective in quantifying the visual quality of the rocket leaves (Figure 6.10). As far as we are aware, this method has not been used for this purpose before. This methodology was later used in Chapter six for the analysis of time-lapse video in response to consumer rejection (Figures 6.8 and 6.9). In the time-lapse video, it was clear that there were changes in visual quality as there were signs of wilting and moisture build-up in the packaging. However, when analysing the mean hues, there were no clear differences over the video. It was even difficult for lab members to tell if the video was being played in reverse, so analysing the hue histograms was found to be a useful method, particularly when visual differences between images were hard to distinguish. Whilst none of the phytochemical variables measured correlated with postharvest storage, the trial that deteriorated the quickest R2 (Figure 4.5) also had the lowest levels of total soluble sugars and the highest ammonia content (a good quality marker in lettuce (Figure 4.6)) as well as the highest level of glucosinolates (Figure 4.7). The relative levels of sugars, ammonia and glucosinolates suggest that the leaves were previously in a stressed state, most likely due to suboptimal storage conditions (Witkowska and Woltering, 2014).

The work from Chapters 4 and 5 were compiled with work carried out in Chapter 6 to produce a model of consumer rejection in response to changes in measured parameters. For both rocket and lettuce, Figures 7.1 and 7.2 were produced by taking the average from each of the consumer rejection curves (Figures 6.8 and 6.9) and then regressing the averaged curve with the combined data for (R1-3, IL1-3) for each of the reported parameters. The consumer rejection curves were compared with the discolouration of the respective lettuce/rocket leaves, which could then be used to model the change in the other reported parameters, as discolouration was measured in both datasets. Therefore, the change in total sugars (for example) could be compared with the rejection of iceberg lettuce from Figure 6.8 to estimate the proportion of consumers that would reject that product at a given time point. These compositional figures are intended to emphasise that using a chronological date to represent the safety/quality of a product is inferior to using biological measurements. Although it is recognised that as the data was not collected at the same time, there are limitations as to how accurate the data is and the predictions that can be made from it.



**Figure 7.1:** Plot showing the average percent change with respect to consumer rejection across all rocket trials, for any variable that exhibited a significant change p < 0.05. The consumer rejection was calculated from the averaged results of the rocket time-lapse videos in Chapter 6. The shaded area represents the standard deviation for each paramter displayed.

From the compositional data in (Figure 7.1), the four variables (total sugars, total glucosinolates, aerobic colony count and hellinger distance) that exhibited a significant change over the postharvest period are shown. From these data it is the hellinger distance and aerobic colony count that varied the most with respect to consumer rejection. As with the lettuce results and the results from the time-lapse
video found in Chapter 6, the consumer rejection rate predicts that the majority of consumers would reject the product long after the use-by date when only considering visual appearance (Figures 6.9) and 6.8). Using a time-based system to communicate the product condition to the consumer doesn't necessarily reflect the condition of the product as, within a bag of salad leaves, the rate at which different leaves degrade is variable. The process of prediction for any stochastic system will likely produce variable results and the only way to overcome this is to continually update priors based on new information (Wang et al., 2014) if as high accuracy as possible is required. Therefore, if the waste that arises from on-pack dates is to be reduced to as low as possible, a dynamic approach is required. This work warrants further research into variables that could be dynamically monitored and to those that may indicate the rate of subsequent degradation of a product from measurements taken at harvest.

Chapter five found that ammonia has the greatest potential as an indicator of iceberg lettuce quality over shelf life (Figure 5.6) and beyond. Although the mechanism as to the increase in ammonia over shelf life is not formally established, previous studies have suggested that the increase in ammonia is associated with protein catabolism (Cantwell et al., 2010). However, we also found that there was a significant association with micro-organisms ( $R^2 = 0.46$ ,  $p = 1.97 \times 10^{-35}$ ) which had not been a variable taken into account in previous studies. With the exception of soluble sugars, which declined throughout the postharvest period, none of the other variables exhibited any consistent trend over the three trials.



**Figure 7.2:** Plot showing the average percent change with respect to consumer rejection across all lettuce trials, for any variable that exhibited a significant change p < 0.05. The consumer rejection was calculated from the averaged results of the lettuce time-lapse videos in Chapter 6. The shaded area represents the standard deviation of each parameter displayed.

From the compositional data in (Figure 7.2), the four variables (total sugars, ammonia, aerobic colony count and range of hues) that exhibited a significant change over the postharvest period are shown. From these data, ammonia varied the greatest over the postharvest period, followed by aerobic colony count. Similar to the results found in Chapter 6, the consumer rejection rate predicts that the majority of consumers would reject the product around one week after the use-by date when only considering visual appearance (Figure 6.8). These data further highlight the potential importance of ammonia as an indicator of postharvest status. Although from the three trials conducted in this thesis, there was a relatively low level of discolouration in all trials, had this been higher (as was the case in the ILB in Chapter 6), the rate of change for range of hues would have been much higher, and the point at which most consumers would reject the product would be much closer to the use-by date. The results from this chapter suggests that future work looks at the possible pathways, be it microbial or metabolic, by which ammonia is produced to gain greater insight into the biology underpinning postharvest senescence of iceberg lettuce. Furthermore, the chapter identified that remote sensing of ammonia is currently possible (Kuswandi et al., 2012) and should be trialled with leafy salads.

Finally, Chapter 6 built on the methodologies developed in the previous chapters and assessed the consumer's attitudes and preferences towards the leafy salads, rocket and iceberg lettuce. From an online survey of 346 consumers, it was found that when there were no clear visual defects, such as enzymatic browning or dark necrotic tissue, and no on-pack date, most consumers would consume the packed product around ten days after the use-by date had expired. However, when there were clear changes in visual quality (Figure 6.10), the majority of consumers rejected the product within a couple of days of the on-pack date. Furthermore, it was found that prior experience was an important factor in how consumers assessed a product, with younger, less experienced consumers more often considering the use-by date when discarding a product (Figure 6.5). It is clear that visual appearance is the primary factor consumers will use when purchasing or discarding a leafy salad. However, approximately 20 % of the consumers indicated they would consume the product at any time point that they were shown in any of the videos which were up to three times the stated use-by date (Figure 6.9). It is clear that decision making does not just hinge on one factor (Chen and Antonelli, 2020), and although it is seen that visual appearance is highest on the list, it is not the sole factor in food preference. As far as the authors are aware, the analysis of time-lapse videos for the visual quality of leafy salads has not been reported before in the academic literature.

Another novel aspect of this chapter is the analysis of online consumer comments left on supermarket websites to understand how consumers describe products they like and dislike. The consumer comment data found that in positive comments, attributes such as flavour and the concept of "fresh" were often cited, whereas, for poor products, the mention of a date was likely to be mentioned indicating that the shelf life was not as expected (Figure 6.3). For lettuce, the textural attribute of "crisp" ranked highest in the positive consumer comments, whereas the colour attribute "brown" was the word that ranked highest in the negative comments, followed by mentions of on-pack dates (Figure 6.2). For comments left on rocket products, "fresh" also ranked highest, followed by flavour and tasterelated phrases, whereas date related words ranked highest in the negative reviews with words such as "wet" and "soggy" also ranking highly (Figure 6.3). As no words related to colour ranked highly in the analysis of consumer comments for rocket adding weight to the results that were found in Chapter four, whereby it was found that the mean hue of the image did not change significantly (Figure 4.1) and more advanced methods of analysis were required. The analysis carried out in this chapter was novel, and it is hoped that the methodologies used here will help researchers and industry alike guide their efforts in exploring the factors consumers consider most important.

## 7.1 Future work

# 7.1.1 Large scale data acquisition and further development of computer vision and analysis system

Several further experiments could be undertaken to develop the work on image analysis for the measurement of leafy salads in the consumer environment. From a technological perspective, things have progressed rapidly since this work began, whereby cameras have become available which are higher resolution for similar cost to those used in this project. For the imaging in Chapters 4-6, the addition of infrared imaging would allow changes in the crop that are imperceptible to the human visual system to be evaluated (Brito et al., 2015). Combining the approach of incorporating the consumers perspective carried out in Chapter 6 with large scale data collection would allow predictions to be made as to the shelf life of a particular crop much further in advance. Using the methodology that was established in Chapter 6 over many more harvests in combination with data gathering for several biological variables that may indicate postharvest longevity, such as soluble sugars, ammonia and nitrate, would allow better prediction of when a consumer would no longer consume the product. The prediction of when a consumer will discard a product is a big-data problem (Lusk, 2017), which is difficult for any individual researcher to solve alone. However, as commercial refrigerators with integrated cameras have been launched within the last few years, tracking a product from the growth stage to disposal is becoming more feasible. Linking up the entire supply chain for large scale data collection would allow for much greater predictive power, which could be used to forecast losses from the consumer more accurately (Wang et al., 2020). Furthermore, with more data gathering, it would be possible to provide the consumer with more information about the product they intend to purchase, particularly with online shopping, where the information provided to the consumer is not limited to the size of the packaging. With online shopping increasing, it is feasible that consumers may demand more information about the condition of the produce prior to purchase. Consumers are often reluctant to purchase products online as they prefer to see the product they are purchasing (Munson et al., 2017). Online grocery shopping is in its relative infancy, and there is only a representative image of what the product may look like. Currently, there is no specific legislation governing the product images on websites (Park et al., 2021). It is generally accepted that the image will differ slightly from the product delivered as the image is not the actual image of the product. However, with advances in infrastructure, it is possible to dynamically update websites with up to date images that are more representative. Experiments that integrate data capture from all parts of the supply should be investigated, enabling more accurate predictions about the condition of any given product to be conveyed to the consumer and possibly reducing waste derived from misaligned expectations from the consumers and delivery of the product (Aschemann-Witzel et al., 2018). This would require collaboration between all parts of the supply chain, including the grower, processor, retailer, consumer and researchers.

# 7.1.2 Develop an accurate understanding of current shelf life dating via microbial testing to understand how variable current use-by dates are.

Given the conservative nature of on-pack dates, quantifying the margin of error of use-by dates would provide significant insight into the economic and environmental impact of such conservatism. Retrieving samples from retailers and testing them for the legally defined pathogen criteria, including salmonella, listeria, and E. coli (Table 2.1), would allow for the use-by date's accuracy to be quantified. Ostensibly the difference between a use-by and a best-before is of liability (section 2.4.2). A conservative estimate of a use-by date reduces the liability of the retailer. For example, with lettuce, the difference between an RTE lettuce product and a non-RTE is essentially decontamination and liability. The same pathogens can eventually develop on washed and unwashed lettuce it is merely a matter of time as decontaminant solutions only reduce the bacterial load (Uhlig et al., 2017). Further study into the accuracy of on-pack dates is required if there is to be any change in the associated waste that is influenced by them (section 2.8).

# 7.1.3 Conduct further research to develop a causal model of the increase in tissue ammonia over the postharvest life of iceberg lettuce.

From the research in Chapter 5, it was clear that ammonia concentration was the best indicator of quality in iceberg lettuce. Previous studies have also found ammonia to be an indicator of quality, but the origin of ammonia is yet to be established. The previous studies theorised that the origin is from disrupted protein metabolism (Cantwell et al., 2010) and in (Chapter 5) that it may be from microorganisms (Flythe, 2009). It is important to distinguish the primary source from which ammonia is derived as it is potentially the difference between quality and safety, or best-before and use-by (section 2.4.2). An experiment with sterilised versus non sterilised leaves may isolate the source of ammonia or culturing the microorganisms from leaves at a stage during shelf life that ammonia is elevated. It may then be possible to verify if any of them were known to produce ammonia from the cultured microorganisms. Furthermore, as has previously been discussed (Figure 5.6), it is possible to integrate sensors to detect ammonia within flexible packaging, which makes it an excellent candidate for a marker of quality.

# 7.1.4 Further develop the work into online consumer reviews and extending it to include all food products.

From the insights gained from the online consumer comments in Chapter 6, it was shown that novel insights could be gathered with respect to consumer preferences (Figures 6.2, 6.3). This process could be easily expanded to include all leafy salad products. The resulting database could be invaluable in identifying consumer preferences for minimal cost. This information would be able to further direct consumer research and plant breeding of fresh produce that is more desirable to the consumer. The decisions based upon the dataset could lead to increased consumption by consumers to meet nutritional targets set out by the government. The proposed dataset could then be replicated for all food products.

## 7.2 Conclusion

Food waste has a variety of influences, including socio-political, technological, situational and personal factors (Quested and Murphy, 2014). From one perspective, having enough food where the waste generated is of minor concern on an individual level is a somewhat privileged position, and on a societal level may indicate a prosperous society. However, even in one of the wealthiest nations, the distribution of food between all citizens is not so developed that everyone has equal freedom to waste food, which was highlighted during the COVID-19 pandemic (Power et al., 2020). With a growing global population that will add increasing pressure on agriculture, and the increase in global temperature that is likely to make farming more challenging in many respects, alongside the sustained stringency of supermarket specifications, the sustainable use of resources and how food is produced and distributed is more in focus than ever before.

The National Food Strategy (https://www.nationalfoodstrategy.org) released a report in July 2021 with 14 recommendations relating to health and food security in the UK. Recommendation two suggests

that all large food companies should publish annual food data on their sales and waste. This proposed data would likely be a useful resource to researchers and analysts and may filter down to the consumer. In the agri-food supply chain, it is clear that retailers hold the majority of the power (Hingley, 2005). Although supermarkets often claim that they are simply responding to consumer demand, it is also clear that actions taken by the retailers influence the wants and needs of the consumer (Dawson, 2013). Furthermore, due to the need for growers of food to have their produce on the shelves of the major retailers, the retailers have asymmetrical influence over food production and rather than being a conduit of food distribution, they also have a strong influence on how and what food is grown. Given that fresh produce and leafy salads are particularly wasteful due to their short shelf life, such a system would need to be implemented in a way as not to dissuade the production of these relatively highwaste food products (Wilson et al., 2017). Given that leafy salads are highly variable depending on the environment (Chapters 3-5), food waste statistics for these products are likely to be relatively variable from year to year.

It has been mentioned several times throughout this thesis that the consumer generates the majority of avoidable food waste from leafy salads, which at best is a sign of a healthy supply chain. In Chapter 6, it was reported that experience is a key component in food waste, where older, more experienced consumers tended to rely on their experience over the shelf life dates on the packaging (Figure 6.5). It is positive to see that many of the recommendations in the National Food Strategy report are related to educating the consumer, and trying to get people to be more responsible consumers. Advances in technology have given us many advantages that have undoubtedly enhanced the lives of many people. Some of the methodologies highlighted in this thesis may well contribute to a reduction in food waste and increased consumption of leafy salads, improving the population's overall health. However, some of the advances in technology may have resulted in a less informed consumer from a paradoxical information overload (Desai, 2019) that has detached the consumer from production, and with increasing online shopping and automated fulfilment centres, the detachment may increase (Moss, 2021). The responsibility for food waste is incumbent on everyone, and engaging consumers with all aspects of the food system should not be overlooked.

## 7.3 References

Aschemann-Witzel, J., Giménez, A., Ares, G., 2018. 'Consumer in-store choice of suboptimal food to avoid food waste: The role of food category, communication and perception of quality dimensions'. *Food Quality and Preference*, 68, 29–39. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2018.01.020

Akobeng, A.K., 2016. 'Understanding type I and type II errors, statistical power and sample size'. *Acta Paediatrica*, 105, 605–609. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.13384

Bell, L., Methven, L., Signore, A., Jose Oruna-Concha, M., Wagstaff, C., 2017. 'Analysis of seven salad rocket (*Eruca sativa*) accessions: the relationships between sensory attributes and volatile and non-volatile compounds'. *Food Chemistry*, 218, 181–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.09.076

Brito, A.L.B., Araújo, D.A., Pontes, M.J.C., Pontes, L.F.B.L., 2015. 'Near infrared reflectance spectrometry classification of lettuce using linear discriminant analysis'. *Analytical Methods*, 7, 1890–1895. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4AY02407A

Brizio, A.P.D.R., Prentice, C., 2015. 'Development of an intelligent enzyme indicator for dynamic monitoring of the shelf-life of food products'. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 30, 208–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2015. 04.001 Cantwell, M., Hong, G., Nie, X., 2010. 'Using tissue ammonia and fermentative volatile concentrations as indicators of beneficial and stressful modified atmospheres for leafy and floral vegetables'. *Acta Horticulturae*, 876, 165–172. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2010.876.20

Chen, P.-J., Antonelli, M., 2020. 'Conceptual models of food choice: Influential factors related to foods, individual differences, and society'. *Foods*, 9, 1898. https://doi.org/10.3390/food s9121898

Dawson, J., 2013. 'Retailer activity in shaping food choice'. *Food Quality and Preference*, 28, 339–347. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.foodqual.2012.09.012

Desai, D., 2019. An Empirical study of website personalization effect on users intention to revisit E-commerce website through cognitive and hedonic experience. Data Management, Analytics and Innovation, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. Springer Singapore, Singapore, pp. 3–19. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-981-13-1274-8\_1

Facchini, E., Iacovidou, E., Gronow, J., Voulvoulis, N., 2018. 'Food flows in the United Kingdom: The potential of surplus food redistribution to reduce waste'. *Journal of the Air and Waste Management Association*, 68, 887–899. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10962247.2017.1405854

Flythe, M.D., 2009. 'The antimicrobial effects of hops (*Humulus lupulus L*) on ruminal hyper ammonia-producing bacteria'. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 48, 712–717. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2009.02600.x

Hingley, M.K., 2005. 'Power imbalance in UK agri-food supply

channels: Learning to live with the supermarkets?'. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 21, 63–88. https://doi.org/10.1362/0267257053166758

Jasper, J., Wagstaff, C., Bell, L., 2020. 'Growth temperature influences postharvest glucosinolate concentrations and hydrolysis product formation in first and second cuts of rocket salad'. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 163, 111157. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.postharvbio.2020.111157

Kuswandi, B., Jayus, Restyana, A., Abdullah, A., Heng, L.Y., Ahmad, M., 2012. 'A novel colorimetric food package label for fish spoilage based on polyaniline film'. *Food Control*, 25, 184–189. ht tps://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2011.10.008

Lusk, J.L., 2017. 'Consumer research with big aata: Applications from the food demand survey (FooDS)'. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 99, 303–320. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajae/aaw110

Moss, A., 2021. 'How Ocado technology automated Covid test scheduling'. *Impact*, 2021, 7–9. https://doi.org/10. 1080/2058802X.2021.1890966

Munson, J., Tiropanis, T., Lowe, M., 2017. Online grocery shopping: Identifying change in consumption practices, in: Kompatsiaris, Internet Science - Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 192–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70284-1\_16

Nicholson, C., Young, B., 2012. 'The relationship between supermarkets and suppliers: What are the implications for consumers?'. URL: https://www.law.ox.ac.uk/sites/files/oxl aw/the\_relationship\_between\_supermarkets\_and \_suppliers.pdf, (Accessed: 7/8/2021)

Park, E., Luo, Y., Trouth, F., Fonseca, J., 2021. 'Charting the future of E-grocery: An evaluation of the use of digital imagery as a sensory analysis tool for fresh fruits'. *Horticulturae*, 7, 262. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae7090262

Power, M., Doherty, B., Pybus, K., Pickett, K., 2020. 'How COVID-19 has exposed inequalities in the UK food system: The case of UK food and poverty'. *Emerald Open Research*, 2, 11. https: //doi.org/10.35241/emeraldopenres.13539.2

Quested, T.E., Murphy, L., 2014. *Household food and drink waste:* A product focus. URL: https://wrap.org.uk/resource s/report/household-food-drink-waste-productfocus (Accessed: 09/08/2018)

Reisch, L.A., Sunstein, C.R., Andor, M.A., Doebbe, F.C., Meier, J., Haddaway, N.R., 2021. 'Mitigating climate change via food consumption and food waste: A systematic map of behavioral interventions'. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 279, 123717. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123717

Reutter, B., Lant, P., Reynolds, C., Lane, J., 2017. 'Food waste consequences: Environmentally extended input-output as a framework for analysis'. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 153, 506–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.104

Reynolds, C.J., Mavrakis, V., Davison, S., Høj, S.B., Vlaholias, E., Sharp, A., Thompson, K., Ward, P., Coveney, J., Piantadosi, J., Boland, J., Dawson, D., 2014. 'Estimating informal household food waste in developed countries: The case of Australia'. *Waste Management and Research* 32, 1254–1258. https://doi.org/10. 1177/0734242X14549797

Shottenfeld, C., 1973. 'Open code dating'. *Journal of the Northeastern Agricultural Economics Council*, 2, 58–63. https://do i.org/10.1017/S016354840000056X

Uhlig, E., Olsson, C., He, J., Stark, T., Sadowska, Z., Molin, G., Ahrné, S., Alsanius, B., Håkansson, Å., 2017. 'Effects of house-hold washing on bacterial load and removal of *Escherichia coli* from lettuce and "ready-to-eat" salads'. *Food Science & Nutrition*, 5, 1215–1220. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.514

Wang, S.-C., Tsai, Y.-T., Ciou, Y.-S., 2020. 'A hybrid big data analytical approach for analyzing customer patterns through an integrated supply chain network'. *Journal of Industrial Information Integration*, 20, 100177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ji i.2020.100177

Wang, Z., Hu, C., Wang, W., Zhou, Z., Si, X., 2014. 'A case study of remaining storage life prediction using stochastic filtering with the influence of condition monitoring'. *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*, 132, 186–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ress.2014.07.015

Wilson, N.L.W., Rickard, B.J., Saputo, R., Ho, S.-T., 2017. 'Food waste: The role of date labels, package size, and product category'. *Food Quality and Preference*, 55, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.08.004

**Chapter 8** 

# **Published papers**

8.1 Paper 1: Determining the quality of leafy salads: Past, present and future Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Keywords:

Shelf-life

Non-destructive

Salad

Waste

Postharvest Biology and Technology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/postharvbio

# POSTHARVEST BIOLOGY AND TECHNOLOGY

## Determining the quality of leafy salads: Past, present and future

### Jake Jasper \*, J. Stephen Elmore, Carol Wagstaff

Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences, University of Reading, Whiteknights, Reading RG6 6DZ, UK

#### ARTICLE INFO

#### ABSTRACT

The relatively high proportion of avoidable waste from leafy salads and the under-consumption of fruits and vegetables generally is contributing toward renewed interest in the value of on-pack dates, particularly those that indicate quality. Current methods of predicting shelf-life in fresh vegetables and salad are relatively conservative due to the high variability of the product and few reliable markers that can be used to predict shelf-life. This is evidenced by the proportion of wastage in this category where fresh vegetables and salad account for almost a quarter of all avoidable food waste by weight. We have looked at the historical context in which date markings have been derived, how they function currently and look at how the current system could be improved. We review the three primary factors that influence the quality of a product – microbiology, visual quality, aroma – and suggest that if more accurate predictions of shelf-life are to be obtained non-destructive methods of testing need to be developed in order to provide the consumer with accurate information about the current state of the product.

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. The fresh produce industry

Fresh produce is a category that encompasses farmed horticultural products, most commonly fruits and vegetables. Globally the yield and value of this sector has been increasing steadily over the last decade, and this trend is set to continue. From 2008–2018 global vegetable production increased from  $4.4 \times 10^8$  to  $6.4 \times 10^8$  tonnes and was forecast to maintain this growth (Euromonitor International, 2019). In Europe, 2.2 million hectares of land were used to produce fresh vegetables with nearly half coming from just three countries: Italy, Spain and Poland. Within that, approximately 17.8 % of the land is used for leafy and stalked vegetable production (DE Cicco, 2016). The United Kingdom (UK) dedicates 78,000 ha to vegetable and salad production (DEFRA, 2018a).

In the UK, which historically has one of the highest consumptions of fruit and vegetables in Europe (Eurostat, 2018), 46 g of leafy salads were purchased per person per week (DEFRA, 2018b). In the last decade, the number of prepared leafy salad items purchased has doubled in the UK from a spend of 519–1100 million pounds showing an increase in the desire to consume more conveniently prepared leafy vegetables as part of a balanced diet (Kantar World Panel, 2018). The desire for more leafy vegetables, along with increases in population, has resulted in a

\* Corresponding author.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2021.111630

Received 25 August 2020; Received in revised form 11 June 2021; Accepted 17 June 2021 Available online 25 June 2021 0925-5214/© 2021 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

significant increase in importing leafy vegetables to the UK over the last couple of decades (Fig. 1).

#### 1.2. Challenges facing the fresh produce industry

There is a mounting pressure on the entire global food system to increase sustainable food production, to cope with the growth in population numbers and the dietary changes that occur as populations become more affluent (Gerbens-Leenes et al., 2010). It is estimated that food production will have to increase by 70 % by the year 2050; not only will it have to increase in volume, but also in safety and nutrition (SEC (2010)379, 2010).

Alongside pressure from an increasing population, there are guidelines from governments and health organisations to increase consumption of fruits and vegetables. The World Health Organisation (WHO) recommends that people consume 400 g of fruits and vegetables per day to improve overall health. However, this goal is not commonly achieved (EUFIC, 2012). Increased production of fruits and vegetables is one part of the solution, another is increasing the consumption of those which have been grown, harvested and purchased. The majority of food waste in countries with highly developed food chains occurs with consumers, and the longer the consumer keeps the food after purchase the less likely they are to consume it (Porat et al., 2018). As the produce ages the consumer views it as less valuable, due to its perceived decline in quality

E-mail address: jake.jasper@pgr.reading.ac.uk (J. Jasper).



Fig. 1. The UK trade balance of leafy vegetables from the Comtrade database comprised of lettuce, spinach and chicory (https://comtrade.un.org/).

and safety. Often food that is acceptable to eat is wasted; in the UK in 2012 it was estimated that 37.8 % of leafy salad purchases ended up as avoidable waste (Quested and Murphy, 2014).

Food waste is a multifactorial problem and losses are not always avoidable. However, there are many aspects to improve on and these are covered by Sustainable Development Goal 12.3 (FAO, 2019). One particularly important area is on-pack dates. In the majority of cases, where a date is present on the pack (best-before or use-by) it is indicating either safety or quality of the pack contents. With respect to safety there are robust scientific methods that are used to define the date, although a margin of error is usually applied, which itself may increase waste. With quality the consequences of errors are less serious for consumer health and, as such, the ways in which the dates are derived are often quite rudimentary. This leaves larger margins for error and can potentially mislead the consumer, causing them to discard the salad when it is still safe to consume. Approximately 70 % of the time consumers use on-pack dates to decide whether or not a salad is 'okay' to consume. Similarly, the appearance is also cited as a deciding factor 70 % of the time; in contrast, less than 10 % of respondents said that smell was used (Lyndhurst, 2008). This highlights the importance of providing accurate information to the consumer and that consumers often rely on visual cues when evaluating a product. The situation is further complicated by the fact that consumers often open the bag and consume some of the product immediately afterwards, but then often keep the remainder for another day. The combination of changing the gaseous atmosphere inside the bag and manual handling of the leaves often renders the 'use-by' date aspirational, to the extent that some suppliers advise that bags are guaranteed until the 'use-by' date or 24 h after opening the bag, whichever is soonest. Educating sustainability-minded consumers about what constitutes real deterioration may help to alleviate some of the waste that occurs when consumers throw away product prior to the end date on the pack. Equally, encouraging disposal of waste salad into compost rather than landfill will have benefits for sustainability in the home. Retail waste can be on a much larger scale, for example when shelves are stacked with salad products in anticipation of good weather, only to find that unseasonable rain and cold weather (a common feature of a UK summer) drives consumers away from salad purchase. In these cases developing better systems for collection and valorization of wasted leaves and packaging are needed to improve sustainability goals.

One of the biggest barriers the industry has to being able to provide accurate information to the consumer is the lack of reliable tests for markers of quality (Spadafora et al., 2016; Tsironi et al., 2017), and those that do exist measure the current status of the product rather than providing any predictive information relating to shelf-life (SL). As a consequence, the quality indication given by use-by dates is often tenuous; furthermore, when it is suspected that quality will be diminished and a shorter SL is required, there is little evidence to back this up and the date on pack often stays the same regardless of what quality assessments were made at harvest or at factory intake.

This review will explore the options available to suppliers and retailers that would help reduce the volume of food loss and waste that occurs in the ready-to-eat salad industry. This will include an evaluation of the technologies available for predicting shelf life of the leaves before they are packed, ways of dynamically assessing quality loss during shelf life, and advice that may be given to consumers that would help prevent food waste from bagged salads in the home.

#### 2. Shelf-life: brief history and definitions

#### 2.1. A history of shelf-life legislation

As long as there has been trade there have been rules and customs. Early food law was primarily concerned with food adulteration (Sophia, 2014). With the rise of centralised distribution in the food supply network starting in the 1970's more advanced methods of stock control were required (Moore, 1991). Marks and Spencer introduced sell-by dates in the UK in 1973 to keep track of stock (Marks and Spencer, 2020), but that was not intended to convey information to the consumer. It was not until 1980 that there was a statute requiring dates to be included on packaging informing consumers of quality. A date of 'minimum durability', now commonly known as 'best before', was introduced in the UK (SI1980/1849, 1981SI/, 1981SI1980/1849, 1981) soon after similar legislation (79/112/EEC, 1978) was introduced to the European Economic Community (EEC). Use-before dates were introduced in the same document, and later revised to the wording 'use-by' (89/395/EEC, 1989). A year later the UK introduced use-by dates into its own legislation in an amendment to the Food Labelling Regulations (SI 1984/1305, 1984). The introduction of a date of minimum durability was first discussed by Codex Alimentarius in 1965, where the committee agreed with a statement from the UK delegates (ALINORM 65/22, 1965):

'Much depends on the quality and freshness of ingredients and on distribution and storage conditions.'

The next mention of a date of minimum durability was in 1972 when a standard list of date markings was discussed, to consolidate the markings being used (ALINORM 72/22, 1972). The first appearance of the definition in a similar form as it is today was presented by the Federal Republic of Germany:

"If the minimum durability date was applied in such a manner so that foods exceeding the date and which are still in good condition were not removed from the market, then both the producer and the consumer would benefit, the latter in terms of possibly lower priced foods." (ALINORM 74/22, 1974).

They also stated that: "without such an application of this type of date marking provision, the risk existed of restricting distribution to the larger, higher volume retailers."

However, in the UK the attitude was still of the view that the date of minimum durability was unnecessary other than for stock control purposes, and that minimum durability was 'open to interpretation', and argued that the SL would be variable depending on the storage conditions used by the consumer (Sawyer et al., 1980). The best-before date remains controversial (Neff et al., 2019) and the definition is still being discussed (REP18/FL, 2018) (Fig. 2).

#### 2.2. Legal definitions relating to shelf-life

The European Union set out two different formats for on-pack date labels; the first, 'use by', is for products that are likely to be injurious to health at a certain point in time. The second date label is the 'date of minimum durability', or 'best before' which is the 'date until which the food retains its specific properties when properly stored' (1169/2011, 2011). These static dates on the packs of fresh produce can be considered the SL of the produce within. However, 'shelf-life' is not specifically used



Fig. 2. A timeline showing key milestones in the formation of on-pack date labelling that we see today in the UK and EU.

in EU labelling legislation, but it does appear in (2073/2005) related to the microbiological criteria of food (Article 2,f):

"Shelf-life' means either the period corresponding to the period preceding the 'use by' or the minimum durability date, as defined respectively in Articles 9 and 10 of Directive 2000/13/EC."

The words 'Shelf-life' do appear in a statuary instrument in the UK, but the definition refers to 'use-by' and 'best-before' definitions in EU legislation (SI 2014/1855, 2014SI /, 2014SI 2014/1855, 2014).

Unlike other categories in the food industry, the fresh produce industry has limited options when it comes to food processing and preservation. Because of this, the life of fresh produce is particularly short post-harvest. This is certainly true of leafy salads, where products are not expected to last longer than two-weeks post-harvest (Tsironi et al., 2017; Bell et al., 2017). The most significant reason for accurate communication of SL by a use-by date is ensuring microbiological safety. Any product designated as RTE must carry a use-by date (EC 2073/2005, 2006EC /, 2006EC 2073/2005, 2006) and, since bagged salad leaves are usually in this category, the suppliers do not have a choice but to impose a use-by date rather than a best-before date. It is a criminal offence to sell food that has passed its use-by, but this is not true for food that is past its best-before date (178/200, 2002) although retailers often do not sell food past its best-before date.

Although leafy salads are required to have use-by dates, some products carry a best-before date where it is assumed further processing, e.g. cooking, will occur in the home - for example with products such as sliced kale or spinach. This leads to some anomalies in the current retail system: spinach sold as a single line bagged salad is classed as RTE and is subject to a 'use-by' date. The same type of leaf is sold as a different line with other leafy green vegetables that are marketed for cooking and therefore has a 'best-before' date on pack. Since there is nothing to stop a consumer using a vegetable spinach in a salad, or blending sliced kale into a smoothie, it is clear that the distinction between use-by and bestbefore is a somewhat artificial construction that doesn't necessarily protect consumers who are consuming them raw from microbiological safety breaches. Best-before dates are set to give the consumer an indication of the decline in the quality of the product. As the decline in quality is a result of decay and senescence, which are biological processes, there are many different inputs and pressures that influence the decline. Variance in salad crops are attributed to differences in growing conditions such as light intensity (Fu et al., 2012), and irrigation strategy (Luna et al., 2012; Allende and Monaghan, 2015). As well as the agronomic inputs, the genetic factors such as species and cultivar, influence the variability in the post-harvest longevity of the product (Ntsoane et al., 2016; Bell et al., 2017; Jasper et al., 2020). Furthermore, as the leaves of the plant mature at different rates, there will be significant differences in the quality of leaves from the same plant. Because of this, the quality of the leaves within the individual bags may be highly variable. All of the pre- and post-harvest factors make accurately assessing a product's SL difficult, and interplant variability is one of the biggest challenges.

Commercially, all produce within a particular plot of land is planted and harvested at the same time. Within the plot there will inevitably be some variation in rates of growth and development, plus there will be leaves of different developmental stages within the same plant. Therefore, leaves of different maturities are harvested together, meaning that the physiology and chemical composition will be different between leaves in the same bag. Whenever a ready-to-eat (RTE) salad bag is assessed the SL will be based on the average for all the leaves within the pack. This variation increases the difficulty in defining SL, and as to why the date on packs is set conservatively.

Suppliers of fresh produce will choose a use by date that is a set number of days after the produce is packed. This date has a margin of error, perhaps two days, and this interval will stay static throughout the year, with the occasional adjustment downwards if the crop is known to have a significant reduction in quality. Therefore, the date on the pack is set to cover the worst-case scenario, which is good for ensuring public health, but sub-optimal for minimising waste (Lee et al., 2015). Food waste associated with these products could be mitigated by retail and domestic purchasers with better planning and logistical tools (for retailers) to improve the relationship between supply and demand. However, with current supply chains requiring several days between harvest and point of sale, and with rapidly fluctuating weather conditions driving very short-term fluctuations in what consumers choose to eat with a crop that takes several weeks to develop from sowing to harvest, managing supply to consumption patterns is challenging. Alternative supply chains are discussed in the section below that may enable shortened crop cycles and more localised supply chains that may both improve quality and reduce waste.

There is a vast amount of literature assessing different facets of freshproduce physiology and biochemistry over SL (e.g. Wagstaff et al., 2007; De Corato, 2020). However, there is a disconnect between the information gathered in academia, and the dates that are placed on the packs of consumer goods. This is often because the advanced methods used in academia do not translate to industry, due to practical, economic and technological constraints. Moreover, studies are rarely repeated across the seasons and varieties appropriate for an individual type of crop. Hence, markers may be indicative of SL under a certain set of conditions but as conditions change these markers often do not produce generalised values in a way that is useful for industry to adopt.

There are many ways of quantitatively assessing quality attributes that are linked to SL. The challenge for those wishing to implement such measures is that the underpinning biology that regulates leaf degradation and quality loss is highly variable depending on factors linked to plant development, agronomy and post-harvest handling. The following sections explore quality attributes linked to SL, providing information on the biological factors underpinning the measurable symptoms, methods for quantitatively analysing each factor or its symptom, and a review of available technologies that can currently predict the development of a quality marker.

#### 2.3. The supply chain of RTE leafy salads

The food supply chain for ready to eat or ready to cook cut fresh vegetables can be rather long, given the delicate nature and cellular vulnerability of these plant products. For example, if a product is grown in southern Spain for consumption in the UK it can be 24 h between harvest and starting its journey, during which time it is imperative to remove the field heat from the crop as rapidly as possible (Bell et al., 2017) and to thereafter keep it at optimal storage temperature so that metabolic processes are arrested without causing chill damage. It can take three days to transport the crop by road to the UK, with temperatures often highly variable between different parts of the lorry. On arrival in the UK the crop may spend another 24-48 hours being washed, processed and packed before it is distributed to a retail outlet. Typically a use by date on pack can be five to seven days after packing, meaning that the product has to meet quality threshold criteria relating to appearance, safety and organoleptic characteristics for at least ten days after harvest. Therefore, the care with which the product is handled and the integrity of the cold chain through which the product moves after harvest is absolutely critical to its ability to meet quality and safety requirements.

Sub-optimal storage conditions can lead to increased quality and safety issues because the storage temperature will influence the rate of respiration and the rate of microbial growth (Løkke et al., 2012; Alongi et al., 2019). With a longer supply chain, there is a greater potential for temperature abuse which can be detrimental to the product and increase the rate of deterioration. The longer the product takes to get to the retail shelf after packing, the less time the consumer has to enjoy the project before it reaches the end of shelf-life. Whilst there is encouragement to reduce the length of supply chains and grow more of the crop in the country where it is going to be consumed, e.g. through indoor farming, it will be many years before these initiatives can account for a significant portion of the ready to eat/ready to cook vegetables that are currently produced in Europe for consumption elsewhere. It is therefore valuable to continue to apply effort to improving cold chain management and to innovations in packaging that lead to increased quality of the product at the point of consumption.

#### 3. Microbiology and shelf-life

With respect to SL, safety is the most important factor. The 'use-by' date, which is defined in relation to microbiological safety, is in place to protect the consumer. It is an offence to sell any product past its stated 'use-by' date. For leafy salads, the control of micro-organisms is one of the primary concerns; this is because of the relatively limited processing options available. Traditionally, salad vegetables do not carry any form of date as they are often unpackaged. However, with rising demand for convenience, leafy salads are increasingly being sold as RTE. Any product designated as RTE must carry a use-by date (EC 2073/2005, 2006EC /, 2006EC 2073/2005, 2006). Often, a product that will be sold as RTE is further processed for added value – cut into portions, for example. As RTE products are not going to be further processed by the

consumer, they must be safe to eat within a stated timeframe. There are very severe consequences, both financially and reputationally, for a business if there is a food poisoning outbreak from their product (Koukkidis, Giannis, Freestone, Primrose, 2018). As a consequence of having relatively few tools to ensure safety and severe consequences of injuring the consumer, the date on the pack is often a conservative estimate.

#### 3.1. Causative agents of microbial problems

At every stage in the supply chain, there is an opportunity for microorganisms to contaminate food. Often the environment in which the food is produced, be it open-field or hydroponic for example, or the properties of the foodstuff itself are determinants of which microorganisms will develop (Söderqvist, 2017). There are three micro-organisms that have specific regulations pertaining to the safety of leafy salads; these are E. coli 0157:H7, Listeria monocytogenes (LM), and Salmonella (Table 1). Salmonella and LM have regulations that are in place while the product is on the shelves. In contrast, the law for E. coli is only applied during the manufacturing stage, as although it can be injurious to health, it is not known to grow on leafy salads under RTE conditions (Abdul-Raouf et al., 1993). Although there is evidence that LM and Salmonella can grow at chilled temperatures, these organisms are not generally considered to contribute to the spoilage of the salad product (Horev et al., 2012). These organisms are important with respect to SL. However, we are primarily focused on quality changes and therefore, they shall not be discussed in detail in this review.

Micro-organisms are part of the many factors that contribute to the spoilage of food. However, as with many processes in biology, no single factor is entirely responsible as physical, chemical and microbiological factors all contribute. Bacterial spoilage is often associated with slime and a watery appearance (Tournas, 2005) caused by the formation of biofilms and/or by breakdown of the underlying leaf material. In addition to producing mycelium and spores, fungi have also been associated with a watery appearance, therefore the causal organism of similar symptoms is not always straightforward to identify by appearance alone. Unsurprisingly, the species or micro-organisms that are able to survive and even replicate at refrigeration temperatures are most commonly associated with food-spoilage such as those belonging to the *Erwinia* species.

Routine testing for food spoilage organisms is not standard practice.

#### Table 1

Microbial limits of safety and quality for precut fruit and vegetables (ready-toeat).

Pertaining to safety								
Micro-organisms	Absolute limit		Testing method reference		Stage at which the legislation applies			
E. coli <sup>1</sup>	1000 cfu/g		ISO 16649-1 or 2		Manufacturing process			
Listeria monocytogenes <sup>1</sup>	Absence 25 g 100 cfu,	e in /g	EN/ISO 11290- EN/ISO 11290-	1 2	Before the f food busine Products or during its sl	food as left the ess operator 1 the market helf-life		
$Salmonella^1$	Absence 25 g	Absence in 25 g		EN/ISO 6579		Products on the market during its shelf-life		
Pertaining to Quality								
Micro-organisms		Class A Satisfactory		Class B Acceptable		Class C Unsatisfactory		
Aerobic Colony Count <sup>2</sup> Aerobic Colony Count <sup>3,4</sup> <i>E. coli</i> <sup>2</sup>		< 10 <sup>4</sup> cfu/g		$10^4$ - $<10^5cfu/g$		$\geq 10^5 \text{ cfu/g}$ > $10^7 \text{ cfu/g}$		
		< 20 cfu/g		$20\ \text{-} < 100\ \text{cfu/g}$		$\geq 100 \text{ cfu/g}$		
<sup>1</sup> (EC 2073/2005, 2006EC /, 2006EC 2073/2005, 2006).								

<sup>2</sup> (Food and Environmental Hygiene Department, 2001).

<sup>3</sup> (Calonica et al., 2019).

<sup>4</sup> (Health Protection Agency, 2009).

This may be due to the economics of administering these tests, the lack of guidance on testing the less frequently occurring organisms, lack of knowledge about the relationship between organism load and the prevalence of symptoms, or lack of knowledge about the underpinning colonisation and disease development to provide informative predictive or actionable data.

#### 3.2. Evaluation of microbial load

There are legally defined microbiological sampling and testing methodologies for establishing SL (EC 2073/2005, 2006EC /, 2006EC 2073/2005, 2006). Because of this, microbiology is unique as a measure of quality in that the same criteria that establish the date on the pack are the same for every product that is sold within a particular jurisdiction. The standard methodology for assessing the microbiology of a product is defined in Commission Regulation 2073/2005 (2006), where the specific ISO method for testing is referred to. Aerobic Colony Count (ACC) is often used; thresholds vary for what is classed as unacceptable, but are usually in the range  $10^5 - 10^7$  colony forming units per gram (cfu/g) (Health Protection Agency, 2009; Calonica et al., 2019). Values in excess of this figure suggest the microbial flora is considered to be from one predominant organism (Health Protection Agency, 2009).

When measuring the microbiology over SL in RTE products, samples are taken at the start of production and at set points throughout the SL period. Organisms that are relevant to the safety of RTE salads are highlighted in Table 1. Often the product is on the shelves before the results of the tests are known as the current testing methods usually require 48 h of incubation time. So, if the results come back positive for pathogenic micro-organisms, products have to be removed or recalled depending on how far they have made it through the supply chain. A lot of research has been undertaken to try and develop novel nondestructive methods of quantifying micro-organisms and the majority of these methods are based around imaging techniques (Pan et al., 2018; Herrero-Langreo et al., 2020).

For a method to be truly useful at assessing microbial accumulation during SL it has to enable measurements to occur while the product is still in its packaging, and for organisms related to spoilage there has to be some knowledge of what level of abundance should indicate a cause for concern. To the best of the authors' knowledge, there are no implementations of such as system. There are commercialised methods for the detection of various aflatoxins in nuts and dried fruits, but there are yet to be similar methods in the fresh salad industry (Yanniotis et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2018). It is usual to see higher aerobic colony counts in products that have not been stored adequately. Due to the logistics of the supply chain, the retail environment, and the minimal processing options, leafy salads often have unsatisfactory numbers. Calonica et al. (2019) found that only 8.3 % of samples of salads taken from retailers were satisfactory (<  $10^5$  cfu/g) and by the end of shelf-life 80 % of samples were unsatisfactory (>  $10^7$  cfu/g). ACC gives an indication of the overall microbial status of the product and is not suitable as an indicator of specific organisms. As the microbial status of a leafy salad is often unsatisfactory, and that there are relatively limited options for controlling and monitoring micro-organisms, there is a large amount of work in research and development for discovering methods that can reduce microbial load and still deliver the quality of product that the consumer demands.

#### 3.3. Preventing microbe-derived quality loss

Controlling micro-organisms on leafy salads affords far fewer technologies than most other food categories, since thermal treatments, which are well developed, are not feasible on salad leaves due to the perishability of the crop. There are numerous ways in which growth of micro-organisms can be controlled, and it is a highly active area of research, reflecting the economic importance of this problem (Costa et al., 2011; Mogren et al., 2018). There are broadly two different approaches to controlling micro-organisms, physical and chemical.

#### 3.3.1. Physical methods of preserving fresh produce

Physical methods of controlling micro-organisms, apart from heat treatment, include treatments such as modified atmosphere packaging (MAP) and radiation-based techniques. Ultraviolet (UV) light has been studied in its application at reducing the microbial load on leafy salads, and has been found to be effective (Ignat et al., 2015); however, there is the possibility of damaging the leaves with high levels of exposure. The UV radiation disrupts DNA replication and transcription in its germicidal action, but its action can also cause quality defects such as increased respiration, which is unfavourable as far as storage life is concerned, and in strong enough doses can physically degrade the leaves (Martínez-Hernández et al., 2015). Irradiation techniques using gamma radiation have been approved for use on lettuce and spinach in the USA by the FDA (Goodburn and Wallace, 2013), and have been shown to be effective in many studies (Chun et al., 2010; Olanya et al., 2015). However, there is conflicting evidence from RTE salads whether these types of treatment persist through shelf-life or just exert their effect as a one-time decontamination (Goodburn and Wallace, 2013). There does not seem to be a large take-up of this technology in the fresh produce industry, partly due to economic factors, but also due to consumer concerns over irradiated produce (Bearth and Siegrist, 2019).

Modifying or regulating the atmosphere inside the packaging of a product has been used extensively within the fresh produce industry, and there are many reviews on the topic (Caleb et al., 2013; Hussein et al., 2015). Typically, in MAP varying combinations of nitrogen, oxygen and carbon dioxide are used depending on the product. Noble gases, which have low reactivity and no odour, have also been investigated in combination with 'traditional' gases and found to be effective in maintaining the quality of rocket (Char et al., 2012). However, in the same paper it was also reported that argon-enriched atmospheres increase respiration around 15 %, which may reduce SL. The modified atmosphere is achieved either by gas flushing to displace the air inside the bag with a desirable composition of nitrogen (or other noble gas), oxygen and carbon dioxide (active MAP) or by using microperforations in the packaging to balance the respiration rate of the product with gas exchange between the internal headspace and the external environment (passive MAP). Passive MAP can take several days for equilibrium to be reached and, in both cases, the evolution of the internal atmosphere is dependent on factors controlling the respiration of the fresh product, e.g. temperature. If the permeability or environmental conditions are not optimised then the quality of the product will be severely compromised (Ares et al., 2008). There are many studies that show the attenuation of micro-organisms using modified atmospheres (Ioannidis et al., 2018; Kapetanakou et al., 2019). However, once the pack is opened the benefits of the MAP are lost. There are several packaging parameters that affect the atmosphere within the bag, including film thickness, number of perforations, orientation of polymer chains and polymer type. For packaging of leafy salads polypropylene is the most common polymer, but the packaging parameters will vary depending on the product. The atmospheric conditions in MAP, which are usually low O<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> and high nitrogen compared to atmospheric composition (Campbell-Platt, 2017) can give rise to negative quality aspects such as discolouration and off-odours (Nielsen et al., 2008; Tudela et al., 2013). However, there are concerns over the sustainability of some of the materials used to package RTE salads, with recycling options severely limited. There is pressure to develop biodegradable, compostable or more easily recyclable packaging options that still retain the ability to control quality of the plant material within (Roohi et al., 2018).

#### 3.3.2. Chemical methods of preserving fresh produce

Chemical methods of controlling micro-organisms are far more numerous, which may reflect the commercial viability of these methods for controlling micro-organisms. As vegetables tend to be washed to remove soil and debris, it makes practical and economic sense to use this stage to sanitise the produce for micro-organisms. Simply washing the produce in chlorinated water remains one of the most common practices when it comes to controlling micro-organisms on fresh produce. However, questions have been raised as to whether or not the results from chlorine washing are significantly different to washing with water alone (Luo et al., 2011) and there has been increasing pressure from regulatory authorities to reduce or remove chlorination from RTE products (Uhlig et al., 2017). There are many alternatives to chlorine, many of which are based on weak organic acids such as citric, malic and tartaric acid. The use of weak organic acids is based around overwhelming the ability of bacteria to remove protons from their cell interior and therefore not being able to effectively reproduce as they have to expend energy pumping out protons from their interior (Akbas and Ölmez, 2007). There are many examples of different chemical combinations in the literature, with different modes of action such as thymol or carvacrol, which are both thought to increase the membrane permeability of bacteria through interactions of the phenol group and its destabilised electrons with the cell membrane (Zhou et al., 2007). Peroxyacetic acid produces reactive oxygen species which can damage DNA and lipids of bacteria; furthermore, it can denature proteins and enzymes by oxidising disulphide bonds which also increases membrane permeability (Vandekinderen et al., 2009). Cuggino et al. (2020) found that benzyl isothiocyanate (BITC) was synergistic when combined with chlorine to increase the effectiveness of decontamination over chlorine alone. Although they did state that the results may have been due to the change in the pH rather than the antimicrobial properties of the BITC. Other plant-derived compounds such as Origanum vulgare, which is derived from oregano, has been shown to be effective in reducing E. coli O157: H7 packed spinach and lettuce when combined with traditional sanitisers such as sodium hypochlorite (Poimenidou et al., 2016). Novel plant-derived compounds such as BITC, oregano extract and organic acids are desirable not only for their effectiveness at decontaminating salad leaves but also because they are not required to be stated on the label as they are generally regarded as safe (GRAS) and or classified as processing aids. This is an advantage as consumers are wary of decontaminants (Aoki et al., 2010). Ultimately it comes down to price and, if not already approved, getting the product approved by governing bodies; many of the alternatives to chlorine are not economically competitive.

#### 3.3.3. Nanotechnology and its role in food packaging

The incorporation of nanomaterials into food packaging is an area of research that is in the ascendency. Antimicrobial elements such as silver are being incorporated into packaging with success (Costa et al., 2011). However, as the technologies surrounding the use of nanomaterials is developing, the regulatory authorities have yet to form a consensus as to the efficacy and safety of many of the technologies and, therefore, few examples exist within the food industry (Eleftheriadou et al., 2017). This is particularly true of the use of heavy metals, such as silver, which can have detrimental effects on human health and the environment (Tóth et al., 2016). One of the concerns with incorporating sensors or nanomaterials into packaging is the effect on the recyclability of the packaging; reducing food waste at the cost of increasing packaging waste is not a desirable trade-off.

#### 3.4. The influence of seasonal and agronomic factors on microbial quality

One of the many reasons why it is hard to predict the SL of a product is due to the fluctuating environment in which the product is produced. The majority of leafy salads are grown in open-field; therefore, weather and seasonality play a role in determining the microbiological safety and the quality of the product. Caponigro et al. (2010) looked at six different RTE salad products from Italian supermarkets over two years and found that microbial loads peaked in the autumn months. It has been suggested that during periods of higher rainfall bacteria are better able to spread and be carried to different locations which may be a more of a factor than temperatures in accounting for the differences between seasons. However, the variability in bacterial loads is not consistently higher in the autumn/winter months. Rastogi et al. (2012) found that there was a one-log decrease in culturable bacteria of lettuce grown in the winter season compared to the summer season. It is more likely that high rainfall leads to more soil splash onto the leaves and contamination through that more immediate route, rather than transfer in moisture-dense air between fields. Often it is atypical weather events such as high rainfall and flooding that are positively correlated with increased microbial contamination (Medina-Martínez et al., 2015), supporting the hypothesis that bacteria are transferred from the soil to the leaves. This is a particular concern when considering climate change and its potential for increased variability in weather conditions and the frequency of which extreme weather events occur (Liu et al., 2013).

Leafy salad crops that are field-grown have many more avenues for contamination than those that are grown in soil-less systems. Fieldgrown crops may also be exposed to contamination from livestock in surrounding fields, wild animals, standing water or manure fertiliser. In contrast, produce that is grown under-protected and/or soil-less systems, such as hydroponics, is able to be more tightly controlled. Manzocco et al. (2011) found that hydroponically grown lamb's lettuce did indeed result in a lower microbial count (Total Coliform and Pseudomonas) when compared with a soil-grown crop. However, there was no difference in Enterobacteriaceae, which hydroponically grown crops are also susceptible to as these organisms are typically found in contaminated water supply and can enter the plants via the roots (Lenzi et al., 2021).

As well as the variation from seasonal influences, and that of the growing environment, the plant maturity also has an impact on the SL of the product. A consistent finding is that immature leaves tend to have higher respiration rates than mature leaves. Higher respiration rates potentially reduce SL as the leaves may degrade quicker than those with lower respiration rates (Martínez-Sánchez et al., 2012; Hunter et al., 2017). It has also been observed that immature leaves have higher microbial counts than those that are at harvest maturity (Rastogi et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2013; Dees et al., 2015). It is has been suggested that as the plant matures, selective pressure on micro-organisms occurs which accounts for the decrease in micro-organisms present on mature leaves, but this has not been proven, and often the seasonality effects are a confounding factor. The many different factors that can influence the microbiology of salad leaves make forecasting how the safety and quality of a product will change throughout the year challenging. As it is difficult to predict how micro-organisms develop on salad crops from the growing stage, processing the leaves and storage in the consumers home, SL dates are often conservative to minimise the chance of 'injuring the consumer' at the expense of increasing waste.

#### 3.5. Modelling and predicting microbial growth

The importance of keeping the consumer safe and meeting the quality standards that they expect are top priorities, because of this, predicting the growth of micro-organisms is a well-studied area. Typically, there are three classes of predictive modelling: primary modelling, where a few kinetic parameters are measured such as lag time or growth, and a growth rate with respect to time is calculated; secondary modelling, which incorporates environmental variables such as temperature and their effect on the parameters from the primary model; tertiary modelling, which are consumer friendly packages designed for food business operators to be able to produce models of microbial growth, evaluate the safety of their products, and inform SL estimation. ComBase (https://www.combase.cc) provides links to many of these software packages. These models allow food businesses to estimate levels of micro-organisms at the time of consumption and factor in many different variables such as temperature, pH and preservatives (Psomas et al., 2011).

Often there are many different variables in the food supply chain that

can affect the growth of micro-organisms, which are not captured within these models. The consequence of this is that companies will apply a conservative margin of error on the use-by date, of at least two days, which may reflect the lack of confidence in the underlying model. The length of time it takes for the product to reach the shelves after packaging is not always predictable and therefore providing for this also contributes to conservative labelling. There are always going to be errors in predictive modelling as it is not feasible to take all possible scenarios into account. The margin of error is applied to avoid human disease, but as a consequence there may be more wastage (Wilson et al., 2017). With an increasing focus on waste and sustainability, and as more data are collected and models are further developed, margins of error may be reduced and potential wastage avoided. With growing research into dynamic methods of assessing micro-organisms and particularly the use of imaging methods, models will be produced that incorporate these measurements to provide more accurate predictions, or real-time measurements. Siripatrawan et al. (2011) found that they could detect E.coli using hyperspectral imaging (HI) on inoculated spinach leaves, and were able to predict the number of organisms from the imaging data using a neural network based model. Kang et al. (2011) were able to detect faecal contamination, which is a common route for pathogens to enter the food chain, using HI with romaine lettuce samples. However, there has yet to be any application of these methods and models in the retail environment.

When considering spoilage and quality, the underlying models which are used to implement a best-before date are far less developed, than those that predict use-by dates, if they are used at all. There is a lack of research into markers that can be used to reliably predict quality, creating a barrier in negotiating an extension or reduction of the date on the pack as the supplier does not have sufficient evidence to back-up their perceived notion of quality. The consequence of this is that the date on the pack often does not change when the quality, and therefore shelf-life, does.

#### 4. Human perception of quality

Often, the first and most significant parameter a consumer uses to decide if they will purchase or throw away a salad product is their visual perception (Paakki et al., 2019). The appearance is the first stimulus the consumer is faced with and is often used as a metric for acceptance or rejection of the product (Mielby et al., 2012). Therefore, having a good understanding and testing methodology for visual aspects of a product is important.

#### 4.1. Visual disorders associated with leafy salads

With leafy salads, there is a plethora of different visual disorders that can occur (Fig. 3). These include russet spotting, which is induced in iceberg lettuce by exposure to ethylene in the ppm range (López-Gálvez et al., 2015), or the yellowing of leaves due to chlorophyll degradation (Koukounaras et al., 2009). There are some disorders that are associated with discolouration in leafy salads that are typically induced by mechanical damage where internal cell structures are disrupted e.g. cutting. Pinking of iceberg lettuce is one such example where cell structures are disrupted allowing the interaction of compounds and enzymes that result in colour change that would not ordinarily occur if cells remained intact. Pinking is induced by the conversion of diphenols to quinones, and then melanin precipitates which produces pink and brown hues depending on subsequent reactions that are not yet fully understood (Saltveit, 2018).

As visual quality defects are instrumental in guiding the consumer's decision process, a lot of effort has been put into measuring and quantifying these disorders, both in academia and industry (Quested and Murphy, 2014; Manzocco et al., 2017). In contrast to microbiological assessment, which will often be outsourced, visual appearance will be determined within the business. Typically, visual appearance is assessed



**Fig. 3.** Example visual disorders of salad leaves. Russet spotting on Iceberg lettuce (A), Pinking of cut tissue of Iceberg lettuce (B), and senescence of Rocket leaves (C). Image (A) was taken from (Cantwell and Suslow, 2002).

by a sensory panel or by a more objective approach involving the analysis of the emission spectra of the product. Depending on the equipment being used, this will typically be within the visible spectrum ( $\sim$ 380 to 740 nm). Specification standards for each product will be defined and agreed upon by the supplier and retailer, and any product failing to meet the required standard will not be sold.

Visual assessment by human assessors is perhaps the most common method utilised when considering the quality of a salad product over a shelf-life period due to its relative simplicity and low cost. The advantage of this approach, other than low cost, is that it is relatively quick and, when done with larger numbers of assessors, may align with the consumer perception of the product (Lee and Chandra, 2018; Nguyen et al., 2019; Sikora et al., 2020).

#### 5. Instrumental assessment of quality

Objective assessment of visual quality has long been the goal of laboratory scientists studying postharvest changes. Only recently are these technologies being adapted for supply chain applications and the primary point at which they are implemented are in the packhouse. Often the use of image analysis, hyperspectral imaging or colorimetry (see sections 5.1-5.3 below) are used for automating sorting materials of very different visual qualities e.g. removing senescent spinach cotyledons from consignments of dark green baby leaf spinach leaves. Only recently has the possibility emerged of using such technologies to detect color/reflectance changes at an early stage that enable the prospect of some better prediction of shelf life.

Several technologies rely on the real-time detection of volatile aroma compounds that are produced as a consequence of senescence, tissue damage, degradation or microbiological proliferation on the leaves (Luca et al., 2017). Generally, the aroma is a tertiary consideration when consumers are assessing salad leaves, since they cannot smell the product without damaging the packaging. Furthermore, unless the salad

leaves are particularly pungent or have a distinctive odour, such as rocket leaves, there is not much of an aroma to detect. From a food safety perspective, the aroma is not necessarily diagnostic of pathogens but off-odours are often associated with the presence of microorganisms.

Identification of suitable volatile marker compounds has come from extensive work based on assessment by the human nose in the form of trained sensory panels or preference testing using untrained consumer panels. The human nose is, compared to current levels of technology, more sensitive than the equipment that is available for automated volatile sensing. As with visual appearance, there are several quantitative and qualitative methods for assessing aroma. Most often, a sensory panel is used to assess the aroma of a product; depending on the question being asked, a trained panel or untrained consumer panel will be used. Assessing a product using a panel can give both quantitative and subjective feedback in a real-world setting. Using a trained sensory panel to determine the descriptive characteristics of a product is common. Descriptive analysis can also be used for quality control, and often it is used to determine consumer preference (Goularte et al., 2004; Murphy et al., 2011; Wieczyńska and Cavoski, 2018). There are many different methods for profiling a product with a sensory panel, such as quantitative descriptive analysis (QDA), and free-choice profiling (Murray et al., 2001). Typically, there are 8-16 trained panel members who produce an agreed vocabulary for attributes of the product. Descriptive characteristics, with rocket as an example, may pick up on aromas such as: peppery, green, mustard, sweet (Bell et al., 2016). The attributes of the product are then scored using an interval scale. However, without also identifying and quantifying the volatile organic compounds (VOCs), it is not possible to ascertain which compounds are responsible for which aromas, but research in this space has given rise to the identification of compounds which may be used to diagnose deteriorating quality (Dryahina et al., 2020), the potential of which is discussed in 5.4 and 5.5.

Different technologies have started to impact on the fresh produce market that give a real-time indication of freshness, or historical reporting of cold chain breaches. These typically rely on detection of respiratory gases and/or use chemistry to report changes in physical parameters such as temperature or humidity. These are covered in sections 5.6 and 5.7, together with a discussion of their potential and limitations.

#### 5.1. Image analysis for assessing leafy salads

Image analysis (IA) is a more objective approach to assessing visual appearance and is becoming the predominant phenotyping method. Phenotyping refers to the observed characteristics of an organism, such as morphology, colour and biochemical properties. With IA, typically an RGB image is captured using anything from relatively inexpensive consumer devices such as mobile phone cameras (Tsaftaris and Noutsos, 2009); to more advanced dedicated equipment where spectral data in single nm bandwidths can be collected for each pixel (Lara et al., 2013). Once the images have been captured, features such as colour and size of the subject can be extracted using one of the many software packages dedicated to IA.

One website alone, www.quantitative-plant.org, has links to over 170 different tools for plant phenotyping and 28 open data sets that can be used to train models (Lobet et al., 2013). With the use of machine learning algorithms for advanced feature extraction, the technology is progressing very quickly (Jiménez-Carvelo et al., 2019). IA is also much more applicable to industrial applications, as it can be automated, and is used in many different industries. Mo et al. (2017) developed a method for detecting foreign bodies on fresh-cut lettuce where a hyper-spectral scanner was placed above a moving conveyor belt. The analysis of the images captured by the camera was able to distinguish between lettuce and foreign bodies based on their absorbance in the range of (400–1000 nm), and reject samples accordingly.

The development of machine learning algorithms, that can enable

leaf material to be imaged whilst still inside packaging, has been demonstrated, which is important if post-harvest monitoring is to be achieved. In the paper of Cavallo et al. (2018), a convolutional neural network (CNN) was used to segment the images into three classes: plant, packaging and other. Currently, deep learning and CNNs are the go-to method for working with image data as, once the models are trained, they can be very fast in their decision making, allowing the possibility of live processing (Patrício and Rieder, 2018). There is no reason why this approach could not be applied to other leafy salads, and even be incorporated into consumer technology, such as smart phones.

#### 5.2. Colorimetry for assessing leafy quality

Another method of classifying colour is with the use of chromameters (Mampholo et al., 2016). Chroma-meters are analytical instruments for measuring colour, which is typically presented in the LAB colour space. The advantage of this method is that it can be carried out with only one assessor, and objective data are obtained. The device measures a small area on the target ( $\sim 1 \text{ cm}^2$ ) and therefore, depending on the target size and variability of colour, many measurements may need to be taken to accurately capture the colour of the target. One issue with this approach, particularly when it comes to salad leaves, is that there are sometimes large differences within individual leaves and between different leaves in the same pack. As the technique measures the leaf at different points, only average values are obtained, which makes it difficult to discriminate between different manifestations of discolouration (Peiser et al., 1998). Prior to IA, this was the predominant method used; in recent years, the advantages that IA brings has meant that it has largely eclipsed the use of chroma-meters.

Overall, considering the relative importance that the consumer places on the appearance of the product, there are few examples of methodologies for predicting colour change.

#### 5.3. Quality assessment using hyper-spectral imaging

Looking outside the visible spectrum with hyperspectral imaging (HI), or reflectance data not detected by human vision, is currently providing more information about the state of the product. HI is much more expensive, both in the cost of equipment and the software and time needed for analysis. In comparison to spatial imaging where twodimensional data is acquired, three-dimensional data are collected and each pixel has its own associated spectrum; the spectrum data ( $\lambda$ ) in combination with spatial data (x, y) creates voxels in the form (x, y,  $\lambda$ ). As different materials interact uniquely with different bands of the electromagnetic spectrum (EM), it is possible to gather data about the chemical composition of the material, which is one of the major advantages of HI (Chaudhry et al., 2018). HI has been used to differentiate between rocket leaves stored at varying temperatures, and from this to infer quality. A random forest classifier was able to classify the reflectance data obtained from the imaging and correctly identify unseen samples 79 % of the time (Platias et al., 2018). Specific regions of the spectrum have been shown to be more informative than others. Diezma et al., (2013) found that 710–900 nm was particularly important for the degradation of spinach leaves. Simko, Jimenez-Berni and Furbank, (2015) found similar results with lettuce, with 744 nm being the most informative wavelength for determining the quality difference between fresh and decayed lettuce. This is not particularly surprising as this portion of the electromagnetic (EM) spectrum is used for the basis of the normalised difference vegetation index (NDVI). NDVI distinguishes between 'healthy' and 'stressed' plants by the difference in reflection of the near-infrared (NIR) region of the EM spectrum, and has been used for a relatively long time for this purpose (Gitelson and Merzlyak, 1996).

Typically, when one method such as HI, is used alone with no further analysis, the results tend to heavily weight chlorophyll senescence, as with NDVI, as the primary factor with respect to change (Beghi et al., 2016). The measured values for colour change in packaged salad leaves are not always linear; often there is an initial change over the first few days and then a reversal (Løkke et al., 2013). The colour change and then reversal, has been theorised to be related to the accumulation of liquid inside the pack, causing some areas to degrade to a greater extent and making the leaf appear darker. The change of colour and subsequent reversal makes classifying quality based on colour alone difficult, and the technology is not suitable for implementation in the retail or consumer part of the supply chain. The image/colour/spectral analysis described in these preceding sections does have potential for automating shelf life quality assessment that is performed by packers and consequently to provide a more consistent objective analysis than currently occurs between different assessors. However, the pack houses are assessing shelf life quality in the same time frame as the consumer, so the real gains in this area would be for methods to be developed that could predict quality loss in a particular consignment ahead of when the consumer becomes aware of it.

# 5.4. Detecting and identifying volatile compounds emitted from leafy salad crops

Challenges remain to identify compounds which are reliably associated with quality and depending on how detection is implemented, specific to the salad leaves in question. Typically, gas chromatography with mass spectrometry is the analytical method of choice, preferably using the same samples for chemical and sensory panel analysis to provide comparable results. The media used to capture the VOCs before measurement on a GC system are selected based on the compounds that are expected to be in the subject material. Solid-phase micro extraction (SPME) is a method often used for capturing volatile compounds that are emitted in the headspace of a leafy salad. A fibre coated in an adsorbent material is placed inside the headspace until an equilibrium has been reached between the fibre, the sample and the headspace. After the equilibrium has been reached the fibre is then placed in the GC system where the VOCs are desorbed and detected.

Recently, a number of researchers have focused their studies on VOCs emitted from rocket leaves. Spadafora et al. (2016) found that sulphur-containing VOCs tended to increase over shelf-life; it was noted that the increase was correlated with an increase in numbers of micro-organisms isolated from the leaves. In this case, the volatiles were extracted from the headspace of the pack and captured on Tenax traps then measured using GC-MS. Similar results have also been obtained by Bell et al. (2016) using thermal desorption with gas chromatography-time-of-flight mass spectrometry (TD-GC-TOF-MS) with a comparable extraction protocol. Typically, GC-MS methods cannot quantify the abundance of VOCs over time. This is because VOC compounds are often unknown or uncommon, meaning generating standards to quantify the absolute abundance of them are cost-prohibitive. Because of this, the appearance or disappearance of specific VOCs is often used as a marker of shelf-life (Lonchamp et al., 2009; Luca et al., 2017; Ioannidis et al., 2018). For leafy salads, it is only rocket that has had more than a couple of papers identifying compounds associated with quality. The lack of informative VOCs from other salad leaves may be due to rocket being particularly pungent or conversely the lack of VOCs emitted from other leafy salad crops. The appearance of compounds such as pentane, 2-ethylfuran and dimethyl sulphide, have been identified as markers of microbial activity (Luca et al., 2017), and have been associated with degradation of quality during storage in rocket salads (Dryahina et al., 2020). VOCs arising from cellular senescence or degradation induced by the presence of micro-organisms are hard to distinguish from each other. Therefore, it is challenging to ascribe particular compounds to microbial or cellular origin.

There are many research examples (Lonchamp et al., 2009; Spadafora et al., 2016; Raffo et al., 2018) illustrating the value of detecting volatile compounds in packaged salad that claim to be diagnostic of SL. However, it is a huge leap to move from volatile detection on sophisticated laboratory equipment to a technology that is commercially viable and implemented within industry. The challenges for this technology are currently threefold: Firstly the appropriate volatile markers need to be identified for each crop; this is perhaps the most difficult step as there are many variables, e.g., cultivar, growing environment, that influence plant metabolism and therefore the volatiles released from a plant (Bell et al., 2017). The detected volatiles also need to be reliably associated with quality degradation that would be predictive of consumer rejection of the product. Furthermore, technologies for detecting the identified VOCs need to be developed that are cost-effective commercially and can work in real-time to monitor quality.

#### 5.5. Electronic noses for automated odour sensing

Gas sensor devices or 'e-noses' can be tuned to specific VOCs, therefore once the critical compounds concerning quality are established, devices for their detection can be built at relatively low cost. Enoses are non-specific detectors and are calibrated to detect a group of compounds rather than specific ones (Cortellino et al., 2018). 'E-noses' are relatively new, and the technology is developing rapidly. One of the issues with e-nose devices is that they are quite variable, both in manufacturing consistency and that they can degrade in their performance over time, depending on their environment, which has adverse effects on the quality of the data they generate. There has been much effort to develop algorithms that correct any variance relative to a master device (Yan and Zhang, 2016). The issue of consistency between devices could be a significant barrier to incorporating sensors into a retail or domestic setting. For a method to be non-destructive, the sensor must either be incorporated with the packaging, which provides many challenges, but may be successful at diagnosing quality deterioration measuring generic markers of degradation such as dimethyl sulphide. Alternatively, there needs to be an external sensor that is placed within the vicinity of the subject. However, the external sensor may detect aroma from a variety of origins, and therefore, needs to monitor specific compounds and is unlikely to work for bagged leafy salads or vegetables since volatiles will be contained within the package.

#### 5.6. Quality sensors within "intelligent packaging"

Sensors have been developed that can be incorporated into the packaging of a product, and therefore allow real-time feedback about the condition of the product within (Torri et al., 2008; Fuertes et al., 2016). A recent review by Beshai et al. (2020) categorised intelligent packaging sensors into four types: optical, biosensors, gas, and humidity sensors. Optical sensors rely on the techniques discussed in the sub-sections above and it remains difficult to see how these can easily be incorporated into packaging in a format that can inform the consumer, although the potential for screening at an earlier stage in the supply chain is possible by linking sensors to radio frequency identification (RFID) tags to collate information and ensure data transmission throughout a supply chain.

Attention has inevitably turned towards technologies that have potential to detect foodborne pathogens, given the seriousness of the consequences if these proliferate on food destined for human consumption. Zhang et al. (2017) have made the best progress towards developing a system with a low detection threshold, through using a Janus emulsion assay which they demonstrated would sensitively and selectively binds to *E. coli* at  $10^4$  cfu/mL and which could be read via a smartphone app. However, this still relies on a liquid medium and, crucially, that the bacteria come into direct contact with the sensor. These are substantial assumptions and therefore there is an attraction towards sensor technologies that monitor gaseous compounds. López-Carballo et al., 2019 developed a sensor that can be incorporated within flexible packaging, of samples containing infant milk formula, utilising the redox reaction of methylene blue to signify changes in quality. As the sensor was monitoring  $O_{2}$ , it would only be suitable for MAP as the bag is hermetically sealed. Carbon dioxide may be a better

target for gas sensors incorporated into packaging, since its atmospheric concentration is only 0.04 % whereas in MAP it tends to be in the 4–10 % range. Borchert et al., 2013 described an optochemical CO2 sensor which uses a phosphorescent reporter dye and a colourimetric pH indicator incorporated in plastic matrix. The sensor retained its sensitivity to CO2 for 21 days at 4 °C and could detect concentrations accurately within a minute of exposure, reporting them using a colour change requiring simple instrumentation, with a four minute recovery time. Despite the potential offered by VOCs that are specific to particular crops or that are produced as a result of microbiological contamination, to date no monitoring or detection systems have been developed that could be incorporated into packaging. Beshai et al. (2020) review current monitors for respiratory gases and humidity, but the only 'freshness' monitors that use non-respiratory gases depend on the sensor being in direct contact with the food which is not the case for packed vegetables and salads.

#### 5.7. Time temperature indicators

Maintaining an unbroken cold chain is key to preserving quality and safety of fresh produce (Cantwell and Suslow, 2002) with short breaks in cold temperature less severe than prolonged periods above the optimal temperature. Even within a single cold chain variability exists, for example depending on the proximity of a pallet to the cooling system in the lorry or the location of a crate within a pallet. Two classes of Time Temperature Indicators exist: those that are data driven and those that display a colour change based on a physio-chemical reaction.

Data loggers or labels such as RFID tags that report temperature, humidity etc have been used commercially for some time, but often as stand-alone units that have to be incorporated within the packs in a crate which then need manual recovery and interpretation. There is considerable commercial attraction to the development of time-temperature indicators that can be incorporated into packaging or crate labelling systems, especially those which offer instant visual means of interpretation rather than plugging into a computer. RFID tags do offer this possibility, but they are limited by battery life, the need to be in close proximity to the reader, and their own lifespan. Torres-Sánchez et al. (2020) report the development of a multiple non-linear regression (MNLR) model that relates the temperature to the maximum shelf life in a predictive manner, but at present this relies on the integration of sensory and physico-chemical quality attributes. The best data-driven solutions therefore remain RFID tags that can integrate multiple signals from temperature, humidity and ammonia and which are sufficiently sophisticated to interpret the relationship between these parameters (Quintero et al., 2016).

Visual indicators have a great deal of appeal commercially, particularly if they report the full history that the product has experienced through the supply chain and if they can be incorporated into the packaging. At present, chemical colour change is usually reliant on the speed of an enzymic reaction linked to a pH change, polymer state changes linked to colour change, or the growth rate of bioindicator microorganisms (Lee and Rahman, 2014). They tend to only be able to report sub-optimally high temperatures, since they all work on the principal that raised temperatures lead to a faster response of the target reaction. They are therefore unsuitable for detecting when temperatures have been lower than optimal, for example if basil has been chilled below 12 °C. An additional practical problem is that the indicators have to be stored at low temperature before they are deployed to prevent the colour change happening before the tag has been attached to the package. However, a number of TTI products are used very successfully in a commercial setting, particularly for frozen or chilled food products. Considering that leafy salads have a relatively short SL, incorporating sensors into the packing of RTE products may not offer a reasonable return on investment, especially when considering implications the sensor may have on recyclability of the product. It remains to be seen if detection and monitoring of VOCs can provide data to the consumer that allows for real-time monitoring of the health and remaining longevity of a product that they purchase.

#### 6. Concluding remarks

Previous technological advances within the food ecosystem, particularly with respect to imaging, have been implemented at the processing stage where cameras detect out-of-specification leaves and reject them. However, as was remarked when date labels were being introduced: distribution and storage conditions are important to the longevity of a product. There is currently no way for the retailer or consumer to update their expectations of shelf-life once the date on the pack has been set. The dates placed on the packaging, if any, are the only guide the consumer has as to the quality or safety of the product. Although some methods for non-destructively measuring quality post-harvest have been explored, none have yet to be implemented in a consumer study to measure the impact such technologies could provide with regards to reducing waste. High-end consumer refrigerators are now being produced with integrated computers and cameras that are able to monitor the contents, and give real-time feedback to the consumer by networkconnected devices. However, there are currently no devices on the market offering product-specific monitoring or giving real-time feedback to the consumer regarding quality or safety, and certainly not for complex products such as leafy salads that are packaged in their current format.

The economic benefit of increasing the accuracy of SL estimations has been estimated at  $55 \pm 15$  million pounds per day of savings, per day of increased SL from UK households for leafy salads (Lee et al., 2015). Furthermore, it is estimated that retailers would save 2720 tonnes of leafy salads from waste per day of increased shelf-life. There is a clear case for providing the consumer with more accurate information about the state of the product. However, although the technology for sensing quality and safety is progressing, there is still a long way to go in order to be able to reduce the amount of waste, whilst maintaining safety and quality.

#### Funding

Jake Jasper was funded by a KTN BBSRC Industrial CASE award with reference 24902996, supported by Waitrose (John Lewis plc).

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors report no declarations of interest.

#### References

1169/2011, 20111169/2011, 2011. Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 of the european parliament and of the council. Off. J. Europe. Union L 304 (18). http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2011/1169/oj.

178/200, 2002178/200, 2002. Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 January 2002 Laying Down the General Principles and Requirements of Food Law, Establishing the European Food Safety Authority and Laying Down Procedures in Matters of Food Safety. http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2002/178/oj.

- 79/112/EEC, 1978. Council Directive 79/112/EEC of 18 December 1978 on the Approximation of the Laws of the Member States Relating to the Labelling, Presentation and Advertising of Foodstuffs for Sale to the Ultimate Consumer, 31979L0112. http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/1979/112/oj.
- 89/395/EEC, 1989. Council Directive 89/395/EEC of 14 June 1989 Amending Directive 79/112/EEC on the Approximation of the Laws of the Member States Relating to Labelling, Presentation and Advertising of Foodstuffs for Sale to the Ultimate Consumer. p. 114958. http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/1989/395/oi.
- Abdul-Raouf, U.M., Beuchat, L.R., Ammar, M.S., 1993. Survival and growth of Escherichia coli O157:H7 on salad vegetables. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 59, 1999–2006. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.59.7.1999-2006.1993.
- Akbas, M.Y., Ölmez, H., 2007. Inactivation of Escherichia coli and Listeria monocytogenes on iceberg lettuce by dip wash treatments with organic acids. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 44, 619–624. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2007.02127.x.

ALINORM 65/22, 1965. Joint FAO/WHO Codex Alimentarius Commission Codex Committee ON Food Labelling. FAO

#### J. Jasper et al.

 ALINORM 72/22, 1972. Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme Codex Alimentarius Commission Ninth Session. FAO, Rome, 6-17 November 1972.
 ALINORM 74/22, 1974. Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme Codex Alimentarius Commission Tenth Session. FAO, Geneva. July 1974.

Alongi, M., Sillani, S., Lagazio, C., Manzocco, L., 2019. Effect of expiry date communication on acceptability and waste of fresh-cut lettuce during storage at different temperatures. Food Res. Int. 116, 1121–1125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodres.2018.09.056.

Aoki, K., Shen, J., Saijo, T., 2010. Consumer reaction to information on food additives: evidence from an eating experiment and a field survey. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 73, 433–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2009.11.007.

Ares, G., Lareo, C., Lema, P., 2008. Sensory shelf life of butterhead lettuce leaves in active and passive modified atmosphere packages. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 43, 1671–1677. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2011.05.037.

Bearth, A., Siegrist, M., 2019. "As long as it is not irradiated" – influencing factors of US consumers' acceptance of food irradiation. Food Qual. Prefer. 71, 141–148. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2018.06.015.

- Beghi, R., Giovenzana, V., Civelli, R., Guidetti, R., 2016. Influence of packaging in the analysis of fresh-cut Valerianella locusta L. And Golden Delicious apple slices by visible-near infrared and near infrared spectroscopy. J. Food Eng. 171, 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2015.10.021.
- Bell, L., Spadafora, N.D., Müller, C.T., Wagstaff, C., Rogers, H.J., 2016. Use of TD-GC–TOF-MS to assess volatile composition during post-harvest storage in seven accessions of rocket salad (Eruca sativa). Food Chem. 194, 626–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.08.043.

Bell, L., Yahya, H.N., Oloyede, O.O., Methven, L., Wagstaff, C., 2017. Changes in rocket salad phytochemicals within the commercial supply chain: glucosinolates, isothiocyanates, amino acids and bacterial load increase significantly after processing. Food Chem. 221, 521–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodchem.2016.11.154.

Borchert, N.B., Kerry, J.P., Papkovsky, D.B., 2013. A CO2 sensor based on Pt-porphyrin dye and FRET scheme for food packaging applications. Sens. Actuators B Chem. 176, 157–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2012.09.043.

Caleb, O.J., Mahajan, P.V., Al-Said, F.A.-J., Opara, U.L., 2013. Modified atmosphere packaging technology of fresh and fresh-cut produce and the microbial consequences—a review. Food Bioprocess Technol 6, 303–329. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11947-012-0932-4.

 Calonica, C., Delfino, V., Pesavento, G., Mundo, M., Nostro, Antonella Lo, 2019. Microbiological quality of ready-to-eat salads from processing plant to the consumers. J. Food Nutr. Res. 7, 427–434. https://doi.org/10.12691/jfnr-7-6-3.
 Campbell-Platt, G., 2017. In: International Union of Food Science and Technology (Ed.),

Food Science and Technology, second edition. Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, USA. Cantwell, M., Suslow, T., 2002. Lettuce, Crisphead: Recommendations for Maintaining Postharvest Quality [WWW Document]. http://postharvest.ucdavis.edu/Commodit y\_Resources/Fact\_Sheets/Datastores/Vegetables\_English/?uid=19&ds=799.

Caponigro, V., Ventura, M., Chiancone, I., Amato, L., Parente, E., Piro, F., 2010. Variation of microbial load and visual quality of ready-to-eat salads by vegetable type, season, processor and retailer. Food Microbiol. 27, 1071–1077. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.fm.2010.07.011.

- Cavallo, D.P., Cefola, M., Pace, B., Logrieco, A.F., Attolico, G., 2018. Non-destructive automatic quality evaluation of fresh-cut iceberg lettuce through packaging material. J. Food Eng. 223, 46–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2017.11.042.
- Char, C., Silveira, A.C., Inestroza-Lizardo, C., Hinojosa, A., Machuca, A., Escalona, V.H., 2012. Effect of noble gas-enriched atmospheres on the overall quality of ready-to-eat arugula salads. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 73, 50–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. postharvbio.2012.05.010.
- Chaudhry, M.M.A., Amodio, M.L., Babellahi, F., de Chiara, M.L.V., Amigo Rubio, J.M., Colelli, G., 2018. Hyperspectral imaging and multivariate accelerated shelf-life testing (MASLT) approach for determining shelf-life of rocket leaves. J. Food Eng. 238, 122–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2018.06.017.

Chun, H.-H., Kim, J.-Y., Song, K.B., 2010. Inactivation of foodborne pathogens in readyto-eat salad using UV-C irradiation. Food Sci. Biotechnol. 19, 547–551. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10068-010-0076-0.

Cortellino, G., Gobbi, S., Rizzolo, A., 2018. shelf-life of fresh-cut lamb's lettuce (Valerianella locusta L.) monitored by electronic nose and relationship with chlorophyll a fluorescence and mechanical-acoustic test. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 136, 178–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2017.11.002.

Costa, C., Conte, A., Buonocore, G.G., Del Nobile, M.A., 2011. Antimicrobial silvermontmorillonite nanoparticles to prolong the shelf-life of fresh fruit salad. Int. J. Food Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2011.05.018. S0168160511003011.

Cuggino, S.G., Bascón-Villegas, I., Rincón, F., Pérez, M.A., Posada-Izquierdo, G., Marugán, J., Pablos Carro, C., Pérez-Rodríguez, F., 2020. Modelling the combined effect of chlorine, benzyl isothiocyanate, exposure time and cut size on the reduction of Salmonella in fresh-cut lettuce during washing process. Food Microbiol. 86, 103346 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2019.103346.

De Cicco, A., 2016. The Fruit and Vegetable Sector in the EU - a Statistical Overview -Statistics Explained [WWW Document]. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statist ics-explained/index.php/The\_fruit\_and\_vegetable\_sector\_in\_the\_EU\_- a\_statistical overview#Fresh\_vegetables: holdings.2C areas and production.

De Corato, U., 2020. Improving the shelf-life and quality of fresh and minimallyprocessed fruits and vegetables for a modern food industry: a comprehensive critical review from the traditional technologies into the most promising advancements. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. 60, 940–975. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10408398.2018.1553025. Dees, M.W., Lysøe, E., Nordskog, B., Brurberg, M.B., 2015. Bacterial communities associated with surfaces of leafy greens: shift in composition and decrease in richness over time. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 81, 1530–1539. https://doi.org/10.1128/ AEM.03470-14.

DEFRA, 2018a. Average Purchase Per Person Per Week of Fresh Vegetables in the United Kingdom (UK) in 2016/17, by Type (in Grams) [WWW Document]. Statista. htt ps://www.statista.com/statistics/284411/weekly-uk-household-consumption-of-v egetables-excluding-potatoes/.

DEFRA, 2018b. Farming Statistics Provisional Crop Areas, Yields and Livestock Populations At June 2018 - United Kingdom. https://www.gov.uk/government/st atistics/farming-statistics-provisional-crop-areas-yields-and-livestock-populationsat-1-june-2018-united-kingdom.

Dryahina, K., Som, S., Smith, D., Španěl, P., 2020. Characterization of spoilage-related volatile organic compounds in packaged leaf salads. Flavour Fragr. J. 35, 24–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/ffj.3535.

EC 2073/2005, 2006. Commision Regulation (EC) No 2073/2005 of 15 November 2005 on Microbiological Criteria for Foodstuffs, 32005R2073. https://eur-lex.europa.eu /legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX%3A32005R2073.

Eleftheriadou, M., Pyrgiotakis, G., Demokritou, P., 2017. Nanotechnology to the rescue: using nano-enabled approaches in microbiological food safety and quality. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 44, 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2016.11.012.

EUFIC, 2012. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption in Europe [WWW Document]. http s://www.eufic.org/en/healthy-living/article/fruit-and-vegetable-consumption-in-eu rope-do-europeans-get-enough.

Euromonitor International, 2019. Historical Market Sizes: Vegetables [WWW Document]. Euromonitor. http://www.portal.euromonitor.com.dblibweb.rdg.ac. uk:4000/portal/statisticsevolution/index.

Eurostat, 2018. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Statistics [WWW Document]. Eurostat. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Fruit\_and\_vege table\_consumption\_statistics#Vegetable\_consumption.

FAO, 2019. The State of Food and Agriculture 2019. Moving Forward on Food Loss and Waste Reduction. Rome. http://www.fao.org/3/ca6030en/ca6030en.pdf.

Food and Environmental Hygiene Department, 2001. Microbiological Guidelines for Ready-to-eat Food. https://www.cfs.gov.hk/english/food\_leg/files/food\_leg\_Microbiological\_Guidelines\_for\_Food\_e.pdf.

Fu, W., Li, P., Wu, Y., 2012. Effects of different light intensities on chlorophyll fluorescence characteristics and yield in lettuce. Sci. Hortic. 135, 45–51. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scienta.2011.12.004.

Fuertes, G., Soto, I., Carrasco, R., Vargas, M., Sabattin, J., Lagos, C., 2016. Intelligent packaging systems: sensors and nanosensors to monitor food quality and safety [WWW document]. J. Sens. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4046061.Gerbens-Leenes, P.W., Nonhebel, S., Krol, M.S., 2010. Food consumption patterns and

Gerbens-Leenes, P.W., Nonhebel, S., Krol, M.S., 2010. Food consumption patterns and economic growth. Increasing affluence and the use of natural resources. Appetite 55, 597–608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2010.09.013.

- Gitelson, A.A., Merzlyak, M.N., 1996. Signature analysis of leaf reflectance spectra: algorithm development for remote sensing of chlorophyll. J. Plant Physiol. 148, 494–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0176-1617(96)80284-7.
  Goodburn, C., Wallace, C.A., 2013. The microbiological efficacy of decontamination
- Goodburn, C., Wallace, C.A., 2013. The microbiological efficacy of decontamination methodologies for fresh produce: a review. Food Control 32, 418–427. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2012.12.012.
- Goularte, L., Martins, C.G., Morales-Aizpurúa, I.C., Destro, M.T., Franco, B.D.G.M., Vizeu, D.M., Hutzler, B.W., Landgraf, M., 2004. Combination of minimal processing and irradiation to improve the microbiological safety of lettuce (Lactuca sativa, L.). Radiat. Phys. Chem. 71, 157–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. radphyschem 2004.03.026

Health Protection Agency, 2009. Guidelines for Assessing the Microbiological Safety of Ready-to-Eat Foods. https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/201407 14111812/http://www.hpa.org.uk/webc/HPAwebFile/HPAweb\_C/12591519 21557.

Herrero-Langreo, A., Scannell, A.G.M., Gowen, A., 2020. 'Hyperspectral imaging for food-related microbiology applications'. Data Handling in Science and Technology. Elsevier, pp. 493–522. Available at: 10.1016/B978-0-444-63977-6.00020-1 (Accessed: 19 November 2020).

Horev, B., Sela, S., Vinokur, Y., Gorbatsevich, E., Pinto, R., Rodov, V., 2012. The effects of active and passive modified atmosphere packaging on the survival of Salmonella enterica serotype Typhimurium on washed romaine lettuce leaves. Food Res. Int. 45 (2), 1129–1132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2011.05.037.

Hunter, P.J., Atkinson, L.D., Vickers, L., Lignou, S., Oruna-Concha, M.J., Pink, D., Hand, P., Barker, G., Wagstaff, C., Monaghan, J.M., 2017. Oxidative discolouration in whole-head and cut lettuce: biochemical and environmental influences on a complex phenotype and potential breeding strategies to improve shelf-life. Euphytica 213, 180. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-017-1964-7.

Hussein, Z., Caleb, O.J., Opara, U.L., 2015. Perforation-mediated modified atmosphere packaging of fresh and minimally processed produce—a review. Food Packaging and shelf-life 6, 7–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fpsl.2015.08.003.

Ignat, A., Manzocco, L., Bartolomeoli, I., Maifreni, M., Nicoli, M.C., 2015. Minimization of water consumption in fresh-cut salad washing by UV-C light. Food Control 50, 491–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.09.036.

Ioannidis, A.-G., Kerckhof, F.-M., Riahi Drif, Y., Vanderroost, M., Boon, N., Ragaert, P., De Meulenaer, B., Devlieghere, F., 2018. Characterization of spoilage markers in modified atmosphere packaged iceberg lettuce. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 279, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2018.04.034.

Jasper, J., Wagstaff, C., Bell, L., 2020. Growth temperature influences postharvest glucosinolate concentrations and hydrolysis product formation in first and second cuts of rocket salad. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 163, 111157 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.postharvbio.2020.111157. J. Jasper et al.

- Jiménez-Carvelo, A.M., González-Casado, A., Bagur-González, M.G., Cuadros-Rodríguez, L., 2019. Alternative data mining/machine learning methods for the analytical evaluation of food quality and authenticity – a review. Food Res. Int. 122, 25-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2019.03.063.Kang, S., Lee, K., Son, J., Kim, M.S., 2011. Detection of fecal contamination on leafy
- Kang, S., Lee, K., Son, J., Kim, M.S., 2011. Detection of fecal contamination on leafy greens by hyperspectral imaging. Procedia Food Sci. 1, 953–959. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.profoo.2011.09.143.
- Kantar World Panel, 2018. Spending on Chilled Prepared Leafy Salads and Vegetables in the United Kingdom From December 2007 to December 2017 [WWW Document]. https://www.statista.com/statistics/281670/value-of-chilled-prepared-leafy-saladsand-vegetables-in-the-uk/ (accessed 6.12.19).
- Kapetanakou, A.E., Taoukis, P., Skandamis, P.N., 2019. Model development for microbial spoilage of packaged fresh-cut salad products using temperature and in-package CO2 levels as predictor variables. LWT 113, 108285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. lwt.2019.108285.
- Koukkidis, Giannis, Freestone, Primrose, 2018. Salmonella Contamination of Fresh Salad Produce: Prevalence, Impact and Reduction Strategies. University of Leicester. Journal contribution. https://hdl.handle.net/2381/43542.
- Koukounaras, A., Siomos, A.S., Sfakiotakis, E., 2009. Impact of heat treatment on ethylene production and yellowing of modified atmosphere packaged rocket leaves. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 54, 172–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. postharvbio.2009.07.002.
- Lara, M.A., Lleó, L., Diezma-Iglesias, B., Roger, J.M., Ruiz-Altisent, M., 2013. Monitoring spinach shelf-life with hyperspectral image through packaging films. J. Food Eng. 119, 353–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2013.06.005.
- Lee, J.-S., Chandra, D., 2018. Effects of different packaging materials and methods on the physical, biochemical and sensory qualities of lettuce. J. Food Sci. Technol. 55, 1685–1694. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-018-3081-6.
- 1685–1694. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-018-3081-6.
  Lee, S.J., Rahman, A.T.M.M., 2014. Intelligent packaging for food products. In: Han, J.H. (Ed.), Innovation in Food Packaging, 2nd ed. Academic Press, London, UK, pp. 171–203.
- Lee, P., Osborn, S., Whitehead, P., 2015. Final Report Reducing Food Waste by Extending Product Life (No. MAR103-101). WRAP.
- Lenzi, A., Marvasi, M., Baldi, A., 2021. Agronomic practices to limit pre- and post-harvest contamination and proliferation of human pathogenic Enterobacteriaceae in vegetable produce. Food Control 119, 107486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodcont.2020.107486.
- Liu, C., Hofstra, N., Franz, E., 2013. Impacts of climate change on the microbial safety of pre-harvest leafy green vegetables as indicated by Escherichia coli O157 and Salmonella spp. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 163, 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijfoodmicro.2013.02.026.
- Lobet, G., Draye, X., Périlleux, C., 2013. An online database for plant image analysis software tools. Plant Methods 9, 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-4811-9-38.
- Løkke, M.M., Seefeldt, H.F., Edelenbos, M., 2012. Freshness and sensory quality of packaged wild rocket. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 73, 99–106. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.postharvbio.2012.06.004.
- Løkke, M.M., Seefeldt, H.F., Skov, T., Edelenbos, M., 2013. Color and textural quality of packaged wild rocket measured by multispectral imaging. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 75, 86–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2012.06.018.
- Lonchamp, J., Barry-Ryan, C., Devereux, M., 2009. Identification of volatile quality markers of ready-to-use lettuce and cabbage. Food Res. Int. 42, 1077–1086. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2009.05.002.
- López-Carballo, Muriel-Galet, Hernández-Muñoz, Gavara, 2019. Chromatic sensor to determine oxygen presence for applications in intelligent packaging. Sensors 19, 4684. https://doi.org/10.3390/s19214684.
- López-Gálvez, F., Ragaert, P., Haque, Md.A., Eriksson, M., van Labeke, M.C., Devlieghere, F., 2015. High oxygen atmospheres can induce russet spotting development in minimally processed iceberg lettuce. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 100, 168–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2014.10.001.
- Luca, A., Kjær, A., Edelenbos, M., 2017. Volatile organic compounds as markers of quality changes during the storage of wild rocket. Food Chem. 232, 579–586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.04.035.
- Luna, M.C., Tudela, J.A., Martínez-Sánchez, A., Allende, A., Marín, A., Gil, M.I., 2012. Long-term deficit and excess of irrigation influences quality and browning related enzymes and phenolic metabolism of fresh-cut iceberg lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.). Postharvest Biol. Technol. 73, 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. postharvbio.2012.05.011.
- Luo, Y., Nou, X., Yang, Y., Alegre, I., Turner, E., Feng, H., Abadias, M., Conway, W., 2011. Determination of free chlorine concentrations needed to prevent Escherichia coli O157:H7 cross-contamination during fresh-cut produce wash. J. Food Prot. 74, 352–358. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-10-429.

Lyndhurst, B., 2008. Research Into Consumer Behaviour in Relation to Food Dates and Portion Sizes (No. EVA046). WRAP.

- Mampholo, B.M., Maboko, M.M., Soundy, P., Sivakumar, D., 2016. Phytochemicals and overall quality of leafy lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) varieties grown in closed hydroponic system. J. Food Qual. 39, 805–815. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfq.12234.
- Manzocco, L., Foschia, M., Tomasi, N., Maifreni, M., Dalla Costa, L., Marino, M., Cortella, G., Cesco, S., 2011. Influence of hydroponic and soil cultivation on quality and shelf-life of ready-to-eat lamb's lettuce (*Valerianella locusta* L. Laterr): effects of hydroponics and soil cultivation on lamb's lettuce. J. Sci. Food Agric. 91, 1373–1380. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.4313.
- Manzocco, L., Alongi, M., Lagazio, C., Sillani, S., Nicoli, M.C., 2017. Effect of temperature in domestic refrigerators on fresh-cut Iceberg salad quality and waste. Food Res. Int. 102, 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2017.09.091.
- Marks and Spencer, 2020. Marks in Time [WWW Document]. https://marksintime. marksandspencer.com/ms-history/timeline/art1277.

- Martínez-Sánchez, A., Luna, M.C., Selma, M.V., Tudela, J.A., Abad, J., Gil, M.I., 2012. Baby-leaf and multi-leaf of green and red lettuces are suitable raw materials for the fresh-cut industry. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 63, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. postharvbio.2011.07.010.
- Medina-Martínez, M.S., Allende, A., Barberá, G.G., Gil, M.I., 2015. Climatic variations influence the dynamic of epiphyte bacteria of baby lettuce. Food Res. Int. 68, 54–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2014.06.009.
- Mielby, L.H., Kildegaard, H., Gabrielsen, G., Edelenbos, M., Thybo, A.K., 2012. Adolescent and adult visual preferences for pictures of fruit and vegetable mixes – effect of complexity. Food Qual. Prefer. 26, 188–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodqual.2012.04.014.
- Mo, C., Kim, G., Kim, M.S., Lim, J., Lee, K., Lee, W.-H., Cho, B.-K., 2017. On-line fresh-cut lettuce quality measurement system using hyperspectral imaging. Biosyst. Eng. 156, 38–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2017.01.005.
- Mogren, L., Windstam, S., Boqvist, S., Vågsholm, I., Söderqvist, K., Rosberg, A.K., Lindén, J., Mulaosmanovic, E., Karlsson, M., Uhlig, E., Håkansson, Å., Alsanius, B., 2018. The hurdle approach–A holistic concept for controlling food safety risks associated with pathogenic bacterial contamination of leafy green vegetables. A review. Front. Microbiol. 9, 1965. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01965.
- Moore, E.J., 1991. Grocery distribution in the uk: recent changes and future prospects. Intl J of Retail & Distrib Mgt 19. https://doi.org/10.1108/EUM000000002957. EUM000000002957.
- Murphy, M.T., Zhang, F., Nakamura, Y.K., Omaye, S.T., 2011. Comparison between hydroponically and conventionally and organically grown lettuces for taste, odor, visual quality and texture: a pilot study. FNS 02, 124–127. https://doi.org/10.4236/ fns.2011.22017.
- Murray, J.M., Delahunty, C.M., Baxter, I.A., 2001. Descriptive sensory analysis: past, present and future. Food Res. Int. 34, 461–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0963-9969(01)00070-9.
- Neff, R.A., Spiker, M., Rice, C., Schklair, A., Greenberg, S., Leib, E.B., 2019. Misunderstood food date labels and reported food discards: a survey of U.S. Consumer attitudes and behaviors. Waste Manag. 86, 123–132. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.wasman.2019.01.023.
- Nguyen, T.-V., Ross, T., Van Chuyen, H., 2019. Evaluating the efficacy of three sanitizing agents for extending the shelf-life of fresh-cut baby spinach: food safety and quality aspects. Aims Agric. Food 4, 320–339. https://doi.org/10.3934/agrfood.2019.2.320.
- aspects. Aims Agric. Food 4, 320–339. https://doi.org/10.3934/agrfood.2019.2.320. Nielsen, T., Bergström, B., Borch, E., 2008. The origin of off-odours in packaged rucola (Eruca sativa). Food Chem. 110, 96–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodchem.2008.01.063.
- Olanya, O.M., Niemira, B.A., Phillips, J.G., 2015. Effects of gamma irradiation on the survival of Pseudomonas fluorescens inoculated on romaine lettuce and baby spinach. Lwt - Food Sci. Technol. 62, 55–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. lwt.2014.12.031.
- Paakki, M., Sandell, M., Hopia, A., 2019. Visual attractiveness depends on colorfulness and color contrasts in mixed salads. Food Qual. Prefer. 76, 81–90. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.foodqual.2019.04.004.
- Pan, Y., Sun, D.-W., Cheng, J.-H., Han, Z., 2018. Non-destructive detection and screening of non-uniformity in microwave sterilization using hyperspectral imaging analysis. Food Anal. Methods 11, 1568–1580. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-017-1134-5.
- Patrício, D.I., Rieder, R., 2018. Computer vision and artificial intelligence in precision agriculture for grain crops: a systematic review. Comput. Electron. Agric. 153, 69–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2018.08.001.
- Platias, C., Kandylakis, Z., Panagou, E.Z., Nychas, G.-J.E., Karantzalos, K., 2018. Snapshot multispectral and hyperspectral data processing for estimating food quality parameters. In: 2018 9th Workshop on Hyperspectral Image and Signal Processing: Evolution in Remote Sensing (WHISPERS). Presented at the 2018 9th Workshop on Hyperspectral Image and Signal Processing: Evolution in Remote Sensing (WHISPERS). IEEE, Amsterdam, Netherlands, pp. 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/ WHISPERS.2018.8747009.
- Porat, R., Lichter, A., Terry, L.A., Harker, R., Buzby, J., 2018. Postharvest losses of fruit and vegetables during retail and in consumers' homes: quantifications, causes, and means of prevention. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 139, 135–149. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.postharvbio.2017.11.019.
- Psomas, A.N., Nychas, G.-J., Haroutounian, S.A., Skandamis, P.N., 2011. Development and validation of a tertiary simulation model for predicting the growth of the food micro-organisms under dynamic and static temperature conditions. Comput. Electron. Agric. 76, 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2011.01.013.

Quested, T.E., Murphy, L., 2014. Household Food and Drink Waste: a Product Focus Final Report. WRAP, UK.

- Quintero, A.V., Molina-Lopez, F., Smits, E.C.P., Danesh, E., Brand, J.V.D., Persaud, K., Oprea, A., Barsan, N., Weimar, U., de Rooij, N.F., Briand, D., 2016. Smart RFID label with a printed multisensor platform for environmental monitoring. Flex. Print. Electron. 1, 025003.
- Raffo, A., Masci, M., Moneta, E., Nicoli, S., Sánchez del Pulgar, J., Paoletti, F., 2018. Characterization of volatiles and identification of odor-active compounds of rocket leaves. Food Chem. 240, 1161–1170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodchem.2017.08.009.
- Rastogi, G., Sbodio, A., Tech, J.J., Suslow, T.V., Coaker, G.L., Leveau, J.H.J., 2012. Leaf microbiota in an agroecosystem: spatiotemporal variation in bacterial community composition on field-grown lettuce. ISME J. 6, 1812–1822. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ismej.2012.32.
- REP18/FL, 2018. Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Program Codex Alimentarius Commission. FAO.
- Roohi, Srivastava, P., Bano, K., Zaheer, M.R., Kuddus, M., 2018. Biodegradable smart biopolymers for food packaging: sustainable approach toward Green environment.

#### J. Jasper et al.

In: Ahmed, S. (Ed.), Bio-Based Materials for Food Packaging. Springer, Singapore, Singapore, pp. 197–216. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1909-9\_9.

- Saltveit, M., 2018. Pinking of lettuce. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 145, 41–52. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2018.06.001.
- Sawyer, R., Best, G.A., Carpenter, P.M., Ghersini, G., Ghiri, M., Salghetti, F., 1980. EEC legislation—is there a need for quality control? Anal. Proc. 17, 186–200. https://doi. org/10.1039/AP9801700186.
- SEC(2010)379, 2010. Communication From the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament an EU Policy Framework to Assist Developing Countries in Addressing Food Security Challenges SEC(2010)37 (No. 52010DC0127). DEV. http s://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A52010DC0127.
- SI 1984/1305, 1984. The Food Labelling Regulations. https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ uksi/1984/1305/made.
- SI 2014/1855, 2014. The Food Information Regulations 2014. https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/1855/contents/made.
- SI1980/1849, 1981. The Food Labelling Regulations, 1980, p. 1849. https://www.legi slation.gov.uk/uksi/1980/1849/made.
- Sikora, M., Zlotek, U., Kordowska-Wiater, M., Świeca, M., 2020. Effect of basil leaves and wheat bran water extracts on antioxidant capacity, sensory properties and microbiological quality of shredded iceberg lettuce during storage. Antioxidants 9, 355. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9040355.
- Siripatrawan, U., Makino, Y., Kawagoe, Y., Oshita, S., 2011. Rapid detection of Escherichia coli contamination in packaged fresh spinach using hyperspectral imaging. Talanta 85, 276–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2011.03.061.
- Söderqvist, K., 2017. Is your lunch salad safe to eat? Occurrence of bacterial pathogens and potential for pathogen growth in pre-packed ready-to-eat mixed-ingredient salads. Infect. Ecol. Epidemiol. 7 (1), 1407216. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 20008686.2017.1407216.
- Sophia, G., 2014. History of UK Food Law [WWW Document]. https://fstjournal.org/ features/history-uk-food-law (accessed 6.18.19).
- Spadafora, N.D., Amaro, A.L., Pereira, M.J., Müller, C.T., Pintado, M., Rogers, H.J., 2016. Multi-trait analysis of post-harvest storage in rocket salad (Diplotaxis tenuifolia) links sensorial, volatile and nutritional data. Food Chem. 211, 114–123. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.04.107.
- Torres-Sánchez, R., Martínez-Zafra, M.T., Castillejo, N., Guillamón-Frutos, A., Artés-Hernández, F., 2020. Real-time monitoring system for shelf life estimation of fruit and vegetables. Sensors. 20, 1860. https://doi.org/10.3390/s20071860.
- Torri, L., Piergiovanni, L., Caldiroli, E., 2008. Odour investigation of granular polyolefins for flexible food packaging using a sensory panel and an electronic nose. Food Addit. Contam. Part A 25, 490–502. https://doi.org/10.1080/02652030701513776.
- Tóth, G., Hermann, T., Da Silva, M.R., Montanarella, L., 2016. Heavy metals in agricultural soils of the European Union with implications for food safety. Environ. Int. 88, 299–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.12.017.
- Tournas, V.H., 2005. Spoilage of vegetable crops by Bacteria and Fungi and related health hazards. Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 31, 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10408410590886024.
- Tsaftaris, S.A., Noutsos, C., 2009. Plant phenotyping with Low cost digital cameras and image analytics. In: Athanasiadis, I.N., Rizzoli, A.E., Mitkas, P.A., Gómez, J.M.

- (Eds.), Information Technologies in Environmental Engineering. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 238–251. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540 88351-7 18.
- Tsironi, T., Dermesonlouoglou, E., Giannoglou, M., Gogou, E., Katsaros, G., Taoukis, P., 2017. Shelf-life prediction models for ready-to-eat fresh cut salads: testing in real cold chain. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 240, 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. iifoodmicro.2016.09.032.
- Tudela, J.A., Marín, A., Garrido, Y., Cantwell, M., Medina-Martínez, M.S., Gil, M.I., 2013. Off-odour development in modified atmosphere packaged baby spinach is an unresolved problem. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 75, 75–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.postharvbio.2012.08.006.
- Uhlig, E., Olsson, C., He, J., Stark, T., Sadowska, Z., Molin, G., Ahrné, S., Alsanius, B., Håkansson, Å., 2017. Effects of household washing on bacterial load and removal of Escherichia coli from lettuce and "ready-to-eat" salads. Food Sci. Nutr. 5, 1215–1220. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.514.
- Vandekinderen, I., Devlieghere, F., De Meulenaer, B., Ragaert, P., Van Camp, J., 2009. Optimization and evaluation of a decontamination step with peroxyacetic acid for fresh-cut produce. Food Microbiol. 26, 882–888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fm.2009.06.004.
- Wagstaff, C., Clarkson, G.J.J., Rothwell, S.D., Page, A., Taylor, G., Dixon, M.S., 2007. Characterisation of cell death in bagged baby salad leaves. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 46, 150–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2007.04.013.
- Wieczyńska, J., Cavoski, I., 2018. Antimicrobial, antioxidant and sensory features of eugenol, carvacrol and trans-anethole in active packaging for organic ready-to-eat iceberg lettuce. Food Chem. 259, 251–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodchem.2018.03.137.
- Williams, T.R., Moyne, A.-L., Harris, L.J., Marco, M.L., 2013. Season, irrigation, leaf age, and Escherichia coli inoculation influence the bacterial diversity in the lettuce phyllosphere. PLoS One 8, e68642. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0068642.
- Wilson, N.L.W., Rickard, B.J., Saputo, R., Ho, S.-T., 2017. Food waste: the role of date labels, package size, and product category. Food Qual. Prefer. 55, 35–44. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.08.004.
- Wu, Q., Xie, L., Xu, H., 2018. Determination of toxigenic fungi and aflatoxins in nuts and dried fruits using imaging and spectroscopic techniques. Food Chem. 252, 228–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.01.076.
- Yan, K., Zhang, D., 2016. Calibration transfer and drift compensation of e-noses via coupled task learning. Sens. Actuators B Chem. 225, 288–297. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.snb.2015.11.058.
- Yanniotis, S., Proshlyakov, A., Revithi, A., Georgiadou, M., Blahovec, J., 2011. X-ray imaging for fungal necrotic spot detection in pistachio nuts. Procedia Food Sci. 1, 379–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profoo.2011.09.058.
- Zhang, Q., Savagatrup, S., Kaplonek, P., Seeberger, P.H., Swager, T.M., 2017. Janus emulsions for the detection of bacteria. ACS Cent. Sci. 3, 309–313. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acscentsci.7b00021.
- Zhou, F., Ji, B., Zhang, H., Jiang, H., Yang, Z., Li, Jingjing, Li, Jihai, Ren, Y., Yan, W., 2007. Synergistic effect of Thymol and carvacrol combined with chelators and organic acids against Salmonella typhimurium. J. Food Prot. 70, 1704–1709. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-70.7.1704.

8.2 Paper 2: Growth temperature influences postharvest glucosinolate concentrations and hydrolysis product formation in first and second cuts of rocket salad

#### Postharvest Biology and Technology 163 (2020) 111157

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



## Postharvest Biology and Technology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/postharvbio



## Growth temperature influences postharvest glucosinolate concentrations and hydrolysis product formation in first and second cuts of rocket salad



### Jake Jasper<sup>a</sup>, Carol Wagstaff<sup>a</sup>, Luke Bell<sup>b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> School of Chemistry Food & Pharmacy, PO Box 226, University of Reading, Whiteknights, Reading, Berkshire, RG6 6AP, UK
 <sup>b</sup> School of Agriculture, Policy & Development, PO Box 237, University of Reading, Whiteknights, Reading, Berkshire, RG6 6AR, UK

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT				
Keywords: Arugula Diplotaxis tenuifolia Eruca sativa Liquid chromatography mass spectrometry Abiotic stress Isothiocyanates	Rocket salad species ( <i>Diplotaxis tenuifolia</i> and <i>Eruca sativa</i> ; also known as <i>E. vesicaria</i> ) are known for their high concentrations of health-related isothiocyanates, which are derived from secondary metabolites called gluco- sinolates. Increases in temperature due to climate change and extreme weather event frequencies over the coming decades are likely to influence not only the growth of leafy vegetables, but also their nutritional density. It is therefore essential to determine the impacts of these in order to mitigate crop losses and nutritional decline in future. Our data show there is a strong influence of pre-harvest growth temperatures on glucosinolate bio- synthesis and formation of glucosinolate hydrolysis products postharvest, and that this is genotype dependent. High growth temperature (40 °C) severely retarded germination, growth, regrowth, and survival of rocket plants. Highest glucosinolate concentrations (observed at 30 °C, second cut). Hydrolysis product formation is pro- portionately not as great as glucosinolate increases at 40 °C, possibly due to inhibition of enzyme function(s) at higher temperatures. These data indicate that high growth temperatures is needed for breeding cultivars tolerant to high growth temperatures in order to maximise nutritional benefits imparted by temperature stress.				

#### 1. Introduction

Rocket salads are a popular group of leafy vegetables belonging to the Brassicaceae family. *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* and *Eruca sativa* comprise the majority of global rocket production, and are well known for pungent aromas and flavours. Each species has distinct morphological characteristics, though *E. sativa* is much more varied in this regard. Over the last 20 years there has been a surge in interest in the crops for their phytochemical content, particularly for glucosinolates (GSLs) and their hydrolysis products (GHPs; Bell and Wagstaff, 2019). Foremost of these are isothiocyanates (ITCs), and specifically sulforaphane (SF); consumption of which has been linked with a reduced risk of developing some cancers (Fimognari and Hrelia, 2007).

GSL profiles are notoriously variable across growth environments in many Brassicaceae species, and the formation of GHPs even more so (Bell and Wagstaff, 2019). GSL biosynthesis is inherently tied to the stress responses of all Brassicales plants (Mostafa et al., 2016), and as such, concentrations within tissues can vary markedly according to growth temperature (Kask et al., 2016), light quality (Schreiner et al., 2009), and salinity (Cocetta et al., 2018); as well as biotic factors from pests and disease (Schlaeppi et al., 2010). Climate change is leading to more extreme temperatures in places used to cultivate horticultural crops, and consumer demand is leading to the adoption of more land and more protected cultivation practices to meet the yield and quality expectations.

A large amount of work has been done to determine the glucosinolate (GSL) profiles of rocket within first harvest (or cut) leaves (Cataldi et al., 2007; Chun et al., 2015; Force et al., 2007; Toledo-Martín et al., 2017), and only one obscure study has assessed second cut composition (Nitz and Schnitzler, 2002), but only looked at three compounds. Second cuts are primarily favoured by growers and processors for their perceived increased pungency and overall quality (Bell and Wagstaff, 2019), yet the scientific literature has thus far failed to consider this common horticultural practice in experimental designs. It is speculated that multiple cuts increase the abundance of glucosinolates and isothiocyanates in rocket species. The increase of secondary metabolites in response to mechanical wounding is well known in other horticultural species (Jahangir et al., 2009). This has clear implications for taste, flavour, and health-related properties of leaves.

The impact of different growing environments, such as temperature

\* Corresponding author. E-mail address: luke.bell@reading.ac.uk (L. Bell).

Received 17 December 2019; Received in revised form 12 February 2020; Accepted 14 February 2020

Available online 19 February 2020

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2020.111157

<sup>0925-5214/ © 2020</sup> The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/BY-NC-ND/4.0/).

variation, on crop nutritional composition is also poorly studied in rocket; adding an additional influencing factor on these traits. It is therefore possible that variable growing temperatures will also affect (positively or negatively) the consumer eating experience. The exact genetic mechanisms that regulate GSL biosynthesis under high or low temperatures are unknown, partly due to interacting and co-occurring stresses, such as drought. It is likely however that the imposition of high/low temperature stress promotes activity of transcription factors such as *MYC2* and *MYB28*, which promote GSL biosynthesis (Gigolashvili et al., 2009).

Temperature effects upon GSL synthesis and GHP formation are poorly understood in rocket species, and have important implications for the synthesis of specific health-associated compounds. Rocket crops are grown on every inhabited continent, and are exposed to a huge range of cultivation temperatures. They can be grown under mild, temperate conditions, such as in southern England, (summer maximum temperatures averaging 20.4 °C; Met Office 1981-2010 data), to hot Mediterranean temperatures (such as the Bay of Naples, Italy, summer maximum temperatures averaging 29.5 °C; World Meteorological Organization). In addition, crops are commonly cultivated under glass or polytunnel in summer months, where internal daytime temperatures can rise to over 35 °C (Di Gioia et al., 2018). In growing regions such as Lazio (Italy) and New South Wales (Australia), outdoor summer daytime temperatures can regularly exceed 40 °C, and therefore have significant impacts on the growth of leafy vegetables. Crops under protection are therefore doubly affected, as internal temperatures may exceed 50 °C without adequate ventilation. By the end of the 21st century, atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations are projected to rise to between 730 and 1000 ppm. This will lead to average global temperature increases of between 1-3.7 °C (Gray and Brady, 2016). Combined with an increased likelihood of extreme weather events (such as heat waves and drought), protected leafy crops such as rocket are especially vulnerable to losses and or changes in growth rate.

The effects of such growing extremes are presently unknown, and it is likewise unstudied how growth temperature affects regrowth, phytochemical content, or shelf life retention of health-associated compounds. Postharvest work has already demonstrated that these compounds are subject to fluctuation (Bell et al., 2017c; Yahya et al., 2019), but it is unknown to what degree growth temperature and cut influence this process. In light of climate change and global warming effects in future, it is also likely that extremes in temperature will become more common, and therefore it is important to understand how crop growth and quality may be affected.

This study presents phytochemical data relating to the growth of two *D. tenuifolia* and two *E. sativa* rocket cultivars under different growth temperatures. This study is the first to examine the impact of cultivation temperatures on secondary metabolite formation that has consequences for nutrition and flavour qualities of rocket crops. We hypothesised that each species would see increases in GSL concentrations at the higher cultivation temperatures, but that each cultivar would produce differing relative concentrations according to genotype, as has been highlighted in a previous study (Bell et al., 2015). We speculated that the initial concentrations of GSLs postharvest would influence the degree of biosynthesis and retention during the cold storage period, and in turn impact the abundance of GHPs formed.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Plant material

Two *D. tenuifolia* and two *E. sativa* pre-commercial cultivars were supplied by Elsoms Seeds Ltd. (Spalding, UK). For reasons of commercial sensitivity specific details regarding the genetic origin of these will not be given. *E. sativa* cultivars were designated RS4 and RS8, and *D. tenuifolia* cultivars RW2 and RW3.

#### Table 1

Numbers of biological replicates under each temperature condition and cut per temperature treatment.

	Temperature condition & cut									
Cultivar	20 °C		30 °C		40 °C					
	1 <sup>st</sup>	2 <sup>nd</sup>	1 <sup>st</sup>	2 <sup>nd</sup>	1 <sup>st</sup>	2 <sup>nd</sup>				
RS4	12	12	12	7	16	dns				
RS8	11	11	15	8	13	6				
RW2	5	3	9	3	dns	dns				
RW3	10	7	10	7	2	dns				

Abbreviations: RS = salad rocket; RW = wild rocket; dns = did not survive.

# 2.2. Growing conditions, simulated processing, and shelf life storage sampling

Forty seeds of each cultivar were sown into module trays containing peat-based seedling compost, and germinated under three temperature conditions in Saxcil growth cabinets. The three temperature conditions were as follows: 20 °C (daytime; 15 °C night), 30 °C (daytime; 25 °C night), and 40 °C (daytime; 30 °C night). Lighting conditions were consistent between each chamber and set to a long-day cycle (16 h light, 8 h dark). Light intensity was set to 380 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. Humidity was ambient. Healthy seedlings were transplanted into 1 l pots (containing peat-based compost) on an individual basis, upon the development and expansion of two true leaves. Pots were watered daily, as required, to capacity.

Plants were harvested on an individual basis, and were considered of commercial maturity once 10–15 leaves were developed. See Table 1 for numbers of biological replicates harvested for each cultivar under each respective condition. Upon reaching this point, plants were harvested by hand using sterile scissors and left to regrow. It should be noted that not all plants survived the first cut, and that the 40 °C treatment severely impaired growth and survival.

All plants were harvested between 10 a.m. and 12 p.m to minimise the effects of diurnal fluctuations in secondary metabolites (Huseby et al., 2013). The harvested leaves were initially placed in Ziploc bags and then transferred to the laboratory. Upon arrival, plants were hand processed individually by turbulent washing in mildly chlorinated water (30 ppm, sodium hypochlorite; Suslow, 2000) for one minute, followed by gentle rinsing in non-chlorinated water for one minute. Finally leaves were placed in a hand operated salad spinner and dried for another minute. Leaves were divided into equal amounts and designated D0, D4, and D7 according to the beginning of shelf life storage. D0 samples were placed immediately into a -80 °C freezer. D4 and D7 samples were placed in laser perforated bags and closed with an electric heat-sealer, then stored in the dark at 4 °C (Bell et al., 2016). On respective sampling days, each of the bagged leaves were frozen at -80 °C. All sampling took place between 10 a.m. and 12 p.m, as per the initial time of harvest. This entire process was repeated for the second cut of regrown leaves until all plants were either harvested or had died.

#### 2.3. Leaf material preparation, and extraction

Frozen leaf material was lyophilized in batches for three days. Leaves were ground into a fine powder using a Wiley Mini Mill (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ, USA) and stored in tubes until extraction and analysis.

GSL extraction was performed as per the protocol presented by (Bell et al., 2015) with modifications. Briefly, 40 mg of dried leaf powder was placed into Eppendorf tubes and put into a heat block (80 °C for ten minutes). Afterwards, 1 ml of preheated methanol water (70 % v/v) was added to dried powder, vortexed vigorously, and placed in a water bath
(75 °C) for 20 min. Samples were cooled to halt the extraction and then centrifuged at full speed for five minutes at room temperature ( $\sim$ 22 °C), the supernatant collected, and filtered (0.22 µm PVDF Acrodisc syringe filters; VWR, Lutterworth, UK). Crude extracts were stored at -80 °C before dilution (5x) and analysis conducted by LC–MS.

GHPs were extracted according to the protocol published by Ku et al. (2016) with modifications. The extraction duration was optimized for maximum yields of GHPs by comparison of extractions for three hours incubation at 30 °C with immediate dichloromethane (DCM) extraction, and three, nine, and 21 h post incubation with DCM.

50 mg of sample was hydrolysed in 1 ml of d.H<sub>2</sub>O for three hours at 30 °C, before subsequent extraction in dichloromethane (DCM) overnight (21 h). The DCM layer was then collected and transferred to glass vials and stored at -80 °C until analysis by GC–MS.

### 2.4. LC-MS and GC-MS analyses

For LC-MS, samples were analyzed in a random sequence with standards and QC samples. External standards of progoitrin (PRO; 99.07 %, HPLC), glucoraphanin (GRA; 99.86 %, HPLC), glucoerucin (GER; 99.68 %, HPLC), glucobrassicin (GBR; 99.38 %, HPLC), and gluconasturtiin (GNAS; 98.38 %, HPLC) were prepared for quantification of GSL compounds according to the method presented by Jin et al. (2009). GER was used to quantify glucorucolamine (GRM), diglucothiobeinin (DGTB), glucosativin (GSV), and DMB, as no standards are presently available for these compounds. GBR was used to quantify the indole GSLs 4-methoxyglucobrassicin (4MOB) and neoglucobrassicin (NGB; Table 2). All standards were purchased from PhytoPlan (Heidelberg, Germany). Recovery of extracted GSLs was calculated by spiking six random samples with sinigrin upon the addition of pre-heated methanol (Merck, Gillingham, UK). The average recovery of sinigrin was 104.8 %. Limits of detection (LOD) and quantification (LOQ) were established for the method by running serial dilutions of sinigrin  $(LOD = 5.38 \,\mu mol \, L^{-1}; LOQ = 16.3 \,\mu mol \, L^{-1}).$ 

LC-MS analysis was performed in the negative ion mode on an Agilent 1260 Infinity Series LC system (Agilent, Stockport, UK)

equipped with a binary pump, degasser, auto-sampler, column heater and diode array detector; coupled to an Agilent 6120 Series single quadrupole mass spectrometer. Separation of samples was achieved on a Gemini 3 µm C18 110 Å (150 × 4.6 mm) column (with Security Guard column, C18; 4 mm x 3 mm; Phenomenex, Macclesfield, UK). GSLs were separated during a 40 min chromatographic run, with a 5 min post-run sequence. Mobile phases consisted of ammonium formate (0.1 %; A) and acetonitrile (B) with the following gradient timetable: (i) 0 min (A–B, 95:5, v/v); (ii) 0–13 min s (A–B, 95:5, v/v); (iii) 13–22 min s (A–B, 40:60, v/v); (iv) 22–30 mins (A–B, 40:60, v/v); 30–35 mins (A–B, 95:5, v/v); (v) 35–40 mins (A–B, 95:5, v/v). The flow rate was optimized for the system at 0.4 ml min<sup>-1</sup>, with a column temperature of 30 °C; 20 µl of sample was injected into the system. Quantification was conducted at a wavelength of 229 nm.

MS analysis settings were as follows: Atmospheric pressure electrospray ionization was carried out in negative ion mode (scan range m/z 100–1000 Da. Nebulizer pressure was set at 50 psi, gas-drying temperature at 350 °C, and capillary voltage at 2000 V. Compounds were identified using their primary ion mass [M-H]- (Cataldi et al., 2007) and by comparing relative retention times with those of Lelario et a. (2012; Table 2). Data were analyzed using Agilent OpenLAB CDS ChemStation Edition for LC–MS (vA.02.10). GSL concentrations from each time point were averaged; see Table 1 for all n per treatment. This approach was also conducted for GHP analysis.

GHPs were identified and analysed according to the method presented by Bell et al. (2017) with the following modification. Extracts were separated on a Zebron ZB-AAA (10 m, 0.25 mm i.d.; Phenomenex) capillary during a seven minute run. GC conditions were as follows: split 1:20 at 250 °C, with a 2.5  $\mu$ l injection. Helium was used as the carrier gas at a flow rate of 1.5 mL min. The oven program was: 30 °C min from 110 °C to 320 °C, with a one minute hold at 320 °C. Concentrations of all GHPs were calculated as equivalents of SF standard (Sigma).

All concentrations quoted within the text are on a dry weight basis for both GSLs and GHPs.

# Table 2

Glucosinolates and glucosinolate hydrolysis products identified in Eruca sativa and Diplotaxis tenuifolia cultivars.

	Trivial name	Abbreviation	R-group name	Retention time	Identifying $m/z$ [M-H] <sup>-</sup>
	h				, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
1	Glucorucolamine <sup>b</sup>	GRM	4-(cysteine-S-yl)butyl	4.7	493
2	Progoitrin <sup>a</sup>	PRO	(2R)-2-hydroxybut-3-enyl	5.9	388
3	Glucoraphanin <sup>a</sup>	GRA	4-methylsulfinylbutyl	6.0	436
4	Diglucothiobeinin <sup>b</sup>	DGTB	4-(β-D-glucopyranosyldisulfanyl)	12.7	600
5	Glucosativin <sup>b</sup>	GSV	4-mercaptobutyl	16.4	406
6	Glucoerucin <sup>a</sup>	GER	4-methylthiobutyl	22.7	420
7	-	DMB	Dimeric 4-mercaptobutyl	23.0	405 (811, 731)
8	Glucobrassicin <sup>a</sup>	GBR	Indol-3-ylmethyl	23.5	447
9	Gluconasturtiin <sup>a</sup>	GNAS	2-phenethyl	24.0	422
10	4-methoxyglucobrassicin <sup>c</sup>	4MOB	4-methoxy-3-indolylmethyl	24.2	477
11	Neoglucobrassicin <sup>c</sup>	NGB	1-methoxy-3-indolylmethyl	25.6	477

Glucosinolate hydrolysis products

	Trivial name	Hydrolysis product of	MS spectra $m/z$ (base ion in bold)
1 2 3 4	Sativin <sup>d</sup> Erucin <sup>d</sup> Sulforaphane <sup>a</sup> Bis-(4-isothiocyanatobutyl)-disulfide <sup>d</sup>	Glucosativin Glucoerucin Glucoraphanin DMB	147, <b>114</b> , 87, 72, 60 161, <b>115</b> , 72, 61 177, <b>160</b> , 114, 72, 55 292, 146, <b>114</b> , 87, 72, 55

<sup>a</sup> = Quantified using authentic standards.

<sup>b</sup> = Quantified using glucoerucin standard.

<sup>c</sup> = Quantified using glucobrassicin standard.

<sup>d</sup> = Quantified using sulforaphane standard.

### 2.5. Statistical analysis

ANOVA analyses of all data were performed using XL Stat (Addinsoft, Paris, France). Each respective analysis was conducted with a protected post hoc Tukey's Honest Significance Difference (HSD) test (P < 0.05). The Type III Sums of Squares significance values (at 5 %, 1 %, and 0.1 % thresholds) and summary pairwise comparisons tables for GSL and GHP data are available in Supplementary Data File S1.

Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was performed using XL Stat with Pearson correlation analysis (n-1), Varimax rotation, and the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure of sampling adequacy. The KMO value for the analysis was 0.71, indicating a satisfactory level of sampling. The analysis produced four informative Principal Components (PCs) with Eigenvalues >1.0. The cumulative explained variability within these components totalled 78.1 %. After Varimax rotation, PCs 1, 2, and 8 produced the highest degree of explanatory spatial separation.

### 3. Results and discussion

3.1. The effects of growth temperature on germination and time to first and second cuts

## 3.1.1. Germination

Germination time was shortest under the 30 °C condition, and *E. sativa* cultivars showed a clear trend for earlier establishment than *D. tenuifolia* (Fig. 1a). RW2 and RW3 had slow germination and growth at both 20 °C and 40 °C, with RW2 not germinating at all under the latter condition. As rocket species have a Mediterranean origin, it is not entirely surprising that germination is optimal at 30 °C, however our data do suggest that *E. sativa* is better adapted to temperature extremes. This could be of particular relevance to growers cultivating rocket under glass or polytunnel where temperatures may regularly exceed 35 °C in the summer. Conversely, growers in cool or temperate regions, cultivating rocket in open field, may find *E. sativa* quicker to establish.

#### 3.1.2. Time to first cut

Harvest age of rocket is highly variable between growth environments (Hall et al., 2015), and as such we selected a physiological growth phase as a benchmark for harvest between each temperature condition (development of 10–15 leaves). At 40  $^{\circ}$ C all plant growth was severely retarded (Fig. 1b), and no plants were ready for first harvest before 40 days. This suggests that adverse high temperature conditions may have a large impact on the productivity of rocket crops, regardless of species.

Exposure to temperatures > 37 °C for prolonged periods of time can be lethal in many plants without acclimatisation. This is due to the inactivation or denaturation of proteins (Schöffl and Panikulangara, 2018). Without adequate time to adjust to heat shock (such as through expression of heat shock proteins) growth is slowed or even halted; ultimately leading to plant death. It is therefore remarkable that the rocket plants (particularly RS8) tested in this experiment were able to tolerate these conditions.

# 3.1.3. Time to second cut

The differences between temperature conditions for the second harvest were less pronounced (Fig. 1c). At 40 °C however there was no regrowth for RS4, RW2, or RW3. Plants of these cultivars typically senesced a few days after first cut and died. As mentioned previously, given that the 40 °C temperature was extreme (Schöffl and Panikulangara, 2018), *E. sativa* in particular displayed a high tolerance.

Such conditions are not unheard of in protected environments, and may become more common under protected conditions in future due to global warming. It is interesting therefore that RS8 showed little adverse effects to the extreme temperature condition, and regrew within approximately 15 days. While rocket is not bred for temperature tolerance at this time, it does suggest that if climatic conditions become more challenging in future there are cultivars capable of withstanding such high temperature extremes. As will be discussed in subsequent sections, this may also have important implications for biosynthesis of health-related compounds in rocket.



Fig. 1. The number of days taken for *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* (RW) and *Eruca sativa* (RS) cultivars to germinate (a), reach first cut maturity (10 - 15 true leaves; b), reach second cut maturity (10 - 15 regrowth leaves; c), and from first to second cut (d). Error bars represent standard error of the mean. See Table 1 for the numbers of replicates for each cultivar and treatment.



**Fig. 2.** Glucosinolate concentrations in first and second cut *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* (RW) and *Eruca sativa* (RS) grown at four different temperatures. See inset for glucosinolate colour coding. Abbreviations: D0, start of shelf life; D4, fourth day of shelf life; D7, seventh day and end of commercial shelf life. Error bars represent standard error of the mean for each respective compound. For detailed statistical and Tukey's HSD pairwise comparisons, see Supplementary Data File S1. See Table S1 for the numbers of replicates for each cultivar and treatment. Note that sample RW3 at 40 °C consists of <3 biological replicates due to plant death.

## 3.1.4. Time from first to second cut

Regrowth of RW2 was extremely fast, taking only seven days to regrow >10 leaves after the first cut at 30 °C (Fig. 1d). These data suggest that *D. tenuifolia* second cuts may be much more productive than *E. sativa* under 20–30 °C conditions. While initial establishment and growth rate is slow in the first cut, this is offset by a much quicker subsequent regrowth rate. Leaves were however much smaller than at first cut, and would likely be much lower yielding (even at high planting densities) than *E. sativa* second cuts.

3.2. The effects of growth temperature on glucosinolate concentrations and hydrolysis product formation during shelf life storage

## 3.2.1. First cut at 20 °C

There was a clear trend in first cut E. sativa cultivars for higher GSL accumulation compared with D. tenuifolia (Fig. 2). At D0, ANOVA pairwise comparisons of these samples were non-significant between cultivars, with the exception of 4MOB (P<0.0001; Table 3 & Supplementary Data File S1). RS4 and RS8 both showed a clear trend for increased GSL concentrations over the seven day shelf life period, peaking at the final time point (D7). This is in agreement with observations made by Bell et al. (2017) in a field grown UK E. sativa crop. RW2 and RW3 by comparison peaked on D4, but contained almost half the concentrations of RS4 and RS8. These trends were only followed by RS8 and RW2 for hydrolysis product formation, and concentrations were generally low across all time points (Fig. 3). This has implications for consumers, and suggests that health-related benefits are cultivar and time-dependent postharvest. The variability of isothiocyanates and other GHPs in rocket postharvest is documented (Bell and Wagstaff, 2019). The timing of consumption is therefore a critical consideration for determining the efficacy of rocket cultivars against disease and chronic illness, and should be included as a more prominent factor for consideration in clinical investigations.

#### 3.2.2. Second cut at $20^{\circ}C$

In the second cut at 20  $^\circ$ C the trend between species was reversed: RS4 and RS8 peaked on D4, and RW2 and RW3 peaked on D7 for GSLs

(Fig. 2). Again, indolic GSL concentrations were significantly different at D0. RW2 contained significantly higher abundance of GBR than RS4 and RS8 (P = 0.003), and conversely, RS4 had higher amounts of 4MOB compared with each of the *D. tenuifolia* cultivars (12.7 ± 0.9 µmol g<sup>-1</sup>; P < 0.0001). These differences were repeated in D4 samples (GBR and 4MOB, P < 0.0001, Table 3 & Supplementary Data File S1) and suggest a distinct difference in indolic GSL metabolism between the two species; something that has not been previously observed. Indolics are linked with chemopreventative properties, such as promoting cancer cell cycle arrest (Hayes et al., 2008) and selection for improved indolic profiles of rocket could lead to increased health benefits.

Temporal changes in 4MOB were most pronounced in RW2, with a large and significant increase in abundance at D7 (15.6  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>) compared to D0 (2.5 ± 0.7  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>) and D4 (3.3  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>). Indolic GSLs are involved with abscisic acid (ABA) metabolism and synthesis (Malka and Cheng, 2017), and therefore such large increases over the course of shelf life may be indicative of increased senescence induced by plant hormone activity. This may be of significance when selecting rocket cultivars for improved shelf life traits; especially in second cut *D. tenuifolia*, which is the most common rocket product on global supermarket shelves.

Second cuts of each cultivar produced large average increases in GHP formation (Fig. 3). The patterns of change over shelf life did not match those of GSLs, suggesting that GSL content is not an accurate proxy for the abundance and ratios of GHPs that are formed. Importantly SF, which has been linked with anticarcinogenic effects *in vivo* (Liang et al., 2008) saw large increases in the *E. sativa* cultivars, but not in *D. tenuifolia*; concentrations were significantly higher in RS8 ( $2.4 \pm 0.4 \mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>; *P* < 0.0001). This was also repeated at D4 (RS8,  $2.6 \pm 0.6 \mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>; *P* < 0.0001, Table 3 & Supplementary Data File S1) and indicates that second cut *E. sativa* may be better suited for formation of health related SF at lower growth temperatures than *D. tenuifolia*.

### 3.2.3. First cut at $30^{\circ}C$

In RS4 the decrease from D0 to D7 (Fig. 2) was predominantly due

3
imit for the second
4
Е
0.000.00
Touronoo
Ĵ
Amologica of V
 I Ju visiting of I

Table 3 Results of Analysis of Variance type III sums of squares significance values for four rocket cultivars grown under three environmental temperature conditions, at three postharvest time points.

Factors & interactions	Time point/	Glucosinolates							
	CULIVAI	Glucoruco- lamine	Glucora- phanin	Progoitrin	Diglucothi- obeinin	Glucosativin	Glucoerucin	Dimeric 4- mercaptobutyl	Glucobras- sicin
Cultivar	D0	***	÷	su	***	***	SU	***	su
	D4	**	ns	IIS	***	***	**	***	***
	D7	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	ns
Growth temperature	DO	su	su	su	ns	us	*	SU	ns
	D4	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	us	***
	D7	ns	ns	***	ns	***	ns	IIS	su
Cut number	D0	**	ns	×	ns	ns	ns	IIS	**
	D4	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	IIS	***
	D7	ns	ns	**	ns	ns	ns	IIS	su
Cultivar x temperature	D0	**	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	IIS	*
	D4	ns	ns	**	ns	ns	ns	us	***
	D7	*	ns	**	**	***	ns	us	su
Cultivar x cut number	D0	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	us	ns
	D4	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	IIS	***
	D7	ns	ns	***	ns	ns	ns	IIS	su
Cultivar x temperature x cut number	D0	*	ns	*	ns	ns	**	IIS	*
	D4	ns	ns	***	ns	ns	ns	IIS	***
	D7	ns	ns	***	ns	ns	IIS	IIS	ns
Temperature x cut number	RS4	*	ns	*	**	***	ns	us	su
	RS8	ns	*	ns	ns	ns	**	us	**
	RW2	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	us	su
	RW3	ns	* *	*	ns	ns	ns	su	ns
Temperature x time point	RS4	ns	ns	ns	ns	***	ns	us	ns
	RS8	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	su	ns
	RW2	ns	ns	*	ns	ns	ns	su	ns
	RW3	ns	ns	*	ns	ns	ns	su	ns
Cut number x time point	RS4	ns	ns	ns	ns	**	*	su	ns
	RS8	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	su	ns
	RW2	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	su	su
	RW3	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	su	ns
Temperature x cut number x time point	RS4	ns	ns	ns	ns	**	ns	su	ns
	RS8	ns	ns	ns	ns	*	ns	su	ns
	RW2	**	ns	ns	* *	*	ns	su	ns
	RW3	ns	4	**	ns	ns	ns	su	ns

J. Jasper, et al.

(continued on next page)

Table 3 (continued)

Factors & interactions	Time point/	Glucosinolates				Hy	drolysis produ	lcts		
	cuuvar	Gluconasturtiin	4-methoxy- glucobrassicin	Neoglucobrassicin	Total Glucosinolates	Sativin	Erucin	Sulfora- phane	Bis(4- isothiocyanato- butyl)-disulfide	Total glucosinolate hydrolysis products
Cultivar	D0	***	***	su	***	***	su	***	su	***
	D4	***	* * *	ns	***	***	* * *	***	ns	***
	D7	**	***	ns	***	*	*	***	ns	**
Growth temperature	D0	ns	**	ns	ns	ns	su	ns	ns	*
	D4	us	**	ns	ns	us	su	ns	us	us
	D7	us	***	ns	ns	us	su	÷	us	us
Cut number	DO	us	us	*	ns	us	su	ns	ns	us
	D4	su	ns	SU	ns	***	su	ns	us	***
	D7	ns	ns	ns	ns	***	su	ns	***	***
Cultivar x temperature	D0	ns	**	ns	ns	ns	ns	**	ns	ns
	D4	*	*	ns	ns	ns	su	**	ns	ns
	D7	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	su	ns	ns	ns
Cultivar x cut number	D0	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	su	**	ns	*
	D4	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	***	ns	*
	D7	su	ns	SU	ns	ns	su	ns	us	su
Cultivar x temperature x cut number	D0	ns	ns	su	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	D4	**	ns	su	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	us
	D7	ns	ns	SU	ns	su	ns	ns	su	ns
Temperature x cut number	RS4	ns	ns	IIS	**	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	RS8	ns	ns	SU	ns	**	ns	**	su	**
	RW2	ns	***	**	ns	ns	su	ns	us	SU
	RW3	ns	ns	SU	ns	ns	su	ns	us	SU
Temperature x time point	RS4	ns	ns	IIS	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	RS8	ns	ns	IIS	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	×
	RW2	IIS	***	**	ns	su	ns	ns	su	ns
	RW3	ns	ns	IIS	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Cut number x time point	RS4	ns	ns	IIS	ns	su	ns	ns	ns	ns
	RS8	ns	ns	su	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	us
	RW2	su	***	**	ns	ns	ns	ns	us	us
	RW3	su	ns	SU	ns	ns	ns	ns	us	us
Temperature x cut number x time point	RS4	su	ns	SU	×	ns	ns	ns	us	ns
	RS8	su	ns	SU	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
	RW2	ns	***	**	ns	ns	ns	**	ns	us
	RW3	ns	ns	IIS	us	ns	ns	ns	ns	us
Abbreviations: D0 = day 0 shelf life; $D^{4}$ Significance values: *** = P < 0.001: **	4 = day 4 shelf * = P < 0.01: *	life; $D7 = day 7$ f = P < 0.05. See	shelf life; RS = s <sup>2</sup> Supplementary D	llad rocket, <i>Eruca sa</i> Pata File S1 for detai	<i>tiva</i> ; RW = wild iled P-values and	rocket, Diplotaxis ter 1 Tukev's Honest Sig	<i>uifolia.</i> nificant Diffe	rence pairwis	e comparisons.	
$u_{\beta}$	(1) / 1	···· ···· · ·	Juppium unit	ara Turu ut to turu	TER T - A GIRCO MIL	on intervention of	ייייע וווורמווו	TOTICE harring	ormormduino o	



**Fig. 3.** Glucosinolate hydrolysis product concentrations produced by first and second cut *Diplotaxis tenuifolia* (RW) and *Eruca sativa* (RS) grown at four different temperatures. See inset for hydrolysis product colour coding. Abbreviations: D0, start of shelf life; D4, fourth day of shelf life; D7, seventh day and end of commercial shelf life. Error bars represent standard error of the mean for each respective compound. For detailed statistical and Tukey's HSD pairwise comparisons, see Supplementary Data File S1. See Table S1 for the numbers of replicates for each cultivar and treatment. Note that sample RW3 at 40 °C consists of <3 biological replicates due to plant death.

to a significant reduction in GSV (from  $20.4 \pm 3.0 \,\mu\text{mol} \,g^{-1}$  to  $0.9 \pm 0.2 \,\mu\text{mol} \,g^{-1}$ ; P < 0.0001, Table 3 & Supplementary Data File S1). This trend was not reflected in the GHP profile of RS4 however, where concentrations were highest at D7 ( $3.7 \pm 0.6 \,\mu\text{mol} \,g^{-1}$ ). Although no significant differences were found between cultivars or growth temperatures, these trends again suggest that GSL content is not an accurate predictor of GHPs.

#### 3.2.4. Second cut at $30^{\circ}C$

Second cuts showed no significant differences from the first at 30  $^{\circ}$ C for GSL content, indicating more consistent biosynthesis. This is a desirable characteristic for growers and processors as it in turn may contribute to improved consistency in taste and flavour between cuts.

In terms of individual GSL differences between cultivars, RS8 again contained significantly higher concentrations of 4MOB ( $8.9 \pm 1.2 \mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>) than RW3 at D0 ( $1.2 \pm 0.2 \mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>; P < 0.0001). On D4 of shelf life, RW3 by contrast contained significantly more PRO than the other cultivars ( $2.0 \pm 0.5 \mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>; P < 0.0001; Table 3 & Supplementary Data File S1). This compound is known to impart extreme bitterness and is a target for reduction through breeding (Ishida et al., 2014). While concentrations may not be high at the point of harvest, breeding selections should also take into account such possible increases in synthesis postharvest to reduce consumer rejection. PRO is also associated with anti-nutritional properties (Mithen et al., 2000) and efforts should be made to reduce concentrations in rocket cultivars through breeding.

In terms of temporal changes for each cultivar over the shelf life duration, one significant difference was of note: compared to the D0 sample point, D4 and D7 samples of RS4 contained significantly greater concentrations of GRA (5.7 ± 1.1 µmol g<sup>-1</sup>, 10.6 ± 0.2 µmol g<sup>-1</sup>, and 11.7 ± 1.3 µmol g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively; P < 0.0001, Table 3 & Supplementary Data File S1). This matches observations made by Bell et al. (2017) where shelf life increases in this GSL were also observed for some cultivars.

Despite negligible changes in GSL content between cuts, GHPs saw large and significant increases compared to the first cut. The exact regulatory mechanisms for GHP formation in rocket are largely unknown, but evidence is mounting that it is not purely a spontaneous process of 1:1 conversion of GSLs. It may be that although GSL concentrations may be lower, myrosinase activity can remain high higher, and/or actively promote the formation of GHPs; such as through the action of ESM1 genes. It is important to understand how this is controlled under abiotic stress conditions, as it will likely influence the nutritional benefits obtained from leaves.

With the exception of RS8, all cultivar concentrations peaked on D7 further supporting previous reports of this (Bell et al., 2017c). At D0, RS8 produced significantly more SAT (8.5  $\pm$  1.4 µmol g<sup>-1</sup>; *P* < 0.0001) than the *D. tenuifolia* cultivars; and the highest concentrations overall of any tested sample (10.2  $\pm$  2.0 µmol g<sup>-1</sup>; *P* < 0.0001, Table 3 & Supplementary Data File S1). It is possible that such high concentrations of this compound would greatly increase the pungency of a cultivar, and support the anecdotal observations often made by growers.

#### 3.2.5. First cut at 40 °C

RW3 contained significantly less GRM ( $3.5 \mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>; P < 0.0001), GRA (5 µmol g<sup>-1</sup>; P = 0.000), DGTB (not detected; P < 0.0001), and DMB ( $1.3 \mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>; P < 0.0001) than the *E. sativa* cultivars at D0. In D4 samples, concentrations increased in RW3, however this was significantly lower than RS4 and RS8 for accumulation of GSV ( $1.3 \pm 0.3 \mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>; P < 0.0001). At D7, concentrations in RW3 declined, with RS4 and RS8 containing significantly more GRM, DGTB, and GSV (all P < 0.0001, Table 3 & Supplementary Data File S1).

Relative concentrations of GHPs were higher in RW3, particularly at D7, than the relative amounts of GSLs. The trend for the two *E. sativa* cultivars to contain higher abundances was however similar (Fig. 3). At D4 these contained significantly greater concentrations of SF than both RW2 RW3 (P < 0.0001, Table 3 & Supplementary Data File S1), but by D7 there were no significant differences. The retention of SF throughout the shelf life period is an important finding that suggests that potent health-related effects (Sivapalan et al., 2018) may be present in rocket leaves up to a week postharvest, even after the imposition of severe abiotic stress.

#### 3.2.6. Second cut at $40^{\circ}C$

RS8 was the only cultivar tested that survived and regrew under the 40 °C treatment, and it also contained the highest observed GSL

concentrations of any condition or cut (Fig. 2). While no significant differences between each time point were observed, there is a clear trend for concentrations to increase at D7. This is one of the highest concentrations reported to-date for *E. sativa*, and it is clear that temperature response combined with cut in this cultivar results in extremely high GSL concentrations postharvest. GHPs however were relatively low (Fig. 3) with highest abundance at D4 ( $8.0 \pm 1.1 \mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup>). This disparity between GSL and GHP abundances may be suggestive of myrosinase impairment or reduced activity.

## 3.2.7. Cultivar differences between growth temperature treatments

The disparity between rocket species GSL accumulations and GHPs is also evidenced when comparing broadly between growth temperature conditions. Table 3 contains the Type III Sum of Squares analysis results and reveals there are fewer significances between growth temperature and cut treatments for D. tenuifolia than E. sativa cultivars. This suggests that the former species is much less variable in terms of GSLs and GHPs, however (based on the two cultivars tested) is unable to achieve significant changes in health and flavour-related compounds between growth temperatures. This attribute is important however, and better for (potentially) maintaining uniformity of taste and flavour traits between temperature extremes. If the goal is to make rocket species more nutritionally dense, E. sativa possesses a degree of environmental plasticity in response to different growth temperatures that lends itself well to synthesis of GSLs such as GRA and GER. RS4 and RS8 also produced greater concentrations of SF under each condition and cut, therefore making cultivars more efficacious against chronic diseases than the more commonly consumed D. tenuifolia.

Considering the factors contributing to differences in concentrations, *E. sativa* is significantly influenced by temperature, with relatively few compounds affected by the respective interactions between temperature, harvest (cut) and sample point. For RW2 indolic GSL concentrations (4MOB and NGB) were most significantly affected by each factor and their interactions. RW2 by contrast had the most variability for GRA and PRO concentrations. GHPs by contrast (regardless of species) were most significantly influenced by the cut number. This indicates that while total GSLs may not be significantly changed after second cut, GHPs are. This may reflect a change in the expression of respective genes and enzymes regulating hydrolysis rather than those involved in GSL biosynthesis *per se*, and may give rise to improvements in nutritional quality.

### 3.2.8. Effects of growth temperature on postharvest concentrations

Irrespective of cultivar or species, several significant associations between growth temperature and shelf life concentrations of GSL compounds. At D0 GER concentrations were significantly affected by growth temperature (P = 0.012), as well as total GHPs (P = 0.027). At D4, two significances were observed for the indolic GSLs GBR (P = 0.001) and 4MOB (P = 0.002). By D7 there were several GSLs and one ITC significantly associated with growth temperature; these were PRO (P < 0.0001), GSV (P = 0.000), 4MOB (P = 0.000), and SF (P = 0.034, Table 3 & Supplementary Data File S1). These data are of particular interest for two reasons: the first is that PRO and GSV are thought to contribute significantly to the taste and flavour profile of rocket leaves (Pasini et al., 2011; Raffo et al., 2018). Their relative increases/decreases over the course of shelf life may therefore alter sensory properties, and conceivably consumer preference (Bell et al., 2017b). The second is that SF is associated with health-related benefits, and therefore cultivars could be improved by selecting for plants able to form greater concentrations later into shelf life (e.g. RS8; Bell, Yahya, et al., 2017).

As presented in Table 3, there were numerous significant interactions between cultivar, cut, and growth temperature, making exact predictions of postharvest concentrations and profiles difficult. It is clear however that growth temperature influences the potential nutritional and sensory status of cultivars, and goes some way to explain the inconsistencies observed by growers and processors between growing regions and cuts of the same cultivar.

## 3.3. Principal component analysis

Fig. 4 shows PCs 1 and 2 of the PCA analysis and explain 40.87 % of the observed variation within the data. PC1 separates predominantly for total GSL content, as well as DGBT, GSV and DMB. PC2 by



**Fig. 4.** Principal Component Analysis biplot of glucosinolate and hydrolysis product concentrations or rocket cultivars grown at four different growth temperatures. Components PC1 and PC2 are presented and represent 40.87 % of total variation. Blue data points = sample loadings; red data points = glucosinolate and hydrolysis product scores; black diamonds = cultivar, cut, shelf life time point, and temperature centroids (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article).

comparison separates strongly for SAT and total GHP formation. This is of note because it indicates that a high GSL concentration does not necessarily correlate with high GHP formation. To give two examples; first cut D0 RS4 plants grown at 30 °C contained relatively reduced concentrations of GHPs compared to the observed GSLs. Conversely, second cut plants of the same cultivar and temperature saw marked increases in GHP formation relative to GSL concentration, which was largely unchanged between cuts at this temperature.

PC1 also separates for species (Fig. 4), as it is clear that the *D. te-nuifolia* cultivars tested are generally low accumulators of GSLs, and form relatively few GHPs compared to RS4 and RS8. As a proportion of the overall GSL profile, RW2 and RW3 contained greater concentrations of indolic GSLs (such as GBR) as well as PRO.

As highlighted in previous studies however, concentrations of GSLs/ GHPs are not in and of themselves indicators of perceived sensory traits such as pungency; so it may be that the stark differences in the species' profiles may not be reflected in their taste and flavour attributes (Bell et al., 2017a). Other modulating influences such as sugar concentrations may also affect this, so it is therefore important to note that pungency is not indicative of health-related benefits and *vice versa*. A salad rocket may, for example, be very mild tasting but still potentially contain many fold-higher amounts of GHPs which are masked by other compounds.

## 4. Conclusions

This paper has demonstrated the effects of cultivation temperature and multiple harvests on postharvest GSL and GHP concentrations in rocket species. While it has been anecdotally accepted by growers that pungency increases according to the number of cuts a crop receives, very few previous studies have accounted for this common horticultural practice.

Temperate grown crops (~20 °C average outdoor summer temperatures) are often noted for their less pungent aroma and flavour than those from hotter countries (such as Italy, Portugal, and Morocco). Our data show that total GSL concentrations between growth temperatures are not significantly affected, but that it is the abundance of GHPs produced which differs. It is clear and unsurprising that growth at 40 °C is detrimental to plant development and regrowth, however it is also apparent that there is a significant increase in GSL biosynthesis, and also SF formation postharvest. Our data also highlight that some *E. sativa* cultivars may be better adapted to growth under extreme temperatures, as RS8 showed remarkable tolerance to the 40 °C treatment, and a propensity for increased SF productions under these conditions. More research will be required to determine if this tolerance is indicative of the species more widely when compared with *D. tenuifolia*.

Rocket crop growth under protected conditions can routinely reach or even exceed 40 °C, especially in summer months in countries such as Italy. With such extremes in temperature likely to increase in future due to climate change, it is important to determine the effects on nutritionally dense crops such as rocket. It is likely under such conditions that yields and production will be reduced, but that the nutritional density of crops may actually increase.

The GSL data presented are in agreement with previous studies of other Brassicaceae species (see Bell and Wagstaff, 2017 for a summary) however few other studies have also analysed GHPs in tandem. Our data suggest that it is incorrect to assume that GHP profiles and abundances are affected in a similar fashion to GSLs under different growth temperatures. Fluctuations in GHP abundance and conversion from GSLs is related to both environment and genotype. This is consistent with observations found in *Brassica* vegetables, where the concentrations of hydrolysis products is typically much less than the total concentration of the GSL precursors (Hanschen and Schreiner, 2017). GRA conversion to SF varied from 0.9 % (RW2, second cut, D7, 20 °C) to 25.1 % (RS8, second cut, D4, 40 °C); and GSV/DMB conversion to SAT (Fechner et al., 2018) from 1.7 % (RS4, first cut, D7, 20 °C) to 100 % (RW3, first cut, D7, 40 °C).

The relative changes in the formation of these compounds between growth temperatures indicates that there is an environmental effect upon myrosinase. This may be in terms of total plant content and/or activity, but the differences observed here between genotypes suggests that this is also as a result of genetic variation. The focus of breeding should therefore shift from selecting cultivars with high GSL concentrations, and more towards those that convert them to GHPs most efficiently. This may involve selection for different myrosinase genotypes, but could also feasibly extend to epithiospecifier modifier proteins, such as ESM1, which promote ITC formation (Angelino and Jeffery, 2014).

There are many factors regulating and inhibiting hydrolysis of GSLs other than nascent myrosinase abundance and activity; such as pH, temperature, ascorbic acid concentration, and enzyme co-factor presence/absence. While the kinetics of isolated compounds and myrosinase are well understood, it is still unclear how regulatory mechanisms within plant matrices control GHP formation and abundance. It is important to better understand the postharvest hydrolysis of GSLs since any health-related impacts of consuming Brassicaceae foods (such as rocket) will depend greatly upon pre-harvest environment, rather than postharvest storage conditions alone.

## Funding

Dr. Luke Bell was supported by a BBSRC LINK award (BB/N01894X/ 1). Jake Jasper was funded by a KTN BBSRC Industrial CASE award, supported by Waitrose (John Lewis plc).

## **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

## CRediT authorship contribution statement

Jake Jasper: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. Carol Wagstaff: Funding acquisition, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. Luke Bell: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing.

## Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary material related to this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2020. 111157.

#### References

- Angelino, D., Jeffery, E., 2014. Glucosinolate hydrolysis and bioavailability of resulting isothiocyanates: focus on glucoraphanin. J. Funct. Foods 7, 67–76.
- Bell, L., Wagstaff, C., 2017. Enhancement of glucosinolate and isothiocyanate profiles in Brassicaceae crops: addressing challenges in breeding for cultivation, storage, and consumer related traits. J. Agric. Food Chem. 65, 9379–9403.
- Bell, L., Wagstaff, C., 2019. Rocket science: a review of phytochemical and health-related research in *Eruca* and *Diplotaxis* species. Food Chem. X 1, 100002.
- Bell, L., Oruna-Concha, M.J., Wagstaff, C., 2015. Identification and quantification of glucosinolate and flavonol compounds in rocket salad (*Eruca sativa, Eruca vesicaria* and *Diplotaxis tenuifolia*) by LC-MS: highlighting the potential for improving nutritional value of rocket crops. Food Chem. 172, 852–861.
- Bell, L., Spadafora, N.D., Müller, C.T., Wagstaff, C., Rogers, H.J., 2016. Use of TD-GC-TOF-MS to assess volatile composition during post-harvest storage in seven accessions of rocket salad (*Eruca sativa*). Food Chem. 194, 626–636.
- Bell, L., Methven, L., Signore, A., Jose Oruna-Concha, M., Wagstaff, C., 2017a. Analysis of seven salad rocket (*Eruca sativa*) accessions: the relationships between sensory attributes and volatile and non-volatile compounds. Food Chem. 218, 181–191.
- Bell, L., Methven, L., Wagstaff, C., 2017b. The influence of phytochemical composition

#### J. Jasper, et al.

and resulting sensory attributes on preference for salad rocket (*Eruca sativa*) accessions by consumers of varying TAS2R38 diplotype. Food Chem. 222, 6–17.

- Bell, L., Yahya, H.N., Oloyede, O.O., Methven, L., Wagstaff, C., 2017c. Changes in rocket salad phytochemicals within the commercial supply chain: glucosinolates, isothiocyanates, amino acids and bacterial load increase significantly after processing. Food Chem. 221, 521–534.
- Cataldi, T.R.I., Rubino, A., Lelario, F., Bufo, S.A., 2007. Naturally occuring glucosinolates in plant extracts of rocket salad (*Eruca sativa* L.) identified by liquid chromatography coupled with negative ion electrospray ionization and quadrupole ion-trap mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 21, 2374–2388.
   Chun, J.-H., Kim, S., Arasu, M.V., Al-Dhabi, N.A., Chung, D.Y., Kim, S.-J., 2015.
- Chun, J.-H., Kim, S., Arasu, M.V., Al-Dhabi, N.A., Chung, D.Y., Kim, S.-J., 2015. Combined effect of Nitrogen, Phosphorus and Potassium fertilizers on the contents of glucosinolates in rocket salad (*Eruca sativa* Mill.). Saudi J. Biol. Sci. 24, 436–443. Cocetta, G., Mishra, S., Raffaelli, A., Ferrante, A., 2018. Effect of heat root stress and high
- salinity on glucosinolates metabolism in wild rocket. J. Plant Physiol. 231, 261–270. Di Gioia. F., Avato, P., Serio, F., Argentieri, M.P., 2018. Glucosinolate profile of *Eruca*
- sativa, Diplotaxis tenuifolia and Diplotaxis erucoides grown in soil and soilless systems. J. Food Anal. 69, 197–204.
- Fechner, J., Kaufmann, M., Herz, C., Eisenschmidt, D., Lamy, E., Kroh, L.W., Hanschen, F.S., 2018. The major glucosinolate hydrolysis product in rocket (*Eruca sativa L.*), sativin, is 1,3-thiazepane-2-thione: elucidation of structure, bioactivity, and stability compared to other rocket isothiocyanates. Food Chem. 261, 57–65.
- Fimognari, C., Hrelia, P., 2007. Sulforaphane as a promising molecule for fighting cancer. Mutat. Res. Mutat. Res. 635, 90–104.
- Force, L.E., O'Hare, T.J., Wong, L.S., Irving, D.E., 2007. Impact of cold storage on glucosinolate levels in seed-sprouts of broccoli, rocket, white radish and kohl-rabi. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 44, 175–178.
- Gigolashvili, T., Berger, B., Flügge, U.-I., 2009. Specific and coordinated control of indolic and aliphatic glucosinolate biosynthesis by R2R3-MYB transcription factors in Arabidopsis thaliana. Phytochem. Rev.
- Gray, S.B., Brady, S.M., 2016. Plant developmental responses to climate change. Dev. Biol. 419, 64–77.
- Hall, M., Jobling, J.J., Rogers, G.S., 2015. Fundamental differences between perennial wall rocket and annual garden rocket influence the commercial year-round supply of these crops. J. Agric. Sci. 7, 1–7.
- Hanschen, F.S., Schreiner, M., 2017. Isothiocyanates, nitriles, and epithionitriles from glucosinolates are affected by genotype and developmental stage in *Brassica oleracea* varieties. Front. Plant Sci. 8, 1095.
- Hayes, J.D., Kelleher, M.O., Eggleston, I.M., 2008. The cancer chemopreventive actions of phytochemicals derived from glucosinolates. Eur. J. Nutr. 47, 73–88.
- Huseby, S., Koprivova, A., Lee, B.-R., Saha, S., Mithen, R., Wold, A.-B., Bengtsson, G.B., Kopriva, S., 2013. Diurnal and light regulation of sulphur assimilation and glucosinolate biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis*. J. Exp. Bot. 64, 1039–1048.
  Ishida, M., Hara, M., Fukino, N., Kakizaki, T., Morimitsu, Y., 2014. Glucosinolate meta-
- Ishida, M., Hara, M., Fukino, N., Kakizaki, T., Morimitsu, Y., 2014. Glucosinolate metabolism, functionality and breeding for the improvement of Brassicaceae vegetables. Breed. Sci. 64, 48–59.
- Jahangir, M., Abdel-Farid, I.B., Kim, H.K., Choi, Y.H., Verpoorte, R., 2009. Healthy and unhealthy plants: the effect of stress on the metabolism of Brassicaceae. Environ. Exp. Bot. 67, 23–33.
- Jin, J., Koroleva, O.A., Gibson, T., Swanston, J., Magan, J., Zhang, Y., Rowland, I.R., Wagstaff, C., 2009. Analysis of phytochemical composition and chemoprotective capacity of rocket (*Eruca sativa* and *Diplotaxis tenuifolia*) leafy salad following cultivation in different environments. J. Agric. Food Chem. 57, 5227–5234.

Kask, K., Kännaste, A., Talts, E., Copolovici, L., Niinemets, Ü., 2016. How specialized

volatiles respond to chronic and short-term physiological and shock heat stress in *Brassica nigra*. Plant Cell Environ. 39, 2027–2042.

- Ku, K.-M., Kim, M.J., Jeffery, E.H., Kang, Y.-H., Juvik, J.A., 2016. Profiles of glucosinolates, their hydrolysis products, and quinone reductase inducing activity from 39 arugula (*Eruca sativa* mill.) accessions. J. Agric. Food Chem. 64, 6524–6532.
- Lelario, F., Bianco, G., Bufo, S.A., Cataldi, T.R.I., 2012. Establishing the occurrence of major and minor glucosinolates in Brassicaceae by LC-ESI-hybrid linear ion-trap and Fourier-transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry. Phytochemistry 73, 74–83.
- Liang, H., Lai, B., Yuan, Q., 2008. Sulforaphane induces cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis in cultured human lung adenocarcinoma LTEP-A2 cells and retards growth of LTEP-A2 xenografts in vivo. J. Nat. Prod. 71, 1911–1914.
- Malka, S.K., Cheng, Y., 2017. Possible interactions between the biosynthetic pathways of indole glucosinolate and auxin. Front. Plant Sci. 8, 2131.
- Mithen, R.F., Dekker, M., Verkerk, R., Rabot, S., Johnson, I.T., 2000. The nutritional significance, biosynthesis and bioavailability of glucosinolates in human foods. J. Sci. Food Agric. 80, 967–984.
- Mostafa, I., Zhu, N., Yoo, M.-J., Balmant, K.M., Misra, B.B., Dufresne, C., Abou-Hashem, M., Chen, S., El-Domiaty, M., 2016. New nodes and edges in the glucosinolate molecular network revealed by proteomics and metabolomics of *Arabidopsis myb28/29* and *cyp79B2/B3* glucosinolate mutants. J. Proteomics 138, 1–19.
- Nitz, G.M., Schnitzler, W.H., 2002. Variation der Glucosinolatgehalte bei den Rucolaarten Eruca sativa und Diplotaxis tenuifolia in Abhangigkeit des Ernteschnittes. Angew. Bot. 76, 82–86.
- Pasini, F., Verardo, V., Cerretani, L., Caboni, M.F., D'Antuono, L.F., 2011. Rocket salad (*Diplotaxis* and *Eruca* spp.) sensory analysis and relation with glucosinolate and phenolic content. J. Sci. Food Agric. 91, 2858–2864.
- Raffo, A., Masci, M., Moneta, E., Nicoli, S., Sánchez del Pulgar, J., Paoletti, F., Pulgar, D., 2018. Characterization of volatiles and identification of odor-active compounds of rocket leaves. Food Chem. 240, 1161–1170.
- Schlaeppi, K., Abou-Mansour, E., Buchala, A., Mauch, F., 2010. Disease resistance of *Arabidopsis* to *Phytophthora brassicae* is established by the sequential action of indole glucosinolates and camalexin. Plant J. 62, 840–851.
- Schöffl, F., Panikulangara, T.J., 2018. Temperature-regulated Gene expression. Annual Plant Reviews Online. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, UK, pp. 285–308.Schreiner, M., Krumbein, A., Mewis, I., Ulrichs, C., Huyskens-Keil, S., 2009. Short-term
- Schreiner, M., Krumbein, A., Mewis, I., Ulrichs, C., Huyskens-Keil, S., 2009. Short-term and moderate UV-B radiation effects on secondary plant metabolism in different organs of nasturtium (*Tropaeolum majus* L.). Innov. Food Sci. Emerg. Technol. 10, 93–96.
- Sivapalan, T., Melchini, A., Saha, S., Needs, P.W., Traka, M.H., Tapp, H., Dainty, J.R., Mithen, R.F., 2018. Bioavailability of glucoraphanin and sulforaphane from High-Glucoraphanin Broccoli. Mol. Nutr. Food Res., 1700911.
- Suslow, T., 2000. Chlorination in the production and postharvest handling of fresh fruits and vegetables. In: McLaren, D. (Ed.), Fruit and Vegetable Processing. Food Processing Center at the University of Nebraska, Lincoln, NE, pp. 2–15.
- Toledo-Martín, E., Font, R., Obregón-Cano, S., De Haro-Bailón, A., Villatoro-Pulido, M., Del Río-Celestino, M., 2017. Rapid and cost-effective quantification of glucosinolates and total phenolic content in rocket leaves by Visible/Near-Infrared spectroscopy. Molecules 22, 851.
- Yahya, H.N., Lignou, S., Wagstaff, C., Bell, L., 2019. Changes in bacterial loads, gas composition, volatile organic compounds, and glucosinolates of fresh bagged Ready-To-Eat rocket under different shelf life treatment scenarios. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 148, 107–119.